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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
 

Certain statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (this “Form 10-Q”) of VineBrook Homes Trust, Inc. (“we”, “us”, “our”, or the
“Company”) other than historical facts may be considered forward-looking statements. In particular, statements relating to our business and investment
strategies, plans or intentions, our liquidity and capital resources, our performance and results of operations contain forward-looking statements. Furthermore,
all statements regarding future financial performance (including market conditions) are forward-looking statements. We caution investors that any forward-
looking statements presented in this Form 10-Q are based on management’s beliefs and assumptions made by, and information currently available to,
management. When used, the words “anticipate,” “believe,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “might,” “plan,” “estimate,” “project,” “should,” “will,” “would,”
“result,” the negative version of these words and similar expressions that do not relate solely to historical matters are intended to identify forward-looking
statements.
 

Forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions and may be affected by known and unknown risks, trends, uncertainties and
factors that are beyond our control. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual
results may vary materially from those anticipated, estimated or projected. We caution you against relying on any of these forward-looking statements.
 

Some of the risks and uncertainties that may cause our actual results, performance, liquidity or achievements to differ materially from those expressed or
implied by forward-looking statements include, among others, the following:
 
 • risks associated with the COVID-19 pandemic, including unpredictable variants and future outbreak of other highly infectious or contagious diseases;
 
 • risks associated with our limited operating history and the possibility that we may not replicate the historical results achieved by other entities

managed or sponsored by affiliates of NexPoint Real Estate Advisors V, L.P. (our “Adviser”), members of VineBrook Homes, LLC’s (our “Manager”)
management team or their affiliates;

 
 • our dependence on our Adviser, Manager and their affiliates and personnel to conduct our day-to-day operations and potential conflicts of interest with

our Adviser, Manager and their affiliates and personnel;
 
 • risks associated with the Manager’s ability to terminate the Management Agreements (as defined below) and risks associated with any potential

internalization of our management functions;
 
 • loss of key personnel of our Adviser and our Manager;
 
 • risks associated with the fluctuation in the net asset value (“NAV”) per share amounts;
 
 • unfavorable changes in economic conditions and their effects on the real estate industry generally and our operations and financial condition,

including our ability to access funding and generate returns for stockholders;
 
 • the risk we make significant changes to our strategies in a market downturn, or fail to do so;
 
 • risks associated with ownership of real estate, including properties in transition, subjectivity of valuation, environmental matters and lack of liquidity

in our assets;
 
 • risks related to increasing property taxes, homeowner’s associations (“HOAs”) fees and insurance costs may negatively affect our financial results;
 
 • risks associated with acquisitions, including the risk of expanding our scale of operations and acquisitions, which could adversely impact anticipated

yields;
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 • risks associated with leasing real estate, including the risks that rents do not increase sufficiently to keep pace with rising costs of operations and

competitive pressures from other types of properties or market conditions that incentivize tenants to purchase their residences;
 
 • risks related to tenant relief laws, including laws regulating evictions, rent control laws, executive orders, administrative orders and other regulations

that may impact our rental income and profitability;
 
 • risks related to governmental laws, regulations and rules applicable to our properties or that may be passed in the future;
 
 • risks relating to the timing and costs of the renovation of properties which has the potential to adversely affect our operating results and ability to

make distributions;
 
 • risks related to our ability to change our major policies, operations and targeted investments without stockholder consent;
 
 • risks related to climate change and natural disasters;
 
 • risks related to failure to maintain our status as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”);
 
 • risks related to failure of our OP (defined below) to be taxable as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, possibly causing us to fail to

qualify for or to maintain REIT status;
 
 • risks related to compliance with REIT requirements, which may limit our ability to hedge our liabilities effectively and cause us to forgo otherwise

attractive opportunities, liquidate certain of our investments or incur tax liabilities;
 
 • the risk that the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) may consider certain sales of properties to be prohibited transactions, resulting in a 100% penalty

tax on any taxable gain;
 
 • the ineligibility of dividends payable by REITs for the reduced tax rates available for some dividends;
 
 • risks associated with the stock ownership restrictions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) for REITs and the stock

ownership limit imposed by our amended and restated charter;
 
 • recent and potential legislative or regulatory tax changes or other actions affecting REITs;
 
 • failure to generate sufficient cash flows to service our outstanding indebtedness or pay distributions at expected levels;
 
 • risks associated with purchasing single-family rental (“SFR”) properties through the foreclosure auction process;
 
 • damage associated with SFR properties sold through short sales or foreclosure sales may require extensive renovation;
 
 • risks associated with the Highland Capital Management, L.P. (“Highland”) bankruptcy, including related litigation and potential conflicts of interest;

and
 
 • any of the other risks included under Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” in our Form 10-K, filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on

February 23, 2022 (our “Annual Report”).
 

While forward-looking statements reflect our good faith beliefs, they are not guarantees of future performance. They are based on estimates and assumptions
only as of the date of this Form 10-Q. We undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statement to reflect changes in underlying
assumptions or factors, new information, data or methods, future events or other changes, except as required by law.
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VINEBROOK HOMES TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
 
  March 31, 2022   December 31, 2021  
  (unaudited)      

ASSETS         
Operating real estate investments         

Land  $ 424,788  $ 334,191 
Buildings and improvements   1,867,331   1,391,786 
Intangible lease assets   4,113   971 

Total gross operating real estate investments   2,296,232   1,726,948 
Accumulated depreciation and amortization   (92,207)   (76,789)

Total net operating real estate investments   2,204,025   1,650,159 
Real estate held for sale, net   6,821   81 

Total net real estate investments   2,210,846   1,650,240 
Investment in unconsolidated entity   100,819   — 
Investment in real estate equities   2,500   2,500 
Cash   36,640   54,104 
Restricted cash   18,179   20,893 
Accounts and other receivables   9,699   8,327 
Due from Manager (see Note 13)   663   2,909 
Prepaid and other assets   4,834   19,352 
Fair market value of interest rate swaps   13,264   — 

TOTAL ASSETS  $ 2,397,444  $ 1,758,325 
         

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY         
Liabilities:         

Notes payable, net  $ 390,375  $ 376,842 
Credit facilities, net   747,922   391,703 
Bridge facility, net   131,732   — 
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities   28,533   47,208 
Accrued real estate taxes payable   18,623   19,450 
Accrued interest payable   4,768   1,690 
Security deposit liability   18,033   14,295 
Prepaid rents   4,394   3,341 
Fair market value of interest rate swaps   —   3,590 

Total Liabilities   1,344,380   858,119 
         
Redeemable Series A preferred stock, $0.01 par value: 16,000,000 shares authorized; 5,000,000 and 5,000,000

shares issued and outstanding, respectively   121,074   120,896 
Redeemable noncontrolling interests in the OP   222,991   196,362 
Stockholders' Equity:         

Class A Common stock, $0.01 par value: 300,000,000 shares authorized; 24,696,441 and 21,814,248 shares
issued and outstanding, respectively   247   219 

Additional paid-in capital   780,388   651,531 
Distributions in excess of retained earnings   (85,075)   (68,011)
Accumulated other comprehensive gain/(loss)   13,439   (791)

Total Stockholders' Equity   708,999   582,948 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  $ 2,397,444  $ 1,758,325 
 

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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VINEBROOK HOMES TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

 
  For the Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2022   2021  
Revenues         

Rental income  $ 50,980  $ 30,136 
Other income   1,337   492 

Total revenues   52,317   30,628 
Expenses         

Property operating expenses   8,687   5,153 
Real estate taxes and insurance   9,542   6,294 
Property management fees   3,111   1,973 
Advisory fees   3,086   1,291 
Corporate general and administrative expenses   2,162   1,481 
Property general and administrative expenses   2,873   1,323 
Depreciation and amortization   15,956   8,044 
Interest expense   9,620   5,126 

Total expenses   55,037   30,685 
Gain/(loss) on sales of real estate   116   (75)
Casualty loss, net of insurance proceeds   (109)   (9)

Net loss   (2,713)   (141)
Dividends on and accretion to redemption value of Redeemable Series A preferred stock   2,209   2,206 
Net loss attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests in the OP   (423)   (35)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders  $ (4,499)  $ (2,312)
Other comprehensive income         
Unrealized gain on interest rate swaps   16,854   6,371 
Total comprehensive income   14,141   6,230 
Dividends on and accretion to redemption value of Redeemable Series A preferred stock   2,209   2,206 
Comprehensive income attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests in the OP   2,201   1,546 
Comprehensive income attributable to common stockholders  $ 9,731  $ 2,478 
         
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic   23,249   10,417 
Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted   23,249   10,417 
         
Loss per share - basic  $ (0.19)  $ (0.22)
Loss per share - diluted  $ (0.19)  $ (0.22)
 

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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VINEBROOK HOMES TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

(dollars in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

 
  Class A Common Stock                  

Three Months Ended March 31, 2022  
Number of

Shares   Par Value   

Additional
Paid-in
Capital   

Distributions
in Excess of

Retained
Earnings   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)   Total  

Balances, December 31, 2021   21,814,248  $ 219  $ 651,531  $ (68,011)  $ (791)  $ 582,948 
Net loss attributable to common stockholders          —   (4,499)   —   (4,499)
Issuance of Class A common stock   2,907,334   29   152,091   —   —   152,120 
Redemptions of Class A common stock   (55,405)   (1)   (3,001)   —   —   (3,002)
Offering costs           (343)   —   —   (343)
Equity-based compensation   30,264   —   759   —   —   759 
Common stock dividends declared ($0.5301 per share)           —   (12,565)   —   (12,565)
Other comprehensive income attributable to common
stockholders           —   —   14,230   14,230 
Adjustments to reflect redemption value of redeemable
noncontrolling interests in the OP           (20,649)   —   —   (20,649)

Balances, March 31, 2022   24,696,441  $ 247  $ 780,388  $ (85,075)  $ 13,439  $ 708,999 
 
 
  Class A Common Stock                  

Three Months Ended March 31, 2021  
Number of

Shares   Par Value   

Additional
Paid-in
Capital   

Distributions
in Excess of

Retained
Earnings   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)   Total  

Balances, December 31, 2020   9,260,795  $ 93  $ 210,381  $ (26,002)  $ (10,150)  $ 174,322 
Net loss attributable to common stockholders          —   (2,312)   —   (2,312)
Issuance of Class A common stock   2,241,677   22   80,829   —   —   80,851 
Redemptions of Class A common stock   (3,427)   —   (126)   —   —   (126)
Offering costs           (296)   —   —   (296)
Equity-based compensation   —   —   514   —   —   514 
Common stock dividends declared ($0.5301 per share)           —   (5,746)   —   (5,746)
Other comprehensive income attributable to common
stockholders           —   —   4,790   4,790 
Adjustments to reflect redemption value of redeemable
noncontrolling interests in the OP           3   —   —   3 

Balances, March 31, 2021   11,499,045  $ 115  $ 291,305  $ (34,060)  $ (5,360)  $ 252,000 
 

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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VINEBROOK HOMES TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(dollars in thousands)
(Unaudited)

 
  For the Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2022   2021  
Cash flows from operating activities         
Net loss  $ (2,713)  $ (141)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities         

(Gain)/loss on sales of real estate   (116)   75 
Depreciation and amortization   15,956   8,044 
Non-cash interest amortization   1,526   531 
Change in fair value on derivative instruments included in interest expense   735   670 
Net cash paid on derivative settlements   (1,063)   (1,032)
Equity-based compensation   1,455   930 
Casualty loss, net of insurance proceeds   109   9 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions:         

Operating assets   1,657   (2)
Operating liabilities   5,378   3,166 

Net cash provided by operating activities   22,924   12,250 
         
Cash flows from investing activities         

Investment in unconsolidated entity   (100,819)   — 
Net proceeds from sales of real estate   642   151 
Prepaid acquisition deposits   (434)   (1,890)
Insurance proceeds received   43   59 
Acquisitions of real estate investments   (511,369)   (538,725)
Additions to real estate investments   (34,726)   (16,400)

Net cash used in investing activities   (646,663)   (556,805)
         
Cash flows from financing activities         

Notes payable proceeds received   —   125,000 
Notes payable payments   (237)   (15)
Credit facilities proceeds received   355,000   335,000 
Bridge facility proceeds received   150,000   — 
Bridge facility principal payments   (17,352)   — 
NREO Note repayment   —   (1,250)
Financing costs paid   (1,124)   (7,746)
Proceeds from issuance of Class A common stock   119,639   77,973 
Redemptions of Class A common stock paid   3,276   (126)
Offering costs paid   (600)   (310)
Dividends paid to common stockholders   (5,851)   (2,676)
Payments for taxes related to net share settlement of stock-based compensation   (555)   — 
Proceeds from issuance of redeemable Series A preferred stock, net of offering costs   —   35,212 
Preferred stock dividends paid   (2,031)   (925)
Contributions from redeemable noncontrolling interests in the OP   4,873   595 
Distributions to redeemable noncontrolling interests in the OP   (1,477)   (1,497)

Net cash provided by financing activities   603,561   559,235 
         
Change in cash and restricted cash   (20,178)   14,680 
Cash and restricted cash, beginning of period   74,997   37,096 
Cash and restricted cash, end of period  $ 54,819  $ 51,776 
         
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information         

Interest paid, net of amount capitalized  $ 2,471  $ 2,738 
Cash paid for income and franchise taxes   120   — 

         
Supplemental Disclosure of Noncash Activities         

Assumed liabilities in asset acquisitions   2,420   4,554 
Accrued dividends payable to common stockholders   219   192 
Accrued distributions payable to redeemable noncontrolling interests in the OP   313   165 
Accrued dividends payable to preferred stockholders   2,031   2,031 
Accrued redemptions payable to common stockholders   6,278   — 
Accrued capital expenditures   885   — 



Accretion to redemption value of Redeemable Series A preferred stock   178   175 
Fair market value adjustment on assumed debt   89   — 
Assumed debt on acquisitions   13,582   — 
Offering costs accrued   84   91 
Issuance of Class A common stock related to DRIP dividends   6,495   2,878 
DRIP dividends to common stockholders   (6,495)   (2,878)
Contributions from redeemable noncontrolling interests in the OP related to DRIP distributions   467   360 
DRIP distributions to redeemable noncontrolling interests in the OP   (467)   (360)

 
See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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VINEBROOK HOMES TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
 
1. Organization and Description of Business
 

VineBrook Homes Trust, Inc. (the “Company”, “we”, “us,” “our”) was incorporated in Maryland on July 18, 2018 and has elected to be taxed as a real
estate investment trust (“REIT”). The Company is focused on acquiring, renovating, leasing, maintaining and otherwise managing single family rental
(“SFR”) home investments primarily located in large to medium size cities and suburbs located in the midwestern, heartland and southeastern United States.
Substantially all of the Company’s business is conducted through VineBrook Homes Operating Partnership, L.P. (the “OP”), the Company’s operating
partnership, as the Company owns its properties indirectly through the OP. VineBrook Homes OP GP, LLC (the “OP GP”), is the general partner of the OP. As
of March 31, 2022, there were a combined 24,401,575 Class A, Class B and Class C units of the OP (collectively, “OP Units”), of which 20,675,743 Class A
OP Units, or 84.7%, were owned by the Company, 2,691,330 Class B OP Units, or 11.0%, were owned by NexPoint Real Estate Opportunities, LLC
(“NREO”), 87,469 Class C OP Units, or 0.4%, were owned by NRESF REIT Sub, LLC (“NRESF”), 138,035 Class C OP Units, or 0.6%, were owned by GAF
REIT, LLC (“GAF REIT”) and 808,998 Class C OP Units, or 3.3%, were owned by limited partners that were sellers in the Formation Transaction (defined
below) (and in certain instances affiliated with the equity holders of the Manager) (the “VineBrook Contributors”) or other Company insiders. NREO, NRESF
and GAF REIT are noncontrolling limited partners unaffiliated with the Company but are affiliates of the Adviser (defined below). The Second Amended and
Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of the OP (the “OP LPA”) generally provides that Class A OP Units and Class B OP Units each have 50.0% of the
voting power of the OP Units, including with respect to the election of directors to the Partnership Board (defined below in Note 10), and the Class C OP Units
have no voting power. Each Class A OP Unit, Class B OP Unit and Class C OP Unit otherwise represents substantially the same economic interest in the OP.
 

The Company began operations on November 1, 2018 as a result of the acquisition of various partnerships and limited liability companies owned and
operated by the VineBrook Contributors and other third parties, which owned 4,129 SFR assets located in Ohio, Kentucky and Indiana (the “Initial Portfolio”)
for a total purchase price of approximately $330.2 million, including closing and financing costs of $6.0 million (the “Formation Transaction”). On November
1, 2018, the Company accepted subscriptions for 1,097,367 shares of its Class A common stock, par value $0.01 (“Shares”), for gross proceeds of
approximately $27.4 million in connection with the Formation Transaction. The proceeds from the issuance of Shares were used to acquire OP Units. The OP
used the capital contribution from the Company to fund a portion of the purchase price for the Initial Portfolio. The remaining purchase price and closing costs
were funded by a capital contribution totaling $70.7 million from NREO, $8.6 million of equity rolled over from VineBrook Contributors, and $241.4 million
from a Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (“Freddie Mac”) mortgage (the “Initial Mortgage”) provided by KeyBank N.A. (“KeyBank”). On May 1,
2019 (the “Release Date”), approximately $1.4 million worth of OP Units were released to various VineBrook Contributors from an indemnity reserve escrow
that was established at the time the Initial Portfolio was acquired. From the time the escrow reserve was established until the Release Date, no indemnity claims
were made against said escrow.
 

Between November 1, 2018 and March 31, 2022, the Company, through the SPEs (as defined in Note 3) owned by the OP, purchased 17,144 additional
homes and sold 129 homes. Together with the Initial Portfolio, the Company, through the OP’s SPEs, indirectly owned an interest in 21,144 homes (the
“Portfolio”) in 18 states as of March 31, 2022. The acquisitions of the additional homes were funded by loans (see Note 7), proceeds from the sale of Shares
and Preferred Shares (defined below) and excess cash generated from operations.
 

The Company is externally managed by NexPoint Real Estate Advisors V, L.P. (the “Adviser”), through an agreement dated November 1, 2018,
subsequently amended and restated on May 4, 2020, and renewed on November 1, 2021 (the “Advisory Agreement”). The Advisory Agreement will
automatically renew on the anniversary of the renewal date for one-year terms thereafter, unless otherwise terminated. The Adviser provides asset management
services to the Company. The OP caused the SPEs to retain VineBrook Homes LLC (the “Manager”), an affiliate of certain VineBrook Contributors, to
renovate, lease, maintain, and operate the Portfolio under management agreements (as amended, the “Management Agreements”) that generally have an initial
three-year term with one-year automatic renewals, unless otherwise terminated. The Management Agreements are supplemented by a side letter (as amended
and restated, the “Side Letter”) by and among the Company, the OP, the OP GP, the Manager and certain of its affiliates. Certain SPEs from time to time may
have property management agreements with independent third parties that are not the Manager. These are typically the result of maintaining legacy property
managers after an acquisition to help transition the properties to the Manager or, in the case of a future sale, to manage the properties until they are sold. All of
the Company’s investment decisions are made by employees of the Adviser and the Manager, subject to general oversight by the OP’s investment committee
and the Company’s board of directors (the “Board”). Because the equity holders of the Manager own OP Units, the Manager is considered an affiliate for
financial reporting disclosure purposes.
 

The Company’s investment objectives are to maximize the cash flow and value of properties owned, acquire properties with cash flow growth potential,
provide quarterly cash distributions and achieve long-term capital appreciation for its stockholders through targeted management and a renovation program for
the homes acquired.
 

On August 28, 2018, the Company commenced the offering of 40,000,000 Shares through a continuous private placement (the “Private Offering”), under
regulation D of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) (and various state securities law provisions) for a maximum of $1.0 billion of its
Shares. The Private Offering expires on November 1, 2023 but may be extended for up to two times for one year for each extension at the Board’s discretion.
The initial offering price for Shares sold through the Private Offering was $25.00 per Share. The Company conducts periodic closings and sells Shares at the
prior net asset value (“NAV”) per share as determined using the valuation methodology recommended by the Adviser and approved by the pricing committee
(the “Pricing Committee”) of the Board (the “Valuation Methodology”), plus applicable fees and commissions. The NAV per share is calculated on a fully
diluted basis. NAV may differ from the values of our real estate assets as calculated in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States (“GAAP”).
 

NexPoint Securities, Inc. (the “Dealer Manager”), an entity under common ownership with the Adviser, serves as the dealer manager for the Private
Offering and Raymond James & Associates, Inc. (“Raymond James”) and other unaffiliated broker-dealers serve as placement agents (the “Placement Agents”)
through selling agreements (“Selling Agreements”) between each Placement Agent and the Company.



 
The Company has adopted a Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2018 LTIP”) whereby the Board, or a committee thereof, may grant awards of restricted

stock units of the Company (“RSUs”) or profits interest units in the OP (“PI Units”) to certain employees of the Adviser and the Manager, or others at the
discretion of the Board (including the directors and officers of the Company or other service providers of the Company or the OP). Under the terms of the 2018
LTIP, 426,307 Shares were initially reserved, subject to automatic increase on January 1st of each year beginning with January 1, 2019 by a number equal to
10% of the total number outstanding on December 31st of the preceding year of the number of outstanding OP Units and vested PI Units, provided that the
Board may act prior to each such January 1st to determine that there will be no increase for such year or that the increase will be less than the number of shares
by which the Share Reserve would otherwise increase (the “Share Reserve”). In addition, the Shares available under the 2018 LTIP may not exceed in the
aggregate 10% of the number of OP Units and vested PI Units outstanding at the time of measurement (the “Share Maximum”). Grants may be made annually
by the Board, or more or less frequently in the Board’s sole discretion. Vesting of grants made under the 2018 LTIP will occur over a period of time as
determined by the Board and may include the achievement of performance metrics, also as determined by the Board in its sole discretion.
 

5



Table of Contents
 
 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 
Basis of Accounting and Use of Estimates
 

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with GAAP and the rules and regulations of the SEC. GAAP
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at
the dates of the consolidated financial statements and the amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual amounts realized or paid could
differ from those estimates. There have been no significant changes to the Company’s significant accounting policies during the three months ended March 31,
2022.
 

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared according to the rules and regulations of the SEC. Certain
information and note disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been condensed or omitted according to
such rules and regulations, although management believes that the disclosures are adequate to make the information presented not misleading. References to
number of properties are unaudited.
 

In the opinion of management, all adjustments and eliminations necessary for the fair presentation of the Company’s financial position as of March 31,
2022 and December 31, 2021 and results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 have been included. The unaudited information
included in these interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto for the years
ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 included in our Annual Report. The results of operations for the interim periods presented are not necessarily indicative of
the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2022, or any other future period.
 
Principles of Consolidation
 

The Company accounts for subsidiary partnerships, limited liability companies, joint ventures and other similar entities in which it holds an ownership
interest in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 810, Consolidation. The Company
first evaluates whether each entity is a variable interest entity (“VIE”). Under the VIE model, the Company consolidates an entity when it has control to direct
the activities of the VIE and the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits that could potentially be significant to the VIE. If the Company
determines the entity is not a VIE, it evaluates whether the entity should be consolidated under the voting model. The Company consolidates an entity when it
controls the entity through ownership of a majority voting interest. As of March 31, 2022, the Company has determined it must consolidate the OP and its
subsidiaries under the VIE model as it was determined the Company both controls the direct activities of the OP and the right to receive benefits that could
potentially be significant to the OP. The Company has control to direct the activities of the OP because the OP GP must generally receive approval of the Board
to take any actions. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, including the OP and its subsidiaries. All
significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. OP Units that are not owned by the Company are presented as
noncontrolling interests in the consolidated financial statements, and income or loss generated at the OP is allocated between the Company and the
noncontrolling interests based upon their relative ownership percentages.
 
Real Estate Investments
 

Upon acquisition, we evaluate our acquired SFR properties for purposes of determining whether a transaction should be accounted for as an asset
acquisition or business combination. Since substantially all of the fair value of our acquired properties is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of
similar identifiable assets and the acquisitions do not include a substantive process, our purchases of homes or portfolios of homes qualify as asset acquisitions.
Accordingly, upon acquisition of a property, the purchase price and related acquisition costs (“Total Consideration”) are allocated to land, buildings,
improvements, fixtures, and intangible lease assets based upon their relative fair values.
 

The allocation of Total Consideration, which is determined using inputs that are classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy established by FASB
ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement (“ASC 820”) (see Note 8), is based on an independent third-party valuation firm’s estimate of the fair value of the tangible
and intangible assets and liabilities acquired or management's internal analysis based on market knowledge obtained from historical transactions. The valuation
methodology utilizes market comparable information, depreciated replacement cost and other estimates in allocating value to the tangible assets. The allocation
of the Total Consideration to intangible lease assets represents the value associated with the in-place leases, as one month’s worth of effective gross income
(rental revenue, less credit loss allowance, plus other income) as the average downtime of the assets in the portfolio is approximately one month and the assets
in the portfolio are leased on a gross rental structure. If any debt is assumed in an acquisition, the difference between the fair value, which is estimated using
inputs that are classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, and the face value of debt is recorded as a premium or discount and amortized or accreted as
interest expense over the life of the debt assumed.
 

Real estate assets, including land, buildings, improvements, fixtures, and intangible lease assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation
and amortization. Costs incurred in making repairs and maintaining real estate assets are expensed as incurred. Expenditures for improvements, renovations,
and replacements are capitalized at cost. The Company also incurs indirect costs to prepare acquired properties for rental. These costs are capitalized to the cost
of the property during the period the property is undergoing activities to prepare it for its intended use. We capitalize interest, real estate taxes, insurance,
utilities and other indirect costs as costs of the property only during the period for which activities necessary to prepare an asset for its intended use are
ongoing, provided that expenditures for the asset have been made and the costs have been incurred. Upon completion of the renovation of our properties, all
costs of operations, including repairs and maintenance, are expensed as incurred, unless the renovation meets the Company’s capitalization criteria. Real estate-
related depreciation and amortization are computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives as described in the following table:
 

Land  Not depreciated  
Buildings  27.5 years  
Improvements and other assets  3 - 15 years  



Intangible lease assets  6 months  
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As of March 31, 2022, the gross balance and accumulated amortization related to the intangible lease assets was $4.1 million and $1.0 million,
respectively. As of December 31, 2021, the gross balance and accumulated amortization related to the intangible lease assets was $1.0 million and $0.5 million,
respectively. For the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company recognized approximately $1.0 million, respectively, of amortization expense
related to the intangible lease assets.
 

Real estate assets are reviewed for impairment quarterly or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset
may not be recoverable. Significant indicators of impairment may include, but are not limited to, declines in home values, rental rates or occupancy
percentages, as well as significant changes in the economy. In such cases, the Company will evaluate the recoverability of the assets by comparing the
estimated future cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of each asset to its carrying amount and provide for impairment if such
undiscounted cash flows are insufficient to recover the carrying amount. If impaired, the real estate asset will be written down to its estimated fair value. The
process whereby we assess our SFR homes for impairment requires significant judgment and assessment of factors that are, at times, subject to significant
uncertainty. No significant impairments on operating properties were recorded during the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021.
 
Cash and restricted cash
 

The Company maintains cash at multiple financial institutions and, at times, these balances exceed federally insurable limits. As a result, there is a
concentration of credit risk related to amounts on deposit. We believe any risks are mitigated through the size of the financial institutions at which our cash
balances are held.
 

Restricted cash represents cash deposited in accounts related to security deposits, property taxes, insurance premiums and deductibles and other lender-
required escrows. Amounts deposited in the reserve accounts associated with the loans can only be used as provided for in the respective loan agreements, and
security deposits held pursuant to lease agreements are required to be segregated.
 

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash and restricted cash reported on the consolidated balance sheets that sum to the total of such amount
shown in the consolidated statements of cash flows (in thousands):
 

  March 31,      
  2022   2021   December 31, 2021  
Cash  $ 36,640  $ 40,093  $ 54,104 
Restricted cash   18,179   11,683   20,893 

Total cash and restricted cash  $ 54,819  $ 51,776  $ 74,997 
 
Revenue Recognition
 

The Company’s primary operations consist of rental income earned from its residents under lease agreements typically with terms of one year or less. As
a result of the adoption of ASC 842, Leases, on January 1, 2019, the Company classifies the SFR property leases as operating leases and elects to not separate
the lease component, comprised of rents from SFR properties, from the associated non-lease component, comprised of fees from SFR properties and tenant
charge-backs. The combined component is accounted for under the new lease accounting standard while certain resident reimbursements are accounted for as
variable payments under the revenue accounting guidance. Rental income is recognized when earned. This policy effectively results in income recognition on a
straight-line basis over the related terms of the leases. Resident reimbursements and other income consist of charges billed to residents for utilities, resident-
caused damages, pets, and administrative, application and other fees and are recognized when earned. Historically, the Company has used a direct write-off
method for uncollectable rents; wherein uncollectible rents are netted against rental income. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company additionally
has established a reserve for any accounts receivable that are not expected to be collectible, which are netted against rental income. For the three months ended
March 31, 2022 and 2021, rental income includes $2.2 million and $1.1 million of variable lease payments, respectively.
 

Gains or losses on sales of properties are recognized pursuant to the provisions included in ASC 610-20, Other Income. We recognize a full gain or loss
on sale, which is presented in gain/(loss) on sales of real estate on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), when the
derecognition criteria under ASC 610-20 have been met.
 

In April 2020, the FASB issued a Staff Q&A on accounting for leases during the COVID-19 pandemic, focused on the application of lease guidance in
ASC 842. The Q&A states that some lease contracts may contain explicit or implicit enforceable rights and obligations that require lease concessions if certain
circumstances arise that are beyond the control of the parties to the contract. Therefore, entities would need to perform a lease-by-lease analysis to determine
whether contractual provisions in an existing lease agreement provide enforceable rights and obligations related to lease concessions. The FASB determined it
would be acceptable for entities to not perform a lease-by-lease analysis regarding rent concessions resulting from COVID-19, and to instead make a policy
election regarding rent concessions, which would give entities the option to account or not to account for these rent concessions as lease modifications if the
total payments required by the modified contract are substantially the same or less than the total payments required by the original contract. Entities making the
election to account for these rent concessions as lease modifications would recognize the effects of rent abatements and rent deferrals on a prospective straight-
line basis over the remainder of the modified contract. We have made the election to not perform a lease-by-lease analysis to determine whether contractual
provisions in an existing lease agreement provide enforceable rights and obligations related to payment plans. By electing the FASB relief, we have also made
an accounting policy election to not account for rent deferrals provided to lessees due to the COVID-19 pandemic as lease modifications. Lessees are required
to pay the full outstanding balance of the rent deferred over the period of the payment plan.
 
Redeemable Securities
 

Included in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets are redeemable noncontrolling interests in the OP and 6.50% Series A Cumulative Redeemable
Preferred Stock (the “Preferred Shares”). These interests are presented in the “mezzanine” section of the consolidated balance sheets because they do not meet
the functional definition of a liability or equity under current accounting literature. The Company accounts for these under the provisions of ASC Topic 480-10-



S99-3A, paragraph 15(b).
 

In accordance with ASC Topic 480-10-S99, since the redeemable noncontrolling interests in the OP have a redemption feature, they are measured at their
redemption value if such value exceeds the carrying value of interests. The redemption value is based on the NAV per unit at the measurement date. The offset
to the adjustment to the carrying amount of the redeemable noncontrolling interests in the OP is reflected in the Company’s additional paid-in capital on the
balance sheet. In accordance with ASC Topic 480-10-S99, the Preferred Shares are measured at their carrying value plus the accretion to their future
redemption value on the balance sheet. The accretion is reflected in the Company’s dividends on and accretion to redemption value of Series A redeemable
preferred stock on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).
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Earnings (Loss) Per Share
 

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of shares
of the Company’s common stock outstanding, which excludes any unvested RSUs issued pursuant to the 2018 LTIP. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is
computed by adjusting basic earnings (loss) per share for the dilutive effects of the assumed vesting of RSUs and PI Units and the conversion of OP Units and
vested PI Units to Shares. During periods of net loss, the assumed vesting of RSUs and PI Units and the conversion of OP Units and vested PI Units to Shares
is anti-dilutive and is not included in the calculation of earnings (loss) per share. The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings
(loss) per share for the periods presented (in thousands, except per share amounts):
 
  For the Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2022   2021  
Numerator for loss per share:         
Net loss  $ (2,713)  $ (141)
Less:         

Dividends on and accretion to redemption value of Redeemable Series A preferred stock   2,209   2,206 
Net loss attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests in the OP   (423)   (35)

Net loss attributable to common stockholders  $ (4,499)  $ (2,312)
         
Denominator for earnings (loss) per share:         
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic   23,249   10,417 

Weighted average unvested RSUs, PI Units, and OP Units (1)   —   — 
Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted   23,249   10,417 
         
Earnings (loss) per weighted average common share:         
Basic  $ (0.19)  $ (0.22)
Diluted  $ (0.19)  $ (0.22)
 
 (1) For the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, excludes approximately 4,243,000 shares and 3,888,000 shares, respectively, related to the

assumed vesting of RSUs and PI Units and the conversion of OP Units and vested PI Units to Shares, as the effect would have been anti-dilutive.
 
Segment Reporting
 

Under the provision of ASC 280, Segment Reporting, the Company has determined that it has one reportable segment with activities related to acquiring,
renovating, developing, leasing and operating SFR homes as rental properties. The Company’s management allocates resources and evaluates operating
performance on a total portfolio basis. The aggregation of individual homes constitutes the total portfolio. The Company had geographic market concentrations
in two markets (Cincinnati and Dayton) that represent more than 10% of the total gross book value of SFR homes as of March 31, 2022. 
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848) (“ASU 2020-04”). ASU 2020-04 contains practical expedients for
reference rate reform related activities that impact debt, leases, derivatives and other contracts. The guidance in ASU 2020-04 is optional and may be elected
over time as reference rate reform activities occur. During the first quarter of 2022, the Company elected to apply the hedge accounting expedients related to
probability and the assessments of effectiveness for future LIBOR-indexed cash flows to assume that the index upon which future hedged transactions will be
based matches the index on the corresponding derivatives. Application of these expedients preserves the presentation of derivatives consistent with past
presentation. The Company is currently evaluating the impact the adoption of this ASU will have on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
 
COVID-19
 

The COVID-19 pandemic could have material and adverse effects on our financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows in the near term. As a
result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company may experience difficulties collecting monthly rent on time, selling or purchasing homes and accessing debt
and equity capital on attractive terms, or at all. To date, the Company has not been materially impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic and will continue to
monitor the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on all aspects of its business. See Item 1A, “Risk Factors”, in our Annual Report for additional discussion of
the risks posed by the COVID-19 pandemic.
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3. Investments in Subsidiaries
 

In connection with its indirect investments in real estate assets acquired, the Company, through its ownership of the OP, indirectly holds a proportional
ownership interest in the Portfolio, through the OP’s beneficial ownership of all of the issued and outstanding membership interests in the special purpose
limited liability companies (“SPEs”) that directly or indirectly own the Portfolio. All of the properties in the Portfolio are consolidated in the Company’s
consolidated financial statements. The assets of each entity can only be used to settle obligations of that particular entity, and the creditors of each entity have
no recourse to the assets of other entities or the Company, except as discussed below. Under the terms of the notes payable, except as discussed below, the
lender has a mortgage interest in each real estate asset in the SPE to which the loan is made.
 

As of March 31, 2022, the Company, through the OP and its SPE subsidiaries, owned the Portfolio, which consisted of 21,144 properties, through
14 SPEs and their various subsidiaries. The following table presents the ownership structure of each SPE group that directly or indirectly owns the title to each
real estate asset as of March 31, 2022, the number of assets held, the cost of those assets, the resulting debt allocated to each SPE and whether the debt is a
mortgage loan. The mortgage loan may be settled from the assets of the below entity or entities to which the loan is made. Loans from the Warehouse Facility
(as defined in Note 7) can only be settled from the assets owned by VB One, LLC (dollars in thousands):
 

VIE Name  Homes   Cost Basis   
OP Beneficial
Ownership %  

Encumbered
by Mortgage

(1)  Debt Allocated   
NREA VB I, LLC   66  $ 6,019   100% Yes  $ 5,048  
NREA VB II, LLC   167   16,422   100% Yes   10,742  
NREA VB III, LLC   1,322   120,820   100% Yes   71,115  
NREA VB IV, LLC   385   37,232   100% Yes   24,283  
NREA VB V, LLC   1,829   126,321   100% Yes   108,384  
NREA VB VI, LLC   302   27,771   100% Yes   18,661  
NREA VB VII, LLC   36   3,052   100% Yes   2,989  
True FM2017-1, LLC   211   18,537   100% Yes   10,355  
SMP Homes 3B, LLC   160   17,027   100% No   —  
SMP Homes 5B, LLC   46   4,717   100% Yes   2,328  
VB One, LLC   10,609   1,203,272   100% No   465,000  
VB Two, LLC   1,853   165,028   100% No   124,554  
VB Three, LLC   3,890   531,325   100% No   290,000  
VB Five, LLC   268   25,510   100% Yes   13,569  
   21,144  $ 2,303,053       $ 1,147,028 (2)
 

 (1) Assets held, directly or indirectly, by VB One, LLC, VB Two, LLC and VB Three, LLC are not encumbered by a mortgage. Instead, the lender has an
equity pledge in certain assets of the respective SPEs and an equity pledge in the equity of the respective SPEs.

 
 (2) In addition to the debt allocated to the SPEs noted above, as of March 31, 2022, the OP held approximately $132.7 million of debt not collateralized

directly by homes which reflects the amount outstanding on the Bridge Facility (as defined in Note 7) as of March 31, 2022. See Note 7 for further
information on the Company’s debt.
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4. Real Estate Assets
 

As of March 31, 2022, the Company, through the OP and its SPE subsidiaries, owned 21,144 SFR homes. As of  December 31, 2021, the Company,
through the OP and its SPE subsidiaries, owned 16,891 SFR homes. The components of the Company’s real estate investments in SFR properties were as
follows (in thousands):

 

  Land   

Buildings and
improvements

(1)    
Intangible
lease assets   

Real estate
held for sale,

net   Total  
Gross Real Estate, December 31, 2021  $ 334,191  $ 1,391,786   $ 971  $ 81  $ 1,727,029 
Additions   90,597   475,545 (2)  3,680   7,266   577,088 
Write-offs   —   —    (538)   —   (538)
Dispositions   —   —    —   (526)   (526)
Gross Real Estate, March 31, 2022   424,788   1,867,331    4,113   6,821   2,303,053 
Accumulated depreciation and amortization   —   (91,227)    (980)   —   (92,207)
Net Real Estate, March 31, 2022  $ 424,788  $ 1,776,104   $ 3,133  $ 6,821  $ 2,210,846 
 
 (1) Includes capitalized interest, real estate taxes, insurance and other costs incurred during rehabilitation of the properties.
 (2) Includes capitalized interest of approximately $2.0 million and other capitalizable costs of approximately $1.9 million.
 

During the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company recognized depreciation expense of approximately $15.0 million and $7.0
million, respectively.
 
Acquisitions and dispositions
 

During the three months ended March 31, 2022, the Company, through the OP, acquired 4,272 homes, including the homes in the portfolios discussed
below, and disposed of 19 homes.

 
On February 8, 2022, the Company, through the OP, purchased 2,842 homes, located across eight states, with the largest concentration in the southeastern

United States (the “Prager Portfolio”). The gross purchase price was approximately $352.7 million, in addition to approximately $31.4 million in debt
extinguishment costs and $3.7 million in other closing costs. See the table below for more information about the Prager Portfolio as of the acquisition date:

 
Market  State   # of Homes 
Memphis  TN, MS    743 
Atlanta  GA    741 
Saint Louis  MO    308 
Pensacola  FL    300 
Raeford  NC    250 
Kansas City  MO    230 
Portales   NM    150 
Augusta  GA, SC    67 
Jacksonville  FL    53 
Total       2,842 

 
On March 18, 2022, the Company, through the OP, purchased 170 homes located in Memphis, Tennessee for approximately $17.1 million (the

“CrestCore Portfolio”).
 
Held for sale properties
 

The Company periodically classifies real estate assets as held for sale when certain criteria are met, in accordance with GAAP. Once the Company begins
marketing an asset or determines that it will pursue marketing an asset, the asset becomes classified as held for sale. At that time, the Company presents the net
real estate assets separately in its consolidated balance sheet, and the Company ceases recording depreciation and amortization expense related to that property.
Real estate held for sale is reported at the lower of its carrying amount or its estimated fair value less estimated costs to sell. As of March 31, 2022, there are
65 properties that are classified as held for sale. These held for sale properties have a carrying amount of approximately $6.8 million. On April 6, 2022, the
Company sold 53 properties for a sale price of approximately $6.5 million.
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5. Investment in Unconsolidated Entity
 

During the three months ended March 31, 2022, the Company, through the TRS, invested approximately $100.8 million in Ensign Peak Realty, LLC
(“Ensign”), an owner and operator of SFR homes. The investment in unconsolidated entity is recorded initially at cost, and subsequently adjusted for equity in
earnings and cash contributions and distributions.

 
 
6. Investments in Equities
 

On November 22, 2021, the Company, through a taxable REIT subsidiary (“TRS”), invested $2.5 million in Vesta Ventures Fund I, LP (the “Vesta
Fund”). The Vesta Fund is a closed-end fund with an initial seven-year term beginning on February 24, 2021, subject to certain extension provisions, that
invests in early and growth stage technology companies that provide solutions to the SFR real estate sector. Vesta Ventures GP, LLC (the “Vesta GP”) is the
general partner and managing member of the Vesta Fund and accordingly has the exclusive right to manage and control the Vesta Fund. The TRS is a limited
partner in the Vesta Fund with a minority interest and accordingly has no control or influence over the Vesta Fund.
 

Investments in privately held entities that report NAV, such as our privately held equity investments, are presented at fair value using NAV as a practical
expedient, with changes in fair value recognized in net income. We use NAV reported by limited partnerships generally without adjustment, unless we are
aware of information indicating that the NAV reported by a limited partnership does not accurately reflect the fair value of the investment at our reporting date.
We disclose the timing of liquidation of an investee’s assets and the date when redemption restrictions will lapse (or indicate if this timing is unknown) if the
investee has communicated this information to us or has announced it publicly. We recognize both realized and unrealized gains and losses in our consolidated
statements of operations. Unrealized gains and losses represent changes in NAV as a practical expedient to estimate fair value for investments in privately held
entities that report NAV. Realized gains and losses on our investments represent the difference between proceeds received upon disposition of investments and
their historical or adjusted cost. At March 31, 2022, the Company had no material unrealized or realized gains or losses related to the investment.
 
 
7. Debt
 

On November 1, 2018, the OP (as guarantor) and some of the SPEs (as borrowers) entered into the $241.4 million Initial Mortgage with KeyBank. The
Initial Mortgage is secured by certain properties in the Initial Portfolio and equity pledges of the SPEs and bears interest at a variable rate equal to the 30-day
London InterBank Offered Rate (“one-month LIBOR”) plus 1.55%. The Initial Mortgage is interest-only for the first 48 months of the term and principal
amortizes at a rate of 30 years over the last 36 months of the term. The Initial Mortgage matures and is due in full on December 1, 2025. The balance of the
Initial Mortgage, net of unamortized deferred financing costs, is included in notes payable on the consolidated balance sheets.
 

On September 20, 2019, the OP (as guarantor) and VB One, LLC (as borrower) entered into a credit facility (the “Warehouse Facility”) with KeyBank.
The Warehouse Facility is secured by an equity pledge in certain assets of VB One, LLC and an equity pledge in the equity of VB One, LLC. On November 3,
2021, the Company (as guarantor), the OP (as parent borrower), and each of (i) VB OP Holdings, LLC and (ii) VB One, LLC and certain of its subsidiaries (as
subsidiary borrowers), entered into an amended and restated credit agreement to recast the Warehouse Facility, resulting in an increased borrowing capacity, an
amended interest rate, and an extended term. The recast Warehouse Facility is a full-term, interest-only facility with an initial 36-month term ending November
3, 2024, has one 12-month extension option, and bears interest at a variable rate equal to one-month LIBOR plus a margin of 1.60% to 2.45%, depending on
the Company's consolidated total leverage ratio. The Warehouse Facility recast increased the commitment amount of the facility from $135.0 million to $350.0
million. In conjunction with the increase in the facility, the Company incurred costs of $3.2 million of deferred financing costs. On December 9, 2021, the
Warehouse Facility was further amended to increase the commitment amount from $350.0 million to $465.0 million. In conjunction with the increase in the
facility, the Company incurred costs of $0.9 million of deferred financing costs. The recast Warehouse Facility provides the Company, through the OP, the right
to request an increase in the total facility amount, which may take the form of an increase in revolving commitments or one or more tranches of term loan of
commitments, up to $800.0 million. As of March 31, 2022, $465.0 million was drawn on the Warehouse Facility. The balance of the Warehouse Facility, net of
unamortized deferred financing costs, is included in credit facilities on the consolidated balance sheets.
 

On September 30, 2019, in connection with the acquisition of a 954-home portfolio (the “TrueLane Portfolio”), the OP (as guarantor) assumed an
approximately $10.8 million Freddie Mac mortgage loan (the “TrueLane Mortgage”) with Berkadia Commercial Mortgage LLC as a result of the OP’s
acquisition of True FM 2017-1, LLC. The TrueLane Mortgage is secured by some of our properties and an equity pledge in True FM 2017-1, LLC and bears
interest at a fixed rate equal to 5.35%. The TrueLane Mortgage matures and is due in full on February 1, 2028 and requires monthly principal and interest
payments. The balance of the TrueLane Mortgage, net of unamortized deferred financing costs, is included in notes payable on the consolidated balance sheets.
 

11



Table of Contents
 

On December 28, 2020, in connection with the acquisition of a 45-home portfolio, the OP provided a non-recourse carveout guaranty related to an
approximately $2.4 million mortgage loan assumed by a subsidiary of the OP (the “CoreVest Note”) with CoreVest American Finance Lender LLC as a result
of the OP’s acquisition of SMP Homes 5B, LLC. The CoreVest Note is secured by the properties in SMP Homes 5B, LLC and an equity pledge in SMP Homes
5B, LLC and bears interest at a fixed rate equal to 6.12%. The CoreVest Note matures and is due in full on January 9, 2023 and requires monthly principal and
interest payments. The balance of the CoreVest Note, net of unamortized deferred financing costs, is included in notes payable on the consolidated balance
sheets.
 

On January 6, 2021, the Company (as guarantor) and VB Two, LLC (as borrower) entered into a $125.0 million note with Metropolitan Life Insurance
(the “MetLife Note”). The MetLife Note is secured by equity pledges in VB Two, LLC and its wholly owned subsidiaries and bears interest at a fixed rate of
3.25%. The MetLife Note is interest-only and matures and is due in full on January 31, 2026. The MetLife Note, net of unamortized deferred financing costs, is
included in notes payable on the consolidated balance sheets. 
 

On March 1, 2021, the Company entered into a non-recourse carveout guaranty and certain wholly owned subsidiaries of VB Three, LLC (as borrowers)
entered into a $500.0 million credit agreement with JP Morgan (the “JPM Facility”). The JPM Facility is secured by equity pledges in VB Three, LLC and its
wholly owned subsidiaries and bears interest at a variable rate equal to one-month LIBOR plus 2.75%. The JPM Facility is interest-only and matures and is due
in full on March 1, 2023. On March 10, 2022, the Company entered into Amendment No. 1 to the JPM Facility, wherein each advance under the JPM Facility
will bear interest at a daily Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“daily SOFR”) plus 2.85%. As of March 31, 2022, the JPM Facility has $210.0 million of
available capacity. The balance of the JPM Facility, net of unamortized deferred financing costs, is included in credit facilities on the consolidated balance
sheets. 

 
On January 13, 2022, in connection with the acquisition of a 98-home portfolio, the OP (as guarantor) assumed an approximately $4.6 million Freddie

Mac mortgage loan (the “Hatchway Broadmoor Mortgage”) with Arbor Agency Lending, LLC as a result of the OP’s acquisition of Hatchway Broadmoor,
LLC. The Hatchway Broadmoor Mortgage is secured by properties in Hatchway Broadmoor, LLC and an equity pledge in Hatchway Broadmoor, LLC and
bears interest at a fixed rate equal to 5.35%. The Hatchway Broadmoor Mortgage matures and is due in full on February 1, 2029 and requires monthly principal
and interest payments. The balance of the Hatchway Broadmoor Mortgage, net of unamortized deferred financing costs, is included in notes payable on the
consolidated balance sheets.

 
On February 8, 2022, in connection with the acquisition of the Prager Portfolio, the Company entered into a bridge credit agreement through the OP with

KeyBank National Association, and borrowed $150.0 million (the “Bridge Facility”). The Bridge Facility accrues interest at the OP’s option of (1) daily SOFR
plus 0.1% plus an applicable rate of 3.0%, (2) the forward-looking term rate based on SOFR (“term SOFR”) for the applicable interest period plus 0.1% plus an
applicable rate of 3.0% or (3) an alternate base rate equal to the greater of (a) the prime rate in effect on such day and (b) the federal funds effective rate in
effect on such day plus 0.5%, plus an applicable rate of 2.0%. The Bridge Facility matures on February 8, 2023 but requires repayment of the principal amount
outstanding so that (1) by May 8, 2022 no more than $112.5 million remains outstanding, (2) by August 8, 2022 no more than $75.0 million remains
outstanding and (3) by November 8, 2022 no more than $37.5 million remains outstanding. As of March 31, 2022, $132.7 million was drawn on the Bridge
Facility. The balance of the Bridge Facility, net of unamortized deferred financing costs, is included in bridge facility on the consolidated balance sheets. 

 
On March 18, 2022, in connection with the acquisition of an 88-home portfolio, the OP provided a non-recourse carveout guaranty related to an

approximately $4.7 million mortgage loan assumed by a subsidiary of the OP (the “Crestcore II Note”) with CoreVest American Finance Lender LLC as a
result of the OP’s acquisition of Crestcore II, LLC. The Crestcore II Note is secured by the properties in Crestcore II, LLC and an equity pledge in Crestcore II,
LLC and bears interest at a fixed rate equal to 5.12%. The Crestcore II Note matures and is due in full on July 9, 2029 and requires monthly principal and
interest payments. The balance of the Crestcore II Note, net of unamortized deferred financing costs, is included in notes payable on the consolidated balance
sheets.

 
On March 18, 2022, in connection with the acquisition of an 82-home portfolio, the OP provided a non-recourse carveout guaranty related to an

approximately $4.2 million mortgage loan assumed by a subsidiary of the OP (the “Crestcore IV Note”) with CoreVest American Finance Lender LLC as a
result of the OP’s acquisition of Crestcore IV, LLC. The Crestcore IV Note is secured by the properties in Crestcore IV, LLC and an equity pledge in Crestcore
IV, LLC and bears interest at a fixed rate equal to 5.12%. The Crestcore IV Note matures and is due in full on July 9, 2029 and requires monthly principal and
interest payments. The balance of the Crestcore IV Note, net of unamortized deferred financing costs, is included in notes payable on the consolidated balance
sheets.

 
As of March 31, 2022, the Company is in compliance with all debt covenants in all of its debt agreements.

 
The weighted average interest rate of the Company’s debt was 2.6881% as of March 31, 2022 and 2.3707% as of December 31, 2021. As of March 31,

2022 and December 31, 2021, the adjusted weighted average interest rate of the Company’s debt, including the effect of derivative financial instruments, was
3.2397% and 2.9171%, respectively. For purposes of calculating the adjusted weighted average interest rate of the Company’s debt, including the effect of
derivative financial instruments, the Company has included the weighted average fixed rate of 1.6192% on its combined $570.0 million notional amount of
interest rate swap agreements, representing a weighted average fixed rate for one-month LIBOR and daily SOFR, which effectively fixes the interest rate on
$570.0 million of the Company’s floating rate indebtedness (see Note 8).
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The following table contains summary information concerning the Company’s debt as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 (dollars in thousands):
 

   Outstanding Principal as of        

 Type  March 31, 2022   December 31, 2021   
Interest Rate

(1)  Maturity  
Initial Mortgage Floating  $ 241,222  $ 241,269   2.00% 12/1/2025  
Warehouse Facility Floating   465,000   160,000   2.15% 11/3/2024 (3)
JPM Facility Floating   290,000   240,000   3.14% 3/1/2023  
Bridge Facility Floating   132,648   —   3.78% 2/8/2023  
MetLife Note Fixed   124,554   124,689   3.25% 1/31/2026  
TrueLane Mortgage Fixed   10,355   10,387   5.35% 2/1/2028  
CoreVest Note Fixed   2,328   2,338   6.12% 1/9/2023  
Crestcore II Note Fixed   4,733   —   5.12% 7/9/2029  
Crestcore IV Note Fixed   4,209   —   5.12% 7/9/2029  
Hatchway Broadmoor Mortgage Fixed   4,627   —   5.35% 2/1/2029  
   $ 1,279,676  $ 778,683       
Debt premium, net (2)    482   416       
Deferred financing costs, net of accumulated
amortization of $6,873 and $5,325, respectively    (10,129)   (10,554)       
   $ 1,270,029  $ 768,545       
 

 
(1) Represents the interest rate as of March 31, 2022. Except for fixed rate debt, the interest rate is one-month LIBOR, daily SOFR or term SOFR, plus an

applicable margin. One-month LIBOR as of March 31, 2022 was 0.4520%, daily SOFR as of  March 31, 2022 was 0.2900% and one-month term
SOFR as of March 31, 2022 was 0.6751%.

 

 
(2) The Company reflected valuation adjustments on its assumed fixed rate debt to adjust it to fair market value on the dates of acquisition for the

difference between the fair value and the assumed principal amount of debt. The difference is amortized into interest expense over the remaining terms
of the debt.

 
 (3) This is the stated maturity for the Warehouse Facility, but it is subject to a 12-month extension option.
 
Schedule of Debt Maturities
 

The aggregate scheduled maturities, including amortizing principal payments, of total debt for the next five calendar years subsequent to March 31, 2022
are as follows (in thousands):

 
  Total  
2022  $ 96,226 
2023   338,800 
2024   8,617 
2025   689,208(1)
2026   125,052 
Thereafter   21,773 

Total  $ 1,279,676 
 
 (1) Assumes the Company exercises the 12-month extension option on the Warehouse Facility.
 
Deferred Financing Costs
 

The Company defers costs incurred in obtaining financing and amortizes the costs over the term of the related debt using the straight-line method, which
approximates the effective interest method. Deferred financing costs, net of amortization, are recorded as a reduction from the related debt on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets. Upon repayment of, or in conjunction with, a material change in the terms of the underlying debt agreement, any unamortized
costs are charged to loss on extinguishment of debt and modification costs and any prepayment penalty resulting from the early repayment of the debt is
recorded as interest expense in the period incurred. For the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, amortization of deferred financing costs of
approximately $1.5 million and $0.5 million, respectively are included in interest expense on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive
income (loss).
 
8. Fair Value of Derivatives and Financial Instruments
 

Fair value measurements are determined based on the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for
considering market participant assumptions in fair value measurements, ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy that distinguishes between market
participant assumptions based on market data obtained from sources independent of the reporting entity (observable inputs that are classified within Levels 1
and 2 of the hierarchy) and the reporting entity’s own assumptions about market participant assumptions (unobservable inputs classified within Level 3 of the
hierarchy):
 
 ● Level 1 inputs utilize quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to access.
 



 
● Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. Level

2 inputs may include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, as well as inputs that are observable for the asset or liability
(other than quoted prices), such as interest rates and yield curves that are observable at commonly quoted intervals.

 

 

● Level 3 inputs are the unobservable inputs for the asset or liability, which are typically based on an entity’s own assumption, as there is little, if any,
related market activity. In instances where the determination of the fair value measurement is based on input from different levels of the fair value
hierarchy, the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the entire fair value measurement falls is based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.
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The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and considers factors
specific to the asset or liability. The Company utilizes independent third parties to perform the allocation of value analysis for each property acquisition and to
perform the market valuations on its derivative financial instruments and has established policies, as described above, processes and procedures intended to
ensure that the valuation methodologies for investments and derivative financial instruments are fair and consistent as of the measurement date.
 
Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities
 

The Company manages interest rate risk primarily by managing the amount, sources, and duration of its debt funding and the use of derivative financial
instruments. Specifically, the Company has entered into interest rate swaps to manage exposures that arise from changes in interest rates. The Company’s
derivative financial instruments are used to manage the Company’s risk of increased cash outflows from the floating rate loans that may result from rising
interest rates, in particular the reference rate for the loans, which include one-month LIBOR, daily SOFR and term SOFR. In order to minimize counterparty
credit risk, the Company has entered into and expects to enter in the future into hedging arrangements and intends to only transact with major financial
institutions that have high credit ratings.
 

The Company utilizes an independent third party to perform the market valuations on its derivative financial instruments. The valuation of these
instruments is determined using widely accepted valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow analysis on the expected cash flows of each derivative.
This analysis reflects the contractual terms of the derivatives, including the period to maturity, and uses observable market-based inputs, including interest rate
curves and implied volatilities. The fair values of interest rate swaps are determined using the market standard methodology of netting the discounted future
fixed cash receipts (or payments) and the discounted expected variable cash payments (or receipts). The variable cash payments (or receipts) are based on an
expectation of future interest rates (forward curves) derived from observable market interest rate curves. To comply with the provisions of ASC 820, the
Company incorporates credit valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect both the Company’s own nonperformance risk and the respective counterparty’s
nonperformance risk in the fair value measurements. In adjusting the fair value of the Company’s derivative contracts for the effect of nonperformance risk, the
Company has considered the impact of netting and any applicable credit enhancements, such as collateral postings, thresholds, mutual puts and guarantees.
Although the Company has determined that the majority of the inputs used to value its derivatives fall within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, the credit
valuation adjustments associated with the Company’s derivatives utilize Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of current credit spreads, to evaluate the likelihood of
default by the Company and its counterparties. The Company has determined that the significance of the impact of the credit valuation adjustments made to its
derivative contracts, which determination was based on the fair value of each individual contract, was not significant to the overall valuation. As a result, all of
the Company’s derivatives held as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 were classified as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
 

The changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are designated as cash flow hedges are recorded in other comprehensive income
(loss) and are subsequently reclassified into net income (loss) in the period that the hedged forecasted transaction affects earnings. Amounts reported in other
comprehensive income (loss) related to derivatives will be reclassified to interest expense as interest payments are made on the Company’s floating rate debt.
Derivatives not designated as hedges are not speculative and are used to manage the Company’s exposure to interest rate movements but either do not meet the
strict requirements to apply hedge accounting in accordance with FASB ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, or the Company has elected not to designate such
derivatives as hedges. Changes in the fair value of derivatives not designated in hedging relationships are recorded directly in net income (loss) as interest
expense.
 

In order to fix a portion of, and mitigate the risk associated with, the Company’s floating rate indebtedness, the Company, through the OP, has entered
into eight interest rate swap transactions with KeyBank with a combined notional amount of $570.0 million. The interest rate swaps the Company has entered
into effectively replace the floating interest rate (one-month LIBOR or daily SOFR) with respect to those amounts with a weighted average fixed rate of
1.6192%. The Company has designated these interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges of interest rate risk.
 

As of March 31, 2022, the Company had the following outstanding interest rate swaps that were designated as cash flow hedges of interest rate risk
(dollars in thousands):
 

Effective Date  Expiration Date  Index (1)  Notional   Fixed Rate   
7/1/2019  7/1/2024  One-Month LIBOR  $ 100,000   1.6290%  
9/1/2019  12/21/2025  One-Month LIBOR   100,000   1.4180%  
9/1/2019  12/21/2025  One-Month LIBOR   50,000   1.4190%  
2/3/2020  2/1/2025  One-Month LIBOR   50,000   1.2790%  
3/2/2020  3/3/2025  One-Month LIBOR   20,000   0.9140%  

      $ 320,000   1.4309%(2)
 

Effective Date  Expiration Date  Index (1)  Notional   Fixed Rate   
3/31/2022  11/1/2025  Daily SOFR  $ 100,000   1.5110%  
3/31/2022  11/1/2025  Daily SOFR   100,000   1.9190%  
3/31/2022  11/1/2025  Daily SOFR   50,000   2.4410%  

      $ 250,000   1.8602%(2)
 
 (1) As of March 31, 2022, one-month LIBOR was 0.4520% and daily SOFR was 0.2900%.
 

 (2) Represents the weighted average fixed rate of the interest rate swaps for one-month LIBOR interest rate swaps and daily SOFR interest rate swaps,
respectively, which have a combined weighted average fixed rate of 1.6192%.
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For the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), the Company
recognized approximately $16.9 million and $6.4 million of unrealized gain, respectively, related to the change in fair value of the interest rate swaps.
 

The table below presents the fair value of the Company’s derivative financial instruments, which are presented in a net position on the consolidated
balance sheets as of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 (in thousands):
 
  Asset Derivatives   Liability Derivatives  
  Balance Sheet Location  March 31, 2022   December 31, 2021   March 31, 2022   December 31, 2021  
Derivatives designated as hedging
instruments:                   

Interest rate swaps  
Fair market value of interest rate

swaps  $ 13,547  $ —  $ 283  $ 3,590 
Total  $ 13,547  $ —  $ 283  $ 3,590 
 

Financial assets and liabilities for which the carrying values approximate their fair values include cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts
payable, and security deposits. Generally, these assets and liabilities are short‑term in duration and are recorded at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets.
The Company believes the carrying value of each outstanding loan approximates fair value based on the nature, term and interest rate of each loan.
 
 
9. Stockholders’ Equity
 

The Company issues Shares under the Private Offering as well as under the Company’s distribution reinvestment program (the “DRIP”). Shares issued
under the DRIP are issued at a 3% discount to the then-current NAV per share. The following table details all Share issuances under the Private Offering and
the DRIP for the three months ended March 31, 2022 (dollars in thousands):
 

Quarter Ended  Shares issued   Proceeds   DRIP reinvestment  
March 31, 2022   2,907,334  $ 149,369  $ 6,495 

 
The following table provides detail on cash dividends declared on Shares as well as reinvested dividends as part of the Company’s DRIP for the three

months ended March 31, 2022 (dollars in thousands):
 

Quarter Ended  DRIP Shares Issued   DRIP Dividend   Cash Dividend   
Cash Dividend

Accrued on RSUs (1)   Total Dividend  
March 31, 2022   123,665  $ 6,495  $ 5,816  $ 219  $ 12,530 

 
 (1) Included in accounts payable and other accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.
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Long-Term Incentive Plan
 

The Company adopted the 2018 LTIP whereby the Board, or a committee thereof, may grant RSUs or PI Units to certain employees of the Adviser and
the Manager, or others at the discretion of the Board (including the directors and officers of the Company or other service providers of the Company or the
OP). The 2018 LTIP provides for the Share Reserve and the Share Maximum for issuance of RSUs or PI Units. Grants may be made annually by the Board or
more or less frequently in the Board’s sole discretion. Vesting of grants made under the 2018 LTIP will occur ratably over a period of time as determined by the
Board and may include the achievement of performance metrics also as determined by the Board in its sole discretion.
 
RSU Grants Under the 2018 LTIP
 

On December 10, 2019, a total of 73,700 RSUs were granted to certain employees of the Adviser and officers of the Company. On May 11, 2020, a total
of 179,858 RSUs were granted to certain employees of the Adviser, officers of the Company and independent Board members. On February 15, 2021, a total of
191,506 RSUs were granted to certain employees of the Adviser, officers of the Company and independent Board members. On February 17, 2022, a total of
185,111 RSUs were granted to certain employees of the Adviser, officers of the Company and independent Board members. The RSUs granted to certain
employees of the Adviser and officers of the Company on December 10, 2019 and May 11, 2020 vest over a four-year period. The RSUs granted to certain
employees of the Adviser and officers of the Company on  February 17, 2022, February 15, 2021 and May 11, 2020 vest 50% ratably over four years and 50%
at the successful completion of an initial public offering. The RSUs granted to independent Board members fully vest on the first anniversary of the grant date.
Any unvested RSU is forfeited, except in limited circumstances, as determined by the compensation committee of the Board, when the recipient is no longer
employed by the Adviser. RSUs are valued at fair value (which is the NAV per share in effect) on the date of grant, with compensation expense recorded in
accordance with the applicable vesting schedule that approximates a straight-line basis. Beginning on the date of grant, RSUs accrue dividends that are payable
in cash on the vesting date. Once vested, the RSUs convert on a one-for-one basis into Shares.
 

As of March 31, 2022, the number of RSUs granted that are outstanding was as follows (dollars in thousands):
 

Dates  Number of RSUs   Value (1)  
Outstanding December 31, 2021   377,704  $ 12,405 
Granted   185,111   10,022 
Vested   (32,485) (2) (1,188)
Forfeited   —   — 
Outstanding March 31, 2022   530,330  $ 21,239 

 

 (1) Value is based on the number of RSUs granted multiplied by the most recent NAV per share on the date of grant, which was $54.14 for the February
17, 2022 grant, $36.56 for the February 15, 2021 grant, $30.82 for the May 11, 2020 grant, and $29.85 for the December 10, 2019 grant.

 
 (2) Certain grantees elected to net the taxes owed upon vesting against the Shares issued resulting in 30,264 Shares being issued as shown on the

consolidated statements of stockholders' equity.
 

The vesting schedule for the RSUs is as follows:
 

Vest Date  RSUs Vesting  
May 11, 2022   21,336 
December 10, 2022   18,425 
February 15, 2023   22,717 
February 17, 2023   30,412 
May 11, 2023   21,335 
December 10, 2023   18,426 
February 15, 2024   22,717 
February 17, 2024   22,100 
May 11, 2024   21,335 
February 14, 2025   22,717 
February 17, 2025   22,100 
February 17, 2026   22,100 
Upon successful completion of IPO   264,610 
   530,330 

 
For the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company recognized approximately $0.8 million and $0.5 million, respectively, of non-cash

compensation expense related to the RSUs, which is included in corporate general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of operations
and comprehensive income (loss). 
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10. Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests in the OP
 

Other than PI Units and OP Preferred Units (defined below), partnership interests in the OP are represented by OP Units. Net income (loss) is allocated
pro rata to holders of OP Units and PI Units based upon net income (loss) attributable to the OP and the respective members’ OP Units and PI Units held during
the period. Capital contributions, distributions, and profits and losses are allocated to PI Units and OP Units not held by the Company (the “noncontrolling
interests”).
 

The following table presents the redeemable noncontrolling interests in the OP (in thousands):
 
  Balances  
Redeemable noncontrolling interests in the OP, December 31, 2021  $ 196,362 
Net loss attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests in the OP   (423)
Contributions by redeemable noncontrolling interests in the OP   5,340 
Distributions to redeemable noncontrolling interests in the OP   (2,257)
Redemptions by redeemable noncontrolling interests in the OP   — 
Equity-based compensation   696 
Other comprehensive income attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests in the OP   2,624 
Adjustment to reflect redemption value of redeemable noncontrolling interests in the OP   20,649 
Redeemable noncontrolling interests in the OP, March 31, 2022  $ 222,991 
 

The following table provides detail on distributions to noncontrolling interests in the OP for the three months ended March 31, 2022 , including under the
OP’s DRIP (dollars in thousands):
 

Quarter Ended  
DRIP OP Units

Issued   
OP DRIP

Distribution   
OP Cash

Distribution   
OP Distribution on

PI Units   
Total OP

Distribution  
March 31, 2022   8,896  $ 467  $ 1,477  $ 313  $ 2,257 

 
As of March 31, 2022, the Company held 20,675,743 Class A OP Units, NREO held 2,691,330 Class B OP Units, NRESF held 87,469 Class C OP Units,

GAF REIT held 138,035 Class C OP Units and the VineBrook Contributors and other Company insiders held 808,998 Class C OP Units.
 
On September 7, 2021, the general partner of the OP executed the OP LPA for the purposes of creating a board of directors of the OP (the “Partnership

Board”) and subdividing and reclassifying the outstanding common partnership units of the OP into Class A, Class B and Class C OP Units. The OP LPA
generally provides that the newly created Class A OP Units and Class B OP Units each have 50.0% of the voting power of the OP Units, including with respect
to the election of directors to and removal of directors from the Partnership Board, and that the Class C OP Units have no voting power. The reclassification of
the OP Units did not have a material effect on the economic interests of the holders of OP Units. In connection with the OP LPA, the OP Units held by the
Company were reclassified into Class A OP Units, the OP Units held by NREO were reclassified into Class B OP Units and the remaining OP Units were
reclassified into Class C OP Units. In addition, the OP LPA provides that holders of PI Units will receive Class C OP Units upon conversion of vested PI Units
into OP Units.

 
The Partnership Board of the OP has exclusive authority to select, remove and replace the general partner of the OP and no other authority. The

Partnership Board may replace the general partner of the OP at any time. Pursuant to the terms of the OP LPA, the Company appointed Brian Mitts as the sole
initial director of the Partnership Board. The number of directors on the Partnership Board is initially one but may be increased by following the affirmative
vote or consent of the majority of the voting power of the OP Units (the “Requisite Approval”). The election of directors to and removal of directors from the
Partnership Board also requires the Requisite Approval.

 
Upon execution of the OP LPA, the Company reconsidered whether it was still the primary beneficiary of the OP. Upon reconsideration, the Company

determined that it is the member of the related party group most closely associated with the OP and has the power to direct the activities that are most
significant to the OP as any actions taken by the OP GP are subject to the authority and approval of the Company’s Board. Accordingly, the Company
determined that it should continue to consolidate the OP.
 
PI Unit Grants Under the 2018 LTIP
 

In connection with the 2018 LTIP, PI Units have been issued to key personnel, senior management and executives of the Manager. On April 19, 2019, a
total of 40,000 PI Units were granted; on November 21, 2019, a total of 80,399 PI Units were granted; on May 11, 2020, a total of 219,826 PI Units were
granted; on November 30, 2020, a total of 11,764 PI Units were granted; and on May 31, 2021, a total of 246,169 PI Units were granted. The PI Units are a
special class of partnership interests in the OP with certain restrictions, which are convertible into Class C OP Units, subject to satisfying vesting and other
conditions. PI Unit holders are entitled to receive the same distributions as holders of our OP Units (only if we declare and pay such distributions). The PI Units
granted in 2019 generally fully vest over a period of two to four years. The PI Units granted on May 11, 2020 and May 31, 2021 vest 50% ratably over four
years and 50% at the successful completion of an initial public offering and the PI Units granted on November 30, 2020 vest 100% ratably over four years or
alternatively 100% on the successful completion of an initial public offering. Once vested and converted into Class C OP Units in accordance with the OP LPA,
the PI Units will then be fully recognized as Class C OP Units, which are subject to a one year lock up period before they can be converted to Shares. Any
unvested PI Unit granted to an employee of the Manager is forfeited, except in limited circumstances, as determined by the compensation committee of the
Board, when the recipient is no longer employed by the Manager. PI Units are valued at fair value on the date of grant, with compensation expense recorded in
accordance with the applicable vesting schedule over the periods in which the restrictions lapse, that approximates a straight-line basis. We valued the PI Units
at a per-unit value equivalent to the per-share offering price of our OP Units less a discount for lack of marketability and other discounts estimated by a third-
party consultant. Beginning on the date of grant, PI Units accrue dividends that are payable in cash quarterly (if we declare and pay distributions to holders of



our OP Units).
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As of March 31, 2022, the number of PI Units granted that are outstanding and unvested was as follows (dollars in thousands):
 

Dates   
Number of PI

Units   Value (1) 
Outstanding December 31, 2021   498,590  $ 16,965 
Granted   —   — 
Vested   —   — 
Forfeited   —   — 
Outstanding March 31, 2022   498,590  $ 16,965 

 

 
(1) Value is based on the number of PI Units granted multiplied by the estimated per unit fair value on the date of grant, which was $27.88 for the

April 19, 2019 grant, $29.12 for the November 21, 2019 grant, $30.16 for the May 11, 2020 grant, $33.45 for the November 30, 2020 grant and
$38.29 for the May 31, 2021 grant.

 
The vesting schedule for the PI Units is as follows:

 
Vest Date  PI Units Vesting  
May 11, 2022   27,479 
May 31, 2022   30,771 
November 1, 2022   7,200 
November 21, 2022   18,425 
November 30, 2022   2,941 
March 30, 2023   30,771 
May 11, 2023   27,478 
November 1, 2023   7,200 
November 21, 2023   18,425 
November 30, 2023   2,941 
March 30, 2024   30,771 
May 11, 2024   27,478 
November 30, 2024   2,941 
March 30, 2025   30,771 
Upon successful completion of IPO*   232,998 
   498,590 

 
*Upon successful completion of an IPO, an additional 11,764 PI Units will vest immediately instead of vesting ratably according to the schedule above on each
of November 30, 2022, November 30, 2023 and November 30, 2024.
 

For the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, the OP recognized approximately $0.7 million and $0.4 million, respectively, of non-cash
compensation expense related to the PI Units, which is included in corporate general and administrative expenses on the Company’s consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive income (loss).
 

The table below presents the consolidated Shares and OP Units outstanding held by the noncontrolling interests (“NCI”), as the OP Units held by the
Company are eliminated in consolidation:
 

Period End  Shares Outstanding   OP Units Held by NCI   

Consolidated Shares
and NCI OP Units

Outstanding  
March 31, 2022   24,696,441   3,725,832   28,422,273 
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11. Redeemable Series A Preferred Stock
 

On January 8, 2021, the Company issued 1,460,000 Preferred Shares at a price of $25.032 per share, for gross proceeds of approximately $36.5 million.
The net proceeds were in turn used to purchase 1,460,000 6.50% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Units of the OP (“OP Preferred Units”). The OP
used the proceeds for acquisitions and other corporate purposes. The Preferred Shares have a redemption value of $25.00 per share and are mandatorily
redeemable on October 7, 2027, subject to certain extensions. On March 15, 2021, the Company declared a dividend of $0.40625 per share to the holders of
record of Preferred Shares as of March 25, 2021, which was paid on April 12, 2021. On June 10, 2021, the Company declared a dividend of $0.40625 per share
to the holders of Preferred Shares as of June 25, 2021, which was paid on July 12, 2021. On September 10, 2021, the Company declared a dividend of
$0.40625 per share to the holders of Preferred Shares as of September 25, 2021, which was paid on October 12, 2021. On November 3, 2021, the Company
declared a dividend of $0.40625 per share to the holders of Preferred Shares as of November 15, 2021, which was paid on January 12, 2022. On March 8,
2022, the Company declared a dividend of $0.40625 per share to the holders of Preferred Shares as of March 25, 2022, which was paid on April 11, 2022. The
following table presents the redeemable Series A preferred stock (dollars in thousands):
 
  Preferred Shares   Balances  
Redeemable Series A preferred stock, December 31, 2021   5,000,000  $ 120,896 
Issuance of Redeemable Series A preferred stock   —   — 
Issuance costs related to Redeemable Series A preferred stock   —   — 
Net income attributable to Redeemable Series A preferred stockholders   —   2,031 
Dividends declared to Redeemable Series A preferred stockholders   —   (2,031)
Accretion to redemption value   —   178 
Redeemable Series A preferred stock, March 31, 2022   5,000,000  $ 121,074 
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12. Income Taxes
 

The Company has made the election and intends to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Code and expects to continue to qualify as
a REIT. To qualify as a REIT, the Company must meet a number of organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement to distribute annually
at least 90% of its “REIT taxable income,” as defined by the Code, to its stockholders in order for its distributed earnings to not be subject to corporate income
tax. Additionally, the Company will be subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax on the amount, if any, by which distributions it pays with respect to any
calendar year are less than the sum of (1) 85% of its ordinary income, (2) 95% of its capital gain net income and (3) 100% of its undistributed income from
prior years. The Company intends to operate in such a manner so as to qualify as a REIT, but no assurance can be given that the Company will operate in a
manner so as to qualify as a REIT. Taxable income from certain non-REIT activities is managed through a TRS and is subject to applicable federal, state, and
local income and margin taxes. The Company had no significant taxes associated with its TRS for the three months ended March 31, 2022 or 2021.
 

If the Company fails to meet these requirements, it could be subject to U.S. federal income tax on all of the Company’s taxable income at regular
corporate rates for that year. The Company would not be able to deduct distributions paid to stockholders in any year in which it fails to qualify as a REIT.
Additionally, the Company will also be disqualified from electing to be taxed as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year during which qualification
was lost unless the Company is entitled to relief under specific statutory provisions. As of March 31, 2022, the Company believes it is in compliance with all
applicable REIT requirements. The Company is still subject to state and local income taxes and to federal income and excise tax on its undistributed income,
however those taxes are not material to the financial statements.
 

The Company evaluates the accounting and disclosure of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in the course of preparing the Company’s tax returns
to determine whether the tax positions are “more-likely-than-not” (greater than 50 percent probability) of being sustained by the applicable tax authority. Tax
positions not deemed to meet the more-likely-than-not threshold would be recorded as a tax benefit or expense in the current year. The Company’s management
is required to analyze all open tax years, as defined by the statute of limitations, for all major jurisdictions, which include federal and certain states. The
Company has no examinations in progress and none are expected at this time. The tax years subject to examination are 2021, 2020 and 2019.
 

The Company had no material unrecognized federal or state tax benefit or expense, accrued interest or penalties as of March 31, 2022. When applicable,
the Company recognizes interest and/or penalties related to uncertain tax positions on its consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income
(loss).
 
 
13. Related Party Transactions
 
Advisory Fee
 

Pursuant to the Advisory Agreement, the Company will pay the Adviser, on a monthly basis in arrears, an advisory fee at an annualized rate of 0.75% of
the gross asset value of the Company on a consolidated basis (excluding the value of the OP’s assets but inclusive of the Company’s pro rata share of the debt
held at the OP and its SPEs). The Adviser will manage the Company’s business including, among other duties, advising the Board to issue distributions,
preparing our quarterly and annual consolidated financial statements prepared under GAAP, development and maintenance of internal accounting controls,
management and conduct of maintaining our REIT status, calculation of our NAV and recommending the appropriate NAV to be set by the Board, processing
of sales of Shares through the Private Offering, reporting to holders of Shares, our tax filings, and other responsibilities customary for an external advisor to a
business similar to ours. With certain specified exceptions, the advisory fee together with reimbursement of operating and offering expenses may not exceed
1.5% of average total assets of the Company and the OP, as determined in accordance with GAAP on a consolidated basis, at the end of each month (or partial
month) (i) for which any advisory fee is calculated or (ii) during the year for which any expense reimbursement is calculated.
 

For the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company incurred advisory fees of approximately $3.1 million and $1.3 million, respectively,
which is included in advisory fees on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).
 
Management Fee
 

The equity holders of the Manager are holders of noncontrolling interests in the OP and comprise a portion of the VineBrook Contributors. Through this
noncontrolling ownership, the Manager is deemed to be a related party. Pursuant to the Management Agreements, the OP will pay the Manager (i) an
acquisition fee equal to 1.0% of the purchase price paid for any new property acquired during the month, (ii) a construction fee monthly in arrears that shall not
exceed the greater of 10% of construction costs or $1,000, whichever is higher, in connection with the repair, renovation, improvement or development of any
newly acquired property, and (iii) a property management fee monthly in arrears equal to a percentage of collected rental revenues for all properties during the
month as follows:
 
 ● 8.0% of collected rental revenue up to and including $45 million on an annualized basis;
 
 ● 7.0% of the incremental collected rental revenue above $45 million but below and including $65 million on an annualized basis;
 
 ● 6.0% of the incremental collected rental revenue above $65 million but below and including $85 million on an annualized basis; and
 
 ● 5.0% of the incremental collected rental revenue above $85 million on an annualized basis.
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Under the Management Agreements and the Side Letter, the aggregate fees that the Manager can earn in any fiscal year are capped such that the
Manager’s EBITDA (as defined in the Management Agreements) derived from these fees may not exceed the greater of $1.0 million or 0.5% of the combined
equity value of the Company and the OP on a consolidated basis, calculated on the first day of each fiscal year based on the aggregate NAV of the outstanding
Shares and OP Units held other than by the Company on the last business day of the prior fiscal year (the “Manager Cap”). The aggregate fees up to the
Manager Cap are payable (1) in cash in an amount equal to the tax obligations of the Manager’s equity holders resulting from the aggregate management fees
earned in such fiscal year up to a maximum rate of 25% (the “Manager Cash Cap”) and (2) with respect to the remaining portion of the aggregate fees, in OP
Units, at a price per OP Unit equal to the Cash Amount (as defined in the OP LPA). The aggregate fees paid in cash that exceed the Manager Cash Cap are
rebated back to the OP. No Manager Cash Cap rebate was recorded for the three months ended  March 31, 2022 and 2021.
 

The Manager is responsible for the day-to-day management of the properties, acquisition of new properties, disposition of existing properties (with
acquisition and disposition decisions made under the approval of the investment committee and the Board), leasing the properties, managing tenant issues and
requests, collecting rents, paying operating expenses, managing maintenance issues, accounting for each property using GAAP, and other responsibilities
customary for the management of SFR properties.
 

Property management fees are included in property management fees on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) and
acquisition and construction fees are capitalized into each home and are included in buildings and improvements on the consolidated balance sheet and are
depreciated over the useful life of each property.
 

The following table is a summary of fees that the OP incurred to the Manager and its affiliates, as well as reimbursements paid to the Manager and its
affiliates for various operating expenses the Manager paid on the OP’s behalf, of which approximately $5.2 million and $2.5 million is due to the Manager and
included in accounts payable and other accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, under the terms of
Management Agreements and Side Letter, for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 (dollars in thousands):
 
   For the Three Months Ended March 31,  
 Location on Financial Statements  2022   2021  
Fees Incurred          

Property management fees Statement of Operations  $ 3,111  $ 1,805 
Acquisition fees Balance Sheet   5,040   5,974 
Construction supervision fees Balance Sheet   3,174   1,322 

          
Reimbursements          

Payroll and benefits Balance Sheet and Statement of Operations   5,895   3,079 
Other reimbursements Balance Sheet and Statement of Operations   310   155 
Totals  $ 17,530  $ 12,335 

 
Internalization of the Adviser or the Manager
 

The Company may acquire all of the outstanding equity interests of the Adviser, the Manager or both (an “Internalization”) under certain provisions (a
“Purchase Provision”) of the Advisory Agreement or the Side Letter to effect an Internalization upon the payment of a certain fee (an “Internalization Fee”). If
the Company determines to acquire the equity interests of the Adviser, the applicable Purchase Provision of the Advisory Agreement provides that the Adviser
must first agree to such acquisition and that the Company will pay the Adviser an Internalization Fee equal to three times the total of the prior 12 months’
advisory fee, payable only in capital stock of the Company. If the Company determines to acquire the equity interests of Manager, the applicable Purchase
Provision of the Side Letter provides the Company has a right to do so and that the Company will pay the Manager an Internalization Fee equal to $6.5 million
plus 50% of the subtraction of $6.5 million from three times the total of the prior 12 months’ property management fee, payable in cash, Shares or OP Units.
The OP may also acquire the equity interests of the Manager on the same terms under the applicable Purchase Provision. Certain additional conditions and
limitations apply to the Internalizations, including but not limited to caps on the Internalization Fees. The Company expects any equity issued in satisfaction of
an Internalization Fee to be valued at the NAV per share in effect on the date the Internalization is consummated.
 
Termination Fees Payable to the Adviser or Manager
 

If the Advisory Agreement or any one of the Management Agreements is terminated without cause by the Company or the SPE, as applicable, or is
otherwise terminated under certain conditions, the Adviser or the Manager, as applicable, will be entitled to a termination fee (a “Termination Fee”) in the
amount of three times the prior 12 months’ advisory fee, in the case of a termination of the Advisory Agreement, or three times the prior 12 months’ property
management fee, in the case of the applicable Management Agreement. In addition to termination by the Company without cause, the Adviser will be entitled
to the Termination Fee if the Adviser terminates the Advisory Agreement without cause or terminates the agreement due to the occurrence of certain specified
breaches of the Advisory Agreement by the Company. The Advisory Agreement may be terminated without cause by the Company or the Adviser with 180
days’ notice prior to the expiration of the then-current term. In addition to termination by the SPE without cause, the Manager will be entitled to the
Termination Fee if the SPE sells or otherwise disposes of all or substantially all of the properties subject to the applicable Management Agreement. The
Management Agreements may be terminated by the SPE with 90 days’ notice without cause. Termination Fees are payable in cash.
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Advance Acquisition and Construction Fee Advances Paid to the Manager
 

Pursuant to the Side Letter, the Manager may request from the OP from time-to-time an advance on acquisition and construction fees (the “Fee
Advances”) to fund the performance of its obligations under the Management Agreements. Each Fee Advance is repaid from future acquisition and
construction fees earned by and owed to the Manager. Fee Advances are included in the line item due from Manager on the consolidated balance sheets. As of
March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the Company recorded no receivable for Fee Advances.
 
Backstop Loans to the Manager
 

Pursuant to the Side Letter, in the event the Manager does not have sufficient cash flow from operations to meet its budgeted obligations under the
Management Agreements, the Manager may from time to time request from the Company a temporary loan (the “Backstop Loan”) to satisfy the shortfall.
Backstop Loans are interest free, may be prepaid at any time and may not exceed a principal amount that is in the aggregate equal to the lesser of the
Internalization Fee or Termination Fee under the applicable Management Agreement. Unless otherwise repaid, each Backstop Loan is payable upon termination
of the applicable Management Agreement. Backstop Loans are included in the line item due from Manager on the consolidated balance sheets. As of March 31,
2022 and December 31, 2021, the Company recorded a receivable for Backstop Loans made to the manager of approximately $0.7 million and approximately
$0.7 million, respectively.
 
Dealer Manager Fees
 

Investors may be charged a dealer manager fee of between 0.50% and 3.00% of gross investor equity by the Dealer Manager for sales of Shares pursuant
to the Private Offering, subject to certain breakpoints and various terms of the Dealer Manager Agreements. At the sole discretion of the Dealer Manager, the
dealer manager fee may be partially or fully waived. The dealer manager fee is paid to an affiliate of the Adviser.
 
Organization and Private Offering Expenses
 

Offering and organizational expenses (“O&O Expenses”) may be incurred in connection with sales in the Private Offering at the discretion of the
Company and are borne by investors through a fee of up to 0.50% of gross investor equity for sales through Raymond James and up to 1.00% of gross investor
equity for other sales. O&O Expenses are intended to reimburse the Company, Adviser and Placement Agents for the costs of maintaining the Private Offering
and selling costs incurred in raising equity under the Private Offering. Payments for bona fide expenses and reimbursements are O&O Expenses which are
recorded as a reduction to equity.
 

See below for detail related to the O&O Expenses as of March 31, 2022 (dollars in thousands):
 

  Amount  
Gross investor equity raised subject to O&O  $ 977,885 
     
O&O collected and available for reimbursements  $ 6,739 
     
O&O Expenses reimbursed for the period:     

Inception through December 31, 2019  $ 686 
January 1, 2020 through March 31, 2020   188 
April 1, 2020 through June 30, 2020   235 
July 1, 2020 through September 30, 2020   175 
October 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020   385 
January 1, 2020 through March 31, 2021   296 
April 1, 2021 through June 30, 2021   944 
July 1, 2021 through September 30, 2021   1,264 
October 1, 2021 through December 31, 2021   1,198 
January 1, 2022 through March 31, 2022   343 

  $ 5,714 
     
O&O available for future reimbursements  $ 1,025 

 
NexBank
 

The Company and the OP maintain bank accounts with an affiliate of the Adviser, NexBank N.A. (“NexBank”). NexBank charges no recurring
maintenance fees on the accounts.
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14. Commitments and Contingencies
 
Commitments
 

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into various construction related purchase commitments with parties that provide these goods and
services. In the event the Company were to terminate construction services prior to the completion of projects, the Company could potentially be committed to
satisfy outstanding or uncompleted purchase orders with such parties. As of March 31, 2022, management does not anticipate any material deviations from
schedule or budget related to rehabilitation projects currently in process.
 
Contingencies
 

In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to claims, lawsuits, and legal proceedings. While it is not possible to ascertain the ultimate
outcome of all such matters, management believes that the aggregate amount of such liabilities, if any, in excess of amounts provided or covered by insurance,
will not have a material adverse effect on the consolidated balance sheets or consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) of the
Company. The Company is not involved in any material litigation nor, to management’s knowledge, is any material litigation currently threatened against the
Company or its properties or subsidiaries.
 

The Company is not aware of any environmental liability with respect to the properties it owns that could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s business, assets, or results of operations. However, there can be no assurance that such a material environmental liability does not exist. The
existence of any such material environmental liability could have an adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations and cash flows.
 

An entity purchased by the OP as a part of the Formation Transaction, the Huber Transaction Sub, LLC (“Huber”), had potential liability exposure to a
legacy environmental issue related to a 1988 petroleum release from an underground storage tank located on a property subsequently not purchased by Huber.
The owner of the property prior to Huber has assumed the defense of alleged environmental violations and is proceeding with the required regulatory
investigation and remediation of the underground storage tank release clean up. Huber received an indemnification, and the Company and the OP in turn
received an indemnification, which was evidenced by approximately $2.6 million of proceeds in an escrow account (the “Indemnification Escrow”) that is for
the benefit of the Company and the OP in the event the prior owner fails to perform their obligations in regard to any required remediation of the issue. On
January 27, 2021, the Indemnification Escrow was released.
 
15. Subsequent Events
 

The Company evaluated subsequent events through the date the consolidated financial statements were issued, to determine if any significant events
occurred subsequent to the balance sheet date that would have a material impact on these consolidated financial statements and determined the following events
were material:
 
Warehouse Facility Upsize and Bridge Facility Extinguishment
 

On April 8, 2022, the Company, through the OP, entered into the Second Amendment to the Warehouse Facility (the “Warehouse Facility Upsize”),
which amended the recast Warehouse Facility dated November 3, 2021. The Warehouse Facility Upsize resulted in an amended interest rate and increased the
OP’s right to increase the total commitments available for borrowing, which may take the form of an increase in revolving commitments or one or more
tranches of term loan commitments, by approximately $400.0 million to $1.2 billion.
 

In connection with the Warehouse Facility Upsize, on April 8, 2022, the Company drew $175.0 million on the Warehouse Facility and used
approximately $132.7 million to repay the outstanding principal balance on the Bridge Facility, which extinguished the Bridge Facility.
 
Interest Rate Cap
 

On April 13, 2022, the Company paid a premium of approximately $12.7 million to enter into an interest rate cap with Goldman Sachs Bank USA as the
counterparty. The notional amount of the interest rate cap is $300.0 million and has a strike rate of 1.50%, which effectively caps the interest rate on $300.0
million of our floating rate debt at 1.50%. 
 
Equity Issuances Pursuant to the Continuous Offering
 

Subsequent to March 31, 2022, the Company issued approximately 574,531 Shares for proceeds of approximately $32.9 million.
 
Acquisitions
 

Subsequent to March 31, 2022, the Company acquired 323 homes for a purchase price of approximately $36.8 million.
 

Second Quarter 2022 Dividends
 

On April 13, 2022, the Company approved a dividend of $0.1767 per Share for common stock shareholders of record as of April 15, 2022 that will be
paid on June 30, 2022. On April 25, 2022, the Company approved a dividend of $0.1767 per Share for common stock shareholders of record as of May 16,
2022 that will be paid on June 30, 2022.

 
NAV Determination



 
In accordance with the Valuation Methodology, on May 12, 2022, the Company determined that its NAV per share calculated on a fully diluted basis was

$59.85 as of March 31, 2022. In accordance with provisions in the OP LPA, the value of the OP Units per OP Unit was also increased to $59.85. Shares and OP
Units issued under the respective DRIPs will be issued a 3% discount to the NAV per share in effect.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 
The following is a discussion and analysis of our financial condition and our historical results of operations. The following should be read in conjunction with
our financial statements and accompanying notes included herein and with our annual report on Form 10-K (our “Annual Report”), filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on February 23, 2022. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our
actual results could differ materially from those projected, forecasted, or expected in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including,
but not limited to, those discussed below and elsewhere in this Form 10-Q. See “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” in this report and
the information under the heading “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item IA, “Risk Factors” of our Annual Report. Our management believes the assumptions
underlying the Company’s financial statements and accompanying notes are reasonable. However, the Company’s financial statements and accompanying
notes may not be an indication of our financial condition and results of operations in the future.
 

Overview
 

The Company is an owner and operator of SFR homes for lease. As of March 31, 2022, our Portfolio consisted of 21,144 SFR homes primarily located in
the midwestern, heartland and southeastern United States. As of March 31, 2022, the Portfolio had occupancy of approximately 82.3% with a weighted average
monthly effective rent of $1,086 per occupied home. As of March 31, 2022, the Portfolio had a stabilized occupancy of approximately 95.1% with a weighted
average monthly stabilized effective rent of $1,104 per occupied home and 55.5% of homes in our Portfolio were excluded from being stabilized either because
the homes were in rehabilitation or were purchased with tenants in place. Substantially all of the Company’s business is conducted through the OP, as the
Company owns its homes indirectly through the OP. VineBrook Homes OP GP, LLC, is the OP GP. As of March 31, 2022, there were 24,401,575 OP Units
outstanding, of which 20,675,743 Class A OP Units, or 84.7% of the OP Units outstanding, were owned by the Company. Please see the notes to the financial
statements for the breakdown of the non-controlling ownership of our OP.
 

As of December 31, 2021, our Portfolio consisted of 16,891 SFR homes primarily located in the midwestern, heartland and southeastern United States.
As of December 31, 2021, the Portfolio had occupancy of approximately 81.9% with a weighted average monthly effective rent of $1,067 per occupied home.
As of December 31, 2021, the Portfolio had a stabilized occupancy of approximately 95.2% with a weighted average monthly effective rent of $1,074 per
occupied stabilized home and 49.7% of homes in our Portfolio were excluded from being stabilized either because the homes were in rehabilitation or were
purchased with tenants in place. As of December 31, 2021, there were 22,300,100 OP Units outstanding, of which 18,673,164, or 83.7%, were owned by the
Company.
 

We are primarily focused on acquiring, renovating, leasing, maintaining and otherwise managing SFR home investments primarily located in large to
medium size cities and suburbs located in the midwestern, heartland and southeastern United States. We intend to employ targeted management and a value-
add program at a majority of our homes in an attempt to improve rental rates and the net operating income (“NOI”) at our homes, maximize cash flow, provide
quarterly cash distributions and achieve long-term capital appreciation for our stockholders. We are externally managed by the Adviser through the Advisory
Agreement, which was renewed on November 1, 2021 and will automatically renew on the anniversary of the renewal date for one-year terms thereafter, unless
otherwise terminated.
 

We began operations on November 1, 2018 as a result of the acquisition of various partnerships and limited liability companies owned and operated by
the VineBrook Contributors and other third parties, which owned the Initial Portfolio of approximately 4,129 SFR assets located in Ohio, Kentucky and Indiana
for a total purchase price of approximately $330.2 million, including closing and financing costs of approximately $6.0 million. On November 1, 2018, the
Company accepted subscriptions for 1,097,367 Shares for gross proceeds of approximately $27.4 million in connection with the Formation Transaction. The
proceeds from the issuance of such Shares were used to acquire OP Units. The OP used the capital contribution from the Company to fund a portion of the
purchase price for the Initial Portfolio. The remaining purchase price and closing costs were funded by a capital contribution totaling $70.7 million from
NREO, $8.6 million of equity rolled over from VineBrook Contributors, and $241.4 million from the Initial Mortgage.
 

On August 28, 2018, the Company commenced the offering of 40,000,000 Shares through the Private Offering under Regulation D of the Securities Act
(and various state securities law provisions) for a maximum of $1.0 billion of its Shares. The Private Offering expires on November 1, 2023 but may be
extended for up to two times for one year for each extension at the Board’s discretion. The initial offering price for Shares sold through the Private Offering
was $25.00 per share. The Company conducts periodic closings and sells Shares at a purchase price generally equal to the NAV per share as determined using
the Valuation Methodology and as recommended by the Adviser and approved by the Pricing Committee, plus applicable fees and commissions. For sales
through Raymond James, the purchaser subscribes for a gross amount based on NAV per share and separately pays the applicable fees upfront from the
purchaser’s account with Raymond James. For sales through a broker-dealer other than Raymond James, the purchaser subscribes for a gross amount based on
a public offering price (“POP”), which includes the applicable upfront fees and commissions. NAV may differ from the values of our real estate assets as
calculated in accordance with GAAP.

 
On October 15, 2021, a lawsuit (the “Bankruptcy Trust Lawsuit”) was filed by a trust formed in connection with the Highland bankruptcy (the “Highland

Bankruptcy”) in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Texas (the “Bankruptcy Court”). The Bankruptcy Trust Lawsuit makes claims
against a number of entities, including NexPoint Advisors, L.P. (“NexPoint”), the parent of our Adviser, and James Dondero, formerly a director and officer of
the Company. The Bankruptcy Trust Lawsuit does not include claims related to our business or our assets or operations. NexPoint and Mr. Dondero have
informed us that they believe the Bankruptcy Trust Lawsuit has no merit and they intend to vigorously defend against the claims. We do not expect that the
Bankruptcy Trust Lawsuit will have a material effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.
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Our Portfolio
 

Since our formation, we have significantly grown our Portfolio. When the Company began operations on November 1, 2018, the Initial Portfolio
consisted of 4,129 homes located in Ohio, Kentucky and Indiana. As of March 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company, through the OP’s SPEs, indirectly owned an
interest in 21,144 and 13,693 homes, respectively, in 18 and 16 states, respectively. As of March 31, 2022 and 2021, the Portfolio had an occupancy of
82.3% and 87.0%, respectively, and a weighted average monthly effective rent of $1,086 and $1,039, respectively, per occupied home. As of March 31, 2022
and 2021, the occupancy of stabilized homes in our Portfolio was 95.1% and 97.5%, respectively, and the weighted average monthly effective rent of occupied
stabilized homes was $1,104 and $1,001, respectively. As of March 31, 2022 and 2021, 55.5% and 53.3%, respectively, of homes in our Portfolio were
excluded from being stabilized either because the homes were in rehabilitation or were purchased with tenants in place. The table below provides summary
information regarding our Portfolio as of March 31, 2022. 

 

Market  State  # of Homes  
Portfolio

Occupancy  

Average
Effective

Rent  

# of
Stabilized

Homes  
Stabilized

Occupancy  

Stabilized
Average
Monthly

Rent 
Cincinnati  OH, KY   3,102   90.4%  $ 1,150   2,158   96.2%  $ 1,167 
Dayton  OH   2,796   88.7%   1,046   2,291   96.1%   1,037 
Columbus  OH   1,535   91.1%   1,127   1,253   96.4%   1,133 
St. Louis  MO   2,121   77.5%   1,020   662   94.3%   1,018 
Indianapolis  IN   1,340   83.9%   1,100   647   87.8%   1,128 
Birmingham  AL   912   81.8%   1,141   155   90.3%   1,200 
Columbia  SC   821   82.7%   1,196   159   91.8%   1,260 
Kansas City  MO, KS   986   86.9%   1,095   433   95.8%   1,074 
Jackson  MS   999   59.6%   1,050   248   94.8%   1,162 
Memphis  TN, MS   1,616   81.0%   938   444   95.7%   951 
Augusta  GA, SC   685   73.9%   971   117   93.2%   1,155 
Milwaukee  WI   835   72.3%   1,082   237   89.9%   1,199 
Atlanta  GA   742   90.0%   1,215   —   N/A   N/A 
Pittsburgh  PA   430   58.6%   981   106   98.1%   1,097 
Pensacola  FL   300   96.3%   1,286   4   100.0%   1,274 
Greenville  SC   279   80.3%   1,203   71   95.8%   1,327 
Little Rock  AR   338   47.3%   927   120   97.5%   953 
Huntsville  AL   216   74.1%   1,140   52   98.1%   1,255 
Raeford  NC   250   92.0%   1,011   —   N/A   N/A 
Portales  NM   150   78.7%   996   1   100.0%   1,150 
Omaha  NE, IA   237   67.1%   1,169   108   97.2%   1,178 
Triad  NC   186   87.6%   1,101   72   98.6%   1,174 
Montgomery  AL   203   68.0%   1,044   77   94.8%   1,137 
Sub-Total/Average     21,079   82.3% $ 1,086   9,415   95.1% $ 1,104 
Held for Sale     65   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a 
Total/Average     21,144   82.3% $ 1,086   9,415   95.1% $ 1,104 
 

As of December 31, 2021, the Company, through the OP’s SPEs, indirectly owned an interest in 16,891 homes in 16 states. As of December 31, 2021, the
Portfolio had occupancy of 81.9%, and a weighted average monthly effective rent of $1,067 per occupied home. As of December 31, 2021, the occupancy of
stabilized homes in our Portfolio was 95.2%, and the weighted average monthly effective rent of stabilized occupied homes was $1,074. As of December 31,
2021, 49.7% of homes in our Portfolio were excluded from being stabilized either because the homes were in rehabilitation or were purchased with tenants in
place. The table below provides summary information regarding our Portfolio as of December 31, 2021:

 

Market  State  # of Homes  
Portfolio

Occupancy  

Average
Effective

Rent  

# of
Stabilized

Homes  
Stabilized

Occupancy  

Stabilized
Average
Monthly

Rent 
Cincinnati  OH, KY   3,031   90.7%  $ 1,117   2,083   96.8%  $ 1,127 
Dayton  OH   2,742   90.1%   1,019   2,244   97.3%   1,007 
Columbus  OH   1,499   93.1%   1,108   1,203   97.4%   1,115 
St. Louis  MO   1,696   79.9%   1,010   596   92.1%   991 
Indianapolis  IN   1,308   83.0%   1,081   571   88.6%   1,104 
Birmingham  AL   814   79.0%   1,128   92   85.9%   1,244 
Columbia  SC   784   82.7%   1,195   107   89.7%   1,259 
Kansas City  MO, KS   742   77.4%   1,071   345   91.0%   1,030 
Jackson  MS   789   57.8%   1,046   185   93.0%   1,160 
Memphis  TN, MS   626   84.0%   911   385   93.0%   927 
Augusta  GA, SC   555   73.5%   973   69   94.2%   1,130 
Milwaukee  WI   655   72.1%   1,073   212   90.6%   1,195 
Pittsburgh  PA   401   59.1%   951   86   97.7%   1,071 
Greenville  SC   253   77.5%   1,177   39   92.3%   1,346 
Little Rock  AR   286   44.4%   900   85   97.6%   930 



Huntsville  AL   180   75.0%   1,146   34   79.4%   1,261 
Omaha  NE, IA   206   60.2%   1,167   74   100.0%   1,169 
Triad  NC   161   83.2%   1,083   46   97.8%   1,152 
Montgomery  AL   161   56.5%   1,033   35   94.3%   1,146 
Sub-Total/Average     16,889   81.9% $ 1,067   8,491   95.2% $ 1,074 
Held for Sale     2   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a   n/a 
Total/Average     16,891   81.9% $ 1,067   8,491   95.2% $ 1,074 
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Components of Revenues and Expenses
 

The following is a description of the components of our revenues and expenses.
 

Revenues
 

Rental Income. Our revenues are derived primarily from rental revenue, net of any concessions and uncollectible amounts, collected from residents of
our SFR homes under lease agreements which typically have a term of one year. Also included are utility reimbursements, late fees, pet fees, and other rental
fees charged to tenants.
 

Other income. Other income includes ancillary income earned from tenants such as non-refundable fees, application fees, move-out fees, and other
miscellaneous fees charged to tenants.
 

Expenses
 

Property operating expenses. Property operating expenses include property maintenance costs, turn costs (costs incurred in making a home ready for the
next resident after the prior resident vacates the home), leasing costs and the associated salary and employee benefit costs, utilities, vehicle leases and HOA
fees. Certain property operating costs are capitalized in accordance with our capitalization policy. Certain turn costs are capitalized to buildings and
improvements if they improve the condition of the home or return it to its original condition and exceed $1,500 in cost. Upon being occupied, expenditures up
to $1,500 for ordinary repairs and maintenance thereafter are expensed as incurred, and we capitalize expenditures that improve the condition of the home in
excess of $1,500.
 

Real estate taxes and insurance. Real estate taxes include the property taxes assessed by local and state authorities depending on the location of each
home. Insurance includes the cost of property, general liability, and other needed insurance for each property. Certain real estate taxes and insurance costs are
capitalized in accordance with our capitalization policy. 
 

Property management fees. Property management fees include fees paid to the Manager for managing each property, presented net of fee rebates related
to the Manager Cap (see Note 13 to our consolidated financial statements).
 

Advisory fees. Advisory fees include the fees paid to our Adviser pursuant to the Advisory Agreement (see Note 13 to our consolidated financial
statements).
 

Corporate general and administrative expenses. Corporate general and administrative expenses include, but are not limited to, audit fees, legal fees, tax
preparation fees, Board fees, equity-based compensation expense and corporate payroll.
 

Property general and administrative expenses. Property general and administrative expenses include the costs of marketing, professional fees, legal fees,
general office supplies, and other administrative related costs incurred in operating the properties.

 
Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization costs primarily include depreciation of our homes and amortization of acquired in-place

leases, recognized over their respective useful lives.
 

Interest expense. Interest expense primarily includes the cost of interest expense on debt, payments and receipts related to our interest rate swap
agreements and the amortization of deferred financing costs. Certain interest costs are capitalized in accordance with our capitalization policy. 
 

Gain/(loss) on sales of real estate. Gain/(loss) on sales of real estate includes the gain/(loss) recognized upon sales of homes. Gain/(loss) on sales of real
estate is calculated by deducting the carrying value of the real estate and costs incurred to sell the properties from the sales prices of the homes.
 

Casualty gain/(loss). Casualty gain/(loss) includes the gain or loss incurred on homes, net of insurance proceeds received, that experience an unexpected
and unusual event such as a natural disaster or fire.
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Results of Operations for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 and 2021
 

The three months ended March 31, 2022 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2021
 

The following table sets forth a summary of our operating results for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 (in thousands):
 
  For the Three Months Ended March 31,      
  2022   2021   $ Change  
Total revenues  $ 52,317  $ 30,628  $ 21,689 
Total expenses   (55,037)   (30,685)   (24,352)
Gain/(loss) on sales of real estate   116   (75)   191 
Casualty loss, net of insurance proceeds   (109)   (9)   (100)
Net loss   (2,713)   (141)   (2,572)
Dividends on and accretion to redemption value of Redeemable Series A preferred
stock   2,209   2,206   3 
Net loss attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests in the OP   (423)   (35)   (388)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders  $ (4,499)  $ (2,312)  $ (2,187)
 

The change in our net loss between the periods primarily relates to increases in property operating expenses, real estate taxes and insurance costs,
advisory fees, property general and administrative expenses, depreciation and amortization and interest expense, partially offset by an increase in rental
income.
 

Revenues
 

Rental income. Rental income was $51.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 compared to $30.1 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2021, which was an increase of $20.9 million. The increase between the periods was primarily due to our acquisition activity and increases in rental
rates over the past year.
 

Other income. Other income was $1.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 compared to $0.5 million for the three months ended March
31, 2021, which was an increase of $0.8 million. The increase between the periods was primarily due to our acquisition activity over the past year.
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Expenses
 

Property operating expenses. Property operating expenses were $8.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 compared to $5.2 million for the
three months ended March 31, 2021, which was an increase of $3.5 million. The increase between the periods was primarily due to our acquisition activity in
2022. For the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, turn costs represented approximately 14% and 17%, respectively, of our property operating
expenses.
 

Real estate taxes and insurance. Real estate taxes and insurance were $9.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 compared to $6.3 million
for the three months ended March 31, 2021, which was an increase of $3.2 million. The increase between the periods was primarily due to our acquisition
activity in 2022 as well as increases in our real estate taxes as a result of increases in property valuations.
 

Property management fees. Property management fees were $3.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 compared to $2.0 million for the
three months ended March 31, 2021, which was an increase of $1.1 million. The increase between the periods was primarily due to our acquisition activity and
increases in rental rates over the past year.

 
Advisory fees. Advisory fees were $3.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 compared to $1.3 million for the three months ended March

31, 2021, which was an increase of $1.8 million. The increase between the periods was primarily due to our equity raising activity in 2022 and increases in
total debt principal outstanding.
 

Corporate general and administrative expenses. Corporate general and administrative expenses were $2.2 million for the three months ended March 31,
2022 compared to $1.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021, which was an increase of $0.7 million. The increase between the periods was
primarily due to increases in equity-based compensation expense and other corporate expenses as our operations continued to gain scale.
 

Property general and administrative expenses. Property general and administrative expenses were $2.9 million for the three months ended March 31,
2022 compared to $1.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021, which was an increase of $1.6 million. The increase between the periods was
primarily due to our acquisition activity in 2022.
 

Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization costs were $16.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 compared to $8.0
million for the three months ended March 31, 2021, which was an increase of $8.0 million. The increase between the periods was primarily due to our
acquisition activity in 2022.
 

Interest expense. Interest expense was $9.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 compared to $5.1 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2021, which was an increase of $4.5 million. The increase between the periods was primarily due to an increase in interest on debt and amortization
of deferred financing costs, as we increased our total debt principal outstanding during 2022. The following table details the various costs included in interest
expense for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 (in thousands):
 
  For the Three Months Ended March 31,      
  2022   2021   $ Change  
Gross interest cost  $ 11,627  $ 5,772  $ 5,855 
Capitalized interest   (2,007)   (646)   (1,361)

Total  $ 9,620  $ 5,126  $ 4,494 
 

Gain/(loss) on sales of real estate. Gain on sales of real estate was $0.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022, and loss on sales of real
estate was $0.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021, which was an increase of $0.2 million. The majority of the homes sold during the three
months ended March 31, 2022 related to a bulk disposition wherein the sales price exceeded the carrying value of the real estate and costs incurred to sell the
properties. 
 

Casualty gain/(loss), net of insurance proceeds. Casualty loss, net of insurance proceeds, was $0.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022,
and casualty loss, net of insurance proceeds, was less than $0.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021, which was an increase of
approximately $0.1 million. The increase between the periods is due to a slight increase in casualty events in 2022.
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Non-GAAP Measurements
 

Net Operating Income
 

NOI is a non-GAAP financial measure of performance. NOI is used by our management to evaluate and compare the performance of our properties to
other comparable properties, to determine trends in earnings and to compute the fair value of our properties as NOI is not affected by (1) the cost of funds,
(2) advisory fees, (3) the impact of depreciation and amortization expenses, (4) gains or losses from the sale of operating real estate assets that are included in
net income computed in accordance with GAAP, (5) corporate general and administrative expenses, (6) property general and administrative expenses,
(7) casualty gains or losses and (8) other gains and losses that are specific to us.
 

The cost of funds is eliminated from net income (loss) because it is specific to our particular financing capabilities and constraints. The cost of funds is
also eliminated because it is dependent on historical interest rates and other costs of capital as well as past decisions made by us regarding the appropriate mix
of capital, or in the case of assumed debt, decisions made by others, which may have changed or may change in the future. Advisory fees are eliminated
because they do not reflect continuing operating costs of the property owner. Depreciation and amortization expenses as well as gains or losses from the sale of
operating real estate assets are eliminated because they may not accurately represent the actual change in value in our homes that result from use of the
properties or changes in market conditions. While certain aspects of real property do decline in value over time in a manner that is reasonably captured by
depreciation and amortization, the value of the properties as a whole have historically increased or decreased as a result of changes in overall economic
conditions instead of from actual use of the property or the passage of time. Gains and losses from the sale of real property vary from property to property and
are affected by market conditions at the time of sale, which will usually change from period to period. Corporate general and administrative expenses are
eliminated because they do not reflect the ongoing operating activity performed at the properties. Property general and administrative expenses are eliminated
because they represent expenses such as legal, professional, centralized leasing, technology support, and accounting functions. Casualty gains or losses are
excluded because of the infrequent and unusual nature of the sustained damages, they do not reflect continuing operating costs of the property owner and
typically the economic impact, aside from deductible or risk retention, is covered by insurance. These gains and losses can create distortions when comparing
one period to another or when comparing our operating results to the operating results of other real estate companies that have not made similarly timed
purchases or sales or sustained damage at similar times. We believe that eliminating these items from net income is useful because the resulting measure
captures the actual ongoing revenue generated and actual expenses incurred in operating our properties as well as trends in occupancy rates, rental rates and
operating costs.
 

However, the usefulness of NOI is limited because it excludes corporate general and administrative expenses, property general and administrative
expense, interest expense, casualty gains or losses, advisory fees, depreciation and amortization expense, gains or losses from the sale of properties, and other
gains and losses as determined under GAAP, and the level of capital expenditures and leasing costs necessary to maintain the operating performance of our
properties, all of which are significant economic costs. NOI may fail to capture significant trends in these components of net income, which further limits its
usefulness.
 

NOI is a measure of the operating performance of our properties but does not measure our performance as a whole. NOI is therefore not a substitute for
net income (loss) as computed in accordance with GAAP. This measure should be analyzed in conjunction with net income (loss) computed in accordance with
GAAP and discussions elsewhere regarding the components of net income (loss) that are eliminated in the calculation of NOI. Other companies may use
different methods for calculating NOI or similarly entitled measures and, accordingly, our NOI may not be comparable to similarly entitled measures reported
by other companies that do not define the measure exactly as we do.
 

The following table, which has not been adjusted for the effects of noncontrolling interests (“NCI”), reconciles our NOI for the three months ended
March 31, 2022 and 2021 to net loss, the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure (in thousands):
 
  For the Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2022   2021  
Net loss  $ (2,713)  $ (141)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to NOI:         
Advisory fees   3,086   1,291 
Corporate general and administrative expenses   2,162   1,481 
Property general and administrative expenses   2,873   1,323 
Depreciation and amortization   15,956   8,044 
Interest expense   9,620   5,126 
(Gain)/loss on sales of real estate   (116)   75 
Casualty loss, net of insurance proceeds   109   9 

NOI  $ 30,977  $ 17,208 
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Net Operating Income for Our Same Home and Non-Same Home Properties for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 and 2021
 

There are 5,449 homes in our 2022 same home pool (our “Same Home” properties). To be included as a “Same Home,” homes must have been stabilized
for at least 90 days in advance of the first day of the previous fiscal year and be held through the current reporting period-end. Same Home properties for the
period ended March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2021 were stabilized by October 1, 2020 and held through March 31, 2022. Same Home properties do not include
homes held for sale. Homes that are stabilized are included as Same Home properties, whether occupied or vacant. See Item 1. “Business—Our Portfolio” in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 23, 2022 for a discussion of the definition of stabilized. We
view Same Home NOI as an important measure of the operating performance of our homes because it allows us to compare operating results of homes owned
for the entirety of the current and comparable periods and therefore eliminate variations caused by acquisitions or dispositions during the periods.
 

The following table reflects the revenues, property operating expenses and NOI for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 for our Same
Home and Non-Same Home properties (dollars in thousands):
 

  
For the Three Months Ended

March 31,          
  2022   2021   $ Change   % Change  
Revenues                 
Same Home                 

Rental income (1)  $ 16,760  $ 16,114  $ 646   4.0%
Other income (1)   38   32   6   18.8%

Same Home revenues   16,798   16,146   652   4.0%
Non-Same Home                 

Rental income (1)   34,427   14,049   20,378   145.0%
Other income (1)   115   57   58   101.8%

Non-Same Home revenues   34,542   14,106   20,436   144.9%
Total revenues   51,340   30,252   21,088   69.7%

                 
Operating expenses                 
Same Home                 

Property operating expenses (1)   2,313   1,935   378   19.5%
Real estate taxes and insurance   2,899   3,087   (188)   -6.1%
Property management fees (2)   1,004   1,030   (26)   -2.5%

Same Home operating expenses   6,216   6,052   164   2.7%
Non-Same Home                 

Property operating expenses (1)   5,397   2,842   2,555   89.9%
Real estate taxes and insurance   6,643   3,207   3,436   107.1%
Property management fees (2)   2,107   943   1,164   123.4%

Non-Same Home operating expenses   14,147   6,992   7,155   102.3%
Total operating expenses   20,363   13,044   7,319   56.1%

                 
NOI                 

Same Home   10,582   10,094   488   4.8%
Non-Same Home   20,395   7,114   13,281   186.7%

Total NOI  $ 30,977  $ 17,208  $ 13,769   80.0%
 
 (1) Presented net of tenant chargebacks.
 (2) Fees incurred to the Manager. 
 

See reconciliation of net income (loss) to NOI above under “—Net Operating Income.”
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Same Home Results of Operations for the Three Months Ended March 31, 2022 and 2021
 

As of March 31, 2022, our Same Home properties were approximately 95.3% occupied with a weighted average monthly effective rent per occupied
home of $1,068. As of March 31, 2021, our Same Home properties were approximately 97.7% occupied with a weighted average monthly effective rent per
occupied home of $998. For our Same Home properties, we recorded the following operating results for the three months ended March 31, 2022 as compared
to the three months ended March 31, 2021:
 

Revenues
 

Rental income. Rental income was $16.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 compared to $16.1 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2021, which was an increase of approximately $0.7 million, or 4.0%. The increase is related to a 7.0% increase in the weighted average monthly
effective rent per occupied home, partially offset by a 2.4% decrease in occupancy.

 
Other income. Other income remained flat at less than $0.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021.

 
Expenses

 
Property operating expenses. Property operating expenses were $2.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 compared to $1.9 million for the

three months ended March 31, 2021, which was an increase of approximately $0.4 million, or 19.5%. The majority of the increase is related to an increase in
general turnover costs of approximately $0.2 million and an increase in water and sewer costs of approximately $0.2 million. 

 
Real estate taxes and insurance. Real estate taxes and insurance costs were $2.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 compared to $3.1

million for the three months ended March 31, 2021, which was a decrease of approximately $0.2 million, or 6.1%. The majority of the decrease is related to a
$0.2 million, or 6.1%, decrease in property taxes.
 

Property management fees. Property management fees remained flat at $1.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021. 
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FFO, Core FFO and AFFO
 

We believe that net income (loss), as defined by GAAP, is the most appropriate earnings measure. We also believe that funds from operations (“FFO”) as
defined by the National Association of Real Estate Investments Trusts (“NAREIT”), core funds from operations (“Core FFO”) and adjusted funds from
operations (“AFFO”) are important non-GAAP supplemental measures of operating performance for a REIT.
 

Since the historical cost accounting convention used for real estate assets requires depreciation except on land, such accounting presentation implies that
the value of real estate assets diminishes predictably over time. However, since real estate values have historically risen or fallen with market and other
conditions, presentations of operating results for a REIT that use historical cost accounting for depreciation could be less informative. Thus, NAREIT created
FFO as a supplemental measure of operating performance for REITs that excludes historical cost depreciation and amortization, among other items, from net
income (loss), as defined by GAAP. FFO is defined by NAREIT as net income (loss) computed in accordance with GAAP, excluding gains or losses from real
estate dispositions, plus real estate depreciation and amortization. We compute FFO in accordance with NAREIT’s definition. Our presentation differs slightly
in that we begin with net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders and add net income (loss) attributable to NCI in the OP and then make the
adjustments to arrive at FFO.
 

Core FFO makes certain adjustments to FFO, which relate to items that are either not likely to occur on a regular basis or are otherwise not representative
of the ongoing operating performance of our Portfolio. Core FFO adjusts FFO to remove items such as casualty gains or losses, the amortization of deferred
financing costs and equity-based compensation expense. We believe Core FFO is useful as a supplemental gauge of our operating performance and is useful in
comparing our operating performance with other REITs.
 

AFFO makes certain adjustments to Core FFO in order to arrive at a more refined measure of the operating performance of our Portfolio. There is no
industry standard definition of AFFO and the method of calculating AFFO is divergent across the industry. AFFO adjusts Core FFO to remove recurring capital
expenditures, which are costs necessary to help preserve the value and maintain functionality of our homes. We believe AFFO is useful as a supplemental
gauge of our operating performance and is useful in comparing our operating performance with other REITs.
 

Basic and diluted weighted average shares in our FFO table includes both our Shares and OP Units.
 

We believe that the use of FFO, Core FFO and AFFO, combined with the required GAAP presentations, improves the understanding of operating results
of REITs and makes comparisons of operating results among such companies more meaningful. While FFO, Core FFO and AFFO are relevant and widely used
measures of operating performance of REITs, they do not represent cash flows from operations or net income (loss) as defined by GAAP and should not be
considered as an alternative or substitute to those measures in evaluating our liquidity or operating performance. FFO, Core FFO and AFFO do not purport to
be indicative of cash available to fund our future cash requirements. Further, our computation of FFO, Core FFO and AFFO may not be comparable to FFO,
Core FFO and AFFO reported by other REITs.
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The three months ended March 31, 2022 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2021
 

The following table reconciles our calculations of FFO, Core FFO and AFFO to net loss, the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure, for the
three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 (in thousands, except per share amounts):
 

  
For the Three Months Ended

March 31,          
  2022   2021   $ Change   % Change  
Net loss attributable to common stockholders  $ (4,499)  $ (2,312)  $ (2,187)   94.6%
Net loss attributable to NCI in the OP   (423)   (35)   (388)   1108.6%
Depreciation and amortization   15,956   8,044   7,912   98.4%
(Gain)/loss on sales of real estate   (116)   75   (191)   -254.7%
FFO   10,918   5,772   5,146   89.2%
                 
FFO per share - basic  $ 0.40  $ 0.42  $ (0.02)   -4.9%
FFO per share - diluted  $ 0.40  $ 0.40  $ —   0.0%
                 
Casualty loss, net of insurance proceeds   109   9   100   1111.1%
Amortization of deferred financing costs   1,526   531   995   187.4%
Equity-based compensation expense   1,455   930   525   56.5%
Core FFO   14,008   7,242   6,766   93.4%
                 
Core FFO per share - basic  $ 0.52  $ 0.52  $ —   0.0%
Core FFO per share - diluted  $ 0.51  $ 0.51  $ —   0.0%
                 
Recurring capital expenditures   (2,406)   (797)   (1,609)   201.9%
AFFO   11,602   6,445   5,157   80.0%
                 
AFFO per share - basic  $ 0.43  $ 0.46  $ (0.03)   -7.2%
AFFO per share - diluted  $ 0.42  $ 0.45  $ (0.03)   -6.3%
                 
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic   26,965   13,904         
Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted (1)   27,492   14,305         
                 
Dividends declared per share  $ 0.5301  $ 0.5301         
                 
FFO Coverage - diluted (2)  0.75x  0.76x         
Core FFO Coverage - diluted (2)  0.96x  0.96x         
AFFO Coverage - diluted (2)  0.80x  0.85x         
 
 (1) For the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, includes approximately 1,029,000 shares and 925,228 shares, respectively, related to the

assumed vesting of RSUs and PI Units.
 (2) Indicates coverage ratio of FFO/Core FFO/AFFO per common share (diluted) over dividends declared per common share during the period.
 

FFO was $10.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 compared to $5.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021, which was an
increase of approximately $5.1 million. The change in our FFO between the periods primarily relates to an increase in rental income of $20.9 million, partially
offset by increases in total property operating expenses of $9.5 million, advisory fees of $1.8 million and interest expense of $4.5 million. The changes in
diluted FFO per share, AFFO per share and Core FFO per share were primarily related to higher equity raise activity during the three months ended March 31,
2022 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2021 as we issued 2,907,334 Shares during the three months ended March 31, 2022, compared to
2,241,677 Shares issued during the three months ended March 31, 2021, which significantly increased the weighted average shares outstanding for the three
months ended March 31, 2022. Additionally, the entirety of the proceeds from these equity issuances were not immediately deployed into acquisitions of cash
flow yielding homes within the same period as a portion of the homes purchased during the period went into rehabilitation instead. Therefore, there was a
significant increase in the weighted average shares outstanding during the period without a significant and immediate corresponding increase in FFO. On a
longer time horizon, these irregularities are expected to diminish and we expect our results to normalize and comparatively improve on a per share basis as a
larger amount of the acquired homes become stabilized, resulting in increases in diluted FFO per share, Core FFO per share and AFFO per share.

 
Core FFO was $14.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 compared to $7.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021, which

was an increase of approximately $6.8 million. The change in our Core FFO between the periods primarily relates to an increase in FFO and increases in
amortization of deferred financing costs of $1.0 million and equity-based compensation expense of $0.5 million.
 

AFFO was $11.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022 compared to $6.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021, which was an
increase of approximately $5.2 million. The change in our AFFO between the periods primarily relates to an increase in Core FFO and an increase in recurring
capital expenditures of $1.6 million.
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Net Asset Value
 
The sale price of the Shares sold in the Private Offering as well as the sale price of OP Units is equal to the most recent NAV per share in effect at the

time a subscription agreement or funds are received, plus applicable fees and commissions. The purchase price at which Shares may be repurchased in
accordance with the terms of the Share Repurchase Plan (defined below) is generally based on the most recent NAV per share in effect at the time of
repurchase, and Shares or OP Units issued under the applicable DRIP generally reflect a 3% discount to the then-current NAV per share.

 
Effective for valuations beginning on July 31, 2021, the Company implemented an amended and restated Valuation Methodology as approved by our

Board. Under the Valuation Methodology, Green Street calculates a preliminary NAV by valuing the portfolio in accordance with the Valuation Methodology.
Green Street then recommends the preliminary NAV to the Adviser. Based on this recommendation, the Adviser then calculates transaction costs and makes
any other adjustments, including costs of internalization, determined necessary to recommend NAV to the Pricing Committee. Based off this recommendation,
the Pricing Committee then determines NAV. For a more complete description of the Valuation Methodology, see “Item 1. Business—Net Asset Value—
Current Valuation Methodology” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 23, 2022.

 
On and before March 31, 2020, NAV was determined as of the end of each quarter. Beginning April 30, 2020, NAV was determined as of the end of each

month. Effective for NAV determined on and after December 31, 2021, NAV has been determined as of the end of each quarter. NAV per share is calculated on
a fully diluted basis. The table below illustrates the changes in NAV since inception:
 

Date  NAV per share  
November 1, 2018  $ 25.00 
December 31, 2018   28.27 
March 31, 2019   28.75 
June 30, 2019   28.88 
September 30, 2019   29.85 
December 31, 2019   30.58 
March 31, 2020   30.59 
April 30, 2020   30.82 
May 31, 2020   31.08 
June 30, 2020   31.24 
July 31, 2020   31.47 
August 31, 2020   32.91 
September 30, 2020   34.00 
October 31, 2020   34.18 
November 30, 2020   34.38 
December 31, 2020   36.56 
January 31, 2021   36.56 
February 28, 2021   36.68 
March 31, 2021   36.82 
April 30, 2021   37.85 
May 31, 2021   38.68 
June 30, 2021   40.82 
July 31, 2021   43.76 
August 31, 2021   46.19 
September 30, 2021   47.90 
October 31, 2021   49.09 
November 30, 2021   51.38 
December 31, 2021   54.14 
March 31, 2022   59.85 

 
Fees and Commissions paid to Placement Agents and Dealer Manager

 
Subject to certain exceptions, investors that purchase Shares through the Private Offering generally pay the Placement Agents in the Private Offering

placement fees or commissions, in addition to the NAV sales price. For sales through Placement Agents other than Raymond James, the placement fees or
commissions generally equal between 1% to 5.5% of gross investor equity, subject to certain breakpoints and various terms of each specific Selling Agreement.
A placement fee equal to 3% and an advisory fee equal to 2% of gross proceeds invested, which is also in addition to the NAV sales price, is paid to Raymond
James for all Shares sold by Raymond James on behalf of the Company in the Private Offering. With the consent of the applicable Placement Agent, some or
all of the applicable fees and commissions may be waived. Other Selling Agreements may have specific fees that differ from the Raymond James fees related
to selling Shares to their clients. In addition, the Dealer Manager generally receives a fee of 0.5% on sales in the Private Offering through Raymond James and
3% on sales through other Placement Agents, a portion of which may be reallowed to those Placement Agents. Placement Agent compensation is subject to a
reasonable carve-out for sales of Shares directly by the Company or for sales to employees of our Adviser, Manager and affiliates thereof. For sales through
registered investment advisors (“RIAs”), the Dealer Manager receives a fee of up to 2% of gross investor equity. With respect to sales through RIAs or
Placement Agents other than Raymond James who in each case were first introduced to the Company by Raymond James, Raymond James may receive a
participating placement fee equal to 1% of gross investor equity.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

Our short-term liquidity requirements consist primarily of funds necessary to pay for debt maturities, operating expenses and other expenditures directly
associated with our homes, including:
 
 • recurring maintenance necessary to maintain our homes;
 
 • interest expense and scheduled principal payments on outstanding indebtedness;
 
 • distributions necessary to qualify for taxation as a REIT;
 
 • advisory fees payable to our Adviser;
 
 • general and administrative expenses;
 
 • offering expenses related to raising equity from our Private Offering; and
 
 • property management fees payable to the Manager.
 

We expect to meet our short-term liquidity requirements generally through net cash provided by operations and existing cash balances. Additionally, as of
March 31, 2022, we had significant access to credit through our credit facilities. The JPM Facility has an additional $210.0 million of capacity. Furthermore, as
of March 31, 2022, the OP has the right to request an increase in the total facility amount on the Warehouse Facility, which may take the form of an increase in
revolving commitments or one or more tranches of term loan commitments, up to $800.0 million. As described in Note 15, in April 2022, the Company,
through the OP, entered into the Second Amendment to the Warehouse Facility which increased the OP's right to increase the total commitments available for
borrowing by approximately $400.0 million to $1.2 billion.
 

Our long-term liquidity requirements consist primarily of funds necessary to pay for the costs of acquiring additional homes, renovations and other
capital expenditures to improve our homes and scheduled debt payments and distributions. We expect to meet our long-term liquidity requirements through
various sources of capital, which may include equity issuances through the Private Offering, other public or private issuances of common equity, preferred
equity or debt, draws on our revolving credit facilities, existing working capital, net cash provided by operations, long-term mortgage indebtedness and may
include other secured and unsecured borrowings. However, there are a number of factors that may have a material adverse effect on our ability to access these
capital sources, including the state of overall equity and credit markets, our degree of leverage, our unencumbered asset base and borrowing restrictions
imposed by lenders (including as a result of any failure to comply with financial covenants in our existing and future indebtedness), general market conditions
for REITs, our operating performance and liquidity, market perceptions about us and restrictions on sales of properties under the Code. Additionally, the
Company continues to monitor the impact of COVID-19 and its impact on future rent collections, valuation of real estate investments, impact on cash flow and
ability to refinance or repay debt. The success of our business strategy will depend, in part, on our ability to access these various capital sources.

 
As disclosed in Note 15 to our consolidated financial statements, so far in the second quarter of 2022 we have acquired 248 homes for an aggregate

purchase price of approximately $28.5 million. For the remainder of 2022, excluding the purchases disclosed previously, we expect to purchase approximately
2,000 – 3,000 total homes for consideration of approximately $200 million – $300 million. However, there can be no assurance that we will be able to
complete these acquisitions during the remainder of the year on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all.
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Our homes will require periodic capital expenditures and renovation to remain competitive. Also, acquisitions of new homes will require significant
capital outlays. Long-term, we may not be able to fund such capital improvements solely from net cash provided by operations because we must distribute
annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the deductions for dividends paid and excluding net capital gains, to qualify
and maintain our qualification as a REIT, and we are subject to tax on any retained income and gains. As a result, our ability to fund capital expenditures and
acquisitions through retained earnings long-term is limited. Consequently, we expect to rely heavily upon the availability of debt or equity capital for these
purposes. If we are unable to obtain the necessary capital on favorable terms, or at all, our financial condition, liquidity, results of operations, and prospects
could be materially and adversely affected.
 

We believe that our available cash, expected operating cash flows, and potential debt or equity financings will provide sufficient funds for our operations,
acquisitions, anticipated scheduled debt service payments and dividend requirements for the twelve-month period following March 31, 2022. We believe that
the various sources of long-term capital, which may include equity issuances through the Private Offering, other public or private issuances of common equity,
preferred equity or debt, draws on our revolving credit facilities, existing working capital, net cash provided by operations, long-term mortgage indebtedness
and other secured and unsecured borrowings will provide sufficient funds for our operations, acquisitions, anticipated scheduled debt service payments and
dividend requirements in the long-term.
 

Cash Flows
 
The three months ended March 31, 2022 as compared to the three months ended March 31, 2021

 
The following table presents selected data from our consolidated statements of cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and 2021 (in

thousands):
 

  For the Three Months Ended March 31,      
  2022   2021   $ Change  
Net cash provided by operating activities  $ 22,924  $ 12,250  $ 10,674 
Net cash used in investing activities   (646,663)   (556,805)   (89,858)
Net cash provided by financing activities   603,561   559,235   44,326 
Change in cash and restricted cash   (20,178)   14,680   (34,858)
Cash and restricted cash, beginning of period   74,997   37,096   37,901 
Cash and restricted cash, end of period  $ 54,819  $ 51,776  $ 3,043 

 
Cash flows from operating activities. During the three months ended March 31, 2022, net cash provided by operating activities was $22.9 million

compared to net cash provided by operating activities of $12.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021. The change in cash flows from operating
activities was mainly due to an increase in the Portfolio’s net operating income.

 
Cash flows from investing activities. During the three months ended March 31, 2022, net cash used in investing activities was $646.7 million compared

to net cash used in investing activities of $556.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021. The change in cash flows from investing activities was
mainly due to an increase in the investment in unconsolidated entity.
 

Cash flows from financing activities. During the three months ended March 31, 2022, net cash provided by financing activities was $603.6 million
compared to net cash provided by financing activities of $559.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021. The change in cash flows from financing
activities was mainly due to an increase in proceeds received from the Bridge Facility and an increase in proceeds from the issuance of our Class A common
stock, which was partially offset by a decrease in proceeds received from notes payable and repayments on the Bridge Facility during the current period.
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Debt, Derivatives and Hedging Activity
 

Debt
 

As of March 31, 2022, we and our subsidiaries had aggregate debt outstanding to third parties of approximately $1.3 billion at a weighted average
interest rate of 2.6881% and an adjusted weighted average interest rate of 3.2397%. For purposes of calculating the adjusted weighted average interest rate of
our debt outstanding, we have included the weighted average fixed rate of 1.6192%, representing a weighted average fixed rate for one-month LIBOR and
daily SOFR, on our combined $570.0 million notional amount of interest rate swap agreements, which effectively fixes the interest rate on $570.0 million of
our floating rate debt. See Notes 7 and 8 to our consolidated financial statements for additional information.
 

The following table sets forth a summary of our mortgage loan indebtedness as of March 31, 2022:
 

 Type  

Outstanding
Principal as of
March 31, 2022   Interest Rate (1)  Maturity  

Initial Mortgage Floating  $ 241,222   2.00% 12/1/2025  
Warehouse Facility Floating   465,000   2.15% 11/3/2024 (2)
JPM Facility Floating   290,000   3.14% 3/1/2023  
Bridge Facility Floating   132,648   3.78% 2/8/2023  
MetLife Note Fixed   124,554   3.25% 1/31/2026  
TrueLane Mortgage Fixed   10,355   5.35% 2/1/2028  
CoreVest Note Fixed   2,328   6.12% 1/9/2023  
Crestcore II Note Fixed   4,733   5.12% 7/9/2029  
Crestcore IV Note Fixed   4,209   5.12% 7/9/2029  
Hatchway Broadmoor Mortgage Fixed   4,627   5.35% 2/1/2029  
Total Outstanding Principal  $ 1,279,676       
 
 (1) Represents the interest rate as of March 31, 2022. Except for fixed rate debt, the interest rate is one-month LIBOR, daily SOFR or term SOFR,

plus an applicable margin. One-month LIBOR as of March 31, 2022 was 0.4520%, daily SOFR as of March 31, 2022 was 0.2900% and one-
month term SOFR as of March 31, 2022 was 0.6751%.

 
 (2) This is the stated maturity for the Warehouse Facility, but it is subject to a 12-month extension option.
 

On November 1, 2018, the OP, as guarantor, and some of the SPEs, as borrowers, entered into the $241.4 million Initial Mortgage with KeyBank. The
Initial Mortgage is secured by certain properties in the Initial Portfolio and equity pledges of the related SPEs that own those properties and bears interest at a
variable rate equal to one-month LIBOR plus 1.55%. The Initial Mortgage is interest-only for the first 48 months of the term and principal amortizes at a rate of
30 years over the last 36 months of the term. The Initial Mortgage matures and is due in full on December 1, 2025. 
 

On September 20, 2019, the OP, as guarantor, and VB One, LLC, as borrower, entered into a credit agreement (the “Warehouse Facility”). The
Warehouse Facility is secured by an equity pledge in certain assets of VB One, LLC and an equity pledge in the equity of VB One, LLC and bears interest at a
variable rate equal to one-month LIBOR plus 2.25%. The Warehouse Facility is a full-term, interest-only facility with an initial 36-month term, has one 12-
month extension option, and the Company has the right to request an increase in the facility amount of up to $250.0 million.
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On November 3, 2021, the Company, as guarantor, the OP, as parent borrower, and each of (i) VB OP Holdings, LLC and (ii) VB One, LLC and certain
of its subsidiaries, as subsidiary borrowers, entered into an amended and restated credit agreement to recast the Warehouse Facility, resulting in an increased
borrowing capacity, an amended interest rate, and an extended term. The recast Warehouse Facility is a full-term, interest-only facility with an initial 36-month
term ending November 3, 2024, has one 12-month extension option, and bears interest at a variable rate equal to one-month LIBOR plus a margin of 1.60% to
2.45%, depending on the Company's consolidated total leverage ratio. The Warehouse Facility recast increased the commitment amount of the facility from
$135.0 million to $350.0 million. In conjunction with the increase in the facility, the Company incurred costs of $3.2 million of deferred financing costs. On
December 9, 2021, the Warehouse Facility was further amended to increase the commitment amount from $350.0 million to $465.0 million. In conjunction
with the increase in the facility, the Company incurred costs of $0.9 million of deferred financing costs. The recast Warehouse Facility provides the Company,
through the OP, the right to request an increase in the total facility amount, which may take the form of an increase in revolving commitments or one or more
tranches of term loan of commitments, up to $800.0 million. As of March 31, 2022, $465.0 million was drawn on the Warehouse Facility. The balance of the
Warehouse Facility, net of unamortized deferred financing costs, is included in credit facilities on the consolidated balance sheets.

 
On April 8, 2022, the Company, through the OP, entered into the Second Amendment to the Warehouse Facility (the “Warehouse Facility Upsize”),

which amended the recast Warehouse Facility. The Warehouse Facility Upsize resulted in an amended interest rate and increased the OP’s right to increase the
total commitments available for borrowing, which may take the form of an increase in revolving commitments or one or more tranches of term loan
commitments, by approximately $400.0 million to $1.2 billion. In connection with the Warehouse Facility Upsize, on April 8, 2022, the Company drew $175.0
million on the Warehouse Facility and repaid the outstanding principal on the Bridge Facility, which was $132.7 million as of that date, which extinguished the
Bridge Facility.

 
On September 30, 2019, in connection with the TrueLane Portfolio acquisition, the OP, as guarantor, assumed the approximately $10.8 million TrueLane

Mortgage with Berkadia Commercial Mortgage LLC as a result of the OP’s acquisition of True FM 2017-1, LLC. The TrueLane Mortgage is secured by certain
of our properties and equity pledges in the entity that owns those properties and bears interest at a fixed rate equal to 5.35%. The TrueLane Mortgage matures
and is due in full on February 1, 2028 and requires monthly principal and interest payments.

 
On December 28, 2020, in connection with the acquisition of a 45-home portfolio, the OP provided a non-recourse carveout guaranty related to the

approximately $2.4 million CoreVest Note assumed by a subsidiary of the OP as a result of the OP’s acquisition of SMP Homes 5B, LLC. The CoreVest Note is
secured by the properties in SMP Homes 5B, LLC and an equity pledge in SMP Homes 5B, LLC and bears interest at a fixed rate equal to 6.12%. The
CoreVest Note matures and is due in full on January 9, 2023 and requires monthly principal and interest payments.
 

On January 6, 2021, the Company, as guarantor, and VB Two, LLC, as borrower, entered into a $125.0 million note with Metropolitan Life Insurance
(the “MetLife Note”). The MetLife Note is secured by equity pledges in VB Two, LLC and its wholly owned subsidiaries and bears interest at a fixed rate of
3.25%. The MetLife Note is interest-only and matures and is due in full on January 31, 2026. The net proceeds received were used to fund a portion of the
purchase price of the Conrex I Portfolio.
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On March 1, 2021, the Company entered into a non-recourse carveout guaranty and certain wholly owned subsidiaries of VB Three, LLC, as
borrowers, entered into a $500.0 million credit agreement with JP Morgan (the “JPM Facility”). The JPM Facility is secured by equity pledges in VB Three,
LLC and its wholly owned subsidiaries and bears interest at a variable rate equal to one-month LIBOR plus 2.75%. The JPM Facility is interest-only and
matures and is due in full on March 1, 2023. On March 10, 2022, the Company entered into Amendment No. 1 to the JPM Facility, wherein each advance under
the JPM Facility will bear interest at a daily SOFR plus 2.85%. As of March 31, 2022, the outstanding balance of the JPM Facility was $290.0 million and had
$210.0 million of available capacity.

 
On January 13, 2022, in connection with the acquisition of a 98-home portfolio, the OP (as guarantor) assumed an approximately $4.6 million Freddie

Mac mortgage loan (the “Hatchway Broadmoor Mortgage”) with Arbor Agency Lending, LLC as a result of the OP’s acquisition of Hatchway Broadmoor,
LLC. The Hatchway Broadmoor Mortgage is secured by properties in Hatchway Broadmoor, LLC and an equity pledge in Hatchway Broadmoor, LLC and
bears interest at a fixed rate equal to 5.35%. The Hatchway Broadmoor Mortgage matures and is due in full on February 1, 2029 and requires monthly principal
and interest payments. The balance of the Hatchway Broadmoor Mortgage, net of unamortized deferred financing costs, is included in notes payable on the
consolidated balance sheets.

 
On February 8, 2022, in connection with the acquisition of the Prager Portfolio, the Company entered into a bridge credit agreement through the OP with

KeyBank National Association, and borrowed $150.0 million (the “Bridge Facility”). The Bridge Facility accrues interest at the OP’s option of (1) daily SOFR
plus 0.1% plus an applicable rate of 3.0%, (2) the forward-looking term rate based on SOFR (“term SOFR”) for the applicable interest period plus 0.1% plus an
applicable rate of 3.0% or (3) an alternate base rate equal to the greater of (a) the prime rate in effect on such day and (b) the federal funds effective rate in
effect on such day plus 0.5%, plus an applicable rate of 2.0%. The Bridge Facility matures on February 8, 2023 but requires repayment of the principal amount
outstanding so that (1) by May 8, 2022 no more than $112.5 million remains outstanding, (2) by August 8, 2022 no more than $75.0 million remains
outstanding and (3) by November 8, 2022 no more than $37.5 million remains outstanding. As of March 31, 2022, $132.7 million was drawn on the Bridge
Facility. The balance of the Bridge Facility, net of unamortized deferred financing costs, is included in bridge facility on the consolidated balance sheets. 

 
On March 18, 2022, in connection with the acquisition of an 88-home portfolio, the OP provided a non-recourse carveout guaranty related to an

approximately $4.7 million mortgage loan assumed by a subsidiary of the OP (the “Crestcore II Note”) with CoreVest American Finance Lender LLC as a
result of the OP’s acquisition of Crestcore II, LLC. The Crestcore II Note is secured by the properties in Crestcore II, LLC and an equity pledge in Crestcore II,
LLC and bears interest at a fixed rate equal to 5.12%. The Crestcore II Note matures and is due in full on July 9, 2029 and requires monthly principal and
interest payments. The balance of the Crestcore II Note, net of unamortized deferred financing costs, is included in notes payable on the consolidated balance
sheets.
 

On March 18, 2022, in connection with the acquisition of an 82-home portfolio, the OP provided a non-recourse carveout guaranty related to an
approximately $4.2 million mortgage loan assumed by a subsidiary of the OP (the “Crestcore IV Note”) with CoreVest American Finance Lender LLC as a
result of the OP’s acquisition of Crestcore IV, LLC. The Crestcore IV Note is secured by the properties in Crestcore IV, LLC and an equity pledge in Crestcore
IV, LLC and bears interest at a fixed rate equal to 5.12%. The Crestcore IV Note matures and is due in full on July 9, 2029 and requires monthly principal and
interest payments. The balance of the Crestcore IV Note, net of unamortized deferred financing costs, is included in notes payable on the consolidated balance
sheets.
 

As of March 31, 2022, the Company was in compliance with the debt covenants in each of its debt agreements.
 

We intend to invest in additional homes as suitable opportunities arise and adequate sources of equity and debt financing are available. We expect that
future investments in properties, including any improvements or renovations of current or newly acquired properties, will depend on and will be financed by, in
whole or in part, our existing cash, future borrowings and the proceeds from additional issuances of Shares, Preferred Shares or other securities or property
dispositions.
 

Although we expect to be subject to restrictions on our ability to incur indebtedness, we expect that we will be able to refinance existing indebtedness or
incur additional indebtedness for acquisitions or other purposes, if needed. However, there can be no assurance that we will be able to refinance our
indebtedness, incur additional indebtedness or access additional sources of capital, such as by issuing Shares, Preferred Shares or other debt or equity
securities, on terms that are acceptable to us or at all.
 

Furthermore, following the completion of our renovations and depending on the interest rate environment at the applicable time, we may seek to
refinance our floating rate debt into longer-term fixed rate debt at lower leverage levels.
 

Interest Rate Swap Agreements
 

We have entered into and expect to continue to enter into interest rate swap and cap agreements with various third parties to fix or cap the floating
interest rates on a majority of our floating rate mortgage debt outstanding. The interest rate swap agreements generally have a term of approximately three to
six years and effectively establish a fixed interest rate on debt on the underlying notional amounts. In order to fix a portion of, and mitigate the risk associated
with, our floating rate indebtedness (without incurring substantial prepayment penalties or defeasance costs typically associated with fixed rate indebtedness
when repaid early or refinanced), we, through the OP, have entered into eight interest rate swap transactions with KeyBank with a combined notional amount of
$570.0 million. As of March 31, 2022, the interest rate swaps we have entered into effectively replace the floating interest rate (one-month LIBOR or daily
SOFR) with respect to $570.0 million of our floating rate mortgage debt outstanding with a weighted average fixed rate of 1.6192%. As of March 31, 2022,
interest rate swap agreements effectively covered $570.0 million, or 50.5%, of our $1.1 billion of floating rate debt outstanding. During the term of these
interest rate swap agreements, we are required to make monthly fixed rate payments of 1.6192%, on a weighted average basis, on the notional amounts, while
KeyBank is obligated to make monthly floating rate payments based on one-month LIBOR or daily SOFR to us referencing the same notional amounts. For
purposes of hedge accounting under ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, we have designated these interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges of interest rate risk.
See Notes 7 and 8 to our consolidated financial statements for additional information.
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Reference Rate Reform
 

On March 5, 2021, the Financial Conduct Authority of the U.K. (the “FCA”) announced that one-month LIBOR will either cease to be provided by any
administrator or no longer be representative immediately after June 30, 2023. This announcement has several implications, including setting the spread that
may be used to convert the index rates in our debt and hedging contracts from LIBOR to an alternative rate, such as the Secured Overnight Financing Rate
(“SOFR”). 

 
The Company anticipates that one-month LIBOR will continue to be available at least until June 30, 2023. Any changes adopted by the FCA or other

governing bodies in the method used for determining one-month LIBOR may result in a sudden or prolonged increase or decrease in reported one-month
LIBOR. If that were to occur, our interest payments could change. In addition, uncertainty about the extent and manner of future changes may result in interest
rates and/or payments that are higher or lower than if one-month LIBOR were to remain available in its current form.
 

The Company has contracts that are indexed to one-month LIBOR and it is monitoring and evaluating the related risks, which include interest on loans
and amounts received/paid on derivative instruments. These risks arise in connection with transitioning contracts to an alternative rate, including any resulting
value transfer that may occur. Transitions and alternative rates are likely to vary by contract. The value of loans, securities, or derivative instruments tied to
one-month LIBOR, as well as interest rates on our current or future indebtedness, may also be impacted if one-month LIBOR is unrepresentative or
discontinued. For some instruments the method of transitioning to an alternative reference rate may be challenging, especially if we cannot agree with the
respective counterparty about how to make the transition or upon which alternative rate is appropriate. 
 

While we expect one-month LIBOR to be available in substantially its current form until at least June 30, 2023, it is possible that one-month LIBOR will
become unavailable prior to that point. This could result, for example, if a sufficient number of banks decline to make submissions to the LIBOR administrator.
In that case, the risks associated with the transition to an alternative reference rate will be accelerated and magnified.
 

Alternative rates and other market changes related to the replacement of one-month LIBOR, including the introduction of financial products and changes
in market practices, may lead to risk modeling and valuation challenges, such as adjusting interest rate accrual calculations and building a term structure for an
alternative rate.
 

The introduction of an alternative rate also may create additional basis risk and increased volatility as alternative rates are phased in and utilized in
parallel with one-month LIBOR.
 

Adjustments to systems and mathematical models to properly process and account for alternative rates will be required, which may strain the model risk
management and information technology functions and result in substantial incremental costs for the Company.
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REIT Tax Election and Income Taxes
 

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Code and expect to continue to qualify as a REIT. To qualify as a REIT, we
must meet a number of organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement that we distribute at least 90% of our “REIT taxable income,” as
defined by the Code, to our stockholders. Taxable income from certain non-REIT activities is managed through a TRS and is subject to applicable U.S. federal,
state, and local income and margin taxes. We had no significant taxes associated with our TRS for the three months ended March 31, 2022 or 2021. We believe
we qualify for taxation as a REIT under the Code, and we intend to continue to operate in such a manner, but no assurance can be given that we will operate in
a manner so as to qualify as a REIT.

 
We anticipate that we will continue to qualify to be taxed as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and we intend to continue to be organized and

to operate in a manner that will permit us to qualify as a REIT. To qualify as a REIT, we must meet certain organizational and operational requirements,
including a requirement to distribute at least 90% of our annual REIT taxable income to stockholders. As a REIT, we will be subject to U.S. federal income tax
on our undistributed REIT taxable income and net capital gain and to a 4% nondeductible excise tax on any amount by which distributions we pay with respect
to any calendar year are less than the sum of (1) 85% of our ordinary income, (2) 95% of our capital gain net income and (3) 100% of our undistributed income
from prior years.
 

If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, we will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on our taxable income at regular corporate income tax
rates, and dividends paid to our stockholders would not be deductible by us in computing taxable income. Any resulting corporate liability could be substantial
and could materially and adversely affect our net income and net cash available for distribution to stockholders. Unless we were entitled to relief under certain
Code provisions, we also would be disqualified from re-electing to be taxed as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year in which we failed to
qualify to be taxed as a REIT.
 

We evaluate the accounting and disclosure of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in the course of preparing our tax returns to determine whether
the tax positions are “more-likely-than-not” (greater than 50 percent probability) of being sustained by the applicable tax authority. Tax positions not deemed to
meet the more-likely-than-not threshold would be recorded as a tax benefit or expense in the current year. Our management is required to analyze all open tax
years, as defined by the statute of limitations, for all major jurisdictions, which include federal and certain states. We have no examinations in progress and
none are expected at this time.
 

We recognize our tax positions and evaluate them using a two-step process. First, we determine whether a tax position is more likely than not to be
sustained upon examination, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position. Second, we will
determine the amount of benefit to recognize and record the amount that is more likely than not to be realized upon ultimate settlement.
 

We had no material unrecognized tax benefit or expense, accrued interest or penalties as of March 31, 2022. We and our subsidiaries are subject to U.S.
federal income tax as well as income tax of various state and local jurisdictions. The 2021, 2020 and 2019 tax years remain open to examination by tax
jurisdictions to which our subsidiaries and we are subject. When applicable, we recognize interest and/or penalties related to uncertain tax positions on our
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).
 

Dividends
 

We intend to make regular quarterly dividend payments to holders of our Shares. U.S. federal income tax law generally requires that a REIT distribute
annually at least 90% of its REIT taxable income, without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding net capital gains. As a REIT, we will be
subject to U.S. federal income tax on our undistributed REIT taxable income and net capital gain and to a 4% nondeductible excise tax on any amount by
which distributions we pay with respect to any calendar year are less than the sum of (1) 85% of our ordinary income, (2) 95% of our capital gain net income
and (3) 100% of our undistributed income from prior years. We intend to make regular quarterly dividend payments of all or substantially all of our taxable
income to holders of our Shares out of assets legally available for this purpose, if and to the extent authorized by our Board. Before we make any dividend
payments, whether for U.S. federal income tax purposes or otherwise, we must first meet both our operating requirements and debt service on our debt payable.
If our cash available for distribution is less than our taxable income, we could be required to sell assets, borrow funds or raise additional capital to make cash
dividends or we may make a portion of the required dividend in the form of a taxable distribution of stock or debt securities.

 
We will make dividend payments based on our estimate of taxable earnings per share of common stock, but not earnings calculated pursuant to GAAP.

Our dividends and taxable income and GAAP earnings will typically differ due to items such as depreciation and amortization, fair value adjustments,
differences in premium amortization and discount accretion, and non-deductible general and administrative expenses. Our dividends per share may be
substantially different than our taxable earnings and GAAP earnings per share.
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Inflation
 

The real estate market has not been affected significantly by inflation in the past several years due to increases in rents nationwide. The majority of our
lease terms are for a period of one year or less and reset to market if renewed. The majority of our leases also contain protection provisions applicable to
reimbursement billings for utilities. Due to the short-term nature of our leases, we do not believe our results will be materially affected.

 
Inflation may also affect the overall cost of debt, as the implied cost of capital increases. Currently, interest rates are less than historical averages.

However, the Federal Reserve, in response to or in anticipation of continued inflation concerns, could continue to raise interest rates. We intend to mitigate
these risks through long-term fixed interest rate loans and interest rate hedges, which to date have included interest rate cap and interest rate swap agreements.
 

Seasonality
 

We believe that our business and related operating results will be impacted by seasonal factors throughout the year. We experience higher levels of tenant
move-outs and move-ins during the late spring and summer months, which impacts both our rental revenues and related turnover costs. Furthermore, our
property operating costs are seasonally impacted in certain markets for expenses such as repairs to heating, ventilation and air conditioning systems, turn costs
and landscaping expenses during the summer season. Additionally, our SFR properties are at greater risk in certain markets for adverse weather conditions such
as extreme cold weather in winter months and hurricanes in late summer months.
 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 

As of March 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, we had no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future
effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.
 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
 

Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires our management to make judgments, assumptions and
estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We evaluate
these judgments, assumptions and estimates for changes that would affect the reported amounts. These estimates are based on management’s historical industry
experience and on various other judgments and assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these
judgments, assumptions and estimates. Below is a discussion of the accounting policies that we consider critical to understanding our financial condition or
results of operations where there is uncertainty or where significant judgment is required. A discussion of recently issued accounting pronouncements and our
significant accounting policies, including further discussion of the accounting policies described below, can be found in Note 2 “Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies” to our consolidated financial statements included in this report.
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Real Estate Investments
 

Upon acquisition, we evaluate our acquired SFR properties for purposes of determining whether a transaction should be accounted for as an asset
acquisition or business combination. Since substantially all of the fair value of our acquired properties is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of
similar identifiable assets and the acquisitions do not include a substantive process, our purchases of homes or portfolios of homes qualify as asset acquisitions.
Accordingly, upon acquisition of a property, the purchase price and related acquisition costs (the “Total Consideration”) are allocated to land, buildings,
improvements, fixtures, and intangible lease assets based upon their relative fair values.
 

The allocation of Total Consideration, which is determined using inputs that are classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy established by FASB
ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement (“ASC 820”) (see Note 8 to our consolidated financial statements), is based on an independent third-party valuation firm’s
estimate of the fair value of the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities acquired, or management's internal analysis based on market knowledge obtained
from historical transactions. The valuation methodology utilizes market comparable information, depreciated replacement cost and other estimates in allocating
value to the tangible assets. The allocation of the Total Consideration to intangible lease assets represents the value associated with the in-place leases, as one
month’s worth of effective gross income (rental revenue, less credit loss allowance, plus other income) as the average downtime of the assets in the portfolio is
approximately one month and the assets in the portfolio are leased on a gross rental structure. If any debt is assumed in an acquisition, the difference between
the fair value, which is estimated using inputs that are classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, and the face value of debt is recorded as a premium
or discount and amortized or accreted as interest expense over the life of the debt assumed.

 
The allocation of Total Consideration to the various components of properties acquired during the year can have an effect on our net loss due to the

useful depreciable and amortizable lives applicable to each component and the recognition of the related depreciation and amortization expense. For example,
if a greater portion of the Total Consideration is allocated to land, which does not depreciate, our net income would be higher. Typically, we allocate between
10% to 30% of the Total Consideration to land.
 

Real estate assets, including land, buildings, improvements, fixtures, and intangible lease assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation
and amortization. Costs incurred in making repairs and maintaining real estate assets are expensed as incurred. Expenditures for improvements, renovations,
and replacements are capitalized at cost. The Company also incurs costs to prepare acquired properties for rental. These costs are capitalized to the cost of the
property during the period the property is undergoing activities to prepare it for its intended use. We capitalize interest costs as a cost of the property only
during the period for which activities necessary to prepare an asset for its intended use are ongoing, provided that expenditures for the asset have been made
and interest costs have been incurred. Upon completion of the renovation of our properties, all costs of operations, including repairs and maintenance, are
expensed as incurred, unless the renovation meets the Company’s capitalization criteria.
 

Impairment
 

Real estate assets are reviewed for impairment quarterly or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset
may not be recoverable. Significant indicators of impairment may include, but are not limited to, declines in home values, rental rates or occupancy
percentages, as well as significant changes in the economy. In such cases, the Company will evaluate the recoverability of the assets by comparing the
estimated future cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of each asset to its carrying amount and provide for impairment if such
undiscounted cash flows are insufficient to recover the carrying amount. If impaired, the real estate asset will be written down to its estimated fair value. The
process whereby we assess our SFR homes for impairment requires significant judgment and assessment of factors that are, at times, subject to significant
uncertainty. No significant impairments on operating properties were recorded during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 or the three months ended
March 31, 2022 and 2021.
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Implications of being an Emerging Growth Company and Smaller Reporting Company
 

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (the “ JOBS Act”) and we are eligible to take advantage of
certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not “emerging growth companies” including, but
not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations
regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a non-binding advisory vote
on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved.
 

The JOBS Act permits an emerging growth company such as us to take advantage of an extended transition period to comply with new or revised
accounting standards applicable to public companies. We have elected to take advantage of this extended transition period. As a result of this election, our
financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with public company effective dates for such new or revised standards. We may elect to
comply with public company effective dates at any time, and such election would be irrevocable pursuant to Section 107(b) of the JOBS Act.
 

We could remain an “emerging growth company” until the earliest of (1) the end of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the date of the first
sale of shares of our common stock pursuant to an effective registration statement, (2) the last day of the fiscal year in which our annual gross revenues exceed
$1.07 billion, (3) the date that we become a “large accelerated filer” as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”), which would occur if the market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the last business day of
our most recently completed second fiscal quarter, or (4) the date on which we have issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt during the preceding
three year period.
 

We are also a “smaller reporting company” as defined in the Exchange Act, and may elect to take advantage of certain of the scaled disclosures available
to smaller reporting companies. We may be a smaller reporting company even after we are no longer an “emerging growth company.”
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
 
Not required for smaller reporting companies.
 
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

As required by Rule 13a-15(b) and Rule 15d-15(b) under the Exchange Act, our management, including our Interim President and Chief Financial Officer,
evaluated, as of March 31, 2022, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e) and Rule 15d-15(e).
Based on that evaluation, our Interim President and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of March
31, 2022, to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified by the rules and forms of the Exchange Act and is accumulated and communicated to
management, including the Interim President and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.
 

We believe, however, that a controls system, no matter how well designed and operated, cannot provide absolute assurance that the objectives of the
controls systems are met, and no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud or error, if any, within a
company have been detected.
 

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

There has been no change in internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15-d-15(f) under the Exchange Act)
that occurred during the quarter ended March 31, 2022 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
 
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
 
From time to time, we are party to legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of our business. Management is not aware of any legal proceedings of
which the outcome is reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition, nor are we aware of any such legal
proceedings contemplated by government agencies.
 
Item 1A. Risk Factors
 
There have been no material changes to the risk factors previously disclosed under Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” of our Annual Report.
 
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
 
Sales of Shares
 

Other than as previously disclosed in Current Reports on Form 8-K, there were no unregistered sales of equity securities during the period covered by this
report. Such equity securities were issued to accredited investors in reliance upon the exemptions from registration under the Securities Act, provided by Rule
506(b) under Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act and Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act.
 
Repurchase of Shares
 

The Company has adopted a share repurchase plan (the “Share Repurchase Plan”) pursuant to which investors may request on a quarterly basis that the
Company repurchase all or a portion of their Shares, subject to certain terms and conditions. Under the Share Repurchase Plan, shares will be repurchased at
the most recent NAV per share in effect, which will generally be equal to our prior quarter’s or month’s NAV per share. The Share Repurchase Plan began on
November 1, 2019. The total amount of aggregate repurchases of Shares is limited to no more than 5% of the Company’s aggregate NAV per calendar quarter.
For additional discussion and information, see “Exhibit 4.1. Description of Registrant’s Securities to be Registered—Share Repurchase Plan” in our Annual
Report. The table below contains information regarding the repurchases of Shares by the Company pursuant to the Share Repurchase Plan during the three
months ended March 31, 2022.

 

Period  

Total Number of
Shares

Purchased   

Average Price Paid
Per

Share   

Total Number of
Shares

Purchased as Part of
Publicly Announced
Plans or Programs   

Approximate Dollar
Value of Shares that

may yet be Purchased
under the Plans or

Programs (in
thousands)  

January 1 - January 31   —  $ —   —  $ — 
February 1 - February 28   —   —   —   — 
March 1 - March 31   55,405   54.14   55,405   71,364 
Total   55,405  $ 54.14   55,405  $ 71,364 
 
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
 
None.
 
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
 
Not applicable.
 
Item 5. Other Information
 
None.
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Item 6. Exhibits
 

EXHIBIT INDEX
 
Exhibit Number Description

  
10.1* Amendment No. 1, dated March 10, 2022 to the Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2021, by and among each person listed

on Schedule I thereto, VineBrook Homes Trust, Inc., VB Three Equity, LLC, VB Three, LLC, JPMorgan Chase Bank, National
Association and the other lenders party thereto

  
10.2 Bridge Credit Agreement, dated as of February 8, 2022, among VineBrook Homes Operating Partnership, L.P., as borrower, the lenders

party thereto, KeyBank National Association, as administrative agent, and KeyBanc Capital Markets, as sole lead arranger and bookrunner
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Company on February 14, 2022).

  
10.3 Management Agreement dated February 8, 2022 by and between P FIN II, LLC, P FIN VII MEM, LLC, P FIN VII STL, LLC, P FIN VII

KC, LLC, P FIN VII TN 40, LLC, P FIN VII MO 40, LLC, P FIN VI, LLC, P FIN V FL, LLC, P FIN V NC, LLC, P FIN V NM, LLC, P
FIN V OTHER, LLC and P FIN II F, LLC and VineBrook Homes, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report
on Form 8-K filed by the Company on February 14, 2022).

  
31.1* Certification of Interim President and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
  
32.1+ Certification of Interim President and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
  
101.INS* Inline XBRL Instance Document
  
101.SCH* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
  
101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
  
101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
  
101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
  
101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
  
104* Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)
 

 
*         Filed herewith.
+         Furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURES
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.
 
VINEBROOK HOMES TRUST, INC.
 

Signature  Title  Date
     
/s/ Brian Mitts    May 16, 2022

Brian Mitts  Interim President, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and
Assistant Secretary   

  (Principal Executive Officer, Principal Financial Officer
and Principal Accounting Officer)   
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Exhibit 10.1
 

AMENDMENT NO. 1
TO REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT

 
Amendment No. 1 to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of March 10, 2022 (this “Amendment”), among VINEBROOK HOMES

TRUST, INC., a Maryland corporation, as sponsor (in such capacity, the “Sponsor”), VB THREE EQUITY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, as
equity owner (in such capacity, the “Equity Owner”), VB THREE, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, as parent holdco (in such capacity, the “Parent
Holdco”) and as borrower representative (in such capacity, the “Borrower Representative”), the borrowers identified on the signature pages hereto (the
“Borrowers”), the guarantors identified on the signature pages hereto (the “Guarantors”), JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a
national banking association, as Lender (in such capacity, the “Lender”), agent for each Lender (in such capacity, the “Agent”), calculation agent (in such
capacity, the “Calculation Agent”), as paying agent (in such capacity, the “Paying Agent”) and securities intermediary (in such capacity, the “Securities
Intermediary”).
 

RECITALS
 

Borrowers, Guarantors, Sponsor, Lender, Administrative Agent, Paying Agent, Calculation Agent and Securities Intermediary are parties to
that certain Revolving Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2021 (the “Existing Loan Agreement”, as further amended by this Amendment, the “Loan
Agreement”). Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Existing Loan Agreement.
 

Borrowers, Guarantors, Sponsor, Lender, Administrative Agent, Paying Agent, Calculation Agent and Securities Intermediary have agreed,
subject to the terms and conditions of this Amendment, that the Existing Loan Agreement be amended to reflect certain agreed upon revisions to the terms of
the Existing Loan Agreement.
 

Accordingly, Borrowers, Guarantors, Sponsor, Lender, Administrative Agent, Paying Agent, Calculation Agent and Securities Intermediary
hereby agree, in consideration of the mutual promises and mutual obligations set forth herein, that the Existing Loan Agreement is hereby amended as follows:
 

SECTION 1.    Amendments to Existing Loan Agreement. Effective as of the date hereof, the Existing Loan Agreement is hereby amended to
delete the stricken text (indicated textually in the same manner as the following example: stricken text) and to add the double-underlined text (indicated
textually in the same manner as the following example: double-underlined text) as set forth in the pages attached as Exhibit I-A hereto. A conformed copy of
the Loan Agreement marked to show such changes is attached as Exhibit I-B hereto.
 

SECTION 2.    Conditions Precedent. This Amendment shall become effective as of the date hereof, upon the execution and delivery by the
Borrowers and Guarantors, as applicable, to Administrative Agent and Lender of this Amendment.
 

SECTION 3.    Limited Effect. Except as expressly amended and modified by this Amendment, the Existing Loan Agreement shall continue
to be, and shall remain, in full force and effect in accordance with its terms. The parties hereto have entered into this Amendment solely to amend the terms of
the Existing Loan Agreement and do not intend this Amendment or the transactions contemplated hereby to be, and this Amendment and the transactions
contemplated hereby shall not be construed to be, a novation of any of the obligations owing by Borrower or any other party under or in connection with the
Existing Loan Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents. It is the intention and agreement of each of the parties hereto that (i) the perfection and priority
of all security interests securing the payment of the obligations of the parties under the Existing Loan Agreement are preserved, (ii) the liens and security
interests granted under the Existing Loan Agreement continue in full force and effect, and (iii) any reference to the Existing Loan Agreement in any Loan
Document shall be deemed to reference the Existing Loan Agreement as amended by this Amendment.
 

 



 
 

SECTION 4.    Severability. Each provision and agreement herein shall be treated as separate and independent from any other provision or
agreement herein and shall be enforceable notwithstanding the unenforceability of any such other provision or agreement.
 

SECTION 5.    Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed by each of the parties hereto by means of (i) an original manual signature;
(ii) a faxed, scanned, or photocopied manual signature, or (iii) any other electronic signature permitted by the federal Electronic Signatures in Global and
National Commerce Act, state enactments of the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act, and/or any other relevant electronic signatures law, including any
relevant provisions of the Uniform Commercial Code (collectively, “Signature Law”), in each case to the extent applicable. Each faxed, scanned, or
photocopied manual signature, or electronic signature, shall for all purposes have the same validity, legal effect, and admissibility in evidence as an original
manual signature. Each party hereto shall be entitled to conclusively rely upon, and shall have no liability with respect to, any faxed, scanned, or photocopied
manual signature, or other electronic signature, of any other party and shall have no duty to investigate, confirm of otherwise verify the validity or authenticity
thereof. This Amendment may be executed in one or more counterparts and by the different parties hereto on separate counterparts, including without limitation
counterparts transmitted by facsimile or other electronic transmission, each of which, when so executed, shall be deemed to be an original and such
counterparts, together, shall constitute one and the same agreement. The parties agree that this Amendment, any documents to be delivered pursuant to this
Amendment and any notices hereunder may be transmitted between them by email and/or by facsimile.
 

SECTION 6.    GOVERNING LAW. THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE STATE
OF NEW YORK WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO THE CONFLICT OF LAW PRINCIPLES OTHER THAN SECTIONS 5-1401 AND 5-1402 OF
THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW WHICH SHALL GOVERN.
 

SECTION 7.    Headings. The headings of this Amendment are provided solely for convenience of reference and shall not modify, define,
expand or limit any of the terms or provisions of this Amendment.
 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Amendment to be duly executed as of the date first above written.
 
 

 
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Agent, Lender, Calculation
Agent, Paying Agent and Securities Intermediary

  
  
 By: /s/ Mansoor Sirinathsingh

 Name: Mansoor Sirinathsingh
Title: Managing Director

 
 

[Signatures continue]
 

Signature Page to Amendment No. 1 to Revolving Credit Agreement



 
 

 VB THREE, LLC,
as Parent Holdco, Borrower Representative and a Guarantor

  
  
 By: /s/ Dana Spring

 Name: Dana Sprong
Title: Authorized Signatory
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Signature Page to Amendment No. 1 to Revolving Credit Agreement



 
 

 

CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-1, LLC,
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-2 OPERATING
COMPANY, LLC
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-3 OPERATING
COMPANY, LLC
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-4 OPERATING
COMPANY, LLC
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-5 OPERATING
COMPANY, LLC
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-6 OPERATING
COMPANY, LLC
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-7 OPERATING
COMPANY, LLC
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-8 OPERATING
COMPANY, LLC
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-9 OPERATING
COMPANY, LLC
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-10 OPERATING
COMPANY, LLC
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-11 OPERATING
COMPANY, LLC
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-12 OPERATING
COMPANY, LLC
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-13 OPERATING
COMPANY, LLC
REX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY OWNER, LLC
REX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY OWNER A, LLC
REX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY OWNER II, LLC
REX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY OWNER III, LLC
REX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY OWNER IV, LLC
REX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY OWNER V, LLC
REX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY OWNER VI, LLC
each as a Borrower

  
  
 By: /s/ Dana Sprong

 Name: Dana Sprong
Title: Authorized Signatory
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Signature Page to Amendment No. 1 to Revolving Credit Agreement



 
 

 

CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-1 HOLDING
COMPANY, LLC,
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-2 HOLDING
COMPANY, LLC,
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-3 HOLDING
COMPANY, LLC,
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-4 HOLDING
COMPANY, LLC,
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-5 HOLDING
COMPANY, LLC,
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-6 HOLDING
COMPANY, LLC,
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-7 HOLDING
COMPANY, LLC,
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-8 HOLDING
COMPANY, LLC,
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-9 HOLDING
COMPANY, LLC,
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-10 HOLDING
COMPANY, LLC,
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-11 HOLDING
COMPANY, LLC,
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-12 HOLDING
COMPANY, LLC,
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-13 HOLDING
COMPANY, LLC,
VB HOLDING COMPANY I, LLC,
VB HOLDING COMPANY II, LLC,
VB HOLDING COMPANY III, LLC,
VB HOLDING COMPANY IV, LLC,
VB HOLDING COMPANY V, LLC,
VB HOLDING COMPANY VI, LLC,
VB HOLDING COMPANY VII, LLC
each as a Holdco Guarantor

  
  
 By: /s/ Dana Sprong

 Name: Dana Sprong
Title: Authorized Signatory
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Signature Page to Amendment No. 1 to Revolving Credit Agreement



 
 

 VB THREE EQUITY, LLC,
as Equity Owner and a Guarantor

  
  
 By: /s/ Dana Sprong

 Name: Dana Sprong
Title: Authorized Signatory

 
 

[Signatures continue]
 

Signature Page to Amendment No. 1 to Revolving Credit Agreement



 
 

 VINEBROOK HOMES TRUST, INC.,
as Sponsor

  
  
 By: /s/ Dana Sprong

 Name: Dana Sprong
Title: Authorized Signatory

 
 

[End of signatures]
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Revolving Credit Agreement
(Changed Pages Reflecting Amendment No. 1)
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Revolving Credit Agreement
(Conformed Through Amendment No. 1)

 
(Attached)

 
 



 
 

CONFORMED COPY THROUGH AMENDMENT NO. 1
EXECUTION VERSION

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT
 
 

AMONG
 

THE PROPERTY OWNERS PARTY HERETO FROM TIME TO TIME
each as a Borrower,

 
THE GUARANTORS PARTY HERETO FROM TIME TO TIME

 
each as a Guarantor,

 
VB THREE, LLC

as Parent Holdco and the Borrower Representative,
 

VB THREE EQUITY, LLC,
as Equity Owner,

 
VINEBROOK HOMES TRUST, INC.,

as Sponsor,
 

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
as Agent, Lender, Calculation Agent, Paying Agent and Securities Intermediary

 
and

 
THE OTHER LENDERS FROM TIME TO TIME PARTY HERETO

 
 

Dated as of March 1, 2021
 

 



 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS
 
  Page
ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS 1
   

Section 1.1 Definitions 1
Section 1.2 Construction of Certain Terms and Phrases 4544
Section 1.3 Interest 45
Section 1.4 Interest Rates; LIBORBenchmark Notification 47 46

   
ARTICLE 2 THE CREDIT FACILITY 47 46
   

Section 2.1 Description of Facility; Borrower Representative 47 46
Section 2.2 Procedure for Adding Financed Properties and Borrowing Advances 4847
Section 2.3 Purpose 5150
Section 2.4 Interest and Fees 5150
Section 2.5 Payment of Principal and Interest 5150
Section 2.6 Termination and Reduction of Facility 5251
Section 2.7 Prepayments and Releases 5251
Section 2.8 Application of Available Funds; Collection Account 5453
Section 2.9 Alternate Rate of Interest 5756
Section 2.10 [Reserved] 5957
Section 2.11 Increased Costs 5957
Section 2.12 Indemnified Taxes 6058
Section 2.13 Remedies Upon Breach of Representation As To Eligible Property 6361
Section 2.14 The Paying Agent 6462
Section 2.15 The Calculation Agent 6866

   
ARTICLE 3 CONDITIONS PRECEDENT 7270
   

Section 3.1 Conditions to Closing 7270
Section 3.2 Conditions to Adding Financed Properties and Each Advance 7674

   
ARTICLE 4 PROPERTY MANAGEMENT, VALUATIONS AND RESERVES 7876
   

Section 4.1 Property Management and Cash Management 7876
Section 4.2 Property Valuations 8078
Section 4.3 Audit and Information Rights 8179
Section 4.4 [Reserved]. 8180
Section 4.5 Interest Reserve Account 8180
Section 4.6 Insurance Premiums and Real Property Taxes; Insurance Reserve Account and Tax Reserve Account 8280
Section 4.7 Insurance Proceeds Account 8381
Section 4.8 Renovations and Renovation Cost Reserve Account 8381
Section 4.9 Ratio Trigger Reserve Account 8583

 
i



 
 

Section 4.10 Reserve Accounts Generally 8583
Section 4.11 Prohibited Conveyance 8684

   
ARTICLE 5 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 8785
   

Section 5.1 Representations and Warranties 8785
   
ARTICLE 6 AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS 9290
   

Section 6.1 Affirmative Covenants of the Loan Parties 9290
Section 6.2 Insurance 10098
Section 6.3 Condemnation 103102

   
ARTICLE 7 NEGATIVE COVENANTS 104102
   

Section 7.1 Negative Covenants of the Loan Parties 104102
   
ARTICLE 8 DEFAULT 106105
   

Section 8.1 Default 106105
Section 8.2 Remedies Upon Default 109108

   
ARTICLE 9 THE AGENT 111109
   

Section 9.1 Authorization and Action 111109
Section 9.2 Delegation of Duties 111110
Section 9.3 Exculpatory Provisions 112110
Section 9.4 Reliance 112110
Section 9.5 Non-Reliance on Agent 113111
Section 9.6 Indemnification 113111
Section 9.7 Agent in its Individual Capacity 113112
Section 9.8 Successor Agent 114112

   
ARTICLE 10 ASSIGNMENTS AND PARTICIPATIONS 114112
   

Section 10.1 Assignments and Participations 114112
   
ARTICLE 11 INTENTIONALLY OMITTED 116114
  
ARTICLE 12 CROSS-GUARANTY 116114
  

Section 12.1 Cross-Guaranty 116114
Section 12.2 Waivers by Borrowers 117115
Section 12.3 Benefit of Guaranty 117115
Section 12.4 Waiver of Subrogation, Etc. 117115
Section 12.5 Liability Cumulative 117115

 
ii



 
 
ARTICLE 13
MISCELLANEOUS  118116

   
Section 13.1 Amendments and Waivers. 118116
Section 13.2 Governing Law; Consent to Jurisdiction 119117
Section 13.3 Waiver of Jury Trial 119117
Section 13.4 Assignment 120118
Section 13.5 Notices 120118
Section 13.6 Data Site; Access to Information 122119
Section 13.7 Severability 123120
Section 13.8 Entire Agreement; Amendments; No Third Party Beneficiaries 123120
Section 13.9 Counterparts 123121
Section 13.10 Expenses 124122
Section 13.11 Indemnity 125122
Section 13.12 Usury Savings Clause 125123
Section 13.13 Set-off 126123
Section 13.14 Confidentiality 126124
Section 13.15 Limitation of Liability 128125
Section 13.16 No Joint Venture 128126
Section 13.17 No Insolvency Proceeding 129126
Section 13.18 Lender Communications 129127
Section 13.19 Cross-Default; Cross-Collateralization. 129127

 
EXHIBITS, SCHEDULES AND ANNEXES
 
Exhibit A Form of Borrowing Notice
Exhibit A-1 Form of Borrowing Notice Confirmation
Exhibit A-2 Form of Property Addition Notice
Exhibit A-2A Form of Property Addition Confirmation (Calculation Agent)
Exhibit A-2B Form of Property Addition Confirmation (Diligence Agent)
Exhibit A-3 Form of Borrower Representative Certification
Exhibit B Form of Note
Exhibit C Form of Eligible Lease
Exhibit D Form of Monthly Report
Exhibit E Form of Joinder Agreement
Exhibit F Form of Calculation Schedule
Exhibit G Form of Certificate of Completion
Exhibit H Form of Monthly Report Confirmation
Exhibit I Form of Power of Attorney
Exhibit J Title Review
Exhibit K-1 Form of Tax Compliance Certificate
Exhibit K-2 Form of Tax Compliance Certificate
Exhibit K-3 Form of Tax Compliance Certificate
Exhibit K-4 Form of Tax Compliance Certificate
 
Schedule 1 Borrowers and Holdco Guarantors
Schedule 2 Eligibility Requirements
Schedule 3 Filing Offices
Schedule 4 Schedule of Properties
Schedule 5 Leasing Standards
Schedule 6 Sponsor Financial Covenants
Schedule 7 Data Tape Fields
Schedule 8 Salesforce Financed Properties
 
Annex A Lender Accounts
Annex B Wiring Instructions
 

iii



 
 
 

REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT
 

This REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of March 1, 2021, by and among each person listed on
Schedule 1 hereto and each person that becomes a party hereto pursuant to a Joinder, VINEBROOK HOMES TRUST, INC., a Maryland corporation, as
sponsor (in such capacity, the “Sponsor”), VB THREE EQUITY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, as equity owner (in such capacity, the “Equity
Owner”), VB THREE, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, as parent holdco (in such capacity, the “Parent Holdco”) and as borrower representative (in
such capacity, the “Borrower Representative”), JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national banking association, as Lender (in such
capacity, the “Lender”), agent for each Lender (in such capacity, the “Agent”), calculation agent (in such capacity, the “Calculation Agent”), as paying agent (in
such capacity, the “Paying Agent”) and securities intermediary (in such capacity, the “Securities Intermediary”) and THE OTHER LENDERS PARTY
HERETO FROM TIME TO TIME.
 

RECITALS
 

WHEREAS, the Borrowers (as defined below) are in the business of acquiring and owning Properties (as defined below) and leasing such Properties
to Tenants (as defined below);
 

WHEREAS, the Borrowers have requested that each Lender make available to the Borrowers a revolving credit facility in a maximum principal
amount at any time outstanding of up to the Facility Amount (as defined below) to be used by the Borrowers in connection with the acquisition, maintenance,
renovation and leasing of the Properties as set forth in Section 2.3; and
 

WHEREAS, each Lender is willing to extend such credit facility on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein.
 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual covenants set forth herein and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt
and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as follows:
 

ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS

 
Section 1.1    Definitions. For purposes hereof, the following terms, when used herein with initial capital letters, shall have the respective meanings set

forth herein:
 
“Accepted Management Practices”: With respect to any Property, those management, rental, sales and collection practices (a) of prudent companies that
manage single family and 2-4 family residential homes for rent and sale of a type similar to the Properties in the jurisdiction where the related Property is
located, (b) that are in accordance with commercially reasonable professional standards, (c) that are in compliance with all Applicable Laws and (d) using good
faith and commercially reasonable efforts.
 
“Account Control Agreement”: With respect to the Insurance Reserve Account, the Tax Reserve Account, the Interest Reserve Account, the Renovation Cost
Reserve Account, the Insurance Proceeds Account, Ratio Trigger Reserve Account and the Collection Account, a Securities Account Control Agreement among
the Borrower Representative, the Agent and the Paying Agent, in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent.
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“Acquisition Date”: With respect to any Property, the date on which the related Borrower or an Affiliate acquired title to such Property.
 
“Actual Renovation Costs”: With respect to any Property, the actual out-of-pocket Renovation Costs paid by the applicable Borrower with respect to the
renovation of such Property in accordance with the Renovation Standards, as demonstrated in a certificate certified by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower
Representative delivered to the Diligence Agent and the Agent; provided that reasonably satisfactory written evidence supporting the Renovation Costs set
forth in such a certificate shall be delivered to the Diligence Agent and the Agent; provided further that with respect to any Property for which such costs
exceed 15% of the Asset Purchase Price, the Agent shall have a right to recalculate the Actual Renovation Costs in any case where it considers the evidence
supporting the Renovation Costs not reasonably satisfactory.
 
“Adjusted LIBO Rate”: With respect to any Advances Outstanding for any Interest Accrual Period, anDaily Simple SOFR”: An interest rate per annum
(rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/16 of 1%) equal to (a) the LIBO Rate for such Interest Accrual Period multiplied by (b) the Statutory Reserve
RateDaily Simple SOFR, plus (b) 0.10%; provided that if Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR as so determined would be less than 0%, such rate shall be deemed to
be 0% for the purposes of this Agreement.
 
“Advance”: Each advance of funds by each Lender to the Borrowers under Section 2.2.
 
“Advance Rate”: With respect to any Financed Property, a percentage no greater than (a) 70% of the Property Value for Leased Properties that are not Carry-
Over Properties, (b) 65% of the Property Value for Leased Properties that are Carry-Over Properties, (c) 55% of the Property Value for Non-Leased Properties
and (d) 0% for raw land; provided, however, if on any Borrowing Date, Payment Date or Reporting Date an Advance Rate Reduction Event shall have
occurred, the Advance Rate with respect to any Financed Property shall be reduced by the amount set forth in the definition of Advance Rate Reduction Event.
 
“Advance Rate Reduction Event”: With respect to any Financed Property, the Advance Rate shall be reduced by subtracting the percentages set forth below
from the Advance Rate relating to such Property on such date, on a cumulative basis and without ability to cure unless specifically described, for each of the
following events:
 

(a)    with respect to any Financed Property that is in a Stabilization Period, it shall be a Non-Eligible Property with an Advance Rate of 0%;
 

(b)    with respect to any Financed Property that has been vacant for at least ninety (90) days, it shall be a Non-Eligible Property with an Advance Rate of
0%; provided, however, that any Salesforce Financed Property (or any other Financed Property with the prior written consent of the Agent) that is a Non-
Eligible Property with an Advance Rate of 0% based solely on being vacant for at least ninety (90) days shall become an Eligible Property with an Advance
Rate as otherwise set forth in this Agreement upon being leased to an Eligible Tenant; provided that if any such Financed Property subsequently becomes
vacant for at least 90 days, it shall be a Non-Eligible Property with an Advance Rate of 0% without further ability to cure;
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(c)    with respect to any Financed Property that is in a Delinquency Period, it shall be a Non-Eligible Property with an Advance Rate of 0%; provided,
however, that any Financed Property that is a Non-Eligible Property with an Advance Rate of 0% based solely on being in a Delinquency Period shall become
an Eligible Property with an Advance Rate as otherwise set forth in this Agreement upon being leased to a new Eligible Tenant; and

 
(d)    with respect to all Financed Properties, in the event that Portfolio Delinquency Amount is greater than 5%, the Advance Rate shall be decreased by

10% until the Portfolio Delinquency Amount is 5% or less for a period of ninety (90) days.
 

“Advances Outstanding”: As of any date of determination, the aggregate outstanding principal balance of all outstanding Advances as of such date.
 
“Affiliate”: As applied to any Person, (a) each Person that, (x) directly or indirectly, owns or controls, whether beneficially, or as a trustee, guardian or other
fiduciary such Person, or (y) otherwise has the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of that Person, whether through the
ownership of voting securities or by contract or otherwise (notwithstanding the foregoing, the Property Manager shall not be an Affiliate of any
Borrower‑Related Party solely due to such Property Manager being a party to the Property Management Agreement), (b) each Person that controls, is
controlled by or is under common control with such Person and (c) each of such Person’s officers, directors, joint ventures, managers and partners. For the
purposes of this definition, “control” of a Person shall mean the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of its
management or policies, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.
 
“Agent”: As defined in the introductory paragraph.
 
“Agent Fee”: As defined in the Fee Letter.
 
“Aggregate Asset Purchase Price”: On any date of determination, the sum of the Asset Purchase Prices for all Financed Properties included in the Facility.
 
“Aggregate Market Value”: On any date of determination, the sum of the Market Values for all Financed Properties included in the Facility.
 
“Agreement”: As defined in the introductory paragraph.
 
“Allocated Loan Amount”: On any day for any Financed Property, the Advances Outstanding multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the Property
Borrowing Base (adjusted, in the case of Non-Eligible Properties, as required by Section 2.13) of such Financed Property and the denominator of which is the
aggregate Property Borrowing Base of all Financed Properties.
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“Alternate Base Rate”: For any day, a rate per annum equal to the greatest of (a) the Prime Rate in effect on such day plus the Applicable Margin, (b) the
NYFRBFederal Funds Effective Rate in effect on such day plus ½ of 1% plus the Applicable Margin and (c) the Adjusted LIBO Rate for a one (1) month
Interest Accrual Period on such day (or if such day is not a Business Day, the immediately preceding Business Day) plus 1% plus the Applicable Margin;
provided that for the purpose of this definition, the Adjusted LIBO Rate for any day shall be based on the LIBO Screen Rate (or if the LIBO Screen Rate is not
available for such one (1) month Interest Accrual Period, the Interpolated Rate) at approximately 11:00 a.m. London time on such dayDaily Simple SOFR plus
1%. Any change in the Alternate Base Rate due to a change in the Prime Rate, the NYFRBFederal Funds Effective Rate or the Adjusted LIBO RateDaily
Simple SOFR shall be effective from and including the effective date of such change in the Prime Rate, the NYFRBFederal Funds Effective Rate or the
Adjusted LIBO RateDaily Simple SOFR, respectively. If the Alternate Base Rate is being used as an alternate rate of interest pursuant to  Section 2.9 (for the
avoidance of doubt, only until the Benchmark Replacement has been determined pursuant to  Section 2.9(b)), then the Alternate Base Rate shall be the greater
of clauses (a) and (b) above and shall be determined without reference to clause (c) above. For the avoidance of doubt, if the Alternate Base Rate as determined
pursuant to the foregoing would be less than 0%, such rate shall be deemed to be 0% for purposes of this Agreement.
 
“Ancillary Document”: As defined in Section 13.9.
 
“Annualized Net Cash Flow”: For any Measurement Quarter, the excess, if any of (a) the aggregate annualized Collections received during such Measurement
Quarter in respect of all of the Financed Properties owned by the Borrowers during such Measurement Quarter over (b) the sum of (i) an amount equal to the
annualized Operating Expenses in respect of such Financed Properties for such Measurement Quarter, (ii) the aggregate real estate taxes or other governmental
assessments related to such Financed Properties payable during the related calendar year; (iii) the aggregate insurance premiums payable during the related
calendar year necessary in order to maintain compliance with the Insurance Requirements (excluding premiums related to Non-Financed Properties if such
premiums (12 months) are on deposit in the Insurance Reserve Account), in each case for the calendar year in which such Measurement Quarter occurs;
provided that, (i) leasing commissions shall be amortized over the term of the applicable Lease for purposes of calculating Annualized Net Cash Flow and (ii)
with respect to any Financed Property acquired by the Borrower or an Affiliate during the Measurement Quarter or which became a Leased Property, after the
first day of the relevant Measurement Quarter, Annualized Net Cash Flow shall be calculated based on Estimated Net Cash Flow. Annualized Net Cash Flow
shall be calculated pro forma for the addition or release of Financed Properties as if such addition or release had occurred on the first day of the applicable
Measurement Quarter.
 
“Anti-Money Laundering Laws”: As defined in Section 5.1(n).
 
“Applicable Laws”: All laws of any Governmental Authority applicable to the matters contemplated by this Agreement, including any ordinances, judgments,
decrees, injunctions, writs, orders and other legally binding actions of any Governmental Authority, common law and rules and regulations of any federal,
regional, state, county, municipal or other Governmental Authority.
 
“Applicable Margin”: As defined in the Fee Letter; provided, however, the Applicable Margin may not be amended or modified in the Fee Letter without the
consent of each Lender and notice to the Calculation Agent.
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“Applicable Taxes”: All present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, withholdings (including backup withholding), assessments, fees or other
charges imposed by any Governmental Authority, including any interest, additions to tax or penalties applicable thereto.
 
“Appraisal”: An appraisal conducted by a licensed appraiser in accordance with the requirements of FIRREA.
 
“Approved Monthly Expense Amount”: With respect to any Payment Date after the occurrence and during the continuation of an Early Amortization Event or
Event of Default, the monthly amount set forth in the Approved Quarterly Operating Expense Budget for Operating Expenses for the calendar month in which
such monthly Payment Date occurs.
 
“Approved Quarterly Operating Expense Budget”: The quarterly budget of Operating Expenses approved by the Agent pursuant to Section 4.1(e).
 
“Asset Purchase Price”: With respect to any Property, the price paid to purchase such Property from the applicable third-party on the related Acquisition Date
by the related Borrower or an Affiliate thereof, plus (a) actual out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by the related Borrower or Affiliate that originally
acquired such Property in connection with the acquisition of such Property, payment of Liens and clearance of other title defects, gaining possession and
settlement of disputes relating to title and possession thereof (subject to the reasonable satisfaction of Agent as to appropriateness and amount, prior to the
initial Advance made with respect to such Property) and to the extent permitted by GAAP to increase the Borrower’s basis in such Property and (b) the Actual
Renovation Costs paid with respect to such Property; provided, however, if such Property is not an Eligible Property on any date of determination and the
applicable Cure Period has expired, then the Asset Purchase Price for such Property shall be deemed to be zero and; provided, further, that any Borrower may
elect, in a Property Addition Notice or subsequent written notice to the Diligence Agent and the Agent, to reduce the Asset Purchase Price for any Financed
Property in order to meet the Eligibility Requirements relating to Asset Purchase Price, so long as any such subsequent election does not cause the Advances
Outstanding to exceed the resulting Borrowing Base. Any such election shall permanently reduce the Asset Purchase Price of such Financed Property for all
purposes hereunder.
 
“Assigning Lender”: As defined in Section 10.1(a).
 
“Assignment and Assumption”: As defined in Section 10.1(a).
 
“Assignment of Management Agreement”: The Assignment of Property Management Agreement and Acknowledgement and Agreement, dated as of March 1,
2021 by and among the Property Manager, each Borrower and the Agent.
 
“Available Funds”: For any Payment Date, the sum of (a) all Collections for the related Collection Period, (b) all Property Release Amounts received during the
related Collection Period (less any amounts paid to the Lenders during such Collection Period in respect of any Property Release Amount in accordance with
the provisions of Section 2.7(a)), (c) all Condemnation Proceeds deposited into the Collection Account pursuant to Sections 4.8 or 6.3 during the related
Collection Period, (d) all Insurance Proceeds deposited into the Collection Account pursuant to Sections 4.8 or 6.2(g) during the related Collection Period, (e)
all amounts on deposit in the Ratio Trigger Reserve Account on a Ratio Trigger Delay Termination Date and (f) any amounts deposited by or on behalf of the
Borrowers in the Collection Account pursuant to Sections 2.7(d) and, (e) or (g) (less any amounts paid to the Lenders during such Collection Period in
accordance with the provisions of Sections 2.7(d) and, (e) or (g), as applicable) and any other amounts deposited into the Collection Account during such
Collection Period (less any amounts paid to the Lenders or any other Person from such amounts during such Collection Period in accordance with this
Agreement).
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“Available Tenor”: As of any date of determination and with respect to the then-current Benchmark, as applicable, any tenor for such Benchmark (or
component thereof) or payment period for interest calculated with reference to such Benchmark (or component thereof), as applicable, that is or may be used
for determining the length of an Interest Accrual Period for any term rate or otherwise, for determining any frequency of making payments of interest
calculated pursuant to this Agreement as of such date and not including, for the avoidance of doubt, any tenor for such Benchmark that is then-removed from
the definition of “Interest Accrual Period” pursuant to clause (f) of Section 2.9.
 
“Approved AVM Supplier”: House Canary and CoreLogic.
 
“AVM”: Automated valuation model which is a statistically based computer program that uses real estate information such as comparable sales, property
characteristics, and price trends to provide a current estimate of market value for a specific property.
 
“AVM Value”: The stated U.S. dollar value contained in an AVM as the fair market value of a Property.
 
“Back-Up Manager”: Radian Real Estate Management, LLC, together with its successors in such capacity.
 
“Back-Up Manager Fee”: As defined in the Property Management Agreement.
 
“Bankruptcy Code”: Title 11 of the United States Code, as amended.
 
“Benchmark”: Initially, LIBO RateDaily Simple SOFR; provided that if a Benchmark Transition Event, a Term SOFR Transition Event or an Early Opt-in
Election, as applicable, and itsthe related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to LIBO RateDaily Simple SOFR or the then-current
Benchmark, then “Benchmark” means the applicable Benchmark Replacement to the extent that such Benchmark Replacement has replaced such prior
benchmark rate pursuant to clause (b) or clause (c) of Section 2.9.
 
“Benchmark Replacement”: For any Available Tenor, the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Agent for the applicable
Benchmark Replacement Date:
 
(1) the sum of: (a) Term SOFR and (b) the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment;
 
(2) the sum of: (a) Daily Simple SOFR and (b) the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment;
 
(3)
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the sum of: (a) the alternate benchmark rate that has been selected by the Agent and the Borrower as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark
for the applicable Corresponding Tenor giving due consideration to (i) any selection or recommendation of a replacement benchmark rate or the mechanism for
determining such a rate by the Relevant Governmental Body or (ii) any evolving or then-prevailing market convention for determining a benchmark rate as a
replacement for the then-current Benchmark for dollar-denominated syndicated credit facilities at such time and (b)in the related Benchmark Replacement
Adjustment;
 

provided that, in the case of clause (1), such Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement is displayed on a screen or other information service that publishes
such rate from time to time as selected by the Agent in its reasonable discretion; provided further that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this
Agreement or in any other Loan Document, upon the occurrence of a Term SOFR Transition Event, and the delivery of a Term SOFR Notice, on the applicable
Benchmark Replacement Date the “Benchmark Replacement” shall revert to and shall be deemed to be the sum of (a) Term SOFRUnited States and (b) the
related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment, as set forth in clause (1) of this definition (subject to the first proviso above).;
 

If the Benchmark Replacement as determined pursuant to clause (1), (2) or (3)the above would be less than the Floor, the Benchmark Replacement
will be deemed to be the Floor for the purposes of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents.
 
“Benchmark Replacement Adjustment”: With respect to any replacement of the then-current Benchmark with an Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for any
applicable Interest Accrual Period and Available Tenor for any setting of such Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement:
 
(1) for purposes of clauses (1) and (2) of the definition of “Benchmark Replacement,” the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by
the Agent:
 
(a) the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) as of the
Reference Time such Benchmark Replacement is first set for such Interest Accrual Period that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant
Governmental Body for the replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for the applicable Corresponding Tenor;
 
(b) the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) as of the Reference Time such Benchmark Replacement is first set for such
Interest Accrual Period that would apply to the fallback rate for a derivative transaction referencing the ISDA Definitions to be effective upon an index
cessation event with respect to such Benchmark for the applicable Corresponding Tenor; and
 
(2) for purposes of clause (3) of the definition of “Benchmark Replacement,”, the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread
adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected by the Agent and the Borrower for the applicable Corresponding Tenor
giving due consideration to (i) any selection or recommendation of a spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for
the replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement by the Relevant Governmental Body on the applicable
Benchmark Replacement Date and/or (ii) any evolving or then-prevailing market convention for determining a spread adjustment, or method for calculating or
determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for dollar-denominated
syndicated credit facilities;
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provided that, in the case of clause (1) above, such adjustment is displayed on a screen or other information service that publishes such Benchmark
Replacement Adjustment from time to time as selected by the Agent in its reasonable discretion at such time.
 
“Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes”: With respect to any Benchmark Replacement, any technical, administrative or operational changes
(including changes to the definition of “Alternate Base Rate,” the definition of “Business Day,” the definition of “U.S. Government Securities Business Day,”
the definition of “Interest Accrual Period,” timing and frequency of determining rates and making payments of interest, timing of borrowing requests or
prepayment, conversion or continuation notices, length of lookback periods, the applicability of breakage provisions, and other technical, administrative or
operational matters) that the Agent decides may be appropriate to reflect the adoption and implementation of such Benchmark Replacement and to permit the
administration thereof by the Agent in a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the Agent decides that adoption of any portion of such
market practice is not administratively feasible or if the Agent determines that no market practice for the administration of such Benchmark Replacement
exists, in such other manner of administration as the Agent decides is reasonably necessary in connection with the administration of this Agreement and the
other Loan Documents).
 
“Benchmark Replacement Date”: TheWith respect to any Benchmark, the earliest to occur of the following events with respect to thesuch then-current
Benchmark:
 

(1)          in the case of clause (1) or (2) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event,” the later of (a) the date of the public statement or
publication of information referenced therein and (b) the date on which the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the
calculation thereof) permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof); or

 
(2)          in the case of clause (3) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event,” the first date of the publicon which such Benchmark (or

the published component used in the calculation thereof) has been determined and announced by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of
such Benchmark (or such component thereof) to be no longer representative; provided, that such non-representativeness will be determined by
reference to the most recent statement or publication of information referenced therein; orin such clause (c) and even if any Available Tenor of such
Benchmark (or such component thereof) continues to be provided on such date.

 
(3) in the case of a Term SOFR Transition Event, the date that is thirty (30) days after the date a Term SOFR Notice is provided to the Lenders and the
Borrower pursuant to Section 2.9(c); or
 
(4) in the case of an Early Opt-in Election, the sixth (6th) Business Day after the date notice of such Early Opt-in Election is provided to the Lenders, so long as
the Agent has not received, by 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the fifth (5th) Business Day after the date notice of such Early Opt-in Election is provided to
the Lenders, written notice of objection to such Early Opt-in Election from Lenders comprising the Required Lenders.
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For the avoidance of doubt, (i) if the event giving rise to the Benchmark Replacement Date occurs on the same day as, but earlier than, the Reference Time in
respect of any determination, the Benchmark Replacement Date will be deemed to have occurred prior to the Reference Time for such determination and (ii)
the “Benchmark Replacement Date” will be deemed to have occurred in the case of clause (1) or (2) with respect to any Benchmark upon the occurrence of the
applicable event or events set forth therein with respect to all then-current Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the
calculation thereof).
 
“Benchmark Transition Event”: TheWith respect to any Benchmark, the occurrence of one or more of the following events with respect to thesuch then-current
Benchmark:
 
(1) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the
calculation thereof) announcing that such administrator has ceased or will cease to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component
thereof), permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to
provide any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component thereof);
 
(2) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in
the calculation thereof), the Federal Reserve Board, the NYFRB, an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such
component), a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component) or a court or an entity with similar
insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component), in each case, which states that the administrator of such
Benchmark (or such component) has ceased or will cease to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) permanently or
indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide any Available Tenor of
such Benchmark (or such component thereof); or
 
(3) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in
the calculation thereof) announcing that all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) are no longer, or as of a specified future date will
no longer be, representative.
 
For the avoidance of doubt, a “Benchmark Transition Event” will be deemed to have occurred with respect to any Benchmark if a public statement or
publication of information set forth above has occurred with respect to each then-current Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or the published component used
in the calculation thereof).
 
“Benchmark Unavailability Period”: The period (if any) (x) beginning at the time that a Benchmark Replacement Date pursuant to clauses (1) or (2) of that
definition has occurred if, at such time, no Benchmark Replacement has replaced the then-current Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan
Document in accordance with Section 2.9 and (y) ending at the time that a Benchmark Replacement has replaced the then-current Benchmark for all purposes
hereunder and under any Loan Document in accordance with Section 2.9.
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“Bid Receipt”: A trustee receipt in customary form reasonably acceptable to the Diligence Agent, evidencing the purchase of such Property at auction by the
applicable Borrower.
 
“Bid Receipt Property”: A Property with respect to which the applicable Borrower has not yet received and delivered to the Diligence Agent a recorded deed,
but the Diligence Agent has received a Bid Receipt.
 
“Borrower” and “Borrowers”: At any time, any Eligible Property Owner that is, at such time, a party to this Agreement, whether by executing this Agreement
on the Effective Date or, after the Effective Date, subject to the reasonable approval of the Required Lenders, by executing a Joinder, including the Persons
who are listed as Borrowers on Schedule 1 attached hereto, unless and until any such Person is removed as a Borrower in accordance with Section 2.7(f).
 
“Borrower Deposit Accounts”: As defined in Section 4.1(d)(i).
 
“Borrower Expense Account”: The Deposit Account maintained by each Borrower from which Operating Expenses for the Properties of such Borrower are
paid.
 
“Borrower Funding Account”: The Deposit Account maintained by each Borrower for the purposes of funding certain acquisition related expenses.
 
“Borrower Property Release”: The release of a Financed Property to the related Borrower as a Non-Financed Property.
 
“Borrower-Related Party”: Each of the Borrowers, Guarantors, Sponsor, the initial Property Manager and their respective Affiliates.
 
“Borrower Rent Account”: The Deposit Account maintained by each Borrower into which all rent checks, electronic and online rent payments are deposited.
 
“Borrower Representative”: As defined in the introductory paragraph.
 
“Borrowing Base”: On any date of determination, an amount equal to the sum of the Property Borrowing Bases for all Financed Properties.
 
“Borrowing Base Shortfall”: On any date of determination, the amount, if any, by which the Advances Outstanding exceeds the Borrowing Base.
 
“Borrowing Date”: The date (which shall be a Business Day) on which any Advance is made pursuant to Section 2.2.
 
“Borrowing Notice”: A written request by the Borrowers for an Advance, in the form of Exhibit A hereto (including the Supplemental Schedule of Properties to
be attached as Schedule 1 thereto).
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“Borrowing Notice Confirmation”: With respect to each Borrowing Notice, a confirmation, in the form of Exhibit A-1 attached hereto, by the Calculation
Agent that it has reviewed and confirmed the results of each of the calculations set forth in the reports annexed to Exhibit A-1 hereto and has found no
deficiency therein.
 
“BPO”: A written broker’s price opinion from the Diligence Agent as to the fair market value of a Property, or other similar customary evidence of the fair
market value of a Property from the Diligence Agent, in each case in form and substance acceptable to the Agent, which opinion shall include an opinion as to
the market rent for such Property and, if such BPO is an (a) exterior BPO, the “as-is” value of any such Property that is a Leased Property and the “quick sale”
value of any such Property that is a Non-Leased Property or (b) interior BPO, the “as is” value of such Property, each stated in U.S. dollar value. BPOs shall
include such information as shall be reasonably acceptable to the Agent, including, but not limited to, opinion of value.
 
“BPO Value”: The stated U.S. dollar value contained in a BPO as the fair market value of a Property, which value shall be, if such BPO is an (a) exterior BPO,
the “as-is” value of any such Property that is a Leased Property and the “quick sale” value of any such Property that is a Non‑Leased Property or (b) interior
BPO, the “as is” value of such Property, each stated in U.S. dollar value.
 
“BPO and AVM Report”: With respect to any Quarterly Sample or Additional Sample required to be delivered pursuant to Section 4.2(a) hereof, a cumulative
report showing the calculation of the Loan to Value Ratio taking into account such updated BPOs and AVMs, which report shall specify the property ID, the
date of such Quarterly Sample or Additional Sample, the related BPO Value, AVM Value and Allocated Loan Amount used for Loan to Value Ratio
computation, the Market Value used for Loan to Value Ratio computation and the Asset Purchase Price used to calculate the Loan to Value Ratio computation.
 
“Business Day”: Any day (a) other than (i) a Saturday or a Sunday, (ii) a day) on which the New York Stock Exchange or Federal Reserve is closed, (iii) a
public holiday or the equivalent for banks are open for business in New York City, New York, or (iv) a day on which banking institutions in the State of
Maryland or the State of New York are authorized or obligated by law or executive order to be closed and (b) if used in connection with the LIBO Rate, on
which dealings are carried on in the London interbank marketChicago; provided that, in relation to any Loan bearing interest by reference to Daily Simple
SOFR (a “SOFR Loan”), and any interest rate settings for any such SOFR Loan, any such day that is only an U.S. Government Securities Business Day.
 
“CA/PA Responsible Officer”: With respect to the Calculation Agent or Paying Agent, any vice president, assistant vice president, any assistant secretary, any
assistant treasurer, any associate or any other officer in the corporate trust group of the Calculation Agent or Paying Agent, as applicable, having direct
responsibility for the administration of this Agreement, and any other officer of the Calculation Agent or Paying Agent, as applicable, to whom, with respect to
a particular matter, such matter is referred because of such officer’s knowledge of and familiarity with the particular subject.
 
“Calculation Agent”: JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, or any replacement designated pursuant to Section 2.15.
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“Calculation Agent Deficiency Report”: With respect to any Borrowing Notice, Property Addition Notice or a certificate of a Responsible Officer of the
Borrower Representative in the form of Exhibit A-3 attached hereto delivered in connection with the Document Package, a report setting forth any Calculation
Deficiency identified therein by the Calculation Agent.
 
“Calculation Agent Fee”: As defined in the Fee Letter, provided, however, the Calculation Agent Fee may not be amended or modified in the Fee Letter without
the consent of each Lender.
 
“Calculation Deficiency”: With respect to any Borrowing Notice, Property Addition Notice or a certificate of a Responsible Officer of the Borrower
Representative in the form of Exhibit A-3 attached hereto delivered in connection with the Document Package, (i) any calculation deficiency, error or non-
compliance in any applicable calculation included on the calculation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit F or (ii) any other material deficiency exists with
respect to the applicable Property, Borrowing Notice, Property Addition Notice or the certificate of a Responsible Officer of the Borrower Representative in the
form of Exhibit A-3 attached hereto delivered in connection with the Document Package.
 
“Capital Lease Obligation”: As applied to any Person, any lease of any property (whether real, personal or mixed) by that Person as lessee that, in conformity
with GAAP, is or should be accounted for as a capital lease on the balance sheet of that Person.
 
“Carry-Over Lease”: A Lease that complies with all Applicable Laws in effect at the time of acquisition of such Property by a Borrower or its Affiliate, for so
long as such Lease has not been renewed (other than pursuant to any automatic renewal provision thereof).
 
“Carry-Over Property”: An Eligible Property that is occupied by a carry-over tenant pursuant to a Carry-Over Lease and is occupied by the same carry-over
tenant as of the date of the related Property Addition Notice.
 
“Cash Management Requirements”: The requirements set forth in Section 4.1(d).
 
“Casualty”: As defined in Section 6.2(a)(ii).
 
“Casualty Threshold Amount”: With respect to all Casualties arising from any single Casualty event, an amount equal to the greater of $5,000,000 or two
percent (2%) of the Advances Outstanding as of the date of such Casualty event.
 
“CDC Eviction Moratorium Order”: The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Department of Health and Human Services, Order under Section 361 of
the Public Health Service Act (42 U.S.C. 264) and 42 Code of Federal Regulations 70.2, Temporary Halt in Residential Evictions to Prevent the Further Spread
of Covid-19, as amended.
 
“Certificate of Completion”: With respect to any construction, repair or renovation made to any Property (or multiple Properties specified in such certificate), a
certificate of Responsible Officer of the Borrower Representative on behalf of the related Borrower, in form and substance substantially the same as set forth in
Exhibit G attached hereto.
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“Certification Regarding Recycled SPEs”: The Sponsor’s Certification Regarding Recycled SPE Loan Parties, dated as of March 1, 2021, made by the Sponsor
in favor of the Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties.
 
“Change of Control”: With respect to (a) any Borrower, except as permitted by the Loan Documents, any event, transaction or occurrence as a result of which
the Holdco Guarantors shall cease to (i) Control and (ii) own and control all of the economic and voting rights associated with ownership of 100% of the
Equity Interests of, any of the Borrowers, (b) the Holdco Guarantors, any event, transaction or occurrence as a result of which Parent Holdco shall cease to (i)
Control and (ii) own and control all of the economic and voting rights associated with ownership of 100% of the Equity Interests of, the Holdco Guarantors, (c)
Parent Holdco, any event, transaction or occurrence as a result of which the Equity Owner shall cease to (i) Control and (ii) directly or indirectly own and
control all of the economic and voting rights associated with ownership of 100% of the Equity Interests of, the Parent Holdco, (d) Equity Owner, any event,
transaction or occurrence as a result of which the Sponsor and/or other Vinebrook Controlled Investment Affiliates shall cease to (i) Control and (ii) directly or
indirectly own and control all of the economic and voting rights associated with ownership of 100% of the Equity Interests of, the Equity Owner or (e)
Sponsor, (i) any “person” or “group” (as such terms are used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act) is or becomes the beneficial owner (as defined
in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act, except that for purposes of this clause such person or group shall be deemed to have “beneficial ownership”
of all securities that such person or group has the right to acquire, whether such right is exercisable immediately or only after the passage of time), directly or
indirectly, of Equity Interests of the Sponsor representing more than 50% of the total outstanding Equity Interests of the Sponsor, (ii) occupation of a majority
of the seats on the board of directors (or similar governing body) of Sponsor by persons who were not (A) the incumbent board of directors, (B) nominated or
approved by the board of directors of Sponsor or (C) appointed by directors so nominated or approved or (iii) any transfer of all or substantially all of
Sponsor’s assets (determined on a consolidated basis and excluding internal reorganizations).
 
“Code”: The Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and the rules and regulations thereunder.
 
“Collateral”: As defined in the Security Agreement.
 
“Collection Account”: The Securities Account established and maintained by the Paying Agent in the name of the Borrower Representative and entitled
“JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent, in trust for the Borrowers — Collection Account # 689690946” or such other account
established at the Paying Agent (or any successor) as may be designated in writing from time to time by the Agent, and at all times subject to an Account
Control Agreement.
 
“Collection Period”: Each calendar month.
 
“Collections”: With respect to any Property, all of the following: all amounts actually collected in respect of the Property, including, rents, proceeds of rent loss
insurance, utility payments and deposit forfeitures, interest received (and permitted by Applicable Law to be retained) by any Loan Party and other collected
revenues (including any awards from suits not representing rent in respect of such Property, and related charges, security deposits and other deposits received
by a Loan Party and not (or no longer) refundable to the applicable Tenant and not applied directly to the cost of repairs by the applicable Borrower or Property
Manager, and all late charges and insufficient fund charges collected with respect to such Property). Collections shall not include any (i) Conveyance Proceeds,
(ii) Insurance Proceeds (other than insurance covering rent loss), (iii) Condemnation Proceeds, or (iv) except as expressly provided above, security deposit or
any other refundable deposits received.
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“Commitment”: With respect to each Lender, the amount set forth below such Lender’s signature hereto, as such amount may be modified in accordance with
the terms hereof or in the applicable Assignment and Assumption.
 
“Commitment Termination Date”: The earlier of (a) March 1, 2023 and (b) the date on which the Commitments are terminated pursuant to Section 8.2(a).
 
“Completion Requirements”: In respect of any Non-Leased Property, that all Scheduled Renovation Work for such Property has been completed in a good and
workmanlike manner and in accordance with the Renovation Standards and all costs and expenses in respect thereof, including labor and materials, have been
paid in full.
 
“Condemnation”: A temporary or permanent taking by any Governmental Authority as the result or in lieu or in anticipation of the exercise of the right of
condemnation or eminent domain, of all or any part of any Property, or any interest therein or right accruing thereto, including any right of access thereto or
any change of grade affecting any Property or any part thereof.
 
“Condemnation Proceeds”: All proceeds of any Condemnation, net of costs incurred in the contest of such Condemnation, and the pursuit and collection of
such proceeds.
 
“Confidential Information”: As defined in Section 13.14(a).
 
“Connection Income Taxes”: Other Connection Taxes that are imposed on or measured by net income (however denominated) or that are franchise Applicable
Taxes or branch profits Applicable Taxes.
 
“Conrex Holdco”: Collectively, each of Conrex Residential Property Group 2013-1 Holding Company, LLC, Conrex Residential Property Group 2013-2
Holding Company, LLC, Conrex Residential Property Group 2013-3 Holding Company, LLC, Conrex Residential Property Group 2013-4 Holding Company,
LLC, Conrex Residential Property Group 2013-5 Holding Company, LLC, Conrex Residential Property Group 2013-6 Holding Company, LLC, Conrex
Residential Property Group 2013-7 Holding Company, LLC, Conrex Residential Property Group 2013-8 Holding Company, LLC, Conrex Residential Property
Group 2013-9 Holding Company, LLC, Conrex Residential Property Group 2013-10 Holding Company, LLC, Conrex Residential Property Group 2013-11
Holding Company, LLC, Conrex Residential Property Group 2013-12 Holding Company, LLC, Conrex Residential Property Group 2013-13 Holding
Company, LLC, each a Delaware limited liability company.
 
“Contractual Obligation”: As applied to any Person, any provision of any Security issued by that Person or of any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, contract,
undertaking, agreement or other instrument to which that Person is a party or by which it or any of its properties is bound or to which it or any of its properties
is subject.
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“Control”: The possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of a Person, whether through the
ability to exercise voting power, by contract or otherwise, and the terms “Controls,” “Controlling” and “Controlled” shall have meanings correlative thereto.
 
“Conveyance”: With respect to any Property, any sale, conveyance, assignment, transfer, grant of option to purchase or other transfer or disposal of a legal or
beneficial interest, whether direct or indirect, by operation of law or otherwise, to a Person that is not a Borrower.
 
“Conveyance Expenses”: With respect to any Property, the reasonable expenses of the applicable Borrower incurred in connection with the Conveyance of such
Property for any of the following: (i) third party real estate commissions, (ii) the closing costs of the purchaser of such Property actually paid by the applicable
Borrower and (iii) the applicable Borrower’s miscellaneous closings costs, including, but not limited to legal fees and expenses, title, escrow and appraisal
costs and expenses, in each case to the extent paid to a third party in an arm’s-length transaction.
 
“Conveyance Proceeds”: With respect to any Conveyance of a Property, all gross amounts realized with respect to such Property, net of the related Conveyance
Expenses.
 
“Corresponding Tenor”: With respect to any Available Tenor means, as applicable, either a tenor (including overnight) or an interest payment period having
approximately the same length (disregarding business day adjustment) as such Available Tenor.
 
“Cure Period”: With respect to the failure of any Financed Property to qualify as an Eligible Property, if such failure is reasonably susceptible of cure, a period
of thirty (30) days after the earlier of actual knowledge of such condition by a Responsible Officer of any Borrower-Related Party or notice thereof by the
Agent, the Diligence Agent or any Lender to the Borrower Representative; provided that the Cure Period shall not be available for any failure of any Financed
Property to constitute an Eligible Property if (i) any Borrower-Related Party had actual knowledge of such failure at the time such Property initially became a
Financed Property or (ii) the reason for such failure is due to a consensual Lien (other than a Permitted Lien) on such Property. If any failure of any Financed
Property to qualify as an Eligible Property is not reasonably susceptible of cure, then no cure period shall be available. For the avoidance of doubt, the
Calculation Agent shall not have any obligation to track or determine the existence of a Cure Period.
 
“Daily Simple SOFR”: For any day, SOFR, with the conventions for this rate (which will include a lookback) being established by the Agent in accordance
with the conventions for this rate selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body for determining “Daily Simple SOFR” for business loans;
provided, that if the Agent decides that any such convention is not administratively feasible for the Agent, then the Agent may establish another convention in
its reasonable discretion. (a “SOFR Rate Day”), a rate per annum equal to SOFR for the day (such day “SOFR Determination Date”) that is five (5) U.S.
Government Securities Business Day prior to (i) if such SOFR Rate Day is a U.S. Government Securities Business Day, such SOFR Rate Day or (ii) if such
SOFR Rate Day is not a U.S. Government Securities Business Day, the U.S. Government Securities Business Day immediately preceding such SOFR Rate
Day, in each case, as such SOFR is published by the SOFR Administrator on the SOFR Administrator’s Website. Any change in Daily Simple SOFR due to a
change in SOFR shall be effective from and including the effective date of such change in SOFR without notice to the Borrower.
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“Data Site”: As defined in Section 13.6(a).
 
“Data Tape Fields”: As set forth on Schedule 7 hereto.
 
“Debt”: With respect to any Person, without duplication, (a) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money, (b) all obligations of such Person evidenced by
bonds, debentures, notes or other similar instruments representing extensions of credit whether or not representing obligations for borrowed money, (c) all
obligations of such Person to pay the deferred purchase price of property or services (other than trade accounts payable arising in the ordinary course of
business not overdue for more than sixty (60) days), (d) all Capital Lease Obligations of such Person, (e) all obligations of such Person to reimburse any Person
with respect to amounts paid under a letter of credit or similar instrument, (f) all obligations of such Person under hedge agreements, (g) all indebtedness of
other Persons secured by a Lien on any property of such Person, whether or not such indebtedness is assumed by such Person (other than Permitted Liens) and
(h) all indebtedness of other Persons guaranteed by such Person. For purposes of this definition, the amount of the obligations of such Person with respect to
any hedge agreement at any time shall be the maximum aggregate amount (giving effect to any netting agreements) that such Person would be required to pay
if such hedge agreement were terminated at such time.
 
“Debt Service Coverage Ratio”: At any time, the ratio, determined as of the last day of the most recently ended Measurement Quarter, of (a) the Annualized
Net Cash Flow for the Financed Properties (excluding income and expense attributable to Non-Leased Properties during the Exclusion Period) for such
Measurement Quarter to (b) the annualized interest expense due with respect to the Advances Outstanding during such Measurement Quarter, where such
annualized interest expense shall be equal to the product of (i) the Advances Outstanding as of such last day of such Measurement Quarter and (ii) the greater
of (A) the Interest Rate as of the last day of such Measurement Quarter and (B) the sum of (I) the lesser of (x) the Two-Year Swap Rate as of such last day of
such Measurement Quarter and (y) 2.00% and (II) the Applicable Margin, in each case calculated on an interest only basis (excluding the Allocated Loan
Amounts for Non-Leased Properties during the Exclusion Period).
 
“Debt Yield Ratio”: At any time, the percentage equivalent of a fraction, determined as of the last day of the most recently ended Measurement Quarter, the
numerator of which is equal to the Annualized Net Cash Flow (excluding income and expense attributable to Non-Leased Properties during the Exclusion
Period) for such Measurement Quarter and the denominator of which is equal to the Advances Outstanding as of such last day of such Measurement Quarter
(excluding the Allocated Loan Amounts for Non‑Leased Properties during the Exclusion Period).
 
“Default”: Any condition, occurrence or event which, after notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute an Event of Default.
 
“Delinquency Period”: With respect to any Financed Property, the time period during which the Tenant of such Financed Property is a Delinquent Tenant.
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“Delinquent Tenant”: A Tenant whose rent payment under the related Lease remains unpaid for more than 60 days (in an amount exceeding $200.00) after the
original due date for such rent payment; provided that, through March 31, 2021 (unless the CDC Eviction Moratorium Order is extended, modified or
rescinded, then such earlier or later date, as applicable) (a) for purposes of the definitions of Delinquency Period and Non-Cashflowing Property, up to five
percent (5%) of Tenants of Financed Properties (by number of Financed Properties) and (b) for purposes of the definition of Portfolio Delinquency Amount, up
to five percent (5%) of Tenants of all Properties (by number of Properties) owned by the Sponsor or any of its Affiliates, in each case of (a) and (b), that are a
“covered person” as defined in the CDC Eviction Moratorium Order, shall not be a Delinquent Tenant.
 
“Deposit Account”: As defined in the UCC.
 
“Deposit Account Control Agreement”: With respect to any Deposit Account, any control agreement or other similar agreement between each institution
maintaining such Deposit Account, the owner of such Deposit Account and the Agent pursuant to which the Agent obtains “control” of such Deposit Account
within the meaning of the UCC, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Agent.
 
“Diligence Agent”: Radian Real Estate Management, LLC, together with its successors in such capacity.
 
“Diligence Agent Agreement”: The Evaluation Services Agreement and Work Order, dated as of March 1, 2021, by and between the Diligence Agent and the
Agent.
 
“Diligence Agent Deficiency Notice”: With respect to any Borrowing Notice, Property Addition Notice or Document Package, a report setting forth any
Diligence Deficiency identified therein by the Diligence Agent.
 
“Diligence Agent Fees”: All fees at any time due and payable to the Diligence Agent under the Diligence Agent Agreement as reported to the Calculation Agent
and Paying Agent.
 
“Diligence Deficiency”: With respect to any Borrowing Notice, Property Addition Notice or Document Package, (i) the failure of one or more documents
required to be contained therein to be fully executed or to match in all material respects the information on the related Schedule of Properties or Supplemental
Schedule of Properties, as applicable, (ii) one or more documents contained therein are mutilated, damaged, torn or otherwise physically altered or unreadable,
(iii) the absence from a Document Package of any document required to be contained therein, (iv) the applicable Property is not an Eligible Property, (v) the
requirements for the related BPO have not been satisfied, or (vi) any other material deficiency exists with respect to the applicable Property, Borrowing Notice,
Property Addition Notice or Document Package.
 
“Document Package”: With respect to any Property, the following documents:
 

(a)         A copy of the Purchase Agreement related to such Property;
 

(b)         A Supplemental Schedule of Properties with respect to such Property;
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(c)         A copy of the recorded deed conveying the Property to the applicable Borrower with recording information on it; or, if unavailable, either, (x)
in the case of a Bid Receipt Property, a Bid Receipt, or (y) otherwise, evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Diligence Agent that the deed has been submitted
for recording provided, in each case, that a copy of the recorded deed shall be added to the Document Package as promptly as practicable and in no event more
than ninety (90) days after the Property first becomes a Financed Property;
 

(d)         (x) A copy of an Eligible Title Insurance Policy in respect of such Property, together with a list of all claims made under such Eligible Title
Insurance Policy by or on behalf of the Borrower or (y) at any time prior to the date that is ninety (90) days after the acquisition by such Property by such
Borrower, a binding title commitment.
 

(e)         Evidence of the Required Insurance Policies with respect to such Property reasonably satisfactory to the Diligence Agent;
 

(f)         A certificate of a Responsible Officer of the Borrower Representative in the form of Exhibit A-3 attached hereto and setting forth all of the
information described in such Exhibit;
 

(g)         If such Property is a Leased Property:
 

(i)         a certificate of a Responsible Officer of the Borrower Representative in the form of Exhibit A-3 attached hereto certifying that the
related Tenant is an Eligible Tenant (or a carry-over tenant) and the original executed Lease related to such Property is an Eligible Lease (or a Carry-Over
Lease), and is on file with the Property Manager;
 

(ii)         a copy of the Eligible Lease (or Carry-Over Lease) in respect of such Property; and
 

(iii)         a calculation showing pro forma compliance with the Debt Service Coverage Ratio, the Debt Yield Ratio and the Portfolio
Delinquency Amount giving effect to such Property becoming a Financed Property, and based on Estimated Net Cash Flow for such Property, if applicable.
 

(h)         If such Property is a Non-Leased Property, a certificate of a Responsible Officer of the Borrower Representative:
 

(i)         summarizing the estimated capital expenditures and costs of repairs projected to be incurred in connection with converting such
Property to a Leased Property, including the Renovations Costs;
 

(ii)         a calculation showing pro forma compliance with the Debt Service Coverage Ratio, the Debt Yield Ratio and the Portfolio
Delinquency Amount, calculated solely with respect to the pool of Non-Leased Properties and based on Estimated Net Cash Flow (assuming solely for this
purpose no Exclusion Period and Pro Forma Collections equal to a reasonable estimate of annual rent collections); and
 

(iii)         attaching, and certifying the accuracy of the amounts set forth therein, a spread sheet containing the initial capital expenditures and
costs of repairs actually incurred and planned in connection with converting such Property to a Leased Property, as reflected in its general ledger.
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(i)         In the case of any increase in the Asset Purchase Price of a Property due to the completion of the renovation work with respect to such
Property:
 

(i)         a Certificate of Completion; and
 

(ii)         a certificate of the Borrower Representative:
 

1.         certifying that such renovations meet the Renovation Standards;
 

2.         certifying the amount of the actual costs of completing the renovation work; and
 

3.         certifying that the Tenant thereof is not a Delinquent Tenant and that all other requirements of a Leased Property have been satisfied
with respect to such Property.
 
“Early Amortization Event”: The occurrence of any Early Amortization Trigger.
 
“Early Amortization Event Repayment Period”: The period commencing on the date on which any Early Amortization Event occurs and ending on the date
such Early Amortization Trigger described in (i) clause (i) of the definition of Early Amortization Trigger no longer exists and (ii) clause (ii) of the definition of
Early Amortization no longer exists for ninety (90) consecutive days, as applicable.
 
“Early Amortization Trigger”: As of any date of determination, (i) if at any time prior to such date of determination, the Advances Outstanding are equal to or
greater than twenty-five percent (25%) of the Facility Amount and the Advances Outstanding on such date of determination are less than twenty-five percent
(25%) of the Facility Amount or (ii) the Portfolio Delinquency Amount is greater than fifteen percent (15%).
 
“Early Opt-in Election”: If the then-current Benchmark is LIBO Rate, the occurrence of:
 
(1)         a notification by the Agent to (or the request by the Borrower to the Agent to notify) each of the other parties hereto that at least five currently
outstanding dollar-denominated syndicated credit facilities at such time contain (as a result of amendment or as originally executed) a SOFR-based rate
(including SOFR, a term SOFR or any other rate based upon SOFR) as a benchmark rate (and such syndicated credit facilities are identified in such notice and
are publicly available for review), and
 
(2)         the joint election by the Agent and the Borrower to trigger a fallback from LIBO Rate and the provision by the Agent of written notice of such election
to the Lenders.
 
“Effective Date”: March 1, 2021.
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“Electronic Signature” means an electronic sound, symbol, or process attached to, or associated with, a contract or other record and adopted by a Person with
the intent to sign, authenticate or accept such contract or record.
 
“Eligibility Requirements”: Each of the eligibility requirements set forth in Schedule 2 hereto.
 
“Eligible Lease”: With respect to any Eligible Property (a) which, as of the date such Property first becomes subject to this Facility, was leased to a Tenant,
such existing Lease and (b) any Lease (i) with an Eligible Tenant, (ii) with an initial term of at least six (6) months, (iii) that was entered into in compliance
with the Leasing Standards, (iv) that complies with all Applicable Laws and (v) is in a form either (1) customary for the market in which the Property is located
or (2) approved by the Agent (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed). Subject to changes which may be required due to changes in law or
other applicable standards, as of the Effective Date, the Agent has approved the form attached hereto as Exhibit C.
 
“Eligible Property”: Any Property owned by a Borrower that satisfies each of the Eligibility Requirements.
 
“Eligible Property Owner”: Each Person (i) that is a limited liability company, (ii) that is 100% legally and beneficially owned by a Guarantor, (iii) with respect
to which such Guarantor has pledged its membership interest to the Agent pursuant to the Security Agreement, (iv) whose Governing Documents are
substantially in the form of the Governing Documents of the Borrowers, except as has been approved by the Agent, (v) whose Governing Documents include,
and require compliance with, the SPE Requirements and (vi) that has satisfied the “know your customer” requirements of the Agent and each Lender.
 
“Eligible Tenant”: A Tenant as to whom all of the Leasing Standards were met at the time of lease signing. With respect to a carry-over Tenant, a Tenant who
undergoes a background check and is not on the OFAC List at the time either (a) the applicable Borrower acquires the subject Property, or (b) the related Carry-
Over Lease is renewed.
 
“Eligible Title Insurance Policy”: A Title Insurance Policy that satisfies each of the requirements described in clause (q) of Schedule 2 hereto.
 
“Environmental Indemnity”: That certain Environmental Indemnity, dated as of March 1, 2021, by the Borrowers, the Guarantors and Sponsor in favor of
Agent on behalf of the Secured Parties.
 
“Environmental Law”: Any present and future federal, state and local laws, statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations and the like, as well as common law, relating
to protection of human health or the environment, relating to Hazardous Materials and/or relating to liability for or costs of other danger to human health or the
environment. The term “Environmental Laws” includes, but is not limited to, the following statutes, as amended, any successor thereto, and any regulations
promulgated pursuant thereto, and any state or local statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations and the like addressing similar issues: the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act; the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act; the Hazardous Substances
Transportation Act; the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (including, but not limited to, Subtitle I relating to underground storage tanks); the Solid
Waste Disposal Act; the Clean Water Act; the Clean Air Act; the Toxic Substances Control Act; the Safe Drinking Water Act; the Occupational Safety and
Health Act; the Federal Water Pollution Control Act; the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and Rodenticide Act; the Endangered Species Act; the National
Environmental Policy Act; the River and Harbors Appropriation Act; and those relating to lead based paint. The term “Environmental Laws” also includes, but
is not limited to, any present and future federal, state and local laws, statutes, ordinances, rules or regulations, as well as common law, (i) conditioning transfer
of property upon a negative declaration or other approval of a Governmental Authority of the environmental condition of any Property, (ii) requiring
notification or disclosure of the presence of or Releases of Hazardous Materials or other environmental condition of any Property to any Governmental
Authority or other Person, whether or not in connection with any transfer of title to or interest in such Property and (iii) imposing conditions or requirements
with respect to Hazardous Materials in connection with permits or other authorization for lawful activity.
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“Equity Interests”: Shares of capital stock (whether denominated as common stock or preferred stock), beneficial, partnership, membership or limited liability
company interests, participations or other equivalents (regardless of how designated, including, without limitation, any subordinated debt, zero coupon debt or
payment-in-kind or similar debt instrument) of or in a corporation, partnership, limited liability company or equivalent entity, whether voting or non-voting,
and any warrant or other option to purchase any of the above.
 
“Equity Owner”: As defined in the introductory paragraph.
 
“ERISA”: The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time, and any successor thereto.
 
“ERISA Affiliate”: With respect to any person, any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) under common control with Sponsor within the meaning of
Section 414(b) or (c) of the Code (and Sections 414(m) and (o) of the Code for purposes of provisions relating to Section 412 of the Code).
 
“ERISA Event”: (a) a Reportable Event with respect to a Pension Plan; (b) a withdrawal by a Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate from a Pension Plan subject to
Section 4063 of ERISA during a plan year in which it was a substantial employer (as defined in Section 4001(a)(2) of ERISA) or a cessation of operations that
is treated as such a withdrawal under Section 4062(e) of ERISA; (c) a complete or partial withdrawal by a Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate from a
Multiemployer Plan or notification that a Multiemployer Plan is in reorganization; (d) the filing of a notice of intent to terminate, the treatment of a Plan
amendment as a termination under Sections 4041 or 4041A of ERISA, or the commencement of proceedings by the PBGC to terminate a Pension Plan or
Multiemployer Plan; (e) an event or condition which constitutes grounds under Section 4042 of ERISA for the termination of, or the appointment of a trustee to
administer, any Pension Plan or Multiemployer Plan; or (f) the imposition of any liability under Title IV of ERISA, other than for PBGC premiums due but not
delinquent under Section 4007 of ERISA, upon a Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate.
 
“Estimated Net Cash Flow”: For purposes of calculating the Annualized Net Cash Flow for a Property, if a Property was acquired by the Borrower or an
Affiliate or became a Leased Property after the first day of the relevant Measurement Quarter, the Estimated Net Cash Flow will be based on the excess of (a)
Pro Forma Collections, over (b) the sum of (i) an estimate of annual Operating Expenses, (ii) the aggregate real estate taxes or other governmental assessments
related to such Property payable during the related calendar year and (iii) the aggregate insurance premiums related to such Property payable during the related
calendar year necessary in order to maintain compliance with the Insurance Requirements, in each case anticipated for such Property by the Borrower
Representative and approved by the Agent.
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“Evaluation”: An “evaluation” meeting the requirements of FIRREA and otherwise acceptable to the Agent.
 
“Event of Default”: As defined in Section 8.1.
 
“Excluded Taxes”: Any of the following Applicable Taxes imposed on or with respect to a Lender or required to be withheld or deducted from a payment to a
Lender, (a) Applicable Taxes imposed on or measured by net income (however denominated), franchise taxes, and branch profits taxes, in each case, (i)
imposed as a result of such Lender being organized under the laws of, or having its principal office or, in the case of any Lender, its applicable lending office
located in, the jurisdiction imposing such Applicable Tax (or any political subdivision thereof) or (ii) that are Other Connection Taxes, (b) in the case of a
Lender, U.S. federal withholding Applicable Taxes imposed on amounts payable to or for the account of such Lender with respect to an applicable interest in an
Advance or a Commitment pursuant to a law in effect on the date on which (i) such Lender acquires such interest in the Advance or Commitment or (ii) such
Lender changes its lending office, except in each case to the extent that, pursuant to Section 2.12, amounts with respect to such Applicable Taxes were payable
either to such Lender’s assignor immediately before such Lender became a party hereto or to such Lender immediately before it changed its lending office, (c)
Applicable Taxes attributable to such Lender’s failure to comply with Section 2.12(f) and (d) any U.S. federal withholding Applicable Taxes imposed under
FATCA.
 
“Exclusion Period”: With respect to a Non-Leased Property, the period commencing on the date on which such Property initially becomes a Financed Property
and ending on the earliest of (i) three (3) months from the date on which such Property initially became a Financed Property and (ii) the date on which such
Property initially becomes a Leased Property.
 
“Facility”: As defined in Section 2.1(a).
 
“Facility Amount”: $500,000,000.
 
“Facility Fee”: As defined in the Fee Letter.
 
“FATCA”: Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, as of the date of this Agreement (or any amended or successor version) and any current or future
regulations or official interpretations thereof and any agreements entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b) of the Code or any intergovernmental agreements
entered into in connection with the implementation of such Sections of the Code.
 
“Federal Funds Effective Rate”: For any day, the rate calculated by the NYFRB based on such day’s federal funds transactions by depositary institutions, as
determined in such manner as shall be set forth on the NYFRB’s Website from time to time, and published on the next succeeding Business Day by the
NYFRB as the effective federal funds rate; provided that if none of such rates are published for any day that is a Business Day, the term “Federal Funds
Effective Rate” means the rate for a federal funds transaction quoted at 11:00 a.m. on such day received by the Agent from a federal funds broker of recognized
standing selected by it; provided further that if the Federal Funds Effective Rate as so determined would be less than 0%, such rate shall be deemed to be 0%
for the purposes of this Agreement.
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“Fee Letter”: That certain fee letter dated as of March 1, 2021, by and between the Agent and the Borrower Representative.
 
“Filing Collateral”: All Collateral with respect to which a security interest may be perfected by the filing of financing statements under the UCC.
 
“Filing Offices”: The filing offices listed on Schedule 3 hereto, as the same may be updated from time to time as required by Applicable Law.
 
“Financed Property”: Each Eligible Property owned by a Borrower and which has (i) satisfied the requirements for inclusion in the Facility as a Financed
Property pursuant to Sections 2.2(a) and (b) and (ii) not been released as a Financed Property pursuant to Section 2.7(a) or (d).
 
“Financing Statement”: The UCC financing statements naming each Borrower and each Guarantor, as debtor, and the Agent, for the benefit of the Secured
Parties, as secured party, and describing the Collateral as the collateral.
 
“FIRREA”: The Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery, and Enforcement Act of 1989.
 
“Fiscal Quarter”: As defined in Section 5.1(w).
 
“Flood Laws”: The National Flood Insurance Act of 1968, the Flood Disaster Protection Act of 1973, the National Flood Insurance Reform Act of 1994, the
Biggert-Waters Flood Insurance Act of 2012, as such statutes may be amended or re-codified from time to time, any substitutions, any regulations published
under such flood laws, and all other legal requirements relating to flood insurance.
 
“Floor”: Means theThe benchmark rate floor, if any, provided in this Agreement initially (as of the execution of this Agreement, the modification, amendment
or renewal of this Agreement or otherwise) with respect to LIBO Ratethe Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR, as applicable. For the avoidance of doubt the initial
Floor for the Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR shall be 0%.
 
“Foreign Lender”: A Lender that is not a U.S. Person.
 
“Freddie Mac” shall mean the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, or any successor thereto.
 
“Freddie Mac House Price Index” shall mean, with respect to any geographic area, on any date of determination, the non-seasonally adjusted median home
value reported for such geographic area (or its closest equivalent) by the “Freddie Mac House Price Index” published by Freddie Mac or any Affiliate thereof,
or any successor or replacement index as is mutually agreed in writing by Borrower Representative and Agent.
 
“GAAP”: Generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America, consistently applied and maintained on a consistent basis.
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“Governing Documents”: With respect to any specified Person, the limited liability company agreement, trust agreement, certificate of incorporation, limited
partnership agreement, certificate of formation, certificate of limited partnership, or any other organization or formation document or documents related to such
Person.
 
“Governmental Authority”: Any national, federal, provincial, state, county, municipal, regional or other governmental, quasi-governmental, regulatory or
administrative authority, agency, board, court, arbitrator, body, instrumentality, commission, or other judicial body (including their respective successors)
exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of or pertaining to government and any governmental or quasi- governmental
authority having legal power to administer any Applicable Laws.
 
“Grant,” “Grants” or “Granting”: Shall include to grant, assign, pledge, encumber, transfer, convey, set over and dispose.
 
“Guarantor”: Individually or collectively, as the context may require, Equity Owner, Holdco Guarantors or Parent Holdco.
 
“Guarantor Default”: The occurrence of any default by any Guarantor or Sponsor, as the case may be, under the Limited Guaranty, the Guaranty Agreement or
the Security Agreement, including, without limitation, any breach of any Sponsor Financial Covenant.
 
“Guaranty Agreement”: The Guaranty Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2021, made by the Guarantors in favor of Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties.
 
“Hazardous Materials”: Includes, but is not limited to, any and all substances (whether solid, liquid or gas) defined, listed or otherwise classified as pollutants,
contaminants, hazardous wastes, hazardous substances, hazardous materials, extremely hazardous wastes or words of similar meaning or regulatory effect
under any present or future Environmental Laws, including, but not limited to, petroleum and petroleum products, asbestos and asbestos-containing materials,
polychlorinated biphenyls, lead, radon, radioactive materials, flammables and explosives, lead based paint and toxic mold. Notwithstanding anything to the
contrary contained herein, the term “Hazardous Materials” will not include: (i) substances which otherwise would be included in such definition but which are
of kinds and in amounts ordinarily and customarily used or stored in similar properties, including, without limitation substances used for the purposes of
cleaning, maintenance, or operations, substances typically used in construction, and typical products used in residential properties like each Property, and
which are otherwise stored and used in compliance with all Environmental Laws and any required permits issued pursuant thereto; or (ii) substances which
otherwise would be included in such definition but which are of kinds and amounts ordinarily and customarily utilized in residential properties and which are
otherwise in compliance with all Environmental Laws and any required permits issued pursuant thereto.
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“Highest Lawful Rate”: The maximum lawful interest rate, if any, that at any time or from time to time may be contracted for, charged, or received under the
laws applicable to any Lender which are presently in effect or, to the extent allowed by law, under such Applicable Laws which may hereafter be in effect and
which allow a higher maximum nonusurious interest rate than Applicable Laws now allow.
 
“Holdco Guarantors”: At any time, any Holdco Guarantor that is, at such time, a party to this Agreement, whether by executing this Agreement on the Effective
Date or, after the Effective Date, subject to the reasonable approval of the Required Lenders, by executing a Joinder, including, the Persons who are listed as
Holdco Guarantors on Schedule 1 attached hereto, unless and until any such Person is removed as a Holdco Guarantor in accordance with this Agreement.
 
“Indemnified Taxes”: (a) Applicable Taxes, other than Excluded Taxes, imposed on or with respect to any payment made by or on account of any obligation of
Borrower under any Loan Document and (b) to the extent not otherwise described in (a), Other Taxes.
 
“Indemnified Party”: As defined in Section 13.11.
 
“Independent Director or Independent Manager”: An individual who is provided by CT Corporation, Corporation Service Company, National Registered
Agents, Inc., Wilmington Trust National Association, Wilmington Trust SP Services, Inc., Lord Securities Corporation or, if none of those companies is then
providing professional Independent Directors or Independent Managers, another nationally recognized company reasonably acceptable to the Agent, in each
case that is not an Affiliate of any of the Borrowers and that provides professional Independent Directors and Independent Managers and other corporate
services in the ordinary course of its business, and which individual is duly appointed as a member of the board of directors or board of managers of such
corporation or limited liability company and is not, has never been, and will not while serving as Independent Director or Independent Manager be, any of the
following:
 

(a)         a member (other than as a special member), partner, equityholder, manager, director, officer or employee of any Borrower-Related Party
(other than (i) as an Independent Manager or Independent Director of a Loan Party and (ii) as an Independent Director or Independent Manager of a Borrower-
Related Party that is required by the terms of a financing (or anticipated financing) to be a special purpose bankruptcy remote entity, provided that such
Independent Director or Independent Manager is employed by a company that routinely provides professional Independent Directors or Independent
Managers);
 

(b)         a creditor, supplier or service provider (including provider of professional services) to any Borrower-Related Party, any special purpose entity
equityholder, or any of their respective equityholders or Affiliates (other than a nationally recognized company that routinely provides professional Independent
Directors or Independent Managers and other corporate services to any Borrower-Related Party, any special purpose entity equityholder, or any of their
respective equityholders or Affiliates in the ordinary course of business);
 

(c)         a family member of any such member, partner, equityholder, manager, director, officer, employee, creditor, supplier or service provider; or
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(d)         a Person that controls (whether directly, indirectly or otherwise) any of the individuals described in the preceding clauses (a), (b) or (c).
 
An individual who otherwise satisfies the preceding definition by reason of being the Independent Director or Independent Manager of a “special purpose
entity” affiliated with any Borrower-Related Party shall not be disqualified from serving as an Independent Manager of a Borrower-Related Party if the fees
that such individual earns from serving as Independent Directors or Independent Managers of Affiliates of the Borrower-Related Parties in any given year
constitute in the aggregate less than 1% of such individual’s annual income for that year.
 
“Insolvency Action”: With respect to any Person, the taking by such Person of any action resulting in an Insolvency Event, other than solely under clause (g) of
the definition thereof.
 
“Insolvency Event”: With respect to any Person, (a) a case or other proceeding shall be commenced, without the application or consent of such Person in any
court seeking the liquidation, reorganization, debt arrangement, dissolution, winding up, or composition or readjustment of debts of such Person, the
appointment of a trustee, receiver, custodian, liquidator, assignee, sequestrator or the like for such Person or all or substantially all of its assets, or any similar
action with respect to such Person under any Insolvency Law and (i) such case or proceeding shall continue undismissed, or unstayed and in effect, for a period
of forty-five (45) consecutive days or (ii) an order for relief in respect of such Person shall be entered in such case or proceeding or a decree or order granting
such other requested relief shall be entered, (b) the commencement by such Person of a voluntary case under any Insolvency Law now or hereafter in effect, (c)
the consent by such Person to the entry of an order for relief in an involuntary case under any Insolvency Law, (d) the consent by such Person to the
appointment of or taking possession by a receiver, liquidator, assignee, custodian, trustee, sequestrator or similar official for such Person or for any substantial
part of its assets or property, (e) the making by such Person of any general assignment for the benefit of creditors, (f) the admission in a legal proceeding of the
inability of such Person to pay its debts generally as they become due, (g) the failure by such Person generally to pay its debts as they become due, or (h) the
taking of action by such Person in furtherance of any of the foregoing.
 
“Insolvency Laws”: The Bankruptcy Code and all other applicable liquidation, conservatorship, bankruptcy, moratorium, arrangement, rearrangement,
receivership, insolvency, reorganization, suspension of payments, marshaling of assets and liabilities or similar debtor relief laws from time to time in effect
affecting the rights of creditors generally.
 
“Insurance Reserve Account”: The Securities Account established and maintained by the Paying Agent in the name of the Borrower Representative and entitled
“JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent, in trust for the Borrowers — Insurance Reserve Account # 689690953” or such other account
established at the Paying Agent (or any successor) as may be designated in writing from time to time by the Agent, and at all times subject to an Account
Control Agreement.
 
“Insurance Reserve Account Deposit Amount”: For any Payment Date, an amount equal to, for any Property, the product of (a) the aggregate insurance
premiums payable during each calendar year necessary in order to maintain compliance with the Insurance Requirements, (b) 1/12th and (c) three (3).
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“Insurance Reserve Account Shortfall Amount”: As of any date of determination, the positive excess, if any, of (a) the Insurance Reserve Account Deposit
Amount determined as of such date over (b) the amount on deposit in the Insurance Reserve Account as of such date of determination.
 
“Insurance Proceeds”: All proceeds of any insurance policy, including property insurance policies, casualty insurance policies and title insurance policies,
“partnership liability” insurance policy, employee fidelity insurance policy required to be maintained by or on behalf of any Borrower.
 
“Insurance Proceeds Account”: The Securities Account established and maintained by the Paying Agent in the name of the Borrower Representative and
entitled “JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent, in trust for the Borrowers — Insurance Proceeds Account # 690882128” or such other
account established at the Paying Agent (or any successor) as may be designated in writing from time to time by the Agent, and at all times subject to an
Account Control Agreement.
 
“Insurance Requirements”: With respect to any Borrower and each Property, the insurance policies and requirements described, or referred to, in Section 6.2.
For the avoidance of doubt, premiums necessary in order to maintain compliance with the Insurance Requirements for each Property shall include, without
duplication: (i) premiums related to or payable by reference to such Property and (ii) such Property’s pro rata portion of any aggregate insurance premiums
payable in order to maintain compliance with the Insurance Requirements, which insurance premiums are not determined solely by reference to any particular
Property.
 
“Interest Accrual Period”: For any Payment Date, other than the first Payment Date following the Effective Date, the period beginning on the previous Payment
Date and ending on the day before such Payment Date, and for the first Payment Date following the Effective Date, the period beginning on the Effective Date
and ending on the day before such Payment Date.
 
“Interest Payment Amount”: For any Payment Date, the aggregate amount obtained by the daily application of (a) the Interest Rate for each day of the Interest
Accrual Period ended immediately before such Payment Date and (b) Advances Outstanding on each such day, such amount to be calculated as set forth in
Section 2.4(b); provided, however, that for purposes of computing the Interest Payment Amount for any Payment Date, the LIBO RateAdjusted Daily Simple
SOFR and Advances Outstanding for each day following the Reporting Date in the related Interest Accrual Period (each such period, a “Stub Period”) shall be
the LIBO RateAdjusted Daily Simple SOFR and Advances Outstanding as determined on such Reporting Date; provided further, that (x) if the Interest
Payment Amount calculated based on the actual LIBO RateAdjusted Daily Simple SOFR or Advances Outstanding for each day in the Stub Period exceeds the
Interest Payment Amount calculated based on the foregoing proviso, the Interest Payment Amount for the immediately following Payment Date will be
increased by the amount of such excess and (y) if the Interest Payment Amount calculated based on the actual LIBO RateAdjusted Daily Simple SOFR or
Advances Outstanding for each day in the Stub Period is less than the Interest Payment Amount calculated based on the foregoing proviso, the Interest Payment
Amount for the immediately following Payment Date will be decreased by the amount of such difference.
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“Interest Rate”: On any day, (a) the sum of (i) the LIBO RateAdjusted Daily Simple SOFR for such day and (ii) the Applicable Margin or (b) to the extent
required by Section 2.9, the Alternate Base Rate for such day, as applicable.
 
“Interest Reserve Account”: The Securities Account established and maintained by the Paying Agent in the name of the Borrower Representative and entitled
“JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent, in trust for the Borrowers — Interest Reserve Account # 689690979” or such other account
established at the Paying Agent (or any successor) as may be designated in writing from time to time by the Agent, and at all times subject to an Account
Control Agreement.
 
“Interest Reserve Account Deposit Amount”: On any date of determination, for any Eligible Property and the initial Advance requested related thereto, the
product of (a) the Interest Rate for the related Interest Accrual Period (for such purpose, the LIBO RateAdjusted Daily Simple SOFR shall be the rate in effect
on such date of determination), (b) the Allocated Loan Amount for such Property, (c) 1/12 and (d) three (3).
 
“Interest Reserve Account Required Amount”: As of any date of determination, an amount equal to the product of (a) the Interest Rate for the related Interest
Accrual Period (for such purpose, the LIBO RateAdjusted Daily Simple SOFR shall be the rate in effect on such date of determination), (b) the aggregate
Allocated Loan Amounts of all Properties then funded by the Facility, (c) 1/12 and (d) three (3).
 
“Interest Reserve Account Excess Amount”: As of any date of determination, the positive excess, if any, of (a) the amount on deposit in the Interest Reserve
Account as of such date of determination over (b) the Interest Reserve Account Required Amount determined as of such date.
 
“Interest Reserve Account Shortfall Amount”: As of any date of determination, the positive excess, if any, of (a) the Interest Reserve Account Required Amount
determined as of such date over (b) the amount on deposit in the Interest Reserve Account as of such date of determination.
 
“Interpolated Rate”: At any time, for any Interest Accrual Period, the rate per annum (rounded to the same number of decimal places as the LIBO Screen Rate)
determined by the Agent (which determination shall be conclusive and binding absent manifest error) to be equal to the rate that results from interpolating on a
linear basis between: (a) the LIBO Screen Rate for the longest period (for which the LIBO Screen Rate is available) that is shorter than the Impacted Interest
Accrual Period; and (b) the LIBO Screen Rate for the shortest period (for which that LIBO Screen Rate is available) that exceeds the Impacted Interest Accrual
Period, in each case, at such time.
 
“Investment Company Act”: The Investment Company Act of 1940.
 
“IRS”: The United States Internal Revenue Service.
 
“ISDA Definitions”: The 2006 ISDA Definitions published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. or any successor thereto, as amended
or supplemented from time to time, or any successor definitional booklet for interest rate derivatives published from time to time by the International Swaps
and Derivatives Association, Inc. or such successor thereto.
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“Joinder”: A Joinder Agreement in substantially the form of Exhibit E attached hereto, delivered by a Person who is an Eligible Property Owner pursuant to
Section 3.2(b) and acknowledged by the Agent.
 
“Lease”: Any residential lease agreement providing for the lease of a Property.
 
“Lease In Place”: A Property shall have a “Lease In Place” if a Lease has been duly executed by the property owner and an Eligible Tenant and has not been
terminated, regardless of whether the lease term has already started or if the lease term begins at a date after the Lease has been executed.
 
“Leased Property”: As of any date of determination, either (a) an Eligible Property that is a Carry-Over Property, or (b) an Eligible Property that satisfies the
following: (i) the applicable Borrower has satisfied the Completion Requirements, (ii) the Property is leased to an Eligible Tenant pursuant to an Eligible
Lease; provided that an Eligible Property that has been leased to an Eligible Tenant pursuant to an Eligible Lease shall continue to be a Leased Property
notwithstanding that the Tenant ceases to be an Eligible Tenant or its tenancy is terminated as a result of the expiration or termination of such Eligible Lease
and (iii) the applicable Borrower or Property Manager has received the first monthly rent payment under an Eligible Lease for such Property.
 
“Leasing Standards”: Those standards described in Schedule 5 hereto.
 
“Lender”: JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association and each Person that may from time to time become party hereto or to any Assignment and Assumption
in the capacity of a Lender.
 
“LIBO Rate”: With respect to any Advances Outstanding for any Interest Accrual Period, the LIBO Screen Rate at approximately 11:00 a.m., London time, two
(2) Business Days prior to the commencement of such Interest Accrual Period; provided that if the LIBO Screen Rate shall not be available at such time for
such Interest Accrual Period (an “Impacted Interest Accrual Period”) then the LIBO Rate shall be the Interpolated Rate.
 
“LIBO Screen Rate”: For any day and time, with respect to any Advances Outstanding for any Interest Accrual Period, the London interbank offered rate as
administered by ICE Benchmark Administration (or any other Person that takes over the administration of such rate) for U.S. Dollars for a period equal in
length to such Interest Accrual Period as displayed on such day and time on pages LIBOR01 or LIBOR02 of the Reuters screen that displays such rate (or, in
the event such rate does not appear on a Reuters page or screen, on any successor or substitute page on such screen that displays such rate, or on the appropriate
page of such other information service that publishes such rate from time to time as selected by the Agent in its reasonable discretion); provided that if the
LIBO Screen Rate as so determined would be less than 0%, such rate shall be deemed to be 0% for the purposes of this Agreement.
 
“Lien”: Any lien, mortgage, pledge, assignment, security interest, charge or encumbrance of any kind (including any agreement to give any of the foregoing,
any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, and any lease in the nature thereof) and any option, trust or other preferential arrangement having the
practical effect of any of the foregoing.
 
“Limited Guaranty”: The Limited Guaranty, dated as of March 1, 2021, made by the Sponsor in favor of the Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties.
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“Liquidity”: As defined in Schedule 6 hereto.
 
“Loan Account”: The non-interest bearing trust account established and maintained by the Paying Agent in the name of the Agent and entitled “JPMorgan
Chase Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent, in trust for the Lenders — Loan Account” or such other account established at the Paying Agent (or any
successor) as may be designated in writing from time to time by the Agent.
 
“Loan Documents”: This Agreement, the Note, the Security Agreement, the Environmental Indemnity, the Limited Guaranty, the Guaranty Agreement, the
Property Management Agreement, the Diligence Agent Agreement, each Account Control Agreement, each Deposit Account Control Agreement relating to
each Deposit Account of any Borrower or the Borrower Representative, each Securities Account Control Agreement relating to each Securities Account of any
Borrower or the Borrower Representative, each Joinder, each Borrowing Notice, each Assignment of Management Agreement, each Power of Attorney and any
other document or agreement that evidences, secures or governs any of the Obligations or the Collateral.
 
“Loan Parties”: Collectively, each Guarantor and each Borrower.
 
“Loan to Aggregate Market Value Ratio”: As of any date of determination, the percentage equivalent of a fraction, the numerator of which is equal to the
Advances Outstanding and the denominator of which is the Aggregate Market Value of all Financed Properties (adjusted for Non-Eligible Properties, as
required by Section 2.13).
 
“Loan To Value Ratio” or “LTV Ratio”: As of any date of determination, the percentage equivalent of a fraction, the numerator of which is equal to the
Advances Outstanding and the denominator of which is equal to the lesser of (i) the Aggregate Market Value of all Financed Properties and (ii) the Aggregate
Asset Purchase Price of all Financed Properties (in each case, adjusted for Non-Eligible Properties, as required by Section 2.13).
 
“Market Value”: With respect to any Property and any date of determination, the fair market value of such Property, which shall be the most recent related BPO
Value or AVM Value, as applicable; provided, however, if such Property is not an Eligible Property on such date of determination and the applicable Cure
Period has expired, the Market Value for such Property shall be deemed to be zero. With respect to any Financed Property that the related Borrower has elected
to reduce the Asset Purchase Price (pursuant to the definition of “Asset Purchase Price”), the Market Value of such Financed Property may not exceed the Asset
Purchase Price as so reduced.
 
“Material Adverse Effect”: A material adverse effect on (a) the business operations, properties, assets or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Loan Parties,
taken as a whole, or the Sponsor, (b) the ability of any Loan Party to perform its respective obligations under any of the Loan Documents to which it is a party,
(c) the rights and remedies of any Secured Party under any of the Loan Documents or (d) the perfection or priority of any Secured Party’s interest in any Equity
Interests in any Borrower or in any other portion of the Collateral.
 
“Measurement Quarter”: On any date of determination, (a) if no Trigger Event exists, a Fiscal Quarter, or (b) if a Trigger Event exists, the three (3)
immediately preceding calendar months.
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“Monthly Report”: For each Collection Period, a report prepared by the Borrower Representative setting forth the information identified on Exhibit D attached
hereto, and with respect to each Financed Property, the information set forth on Schedule 7 hereto.
 
“Monthly Report Confirmation”: For each Monthly Report, the confirmation by the Calculation Agent in the form of Exhibit H attached hereto, together with
the annexes thereto.
 
“Moody’s”: Moody’s Investor’s Service, Inc. or any successors thereto.
 
“Mortgage Recording Expenses”: As defined in Section 4.11(b).
 
“Mortgages”: As defined in Section 4.11(a).
 
“MSA”: “Metropolitan statistical area” as such term is defined by the United States Office of Management and Budget from time to time.
 
“MSA Percentage”: A quotient expressed as a percentage where (i) the numerator is the Property Borrowing Base of the Properties in such MSA and (ii) the
denominator is the Advances Outstanding.
 
“Multiemployer Plan”: Any employee benefit plan of the type described in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA, to which any Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate makes
or is obligated to make contributions, or during the preceding five (5) plan years, has made or been obligated to make contributions.
 
“Net Non-Financed Collections”: With respect to any Collection Period the aggregate of all Collections received solely in connection with the Non-Financed
Properties minus the sum of the aggregate Insurance Reserve Account Deposit Amount and the aggregate Tax Reserve Account Deposit Amount for all Non-
Financed Properties.
 
“Net Worth”: As defined in Schedule 6 hereto.
 
“Non-Cashflowing Property”: Any Property that (i) has no Lease In Place, or (ii) has a Lease In Place (a) that is past the expiration date and the Tenant under
such expired Lease is not paying month-to-month rent or (b) and the Tenant under such Lease is a Delinquent Tenant.
 
“Non-Eligible Property”: As defined in Section 2.13.
 
“Non-Financed Property”: Any Property owned by a Borrower that is not a Financed Property.
 
“Non-Leased Property”: Any Financed Property that is not a Leased Property.
 
“Note”: As defined in Section 3.1(a).
 
“NYFRB”: The Federal Reserve Bank of New York.
 
“NYFRB’s Website”: The website of the NYFRB at http://www.newyorkfed.org, or any successor source.
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“NYFRB Rate”: For any day, the greater of (a) the Federal Funds Effective Rate in effect on such day and (b) the Overnight Bank Funding Rate in effect on
such day (or for any day that is not a Business Day, for the immediately preceding Business Day); provided that if none of such rates are published for any day
that is a Business Day, the term “NYFRB Rate” means the rate for a federal funds transaction quoted at 11:00 a.m. on such day received by the Agent from a
federal funds broker of recognized standing selected by it; provided, further, that if any of the aforesaid rates as so determined be less than 0%, such rate shall
be deemed to be 0% for purposes of this Agreement.
 
“OFAC”: The U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control.
 
“Obligations”: All indebtedness, liabilities and obligations of every nature of any Borrower from time to time owed to the Agent (including former Agents),
each Secured Party or any of them, under this Agreement or any Loan Document, whether for principal, interest (including interest which, but for the filing of a
petition in bankruptcy with respect to any Borrower, would have accrued on any Obligation, whether or not a claim is allowed against such Borrower for such
interest in the related bankruptcy proceeding), fees, expenses, indemnification or otherwise, whether now existing or arising in the future, direct or indirect,
fixed or contingent, joint, several or joint and several, including any extensions, renewals, refinancing, or changes in form thereof.
 
“Operating Expenses”: With respect to any Property, all costs, expenses relating to the ownership, management and maintenance of the Property, including
property maintenance costs and expenses, home owners association dues, leasing costs and other expenses necessary to maintain the Property and title thereto
(including, without limitation, Property Manager Fees, and amounts required to be paid to keep title of the related Borrower free and clear of liens), in each
case in amounts and for purposes reasonable, customary and prudent, and consistent with prior practices of the Borrowers. Operating Expenses shall exclude (i)
real estate taxes, other governmental assessments and insurance premiums to the extent reserved in, paid from or reimbursed by the Insurance Reserve Account
or Tax Reserve Account, as applicable, (ii) capital expenditures and Renovation Costs and (iii) bad debt expense. Operating Expenses included in the
calculation of Annualized Net Cash Flow will be calculated in accordance with GAAP, and may differ from the Operating Expenses reported in Monthly
Reports for the same period.
 
“Other Charges”: All ground rents, maintenance charges, impositions other than Taxes, and any other charges now or hereafter accessed or imposed against a
Property or any part thereof.
 
“Other Connection Taxes”: With respect to any Lender, Applicable Taxes imposed as a result of a present or former connection between such Lender and the
jurisdiction imposing such Applicable Tax (other than connections arising from such Lender having executed, delivered, become a party to, performed its
obligations under, received payments under, received or perfected a security interest under, engaged in any other transaction pursuant to or enforced any Loan
Document, or sold or assigned an interest in any Advance or Loan Document).
 
“Other Taxes”: All present or future stamp, court or documentary, intangible, recording, filing, registration or similar Applicable Taxes that arise from any
payment made under, from the execution, delivery, performance, enforcement or registration of, from the receipt or perfection of a security interest under, or
the Liens created or secured under, or otherwise with respect to, any Loan Document, except any such Applicable Taxes that are Other Connection Taxes
imposed with respect to an assignment.
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“Overnight Bank Funding Rate”: For any day, the rate comprised of both overnight federal funds and overnight Eurodollar borrowings by U.S.-managed
banking offices of depository institutions, as such composite rate shall be determined by the NYFRB as set forth on the NYFRB’s Website from time to time,
and published on the next succeeding Business Day by the NYFRB as an overnight bank funding rate.
 
“Parent Holdco”: As defined in the introductory paragraph.
 
“Participant”: As defined in Section 10.1(e).
 
“Participant Register”: As defined in Section 10.1(f).
 
“Party”: Each Person who from time to time is a party to this Agreement.
 
“Paying Agent”: JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, or any replacement designated pursuant to Section 2.14.
 
“Paying Agent Fee”: As defined in the Fee Letter, provided, however, the Paying Agent Fee may not be amended or modified in the Fee Letter without the
consent of each Lender.
 
“Payment Date”: The 20th calendar day of each month or the next succeeding Business Day if such calendar day is not a Business Day. The initial Payment
Date shall be April 20, 2021.
 
“Payment Date Report”: For any Payment Date, the report prepared by the Calculation Agent reflecting the principal, Interest Payment Amount, fees, costs,
expenses, indemnities and deposits into the Reserve Accounts payable hereunder on such Payment Date.
 
“PBGC”: The Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation.
 
“Pension Plan”: Any “employee pension benefit plan” (as such term is defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA), other than a Multiemployer Plan, that is subject to
Title IV of ERISA and is sponsored or maintained by any Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate or to which any Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate contributes or has
an obligation to contribute, or in the case of a multiple employer or other plan described in Section 4064(a) of ERISA, has made contributions at any time
during the immediately preceding five (5) plan years.
 
“Permitted Distributions”: With respect to any Borrower, Restricted Payments made with proceeds of Advances or funds distributed to the Borrower
Representative and expressly permitted to be applied to Restricted Payments in accordance with Section 2.8(b); provided, at the time such Permitted
Distribution is made, no Early Amortization Event, Default, Event of Default or Trigger Event has occurred and is continuing or would be caused thereby.
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“Permitted Investments”: (a) Cash and Government securities within the meaning of Section 856(c)(4)(A) of the Code and (b) negotiable instruments or
securities or other investments that (x) as of any date of determination, mature by their terms on or prior to the Business Day preceding the next succeeding
Payment Date, (y) are denominated in U.S. dollars and (z) evidence:
 

(i)         marketable obligations of the United States, the full and timely payment of which are backed by the full faith and credit of the United States;
 

(ii)        certificates of deposit and other interest-bearing obligations and issued by any bank with capital, surplus and undivided profits aggregating at
least $100,000,000 or the equivalent thereof in any other currency as determined by the Agent in accordance with its normal-course foreign currency exchange
practices, the short term obligations of which meet or exceed the Short-Term Rating Requirement;
 

(iii)       publicly traded money market funds subject to regulation under the Investment Company Act and in compliance with Rule 2a-7 of the
Investment Company Act and the having a rating, at the time of such investment, of not less than “Aaa” by Moody’s and “AAA” by S&P including any fund
for which the Paying Agent or an Affiliate thereof serves as an investment advisor, administrator, shareholder servicing agent and/or custodian; and
 

(iv)       demand deposits, time deposits or certificates of deposit of depository institutions or trust companies incorporated under the laws of the
United States, any State thereof (or domestic branches of any foreign bank) and subject to supervision and examination by federal or State banking or
depository institution authorities; provided, however, that at the time such investment, or the commitment to make such investment, is entered into, the short
term debt rating of such depository institution or trust company shall meet or exceed the Short-Term Rating Requirement.
 
“Permitted Liens”: Any (a) Liens granted pursuant to or by the Loan Documents, (b) statutory materialmen’s Liens and mechanic’s Liens, in each case arising
in the ordinary course of business with respect to obligations which are not delinquent, (c) Leases, (d) deposits in the ordinary course of business to secure
liabilities to insurance carriers, utilities and other service providers, (e) Liens for taxes not yet due and payable, (f) homeowners’ association covenants,
conditions and restrictions, (g) customary utility easements, (h) non-monetary liens constituting customarily acceptable title exceptions that are created or
permitted by the related Borrower in the ordinary course of owning and operating a Property subsequent to the date of the related Title Insurance Policy, which
liens do not have a material adverse effect on the related Property or the value thereof and (i) any other Lien agreed to by the Agent in connection with the title
review for a Property in conformity with the provisions of Exhibit J attached hereto.
 
“Person”: Any individual or any general partnership, limited partnership, cooperation, joint venture, trust, limited liability company, trust, cooperative,
association, unincorporated government organization or entity or any department or agency thereof.
 
“Plan”: Any “employee benefit plan” (as such term is defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA) established by any Borrower or, with respect to any such plan that is
subject to Section 412 of the Code or Title IV of ERISA, any ERISA Affiliate.
 
“Pledged Security”: As defined in the Security Agreement.
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“Portfolio Delinquency Amount”: With respect to all Properties owned by the Sponsor or any of its Affiliates, the ratio of (a) the amount of Delinquent Tenants
to (b) the total amount of Tenants.
 
“Power of Attorney”: The Power of Attorney attached hereto as Exhibit I.
 
“Prime Rate”: The rate of interest last quoted by The Wall Street Journal as the “Prime Rate” in the U.S. or, if The Wall Street Journal ceases to quote such rate,
the highest per annum interest rate published by the Federal Reserve Board in Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15 (519) (Selected Interest Rates) as the
“bank prime loan” rate or, if such rate is no longer quoted therein, any similar rate quoted therein (as determined by the Agent) or any similar release by the
Federal Reserve Board (as determined by the Agent). Each change in the Prime Rate shall be effective from and including the date such change is publicly
announced or quoted as being effective.
 
“Pro Forma Collections”: For purposes of calculating Estimated Net Cash Flow (a) with respect to any Leased Property, the actual monthly rent received
during the period such Property has been owned by the Borrower and has been a Leased Property, divided by the number of rental payment dates in such period
and multiplied by twelve (12) and (b) with respect to any Non‑Leased Property, the Borrower Representative’s reasonable estimate of annual rent collections,
as reasonably approved by the Agent.
 
“Pro Rata Share”: For any Lender, on any date of determination, the percentage equivalent of a fraction (a) prior to the Revolving Period Termination Date, the
numerator of which is equal to such Lender’s Commitment on such date of determination and the denominator of which is equal to the Facility Amount and (b)
on and after the Revolving Period Termination Date, the numerator of which is the portion of the Advances Outstanding on such date that have been funded by
such Lender and the denominator of which is equal to the Advances Outstanding on such date.
 
“Proceeds”: As defined in the UCC and shall include any and all Condemnation Proceeds, all gross proceeds related to any Conveyance, Insurance Proceeds
and loss proceeds in respect of the Collateral.
 
“Property”: Each real property owned or acquired by or transferred to a Borrower, the fee title to which is held by such Borrower, together with all buildings,
fixtures and improvements thereon and all other rights, benefits and proceeds arising from and in connection with such property.
 
“Property Addition Notice”: A written request by the Borrowers to add additional Eligible Properties as Financed Properties, in the form of Exhibit A-2
attached hereto.
 
“Property Addition Confirmations”: With respect to each Property Addition Notice: (i) a confirmation, in the form of Exhibit A-2A attached hereto, by the
Calculation Agent that it has reviewed and confirmed the results of each of the calculations set forth in the reports annexed to Exhibit A-2A hereto and has
found no Calculation Deficiency therein; and (ii) a certification, in the form of Exhibit A-2B attached hereto, by the Diligence Agent that it has reviewed the
Document Package and confirmed that it has found no Diligence Deficiency therein.
 
“Property Borrowing Base”: On any date of determination, for any Financed Property, an amount (not less than zero) equal to (a) the product of (i) the related
Advance Rate with respect to such Financed Property and (ii) the Property Value of such Financed Property minus (b) the Release Premium Deduction for such
Financed Property; provided, however, if such Property is not an Eligible Property on such date of determination and the applicable Cure Period has expired,
the Property Borrowing Base for such Property shall be deemed to be zero.
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“Property Expense Amount”: With respect to any Collection Period, (a) absent the existence of a Trigger Event, the aggregate of all Operating Expenses for the
Properties paid or due for such Collection Period and (b) during the existence of a Trigger Event, the aggregate of all Operating Expenses for the Financed
Properties paid or due for such Collection Period.
 
“Property Management Agreement”: The Management Agreement, dated as of January 22, 2021, as amended by that certain First Amendment to Management
Agreement dated as of March 1, 2021, by and among the Property Manager and each Borrower.
 
“Property Manager”: VineBrook Homes, LLC or any successor thereto.
 
“Property Manager Event of Default”: The occurrence of any of the following: (a) fraud, gross negligence, willful misconduct, or misappropriation of funds by
the Property Manager, (b) any Insolvency Event with respect to the Property Manager, or (c) the occurrence of a Property Manager Trigger Event (as defined in
the Assignment of Management Agreement with respect to the Property Management Agreement).
 
“Property Manager Fee”: With respect to each Property, the fees payable to the Property Manager with respect to such Property pursuant to the Property
Management Agreement; which fees shall not exceed 8% of all rent payments and other non-deposit amounts actually collected with respect to the related
Properties.
 
“Property Release”: As defined in Section 2.7(a).
 
“Property Release Amount”: In connection with any proposed Property Release, the sum of: (A) an amount sufficient to cure any Borrowing Base Shortfall, an
LTV Ratio in excess of 70% or a Trigger Event, if any, immediately after giving effect to such release, (B) an amount equal to the applicable Release Premium
(together with the amount described in Clause (A), the “Reduction Amount”), (C) the unpaid interest on the Reduction Amount through the related date of
prepayment, calculated at the applicable Interest Rate and (D) all unpaid fees or unreimbursed costs with respect to the Facility, to the extent relating to the
portion of the Advances Outstanding to be repaid. For the purpose of clause (A) above, the Debt Service Coverage Ratio, the Debt Yield Ratio and the Portfolio
Delinquency Amount shall be as determined for the most recently ended Measurement Quarter, and recalculated to exclude items included in the Annualized
Net Cash Flow attributable to the Property for which the Property Release Amount is calculated.
 
“Property Value”: With respect to any Property, as of any date of determination, the lesser of (a) the related Asset Purchase Price and (b) the related Market
Value as of the date of the most recent BPO, AVM or such other valuation methodology acceptable to the Agent in its sole discretion; provided, however, that
such Market Value for a Leased Property shall be based on the “as-is” value (and not the “quick sale” value) of such Property at such time, notwithstanding that
such Property may have been a Non-Leased Property as of the date such Property became a Financed Property; and, provided, further, that if such Property is
not an Eligible Property on such date of determination and the applicable Cure Period has expired, then the Property Value for such Property shall be zero.
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“Proposed Scheduled Renovation Work”: As defined in Section 4.8(a).
 
“Purchase Agreement”: Any purchase agreement or trustee’s receipt related to, or any other document evidencing the acquisition of, a Property.
 
“Qualified Institution”: Any depository institution or trust company organized under the laws of the United States or any State (or any domestic branch of a
foreign bank), (i) (a) that has or the parent of which has, either (1) a long-term unsecured debt rating of “A-” or higher by S&P and “A-” or higher by Moody’s,
or (2) a short-term unsecured debt rating of not less than “A-1” by S&P and not less than “P-1” by Moody’s or (b) is otherwise acceptable to the Agent and (ii)
whose deposits are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.
 
“Qualified Title Insurance Company”: As defined in clause (q) of Schedule 2 hereto.
 
“Quarterly Sample”: As defined in Section 4.2(a).
 
“Quarterly Valuation”: Any quarterly valuation of Financed Properties made in accordance with the provisions of Section 4.2(a).
 
“Ratio Cure Amount”: An amount sufficient to repay Advances Outstanding such that the financial covenants in Section 8.1(r) are met.
 
“Ratio Cure Procedures”: With respect to a breach of Section 8.1(r):
 

1.         Within five (5) Business Days after the relevant Monthly Report or BPO and AVM Report, as applicable, is delivered or is required to be
delivered, the Borrowers shall notify the Agent and Lenders in writing of their intention to cure such condition by repayment of Ratio Cure Amount or delivery
of additional Eligible Properties in each case to the extent necessary to cure such condition.
 

2.         If the Borrowers elect to repay the Ratio Cure Amount in an amount sufficient to cure such condition, the Borrowers shall have five (5) Business
Days from the date of such election to make such cure payment.
 

3.         If the Borrowers elect to deliver additional Eligible Properties, the Borrowers shall have five (5) Business Days from the date of such election to
deliver the applicable Document Packages to the Diligence Agent and the Agent, and five (5) Business Days after receipt of a Diligence Agent Deficiency
Notice or Calculation Agent Deficiency Report, as applicable, in which to correct any identified Diligence Deficiency or Calculation Deficiency, as applicable,
therein, and such Eligible Properties will be added to the Facility as Financed Properties as soon as the Diligence Agent completes its review of the Document
Packages but no later than 20 calendar days after delivery of such Document Packages.
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For the purpose of determining whether a breach of Section 8.1(r) has been cured in accordance with the Ratio Cure Procedures, the Debt Service Coverage
Ratio and the Debt Yield Ratio shall be as determined for the most recently ended Measurement Quarter and the Loan to Value Ratio shall be as determined in
the most recent BPO and AVM Report, and in each case, recalculated to give pro forma effect to any addition of any Financed Properties and any reduction of
Advances Outstanding, as if such addition or reduction had occurred on the first day of the applicable Measurement Quarter or the date of such BPO and AVM
Report, as applicable.
 
The failure to make the cure election in 1, or to effectuate an elected cure pursuant to the requirements of 2 or 3, as applicable, shall trigger an immediate Event
of Default under Section 8.1(r).
 
“Ratio Trigger Event”: The existence, on a Reporting Date immediately following a Measurement Quarter, of either:
 

(a)         a Debt Service Coverage Ratio of less than 1.50:1.00;
 

(b)         a Debt Yield Ratio of less than 8.00%; or
 

(c)         a Portfolio Delinquency Amount is greater than 5%.
 
provided, however, that for purposes of determining at any time whether a Ratio Trigger Event would exist or continues to exist, the Debt Service Coverage
Ratio, Debt Yield Ratio and Portfolio Delinquency Amount shall be as determined for the most recently ended Measurement Quarter, and recalculated to give
pro forma effect to any addition or release of any Financed Properties and any reduction of Advances Outstanding, as if such addition or reduction had occurred
on the first day of the applicable Measurement Quarter.
 
“Ratio Trigger Delay Termination Date”: After the occurrence of a Ratio Trigger Event, the earliest to occur of: (a) an Event of Default, (b) the Borrower
Representative requests release of the Ratio Trigger Reserve Account or (c) a Ratio Trigger Event continues for three consecutive months.
 
“Ratio Trigger Reserve Account”: The Securities Account established and maintained by the Paying Agent in the name of the Borrower Representative and
entitled “JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent, in trust for the Borrowers — Ratio Trigger Reserve Account # 690882136” or such
other account established at the Paying Agent (or any successor) as may be designated in writing from time to time by the Agent, and at all times subject to an
Account Control Agreement.
 
“Reduction Amount”: As defined in the definition of Property Release Amount.
 
“Register”: As defined in Section 10.1(d).
 
“Reference Time”: With respect to any setting of the then-current Benchmark means (1) if suchthe Benchmark is LIBO Rate, 11:00 a.m. (London time) on the
day that is two London banking days preceding the date ofDaily Simple SOFR, then four Business Days prior to such setting and (2) if such Benchmark is not
LIBO RateDaily Simple SOFR, the time determined by the Agent in its reasonable discretion.
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“Related Party Property Release”: Either a Borrower Property Release or the Conveyance of a Financed Property to a Borrower-Related Party other than a
Loan Party.
 
“Release”: Any release, spill, emission, leaking, pumping, pouring, injection, escaping, deposit, disposal, discharge, dispersal, dumping, leaching or migration
of any Hazardous Material into the indoor or outdoor environment, including the movement of any Hazardous Material through the air, soil, surface water or
groundwater.
 
“Release Premium” shall mean, for any Property Release, the applicable Release Premium Percentage times the aggregate Property Borrowing Base of the
Financed Properties released in connection with such Property Release.
 
“Release Premium Deduction” shall mean, for any Financed Property, an amount which shall equal zero prior to the first Property Release to occur after the
Borrowing Date therefor, and which shall be increased with respect to each Property Release occurring after such Borrowing Date by an amount equal to the
Release Premium for such Property Release multiplied by a fraction (expressed as a percentage), the numerator of which is the Property Borrowing Base of
such Financed Property and the denominator of which is the remaining Borrowing Base after giving effect to the applicable Property Release.
 
“Release Premium Percentage” shall mean, for any Property Release as of such date of determination, (i) if the aggregate Property Borrowing Base of Financed
Properties released in connection with Property Releases (including the applicable Property Release) is less than five percent (5%) of the Facility Amount, zero
percent (0%) and (ii) if the aggregate Property Borrowing Base of Financed Properties released in connection with Property Releases (including the applicable
Property Release) is equal to or greater than five percent (5%) of the Facility Amount, ten percent (10%).
 
“Release Premium Report”: As defined in Section 6.1(i).
 
“Relevant Governmental Body”: The Federal Reserve Board or the NYFRB, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Federal Reserve Board or
the NYFRB, or any successor thereto.
 
“Renovation Cost Reserve Account”: The Securities Account established and maintained by the Paying Agent in the name of the Borrower Representative and
entitled “JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent, in trust for the Borrowers — Renovation Cost Reserve Account # 689690987” or such
other account established at the Paying Agent (or any successor) as may be designated in writing from time to time by the Agent, and at all times subject to an
Account Control Agreement.
 
“Renovation Cost Reserve Account Required Amount”: As defined in Section 4.8(b).
 
“Renovation Cost Reserve Account Shortfall Amount”: As of any date of determination, the positive excess, if any, of (a) the Renovation Cost Reserve Account
Required Amount for such date of determination over (b) the amount on deposit in the Renovation Cost Reserve Account as of such date of determination.
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“Renovation Costs”: For any Property, the aggregate of the costs estimated to be incurred by the applicable Borrower with respect to the renovation of such
Property, as demonstrated in a certificate certified by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower Representative delivered to and approved by the Diligence Agent
and the Agent as provided in the Diligence Agent Agreement; provided that, with respect to any Property for which such costs exceed 15% of the Asset
Purchase Price, the Agent and the Lenders shall have a right to request recalculation of the Renovation Costs in any case where any of them considers the
assessment thereof not reasonably satisfactory. For the avoidance of doubt, Renovation Costs do not include any fees, costs or expenses associated with any
ongoing recurring repairs or maintenance to any Property.
 
“Renovation Standards”: Those maintenance, repairs, improvements and installations that are necessary (i) for a Property to conform to the requirements of
Applicable Law and not deviate materially from local rental market standards for the area in which such Property is located and (ii) for a Property to conform
to Requirements for Existing Housing One to Four Family Units (4905.1) or Minimum Property Standard for One and Two Family Dwellings (200.926) as
applicable, as published by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development.
 
“Repair Completion Certificate”: The repair completion certificate of a Responsible Officer of the Borrower Representative certifying that all repairs to any
Property in respect of which Insurance Proceeds are held in the Insurance Proceeds Account have been completed.
 
“Reportable Event”: Any of the events set forth in Section 4043(c) of ERISA, other than events for which the 30 day notice period has been waived.
 
“Reporting Date”: With respect to any Payment Date, the fifteenth (15th) day of the related calendar month or, if such day is not a Business Day, the
immediately succeeding Business Day.
 
“Required Insurance Policies”: With respect to a Property, the insurance policies required by Section 6.2.
 
“Required Lenders”: On any day, Lenders with Pro Rata Shares exceeding 50% in the aggregate; provided that if there are only two (2) Lenders, Required
Lenders shall mean both Lenders.
 
“Required Principal Payment Amounts”: Principal prepayments required pursuant to Sections 2.7 and 2.13.
 
“Reserve Account”: Individually or collectively, as the context may require, the Insurance Reserve Account, the Tax Reserve Account, the Ratio Trigger
Reserve Account, the Renovation Cost Reserve Account and the Interest Reserve Account.
 
“Reserve Account Deposit Amount”: For any proposed Advance, (i) the related Interest Reserve Account Deposit Amount and the Interest Reserve Account
Shortfall Amount, without double counting, (ii) the related Insurance Reserve Account Deposit Amount and the Insurance Reserve Account Shortfall Amount,
without double counting, (iii) the related Tax Reserve Account Deposit Amount and the Tax Reserve Account Shortfall Amount, without double counting and
(iv) the Renovation Cost Reserve Account Shortfall Amount.
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“Reserve Requirement”: With respect to any date of determination, the aggregate (without duplication) of the rates (expressed as a decimal fraction) of reserve
requirements (if any) arising from any Applicable Laws enacted or imposed after the date hereof and in effect on such date (including, without limitation, basic,
supplemental, marginal and emergency reserves under any regulations of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or other governmental
authority having jurisdiction with respect thereto) dealing with reserve requirements prescribed for Eurocurrency funding (currently referred to as
“Eurocurrency Liabilities” in Regulation D of such Board of Governors) maintained by each Lender.
 
“Responsible Officer”: With respect to any specified Person and any circumstance, any member, manager, general partner or officer who has supervisory
responsibilities relating to the specified circumstance.
 
“Restricted Payment”: With respect to any Person, (i) any dividend or other distribution (whether direct or indirect, and whether in cash, securities or other
property) with respect to any class of Equity Interests of such Person now or hereafter outstanding, other than a dividend payable to the holders of any class of
Equity Interests solely in shares of Equity Interests of such Person, (ii) any payment (whether direct or indirect, and whether in cash, securities or other
property), including any sinking fund or similar deposit, on account of the purchase, full or partial redemption, full or partial withdrawal, retirement,
acquisition, cancellation or termination of any such Equity Interests or of any option, warrant or other right to acquire any such Equity Interests, (iii) any
voluntary prepayment of principal of, premium, if any, or interest on, or redemption, purchase, retirement, defeasance (including in-substance or legal
defeasance), sinking fund or similar payment with respect to, any subordinated Debt of such Person and (iv) any management or similar payments to any
Affiliate, excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, any payments made to the Property Manager pursuant to the terms of the Property Management Agreement, as
applicable.
 
“Revolving Period Termination Date”: The earlier of (a) Commitment Termination Date (as the same may be accelerated pursuant to Section 8.2(a)) and (b) the
date on which any Early Amortization Event occurs.
 
“Salesforce Financed Property”: The Properties listed on Schedule 8 hereto.
 
“S&P”: Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. or any successor thereto.
 
“Schedule of Properties”: The schedule listing each of the Properties of each of the Borrowers subject to this Facility as of the Effective Date in form and
substance as set forth in Schedule 4 hereto.
 
“Scheduled Maturity Date”: March 1, 2023.
 
“Scheduled Renovation Work”: As defined in Section 4.8(a).
 
“Secured Parties”: Collectively or individually, as the context may require, each of the Lenders, the Agent, the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agent, the
Diligence Agent and each Indemnified Party.
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“Securities”: Any stock, shares, partnership interests, limited liability company interests, voting trust certificates, certificates of interest or participation in any
profit sharing agreement or arrangement, options, warrants, bonds, debentures, notes, or other evidences of indebtedness, secured or unsecured, convertible,
subordinated or otherwise, or in general any instruments commonly known as “securities” or any certificates of interest, shares or participations in temporary or
interim certificates for the purchase or acquisition of, or any right to subscribe to, purchase or acquire, any of the foregoing.
 
“Securities Account”: As defined in the UCC.
 
“Securities Account Control Agreement”: With respect to any Securities Account, any control agreement or other similar agreement among the Securities
Intermediary, the owner of such Securities Account and the Agent as the Agent shall deem necessary in its reasonable discretion, in form and substance
acceptable to the Agent, providing for such institution’s agreement to comply with entitlement orders from the Agent with respect to security entitlements in
financial assets credited to or held in the applicable Securities Account without the further consent of, or notice to, such owner, it being agreed that any
Securities Account Control Agreement on any Securities Account holding tenant security deposits shall be subject to any limitations on disposition of such
funds as may be required by Applicable Law.
 
“Securities Intermediary”: As defined in the introductory paragraph.
 
“Security Agreement”: That certain Security Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by and among the Loan Parties and Agent.
 
“Security Agreement Supplement”: As defined in the Security Agreement.
 
“Security Deposit Account”: The Securities Account into which all Tenant security deposits are deposited, and established and maintained by the Paying Agent
in the name of the Borrower Representative and entitled “JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent, in trust for the Borrowers —
Borrower Security Deposit Account # 690882151” or such other account established at the Paying Agent (or any successor) as may be designated in writing
from time to time by the Agent, and at all times subject to an Account Control Agreement.
 
“Senior Property Manager Fee”: With respect to each Collection Period, an amount equal to the Senior Property Manager Fee Amount.
 
“Senior Property Manager Fee Amount”: 5% of the rents collected with respect to the Properties in such Collection Period.
 
“Short-Term Rating Requirement”: A short term unsecured debt rating of not less than “A-1” by S&P and not less than “P-1” by Moody’s.
 
“SOFR”: With respect to any Business Day, aA rate per annum equal to the secured overnight financing rate for such Business Day publishedas administered
by the SOFR Administrator on the SOFR Administrator’s Website at approximately 8:00 a.m. (New York City time) on the immediately succeeding Business
Day.
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“SOFR Administrator”: The NYFRB (or a successor administrator of the secured overnight financing rate).
 
“SOFR Administrator’s Website”: The NYFRB’s website, currently at http://www.newyorkfed.org, or any successor source for the secured overnight financing
rate identified as such by the SOFR Administrator from time to time.
 
“SOFR Determination Date” has the meaning specified in the definition of “Daily Simple SOFR”.
 
“SOFR Rate Day” has the meaning specified in the definition of “Daily Simple SOFR”.
 
“Solvent”: With respect to any Person as of the date of determination, both (i) (a) the sum of such Person’s Debt (including contingent liabilities) does not
exceed the present fair saleable value of such Person’s present assets, (b) such Person’s capital is not unreasonably small in relation to its business as then
contemplated and (c) such Person has not incurred and does not intend or expect to incur, Debts beyond its ability to pay such Debts as they become due
(whether at maturity or otherwise) and (ii) such Person is “solvent” within the meaning given that term and similar terms under Applicable Laws relating to
fraudulent transfers and conveyances. For purposes of this definition, the amount of any contingent liability at any time shall be computed as the amount that,
in light of all of the facts and circumstances existing at such time, represents the amount that can reasonably be expected to become an actual or matured
liability (irrespective of whether such contingent liabilities meet the criteria for accrual under Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 5).
 
“SPE Requirements”: The covenants set forth in Section 6.1(g).
 
“Sponsor”: As defined in the introductory paragraph.
 
“Sponsor Financial Covenant”: Any of the covenants relating to Sponsor set forth in Schedule 6 hereto.
 
“Stabilization Period”: With respect to any Financed Property, the time period from the date one hundred-eighty (180) days following the date of the
completion of all Scheduled Renovation Work in accordance with the Renovation Standards during which such Financed Property is a Non-Leased Property.
 
“Statutory Reserve Rate”: A fraction (expressed as a decimal), the numerator of which is the number one and the denominator of which is the number one
minus the aggregate of the maximum reserve percentage (including any marginal, special, emergency or supplemental reserves) expressed as a decimal
established by the Federal Reserve Board to which the Agent is subject with respect to the Adjusted LIBO RateDaily Simple SOFR, for eurocurrency funding
(currently referred to as “Eurocurrency liabilities” in Regulation D). Such reserve percentage shall include those imposed pursuant to Regulation D. Advances
shall be deemed to constitute eurocurrency funding and to be subject to such reserve requirements without benefit of or credit for proration, exemptions or
offsets that may be available from time to time to any Lender under Regulation D or any comparable regulation. The Statutory Reserve Rate shall be adjusted
automatically on and as of the effective date of any change in any reserve percentage.
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“Subordinate Property Manager Fee”: With respect to each Collection Period, an amount equal to the Subordinate Property Manager Fee Amount.
 
“Subordinate Property Manager Fee Amount”: 3% of the rents collected with respect to the Properties in such Collection Period.
 
“Supplemental Schedule of Properties”: For any requested Advance following the Effective Date, the schedule attached to the related Borrowing Notice, as
Schedule 1 thereto, and listing each of the Properties of each of the Borrowers to be funded by such requested Advance, in form and substance as set forth in
Schedule 4 hereto, and which shall include:
 

(a)  the address of each Property that is the subject of the proposed Advance;
 

(b)  the name of the Borrower owning such Property;
 

(c)  whether such Property is a Non-Leased Property, Leased Property, Carry-Over Property or raw land;
 

(d)  each Reserve Account Deposit Amount, separately stated;
 

(e)  the Asset Purchase Price;
 

(f)  the Market Value;
 
(g)  the Property Value;

 
(h)  the security deposit amount; the Data Tape Fields set forth on Schedule 7 hereto and(i) such other information as Agent may reasonably request with
respect to the related Advance.
 
“Tangible Net Worth”: As defined in Schedule 6 hereto.
 
“Taxes”: All real estate and personal property taxes, assessments, water rates or sewer rents, now or hereafter levied or assessed or imposed against any
Property or part thereof.
 
“Tax Reserve Account”: The Securities Account established and maintained by the Paying Agent in the name of the Borrower Representative and entitled
“JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as Paying Agent, in trust for the Borrowers — Tax Reserve Account # 689690961” or such other account
established at the Paying Agent (or any successor) as may be designated in writing from time to time by the Agent, and at all times subject to an Account
Control Agreement.
 
“Tax Reserve Account Deposit Amount”: For any Payment Date, an amount equal to, for any Financed Property, the product of (a) the aggregate real estate
taxes or other governmental assessments related to such Financed Property payable during each calendar year, (b) 1/12th and (c) three (3).
 
“Tax Reserve Account Shortfall Amount”: As of any date of determination, the positive excess, if any, of (a) the Tax Reserve Account Deposit Amount
determined as of such date over (b) the amount on deposit in the Tax Reserve Account as of such date of determination.
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“Tenant”: An individual who has leased any Property pursuant to a Lease.
 
“Term SOFR”: For the applicable Corresponding Tenor as of the applicable Reference Time, the forward-looking term rate based on SOFR that has been
selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body.
 
“Term SOFR Notice”: A notification by the Agent to the Lenders and the Borrower of the occurrence of a Term SOFR Transition Event.
 
“Term SOFR Transition Event”: The determination by the Agent that (a) Term SOFR has been recommended for use by the Relevant Governmental Body, (b)
the administration of Term SOFR is administratively feasible for the Agent and (c) a Benchmark Transition Event or an Early Opt-in Election, as applicable,
has previously occurred resulting in a Benchmark Replacement in accordance with Section 2.9 that is not Term SOFR. For the avoidance of doubt, the Agent
shall not be required to deliver a Term SOFR Notice after a Term SOFR Transition Event and may do so in its sole discretion.
 
“Termination Date”: The earlier of (a) the Scheduled Maturity Date and (b) the date on which all Advances shall become due and payable pursuant to Section
8.2(a).
 
“Title Insurance Policy”: As defined in clause (q) of Schedule 2 hereto.
 
“Top MSA”: As of any date of determination, the MSA with the first largest MSA Percentage.
 
“Top Three MSA”: As of any date of determination, each MSA with the first, second and third largest MSA Percentage.
 
“Trigger Event”: The existence of any of the following:
 

(a)         an Event of Default;
 

(b)         a Ratio Trigger Event; or
 

(c)         an Early Amortization Trigger.
 
“Two-Year Swap Rate”: On any day, the rate, as determined by the Agent, equal to the mid market USD-ISDA-Swap Rate for U.S. Dollar swaps with a
maturity of two (2) years, expressed as a percentage (rounded up to the nearest whole multiple of 1/100%), which appears on the Reuters Screen ISDAFIX1
Page (or any successor page) at 11:00 a.m. on such date of determination.
 
“Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement”: The applicable Benchmark Replacement excluding the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.
 
“Unfunded Pension Liability”: The excess of a Pension Plan’s benefit liabilities under Section 4001(a)(16) of ERISA, over the current value of that Pension
Plan’s assets, determined in accordance with the assumptions used for funding that Pension Plan pursuant to Section 412 of the Code for the applicable plan
year.
 

45



 
 
“Uniform Commercial Code” or “UCC”: The Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in the State of New York; provided, that, if, by reason of Applicable
Laws, the perfection or priority of the security interest in any Collateral is governed by the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in a jurisdiction other than
New York, “Uniform Commercial Code” shall mean the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in such other jurisdiction for purposes of the provisions hereof
relating to such perfection or priority.
 
“Unused Fee”: As defined in the Fee Letter; provided, however, the Unused Fee may not be amended or modified in the Fee Letter without the consent of each
Lender.
 
“U.S. Government Securities Business Day”: Any day except for (i) a Saturday, (ii) a Sunday or (iii) a day on which the Securities Industry and Financial
Markets Association recommends that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the entire day for purposes of trading in United States
government securities.
 
“U.S. Person”: Any Person that is a “United States person” as defined in Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code.
 
“Vinebrook Controlled Investment Affiliate”: A Person that is directly or indirectly under the Control of the Sponsor and organized by the Sponsor, or common
Control with, or its Affiliates for the purpose of making and holding investments.
 
“Vinebrook Physical Address”: The physical address of the Loan Parties in Dayton, Ohio into which rent checks are sent prior to deposit into the applicable
Borrower Rent Account.
 
“Withholding Agent”: A Borrower, a Loan Party or the Paying Agent.
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Section 1.2    Construction of Certain Terms and Phrases. Unless the context of this Agreement otherwise requires: (a) words of either gender include
the other gender; (b) words using the singular or plural also include the plural or singular, respectively; (c) the terms “hereof,” “herein,” “hereby,” “hereto” and
similar words refer to this entire Agreement and not any particular Article, Section, Clause, Exhibit, Appendix or Schedule or any other subdivision of this
Agreement; (d) references to “Article,” “Section,” “Clause,” “Exhibit,” “Appendix” or “Schedule” are to the Articles, Sections, Clauses, Exhibits, Appendices
and Schedules, respectively, of this Agreement; (e) the words “include” or “including” shall be deemed to be followed by “without limitation” or “but not
limited to” whether or not they are followed by such phrases or words of like import; and (f) references to “this Agreement” or any other agreement or
document shall be construed as a reference to such agreement or document, including any Exhibits, Appendices, Attachments and Schedules thereto, as
amended, restated, amended and restated, modified or supplemented and in effect from time to time and shall include a reference to any document that amends,
modifies or supplements it, or is entered into, made or given pursuant to or in accordance with its terms. Whenever this Agreement refers to a number of days,
such number shall refer to calendar days unless Business Days are specified. A reference to legislation or to a provision of legislation includes a modification,
codification, replacement, amendment or re-enactment of it, a legislative provision substituted for it and a rule, regulation or statutory instrument issued under
it. A reference to writing includes a facsimile or electronic transmission and any means of reproducing words in a tangible and permanently visible form. A
reference to conduct includes an omission, statement or undertaking, whether or not in writing. A Default or Event of Default exists until it has been waived in
writing in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. The words “hereof,” “herein,” “hereunder” and similar words refer to this Agreement as a whole
and not to any particular provision of this Agreement, unless the context clearly requires or the language provides otherwise. A reference to any time means
New York time. This Agreement may use several different limitations, tests or measurements to regulate the same or similar matters. All such limitations, tests
and measurements are cumulative and shall each be performed in accordance with their respective terms. All accounting terms used herein and not expressly
defined herein shall have the meanings given to them under GAAP as in effect on the date hereof. All terms used in Articles 8 and 9 of the UCC, and used but
not specifically defined herein, are used herein as defined in such Articles 8 and 9. A reference to “fiscal year” and “fiscal quarter” means the fiscal periods of
the applicable Person referenced therein. Unless otherwise defined herein, terms used herein and in the other Loan Documents that are defined in the Uniform
Commercial Code, from time to time in effect in the State of New York, shall have the meanings given to them therein. Except where otherwise expressly
stated, each of the Agent, the Required Lenders and the Lenders may give or withhold, or give conditionally, approvals and consents, and may form opinions
and make determinations, in its sole discretion subject in all cases to the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. Reference in any Loan Document to
the Agent’s or any Lender’s discretion shall mean, unless otherwise expressly stated herein or therein, the Agent’s or such Lender’s sole discretion, respectively,
and the exercise of such discretion shall be final and conclusive subject in all cases to the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. In addition, except
where a different standard is specified, in any Loan Document whenever the Agent or any Lender has a decision or right of determination, opinion or request,
exercises any right given to it to agree, disagree, accept, consent, grant waivers, take action or no action or to approve or disapprove, or any arrangement or
term is to be satisfactory or acceptable to or approved by (or any similar language or terms) the Agent or such Lender, respectively, the decision of the Agent or
each Lender, respectively, with respect thereto shall be in the sole discretion of the Agent or each Lender, respectively, and such decision shall be final and
conclusive subject in all cases to the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. Any requirement of good faith, discretion or judgment by the Agent or any
Lender shall not be construed to require the Agent or any Lender to request or await receipt of information or documentation not immediately available from or
with respect to the Borrowers or the Eligible Properties. A reference to a document includes an agreement in writing or a certificate, notice, instrument,
document and any information stored in electronic format. Whenever a Person is required to provide any document to a Lender under any Loan Document, the
relevant document shall be provided in writing or printed form unless such Lender requests otherwise. At the request of any Lender, the document shall be
provided in computer disk form or both printed and computer disk form. The Loan Documents are the result of negotiations between the applicable Parties to
each Loan Document, have been reviewed by counsel to each applicable Party, and are the product of all of the applicable Parties to each respective Loan
Document. No rule of construction shall apply to disadvantage one Party on the ground that such Party proposed or was involved in the preparation of any
particular provision of the Loan Documents or the Loan Documents themselves.
 

Section 1.3    Interest Rates; LIBOR Notification. The interest rate on Advances is determined by reference to the LIBO Rate, which is derived from
the London interbank offered rate. The London interbank offered rate is intended to represent the rate at which contributing banks may obtain short-term
borrowings from each other in the London interbank market. In July 2017, the U.K. Financial Conduct Authority announced that, after the end of 2021, it
would no longer persuade or compel contributing banks to make rate submissions to the ICE Benchmark Administration (together with any successor to the
ICE Benchmark Administrator, the “IBA”) for purposes of the IBA setting the London interbank offered rate. As a result, it is possible that commencing in
2022, the London interbank offered rate may no longer be available or may no longer be deemed an appropriate reference rate upon which to determine the.
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(a)    Each Advance shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR.
 

(b)    Accrued interest on each Loan shall be payable in arrears on each Interest Payment Date for such Loan.
 
(c)    Interest computed by reference to Daily Simple SOFR hereunder shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days.

 
(d)    Interest computed by reference to the Alternate Base Rate at times when the Alternate Base Rate is based on the Prime Rate shall be computed

on the basis of a year of 365 days (or 366 days in a leap year). In each case interest shall be payable for the actual number of days elapsed (including the first
day but excluding the last day). All interest hereunder on any Loan shall be computed on a daily basis based upon the outstanding principal amount of such
Loan as of the applicable date of determination. The applicable Alternate Base Rate, Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR or Daily Simple SOFR shall be determined
by the Agent, and such determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error.
 

Section 1.4    Interest Rates; Benchmark Notification.
 
The interest rate on Advances may be derived from an interest rate on Advances. In light of this eventuality, public and private sector industry

initiatives are currently underway to identify new or alternative reference rates to be used in place of the London interbank offered rate, uponbenchmark that
may be discontinued or is, or may in the future become, the subject of regulatory reform. Upon the occurrence of a Benchmark Transition Event, a Term SOFR
Transition Event or an Early Opt-in Election, Section 2.9(b) and (c) provide theprovides a mechanism for determining an alternative rate of interest. The Agent
will promptly notify the Borrower, pursuant to Section 2.9(e), of any change to the reference rate upon which the interest rate on Advances is based. However,
the Agent does not warrant or accept any responsibility for, and shall not have any liability with respect to, the administration, submission, performance or any
other matter related to the London interbank offeredany interest rate or other ratesused in the definition of “LIBO Rate”this Agreement, or with respect to any
alternative or successor rate thereto, or replacement rate thereof (including, without limitation, (i) any such alternative, successor or replacement rate
implemented pursuant to Section 2.9(b) or (c), whether upon the occurrence of a Benchmark Transition Event, a Term SOFR Transition Event or an Early Opt-
in Election and (ii) the implementation of any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes pursuant to Section 2.9(d)), including without limitation, whether
the composition or characteristics of any such alternative, successor or replacement reference rate will be similar to, or produce the same value or economic
equivalence of, the LIBO Rateexisting interest rate being replaced or have the same volume or liquidity as did the London interbank offeredany existing
interest rate prior to its discontinuance or unavailability. The Agent and its affiliates and/or other related entities may engage in transactions that affect the
calculation of any interest rate used in this Agreement or any alternative, successor or alternative rate (including any Benchmark Replacement) and/or any
relevant adjustments thereto, in each case, in a manner adverse to the Borrower. The Agent may select information sources or services in its reasonable
discretion to ascertain any interest rate used in this Agreement, any component thereof, or rates referenced in the definition thereof, in each case pursuant to the
terms of this Agreement, and shall have no liability to the Borrower, any Lender or any other person or entity for damages of any kind, including direct or
indirect, special, punitive, incidental or consequential damages, costs, losses or expenses (whether in tort, contract or otherwise and whether at law or in
equity), for any error or calculation of any such rate (or component thereof) provided by any such information source or service.
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ARTICLE 2
THE CREDIT FACILITY

 
Section 2.1    Description of Facility; Borrower Representative.

 
(a)    On the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement each Lender hereby establishes in favor of the Borrowers a revolving credit facility (the

“Facility”) pursuant to which the Borrower Representative, on behalf of the Borrowers or any one or more of them, may from time to time on any Business
Day subject to the limitations set forth in Section 3.2(k)(vi) of this Agreement on or after the Effective Date and prior to the Revolving Period Termination
Date, request an Advance. The Borrowers shall be jointly and severally liable for all Advances made hereunder, regardless of which Borrower or Borrowers
received the proceeds of any Advance.

 
(b)    Each Borrower hereby designates the Borrower Representative as its representative and agent on its behalf for the purposes of issuing Borrowing

Notices, giving instructions with respect to the disbursement of the proceeds of the Advances, giving and receiving all other notices and consents hereunder or
under any of the other Loan Documents and taking all other actions (including in respect of compliance with covenants) on behalf of any Borrower or the
Borrowers under the Loan Documents. The Borrower Representative hereby accepts such appointment. Each Lender and the Agent may regard any notice or
other communication pursuant to any Loan Document from Borrower Representative as a notice or communication from all Borrowers, and may give any
notice or communication required or permitted to be given to any Borrower or Borrowers hereunder to Borrower Representative on behalf of such Borrower or
Borrowers. Each Borrower agrees that each notice, election, representation and warranty, covenant, agreement and undertaking made on its behalf by Borrower
Representative shall be deemed for all purposes to have been made by such Borrower and shall be binding upon and enforceable against such Borrower to the
same extent as if the same had been made directly by such Borrower.

 
(c)    No Advance shall be requested or made in respect of any Person (including in respect of any property of any Person) who is not, at the time the

related Borrowing Notice is delivered to the Agent, a Borrower hereunder.
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Section 2.2    Procedure for Adding Financed Properties and Borrowing Advances.
 

(a)    Adding Financed Properties. The Borrower Representative may from time to time prior to the Revolving Period Termination Date, subject to
satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 3.2, add Eligible Properties as Financed Properties hereunder by:

 
(i)    delivering to the Agent, the Calculation Agent and the Diligence Agent a Property Addition Notice (which may be delivered in conjunction

with a Borrowing Notice pursuant to Section 2.2(c) below) identifying the Eligible Properties to be added to the Facility as Financed Properties and certifying
to the matters required therein;

 
(ii)    simultaneously with delivery of such Property Addition Notice (or not more than fifteen (15) Business Days prior thereto) posting to the

Data Site the Document Packages relating to each such Property.
 
(b)    Property Addition and Document Package Verification. Following delivery of a Property Addition Notice:

 
(i)    the Calculation Agent shall, within three (3) Business Days after receipt by it of such Property Addition Notice, deliver to the Agent, the

Diligence Agent and the Borrower Representative, either (A) if it has confirmed all of the applicable calculations related to a Property Addition Notice as
reflected on the calculation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit F, its Property Addition Confirmation or (B) if it has found any Calculation Deficiency therein,
a Calculation Agent Deficiency Report;

 
(ii)    the Diligence Agent shall, within three (3) Business Days after receipt such Property Addition Notice, deliver to the Agent, the Calculation

Agent and the Borrower Representative, either (A) its certification that (i) it has reviewed each Document Package related to such Property Addition Notice,
that there is no Diligence Deficiency with respect to any such Document Package, (ii) it has completed its due diligence review of each Property, including,
without limitation, that it has determined that each such Property is an Eligible Property, (iii) BPOs have been prepared (and which shall not be older than 60
days prior to the date of the Property Addition Notice) and completed by it for each Property included in such Property Addition Notice (the Agent shall direct
the Diligence Agent to post copies of the related BPOs to the Data Site) and (iv) it has determined the Property Value for each such Property included in such
Property Addition Notice or (B) if it has found any Diligence Deficiency, deliver a Diligence Agent Deficiency Notice; and

 
(iii)    upon receipt by the Agent of the Calculation Agent’s confirmation described in Section 2.2(b)(i) and the Diligence Agent’s certification

described in Section 2.2(b)(ii), and the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 3.2, the Agent shall deliver copies thereof, together with the
related Property Addition Notice to each Lender. Upon delivery of the Property Addition Confirmations from each of the Calculation Agent and the Diligence
Agent to each Lender, the Properties included in such Property Addition Confirmations shall be Financed Properties for all purposes under this Agreement.

 
(iv)    Upon delivery to the Borrower Representative of a Calculation Agent Deficiency Report or Diligence Agent Deficiency Notice, as

applicable, the Borrower Representative shall forthwith deliver to the Agent, the Calculation Agent and the Diligence Agent a new Property Addition Notice to
be reviewed pursuant to Section 2.2(b)(i) hereof and any related Document Packages (including any revisions or updates thereto) to correct each of the
Calculation Deficiencies and Diligence Deficiencies noted in such Calculation Agent Deficiency Report or Diligence Agent Deficiency Notice, as applicable,
which may include removing Properties subject to such Calculation Deficiencies or Diligence Deficiencies, as the case may be.
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(c)    Borrowing Notice. The Borrower Representative may from time to time prior to the Revolving Period Termination Date request Advances by:
 
(i)    delivering to the Agent, the Calculation Agent and the Diligence Agent a Borrowing Notice for such proposed Advance; and
 
(ii)    simultaneously with delivery of such Borrowing Notice, posting to the Data Site the Document Packages relating to each Property relating

to such proposed Advance to the extent not already a Financed Property or any supplement or update to such Document Package required in connection with
each Property.

 
(d)    Funding Advances. Each Property related to a requested Advance that is not already a Financed Property, shall be subject to the review and

certification procedures in Section 2.2(b). In addition, the Calculation Agent shall, within three (3) Business Days after receipt by it of such Borrowing Notice,
deliver to the Agent, the Diligence Agent and the Borrower Representative, either (A) if it has confirmed all of the calculations, its Borrowing Notice
Confirmation or (B) if it has found any Calculation Deficiency therein, a Calculation Agent Deficiency Report. Upon receipt by the Agent of the Property
Addition Confirmations from each of the Calculation Agent and the Diligence Agent for such Properties, and satisfaction of the other conditions precedent set
forth in Section 3.2, the Agent shall deliver copies thereof, together with the related Borrowing Notice to each Lender.

 
(e)    Each Borrowing Notice shall specify: (i) the proposed Borrowing Date, (ii) each Borrower related to such proposed Advance, (iii) each Property

related to such proposed Advance, (iv) the Asset Purchase Price related to each such Property and (v) the amount of the Advance requested, which shall be in
an amount at least equal to one million dollars ($1,000,000). In connection with each Borrowing Notice, the Borrower Representative shall certify on behalf of
each Borrower that (1) each of the Properties related to such proposed Advance is an Eligible Property, (2) each of the representations and warranties on
Schedule 2 hereto with respect to each such Property is true and correct and that each of the documents contained in each of the related Document Packages is
true and complete copy of the original document and (3) no Trigger Event, Default or Event of Default exists or would exist after giving effect to such
proposed Advance. The Borrowers shall indemnify the Agent and the Lenders against any loss or expense incurred by the Agent or any of the Lenders, either
directly or indirectly as a result of any failure by any Borrower to complete any requested Advance, including any loss (including loss of profit) or expense
incurred by the Agent or any Lender, either directly or indirectly by reason of the liquidation or reemployment of funds acquired by any Lender (including
obtaining deposits or loans from third parties) in order to fund such requested Advance.

 
(f)    The obligations of any Lender to make Advances hereunder are several from the obligations of any other Lenders. The failure of any Lender to

make available its Pro Rata Share of any Advance hereunder shall not release the obligations of any other Lender to make available its Pro Rata Share of any
Advance hereunder, but no Lender shall be responsible for the failure of any other Lender to make available its Pro Rata Share of any Advance hereunder.
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(g)    On the third (3rd) Business Day after delivery by the Agent to each Lender of the Borrowing Notice and related Borrowing Notice Confirmation,
pursuant to Section 2.2(d), subject to the satisfaction of the applicable conditions precedent specified in Section 3.2, each Lender shall remit its Pro Rata Share
of the Advance requested by the Borrowers to the Loan Account by 1:00 p.m. (New York City time) by wire transfer of same day funds. Upon receipt of such
funds, the Paying Agent, in accordance with the written instruction of the Agent (which may be in electronic form) received no later than 4:00 p.m. (New York
City time) one (1) Business Day prior to such Borrowing Date, shall remit such funds by wire transfer of same day funds (i) to the Agent, in the amount of any
unpaid fees, costs or expenses of the Agent, (ii) to the Diligence Agent, in the amount of any unpaid fees, costs or expenses of the Diligence Agent, (iii) to each
applicable Reserve Account, in the amount of the related Reserve Account Deposit Amount with respect to the proposed Advance and (iv) the balance of such
funds to the accounts specified in such related Borrowing Notice by 4:00 p.m. (New York City time), to the extent it has received such funds from the Lenders
no later than 1:00 p.m. (New York City time). Funds received by the Paying Agent from any Lender after 1:00 p.m. (New York City time) on any Business Day
may, at the discretion of the Paying Agent, be deemed to have been received on the next Business Day.

 
(h)    Advances repaid under this Agreement may be re-borrowed prior to the Revolving Period Termination Date, subject to the terms of this

Agreement.
 
(i)    Any Lender may elect to postpone remittance of an Advance pursuant to Section 2.2(g), subject to the following: any such election must be made

by written notice to the Borrower Representative, Calculation Agent, the Agent and each of the other Lenders delivered prior to 5:00 p.m. (New York City time)
on the Business Day immediately following the date the Borrowing Notice is received. If any Lender timely delivers such notice, the date on which such
Lender is obligated to remit its Pro Rata Share of an Advance pursuant to Section 2.2(g) shall be deemed postponed to the earliest of (a) the date provided in
such notice and (b) the date that is ten (10) days after the applicable Borrowing Notice was received.

 
Section 2.3    Purpose. The proceeds of the Advances will be used by the Borrowers for the costs and expenses related to their acquisition, renovation

and maintenance of Properties and for other general purposes of the Borrowers, including, without limitation, Permitted Distributions, provided, that no portion
of the proceeds of any Advance may be used in any manner that causes or might cause such Advance or the application of such proceeds to violate Regulation
T, Regulation U or Regulation X of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or any other regulation thereof.
 

Section 2.4    Interest and Fees.
 

(a)    Except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement, the Advances Outstanding on each day shall bear interest at the applicable Interest Rate. Interest
accrued during each Interest Accrual Period shall be payable on each Payment Date in accordance with Section 2.8.
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(b)    Unless otherwise provided herein, interest and fees payable under this Agreement shall be computed on the basis of a 360 day year and the actual
number of days in the related Interest Accrual Period. In computing interest on the Advances Outstanding on each day, interest shall accrue on the Advances
Outstanding at the opening of business on such day, even if a principal payment is made as of such day.

 
(c)    On the Effective Date, the Borrowers shall pay to the Paying Agent, and the Paying Agent shall distribute to each Lender, their Pro Rata Share of

the Facility Fee payable under the Fee Letter. The Facility Fee for each Lender is fully earned as of the Effective Date and non-refundable in whole or in part.
 
Section 2.5    Payment of Principal and Interest. Each of the Borrowers, jointly and severally, unconditionally promises to pay to the order of each

Lender all Obligations due such Lender under this Agreement as provided herein.
 

(a)    Unless the Advances Outstanding and all accrued and unpaid interest on the Advances Outstanding become due and payable earlier in
accordance with Section 8.2(a), the Advances Outstanding and all accrued and unpaid interest on the Advances Outstanding shall be due and payable in full on
the Scheduled Maturity Date.

 
(b)    Interest accrued hereunder shall be due and payable (i) on each Payment Date, (ii) upon any prepayment or repayment of any portion or all of the

Advances Outstanding, whether on the Scheduled Maturity Date or otherwise, to the extent accrued on the amount being prepaid or repaid and (iii) otherwise
as provided herein.

 
(c)    Payments to each Lender hereunder shall be made in lawful money of the United States of America in immediately available funds, without

defense, recoupment, setoff or counterclaim, free of any restriction or condition, and delivered to each Lender, not later than 2:00 p.m. (New York City time) on
the date due by via wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account of such Lender set forth on Annex A hereto (or at such other location or bank
account within the City and State of New York as may be designated by each Lender from time to time); funds received by any Lender in writing to the Paying
Agent after that time on such due date shall be deemed to have been paid on the next Business Day and such extension of time shall be included in the
computation of the payment of interest hereunder.

 
Section 2.6    Termination and Reduction of Facility. The Borrower Representative may at any time terminate the Facility, or from time to time reduce

the Facility Amount; provided that (i) each reduction of the Facility Amount shall be in an aggregate amount of $1,000,000 or any whole multiple of
$1,000,000 in excess thereof and (ii) the Borrower shall not terminate the Facility or reduce the Facility Amount if the Advances Outstanding would exceed the
Facility Amount (after giving effect to any concurrent prepayment of Advances). In connection with any reduction of the Facility Amount, each Lender shall be
entitled to have its Commitment reduced by at least its Pro Rata Share of the aggregate reduction amount, such that its Pro Rata Share of the Facility is not
increased, but any Lender may (with the consent of the Borrower Representative) waive reduction of its Commitment, in whole or in part, in connection
therewith. The Borrower shall notify the Agent and the Calculation Agent of any election to terminate the Facility or reduce the Facility Amount at least three
(3) Business Days prior to the effective date of such termination or reduction, specifying such election and the effective date thereof. Any such notice of
termination or reduction shall be irrevocable; but may be conditioned upon the receipt of proceeds from indebtedness, an asset sale or other transaction.
Promptly following receipt of any such notice, the Agent shall advise the Lenders of the contents thereof.
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Section 2.7    Prepayments and Releases.
 

(a)    Prepayments In Connection With Property Releases. At any time and from time to time prior to the Termination Date, the Borrower
Representative may, by delivering at least three (3) Business Days’ prior written notice to the Agent, each Lender, the Calculation Agent and the Paying Agent,
obtain the release of a Financed Property as a Financed Property (a “Property Release”) hereunder (in connection with a Conveyance or otherwise), provided
that each of the following conditions has been satisfied:

 
(i)    the payment to the Collection Account, in immediately available funds on the date of transfer of ownership or release of such Financed

Property of the related Property Release Amount, if applicable;
 

(ii)    the Borrower Representative shall certify, at least three (3) Business Days’ prior to the proposed Property Release date, to the Agent, each
Lender, the Calculation Agent and the Paying Agent (A) the Allocated Loan Amount for the related Financed Property, (B) the related Conveyance Proceeds;
(C) the related Release Premium and Reduction Amount; (D) the Release Premium Deduction that will apply after such Property Release; and (E) that, after
giving effect to the release of such Financed Property, the Eligibility Requirements will be met with respect to all remaining Financed Properties;

 
(iii)    if the Financed Property is being released in a Related Party Property Release, the Borrower Representative shall certify, at least three (3)

Business Days’ prior to the proposed release, to the Agent, the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agent and each Lender, that the selection of such Financed
Property for release does not violate Section 7.1(n);

 
(iv)    the Borrower Representative shall certify pursuant to a certificate of its Responsible Officer, at least three (3) Business Days’ prior to the

proposed Property Release date, to the Agent, each Lender, the Calculation Agent and the Paying Agent, that no Trigger Event, Default or Event of Default has
occurred and is continuing prior to or after giving pro forma effect to the removal of such Financed Property from the Facility and the application of the
Property Release Amount, if any, including, without limitation, pro forma calculation of the Borrowing Base, Debt Service Coverage Ratio, Debt Yield Ratio,
Portfolio Delinquency Amount and Loan to Value Ratio, which pro forma calculation shall be attached as a schedule to such certificate and certified by the
Borrower Representative and calculated by the Borrower Representative;

 
(v)    if the Property Release Amounts deposited in the Collection Account pursuant to this Section 2.7(a) exceed $5,000,000, then the Agent

may give notice to the Paying Agent instructing the Paying Agent to apply such sums to the prepayment of the Advances Outstanding, and the Paying Agent
shall so apply such funds within two (2) Business Days after receipt of such notice. If not so applied prior to the Payment Date following deposit of any
Property Release Amount pursuant to this Section 2.7(a), the related Property Release Amount shall be due and payable on such Payment Date pursuant to
Section 2.8(b); and
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(vi)    the Borrower Representative shall deliver a Release Premium Report prior to such Property Release.
 
(b)    Prepayments In Connection With Condemnations. In the first Monthly Report delivered after the receipt of any Condemnation Proceeds in the

Collection Account pursuant to the provisions of Section 6.3, the Borrower Representative shall state the amount thereof, the identity of the related Property,
and whether the related Property is a Financed Property and, if such Property is a Financed Property, the Allocated Loan Amount therefor. If the related
Property is a Financed Property, then on the related Payment Date such Condemnation Proceeds shall be applied to repay the Allocated Loan Amount of the
related Financed Property, or, if the related Condemnation Proceeds are less than the related Allocated Loan Amount, the portion of the Allocated Loan Amount
equal to the related Condemnation Proceeds.

 
(c)    Prepayments In Connection With Insurance Proceeds. In the first Monthly Report delivered after the receipt of any Insurance Proceeds in the

Collection Account pursuant to the provisions of Section 6.2(g), the Borrower Representative shall state the amount thereof and, if such Insurance Proceeds
relate to any damage, destruction or other casualty affecting any Property, the identity of the related Property, whether the related Property is a Financed
Property and, if such Property is a Financed Property, the Allocated Loan Amount therefor. If the related Property is a Financed Property, then on the related
Payment Date such Insurance Proceeds shall be applied to repay Advances in an amount equal to the Allocated Loan Amount of the related Financed Property
or, if the related Insurance Proceeds are less than the related Allocated Loan Amount, the portion of the Allocated Loan Amount equal to the related Insurance
Proceeds.

 
(d)    Prepayments In Connection With Non-Eligible Properties. If the Borrowers are required to repay Advances Outstanding pursuant to Section

2.13, the Borrowers shall deposit or cause to be deposited into the Collection Account the amount required to be repaid on or before the date required under
Section 2.13. Upon deposit of any amounts in the Collection Account in compliance with the provisions of Section 2.13, the Borrower Representative shall
notify the Agent, the Lenders, the Calculation Agent and the Paying Agent of the deposit and amount thereof, the purpose for which it was deposited, the
identity of the related Property, and the Allocated Loan Amount therefor. Upon receipt of the Borrower Representative’s notice referred to above, the Paying
Agent shall pay to each Lender its Pro Rata Share of the Advances Outstanding from the amounts deposited by or on behalf of the Borrowers into the
Collection Account for such purpose.

 
(e)    Prepayments In Connection With Ratio Compliance. If the Borrowers elect to cure a breach of Section 8.1(r) by repaying the Ratio Cure

Amount, upon deposit in the Collection Account of the amounts required pursuant to the Ratio Cure Procedures, the Borrower Representative shall notify the
Agent, the Lenders, the Calculation Agent and the Paying Agent of the deposit and amount thereof, and the purpose for which it was deposited. Upon receipt of
the Borrower Representative’s notice referred to above, the Paying Agent shall pay to each Lender its Pro Rata Share of the Ratio Cure Amount from the
amounts deposited by or on behalf of the Borrowers into the Collection Account for such purpose.
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(f)    Release of Borrowers. In the event a Borrower has Conveyed or obtained the release of all of its Financed Properties pursuant to Section 2.7(a)
above, the Agent shall if requested by the Borrower Representative, and at the Borrowers’ expense, execute, deliver, file and record any release, document or
other instrument and take such action that may be necessary or that the Borrower may reasonably request, to evidence the release by the Agent of the Borrower
from the Obligations hereunder.

 
(g)    Prepayments In Connection With Borrowing Base Shortfall. If, as of any date of determination, there is a Borrowing Base Shortfall, including,

without limitation, due to an Advance Rate Reduction Event or following updated property valuations obtained pursuant to Section 4.2, the Borrowers are
required to repay Advances Outstanding in an amount sufficient to eliminate such Borrowing Base Shortfall. The Borrowers shall deposit or cause to be
deposited into the Collection Account the amount required to be repaid within two (2) Business Days after the occurrence of such Borrowing Base Shortfall.
Upon deposit of any such amounts in the Collection Account, the Borrower Representative shall notify the Agent, the Lenders, the Calculation Agent and the
Paying Agent of the deposit and amount thereof, the purpose for which it was deposited, the cause of the Borrowing Base Shortfall, and the amount required to
cure such Borrowing Base Shortfall. Upon receipt of the Borrower Representative’s notice referred to above, the Paying Agent shall pay to each Lender its Pro
Rata Share of the Advances Outstanding from the amounts deposited by or on behalf of the Borrowers into the Collection Account for such purpose.

 
(h)    (g) Voluntary Prepayments. If the Borrowers elect to prepay Advances, upon deposit in the Collection Account of the amount of such

prepayment, the Borrower Representative shall notify the Agent, the Lenders, the Calculation Agent and the Paying Agent of the deposit and amount thereof.
Upon receipt of the Borrower Representative’s notice referred to above, the Paying Agent shall pay to each Lender its Pro Rata Share of the amount deposited
by or on behalf of the Borrowers into the Collection Account for such purpose.

 
Section 2.8    Application of Available Funds; Collection Account.

 
(a)    The Collection Account shall be established and maintained with the Paying Agent. The Agent shall have sole dominion and control (including,

without limitation, “control” within the meaning of Section 9-104(a) of the UCC) over the Collection Account. None of the Borrowers, the Borrower
Representative, the Property Manager, the Back-Up Manager, Guarantors, Sponsor or any Person claiming through or under any of them shall have any right to
direct application of funds in the Collection Account until all Obligations have been repaid in full and this Agreement is terminated. So long as no Early
Amortization Event, Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, the Borrower Representative shall have the right to direct the
investment of sums on deposit in the Collection Account in Permitted Investments if (i) such investments are permitted by Applicable Laws and (ii) the
maturity date of the Permitted Investment is not later than the date on which funds in the related Collection Account are required for payment of an obligation.

 
(b)    On each Payment Date, the Paying Agent shall, in accordance with the related Payment Date Report, distribute the Available Funds for such

Payment Date and any other funds deposited into the Collection Account by or on behalf of the Borrowers not later than the Business Day immediately prior to
such Payment Date for distribution, to the extent the Calculation Agent has received notice of such amounts on or prior to the Reporting Date, on such Payment
Date in the following order of priority:
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(i)    first, to the Borrower Representative (for application by Borrower Representative or the applicable Borrower to the purposes described in
this clause (i)) the sum of (A) the Senior Property Manager Fees due and payable and (B) the Operating Expenses (other than Property Manager Fees) for the
related Collection Period in an amount equal to:

 
1.         if no Ratio Trigger Event, Early Amortization Event or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing (or will result from

application of the Available Funds pursuant to this Section 2.8(b) on such Payment Date), zero dollars ($0);
 

2.         if a Ratio Trigger Event has occurred and is continuing (or will result from application of the Available Funds pursuant to this
Section 2.8(b) on such Payment Date), the Property Expense Amount to pay Senior Property Manager Fees and Operating Expenses for the Financed Properties
and the Net Non-Financed Collections to the Borrower Representative to pay Senior Property Manager Fees and Operating Expenses for the Non-Financed
Properties and for such other lawful purposes permitted hereunder as determined by the Borrower Representative; or
 

3.         if an Early Amortization Event or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing (or will result from application of the Available
Funds pursuant to this Section 2.8(b) on such Payment Date), the Approved Monthly Expense Amount, or, if no Approved Monthly Expense Amount has been
established, then to the payment of Senior Property Manager Fees and Operating Expenses for the Properties as submitted by the Borrower Representative in
the applicable Monthly Report, excluding such items thereof as the Agent shall have determined to exclude in its sole discretion;
 

(ii)    second, (x) to the Insurance Reserve Account, the aggregate Insurance Reserve Account Shortfall Amount for such Payment Date and (y)
to the Tax Reserve Account, the aggregate Tax Reserve Account Shortfall Amount for such Payment Date;

 
(iii)    third, to pay, pro rata, (A) the Agent Fee owed to the Agent on such Payment Date, together with any costs, expenses or indemnities then

due and payable to the Agent, (B) the Paying Agent Fee owed to the Paying Agent on such Payment Date, together with any costs, expenses or indemnities then
due and payable to the Paying Agent, (C) the Calculation Agent Fee to the Calculation Agent, together with any costs, expenses or indemnities then due and
payable to the Calculation Agent, (D) the Diligence Agent Fees then due and payable to the Diligence Agent, together with any costs, expenses or indemnities
then due and payable to the Diligence Agent, (E) any costs, expenses or indemnities then due and payable to the Securities Intermediary and (F) the Back-Up
Manager Fee to the Back-Up Manager, together with any costs, expenses or indemnities then due and payable to the Back-Up Manager;

 
(iv)    fourth, pro rata to each Lender, any fees, costs, expenses or indemnities then due or payable under this Agreement or any Loan

Document;
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(v)    fifth, to pay to each Lender, such Lender’s Pro Rata Share of each of the Interest Payment Amount and the Unused Fee for such Payment
Date (and any unpaid amounts from any prior Payment Date);

 
(vi)    sixth, to pay to each Lender, such Lender’s Pro Rata Share of any Required Principal Payment Amount to the extent not paid prior to such

Payment Date;
 
(vii)    seventh, to the Interest Reserve Account, an amount equal to the Interest Reserve Account Shortfall Amount, if any, as of such Payment

Date;
 
(viii)    eighth, to the Renovation Cost Reserve Account, an amount equal to the Renovation Cost Reserve Account Shortfall Amount, if any, as

of such Payment Date;
 
(ix)    ninth, if a Ratio Trigger Event has occurred and is continuing, (A) prior to the Ratio Trigger Delay Termination Date, to the Ratio Trigger

Reserve Account the amount necessary to reduce the Advances Outstanding such that such Ratio Trigger Event would be cured if such amount were applied to
reduce the Advances Outstanding on a pro forma basis and (B) on and after the Ratio Trigger Delay Termination Date, to each Lender such Lender’s Pro Rata
Share of the amount necessary to reduce the Advances Outstanding to an amount such that, after giving effect to such reduction, no Ratio Trigger Event shall
be continuing;

 
(x)    tenth, during an Early Amortization Event Repayment Period or if an Event of Default exists, to each Lender such Lender’s Pro Rata

Share of the Advances Outstanding until the Advances Outstanding have been reduced to zero;
 
(xi)    eleventh, to the payment of the Property Manager Fees and other Operating Expenses not paid pursuant to Section 2.8(b)(i) above; and
 
(xii)    twelfth, to the Borrower Representative (or its designee) all remaining amounts, who may use or apply such amounts for any lawful

purpose permitted under this Credit Agreement.
 
(c)    On each Reporting Date, the Borrower Representative will prepare and deliver to the Calculation Agent and the Agent a Monthly Report for the

related Collection Period. Upon receipt of such Monthly Report, the Calculation Agent shall review the substance thereof, verify any applicable calculations
contained therein and shall prepare and deliver a Monthly Report Confirmation and a Payment Date Report to the Agent (with a copy to the Borrower
Representative, the Paying Agent and the Lenders) two (2) Business Days prior to the related Payment Date. Upon the Agent’s approval of each such Payment
Date Report, the Agent will forward each such Payment Date Report to the Paying Agent (with a copy to the Borrower Representative and the Lenders) no later
than 4:00 p.m. (New York City time) one (1) Business Day prior to the related Payment Date and instruct the Paying Agent to pay the Available Funds in the
Collection Account in accordance with such Payment Date Report in the manner set forth in Section 2.8(b).
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(d)    Distributions pursuant to this Section 2.8 in respect of amounts payable under the Loan Documents shall constitute payment of such amounts by
the Loan Parties for all purposes of the Loan Documents.

 
Section 2.9    Alternate Rate of Interest.

 
(a)    Subject to clauses (b), (c), (d), (e), (f) and (g) of this Section 2.9, if prior to the commencement of any Interest Accrual Period for an Advance:

 
(i)    the Agent determines (which determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error) at any time, that adequate and reasonable means

do not exist for ascertaining the Adjusted LIBO Rate or the LIBO Rate, as applicable (including because the LIBO Screen Rate is not available or published on
a current basis), for such Interest Accrual Period; provided that no Benchmark Transition Event shall have occurred at such timeDaily Simple SOFR; or
 

(ii)    the Agent is advised by the Required Lenders that theat any time, Adjusted LIBO Rate or the LIBO Rate, as applicable, for such Interest
Accrual PeriodDaily Simple SOFR will not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to such Lenders (or Lender) of making or maintaining their Advances (or its
Advance) for such Interest Accrual PeriodLoans bearing interest by reference to Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR;
 
then the Agent shall give notice thereof to the Borrower and the Lenders by telephone, telecopy or electronic mail as promptly as practicable thereafter and,
until the Agent notifies the Borrower and the Lenders that the circumstances giving rise to such notice no longer exist with respect to the relevant Benchmark,
the interest rate applicable to the Advances shall be the Alternate Base Rate.
 

(b)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, if a Benchmark Transition Event or an Early Opt-in Election, as
applicable, and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred prior to the Reference Time in respect of any setting of the then-current Benchmark,
then (x) if a Benchmark Replacement is determined in accordance with clause (1) or (2) of the definition of “Benchmark Replacement” for such Benchmark
Replacement Date, such Benchmark Replacement will replace such Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in respect of such
Benchmark setting and subsequent Benchmark settings without any amendment to, or further action or consent of any other party to, this Agreement or any
other Loan Document and (y) if a Benchmark Replacement is determined in accordance with clause (3) of the definition of “Benchmark Replacement” for such
Benchmark Replacement Date, such Benchmark Replacement will replace such Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in
respect of any Benchmark setting at or after 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the fifth (5th) Business Day after the date notice of such Benchmark
Replacement is provided to the Lenders without any amendment to, or further action or consent of any other party to, this Agreement or any other Loan
Document so long as the Agent has not received, by such time, written notice of objection to such Benchmark Replacement from Lenders comprising the
Required Lenders.
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(c)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document and subject to the proviso below in this paragraph, if a Term
SOFR Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred prior to the Reference Time in respect of any setting of the then-current
Benchmark, then the applicable Benchmark Replacement will replace the then-current Benchmark for all purposes hereunder or under any Loan Document in
respect of such Benchmark setting and subsequent Benchmark settings, without any amendment to, or further action or consent of any other party to, this
Agreement or any other Loan Document; provided that, this clause (c) shall not be effective unless the Agent has delivered to the Lenders and the Borrower a
Term SOFR Notice.

 
(d)         In connection with the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement, the Agent will have the right to make Benchmark Replacement

Conforming Changes from time to time and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, any amendments implementing
such Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes will become effective without any further action or consent of any other party to this Agreement or any
other Loan Document.
 

(d)    (e) The Agent will promptly notify the Borrower and the Lenders of (i1) any occurrence of a Benchmark Transition Event, a Term SOFR
Transition Event or an Early Opt-in Election, as applicable, and its related Benchmark Replacement Date, (ii2) the implementation of any Benchmark
Replacement, (iii3) the effectiveness of any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes, (iv) the removal or reinstatement of any tenor of a Benchmark
pursuant to clause (f) below and (v4) the commencement or conclusion of any Benchmark Unavailability Period. Any determination, decision or election that
may be made by the Agent or, if applicable, any Lender (or group of Lenders) pursuant to this Section 2.9, including any determination with respect to a tenor,
rate or adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain from taking any action or any
selection, will be conclusive and binding absent manifest error and may be made in its or their sole discretion and without consent from any other party to this
Agreement or any other Loan Document, except, in each case, as expressly required pursuant to this  Section 2.9.

 
(f)         Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, at any time (including in connection with the implementation

of a Benchmark Replacement), (i) if the then-current Benchmark is a term rate (including Term SOFR or LIBO Rate) and either (A) any tenor for such
Benchmark is not displayed on a screen or other information service that publishes such rate from time to time as selected by the Agent in its reasonable
discretion or (B) the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark has provided a public statement or publication of information announcing
that any tenor for such Benchmark is or will be no longer representative, then the Agent may modify the definition of “Interest Accrual Period” for any
Benchmark settings at or after such time to remove such unavailable or non-representative tenor and (ii) if a tenor that was removed pursuant to clause (i)
above either (A) is subsequently displayed on a screen or information service for a Benchmark (including a Benchmark Replacement) or (B) is not, or is no
longer, subject to an announcement that it is or will no longer be representative for a Benchmark (including a Benchmark Replacement), then the Agent may
modify the definition of “Interest Accrual Period” for all Benchmark settings at or after such time to reinstate such previously removed tenor.
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(e)    (g) Upon the Borrower’s receipt of notice of the commencement of a Benchmark Unavailability Period, and at all times during the Borrower may
revoke any request for an Advance of, conversion to or continuation of Advance to be made, converted or continued during anya Benchmark Unavailability
Period and, failing that, the Borrower will be deemed to have converted any such request into a request for an Advance of or conversion to Alternate Base Rate
Advances. During any Benchmark Unavailability Period or at any time that a tenor for the then-current Benchmark is not an Available Tenor, the component of
the Alternate Base Rate based upon the then-current Benchmark or such tenor for such Benchmark, as applicable, will not be used in any determination
ofAdvances will bear interest at the Alternate Base Rate.

 
Section 2.10    [Reserved].

 
Section 2.11    Increased Costs.

 
(a)    If any Applicable Laws (other than with respect to any amendment made to any Lender’s organizational or governing documents), including

those regarding capital adequacy, or any change in, or change in the interpretation or application of, any Applicable Laws or compliance by any Lender with
any request or directive (whether or not having the force of law) from any central bank or other Governmental Authority made subsequent to the date hereof:

 
(i)    subject any Lender to any Applicable Taxes (other than (A) Indemnified Taxes, (B) Applicable Taxes described in clauses (b) through (d)

of the definition of Excluded Taxes and (C) Connection Income Taxes) on its loans, loan principal, letters of credit, commitments, or other obligations, or its
deposits, reserves, other liabilities or capital attributable thereto;

 
(ii)    shall impose, modify or hold applicable any reserve, special deposit, compulsory loan or similar requirement against assets held by,

deposits or other liabilities in or for the account of, advances, or other extensions of credit by, or any other acquisition of funds by, any office of any Lender
which is not otherwise included in the determination of the LIBO RateDaily Simple SOFR hereunder; or

 
(iii)    shall impose on any Lender any other condition;

 
and the result of any of the foregoing is to increase the cost to any Lender, by an amount which such Lender deems to be material, of entering, continuing or
maintaining the Advances or to reduce any amount due or owing hereunder in respect thereof or shall have the effect of reducing any Lender’s rate of return,
then, in any such case, the Borrowers shall promptly deposit into the Collection Account such additional amount or amounts as calculated by such Lender in
good faith as will compensate such Lender for such increased cost or reduced amount receivable.
 

(b)    If any Lender shall have determined that any Applicable Laws (whether now existing or hereafter enacted) regarding capital adequacy or in the
interpretation or application thereof or compliance by such Lender or any corporation controlling such Person with any request or directive regarding capital
adequacy (whether or not having the force of law) from any Governmental Authority shall have the effect of reducing the rate of return on such Lender’s or
such corporation’s capital as a consequence of its obligations hereunder to a level below that which such Lender or such corporation could have achieved but
for such adoption, change or compliance (taking into consideration such Lender’s or such corporation’s policies with respect to capital adequacy) by an amount
deemed by such Lender to be material, then from time to time, the Borrowers shall promptly deposit into the Collection Account such additional amount or
amounts as will compensate such Lender for such reduction. For the avoidance of doubt, (i) the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act
and all requests, rules, guidelines or directives thereunder or issued in connection therewith and (ii) all requests, rules, guidelines or directives promulgated by
the Bank for International Settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (or any successor or similar authority) or the United States or foreign
regulatory authorities, in each case pursuant to Basel III, shall in each case be deemed to be a “change in Applicable Law” subject to this Section 2.11,
regardless of the date enacted, adopted or issued.
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(c)    If any Lender becomes entitled to claim any additional amounts pursuant to this Section 2.11, it shall notify the Borrowers, the Agent and Paying
Agent in writing of the amount payable. A certificate as to any additional amounts payable pursuant to this Section submitted by a Lender to the Borrowers and
the Agent shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest error.

 
Section 2.12    Indemnified Taxes.

 
(a)    Any and all payments by or on account of any obligation of Borrower under any Loan Document shall be made without deduction or withholding

for any Applicable Taxes, except as required by Applicable Law. If any Applicable law (as determined in the good faith discretion of the applicable
Withholding Agent) requires the deduction or withholding of any Applicable Tax from any such payment by the applicable Withholding Agent, then the
applicable Withholding Agent shall be entitled to make such deduction or withholding and shall timely pay the full amount deducted or withheld to the relevant
Governmental Authority in accordance with Applicable Law and, if such Applicable Tax is an Indemnified Tax, then the sum payable by Borrower shall be
increased as necessary so that after such deduction or withholding has been made (including such deductions and withholdings applicable to additional sums
payable under this Section 2.12) the applicable Lender receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such deduction or withholding been
made.

 
(b)    Borrower shall timely pay to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with Applicable Law, or at the option of the applicable

Withholding Agent timely reimburse it for the payment of, any Other Taxes.
 
(c)    Borrower shall indemnify each Lender, within ten (10) days after demand therefor, for the full amount of any Indemnified Taxes (including

Indemnified Taxes imposed or asserted on or attributable to amounts payable under this Section 2.12) payable or paid by such Lender or required to be
withheld or deducted from a payment to such Lender and any reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Indemnified
Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority. A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability
delivered to Borrower by a Lender (with a copy to Agent), or by Agent on its own behalf or on behalf of a Lender, shall be conclusive absent manifest error.

 
(d)    Each Lender shall severally indemnify Agent, within ten (10) days after demand therefor, for (i) any Indemnified Taxes attributable to such

Lender (but only to the extent that Borrower has not already indemnified Agent for such Indemnified Taxes and without limiting the obligation of Borrower to
do so), (ii) any Applicable Taxes attributable to such Lender’s failure to comply with the provisions of Section 10.1(e) relating to the maintenance of a
Participant Register and (iii) any Excluded Taxes attributable to such Lender, in each case, that are payable or paid by Agent in connection with any Loan
Document, and any reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Applicable Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or
asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority. A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability delivered to any Lender by Agent shall be
conclusive absent manifest error. Each Lender hereby authorizes Agent to set off and apply any and all amounts at any time owing to such Lender under any
Loan Document or otherwise payable by the Agent to Lender from any other source against any amount due to the Agent under this Section 2.12(d).
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(e)    As soon as practicable after any payment of Applicable Taxes by Borrower to a Governmental Authority pursuant to this Section 2.12, Borrower
shall deliver to Agent the original or a certified copy of a receipt issued by such Governmental Authority evidencing such payment, a copy of the return
reporting such payment or other evidence of such payment reasonably satisfactory to Agent.

 
(f)    Any Lender that is entitled to an exemption from or reduction of withholding tax with respect to payments made under any Loan Document shall

deliver to the applicable Withholding Agent, at the time or times reasonably requested by the applicable Withholding Agent, such properly completed and
executed documentation reasonably requested by the Withholding Agent as will permit such payments to be made without withholding or at a reduced rate of
withholding. In addition, any Lender, if reasonably requested by a Withholding Agent, shall deliver such other documentation prescribed by Applicable Law or
reasonably requested by a Withholding Agent as will enable the Withholding Agent to determine whether or not such Lender is subject to backup withholding
or information reporting requirements. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the preceding two sentences, the completion, execution and submission of
such documentation (other than such documentation set forth in Section 2.12(f)(i), (ii) and (iv) below) shall not be required if in the Lender’s reasonable
judgment such completion, execution or submission would subject such Lender to any material unreimbursed cost or expense or would prejudice the legal or
commercial position of such Lender. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing,

 
(i)    any Lender that is a U.S. Person shall deliver to the applicable Withholding Agent on or prior to the date on which such Lender becomes a

Lender under this Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upon the reasonable request of a Withholding Agent), executed originals of IRS Form W-9
certifying that such Lender is exempt from U.S. federal backup withholding tax;

 
(ii)    any Foreign Lender shall, to the extent it is legally entitled to do so, deliver to the applicable Withholding Agent (in such number of copies

as shall be requested by the Lender) on or prior to the date on which such Foreign Lender becomes a Lender under this Agreement (and from time to time
thereafter upon the reasonable request of a Withholding Agent), whichever of the following is applicable:

 
1.         in the case of a Foreign Lender claiming the benefits of an income tax treaty to which the United States is a party (x) with respect to

payments of interest under any Loan Document, executed originals of IRS Form W-8BEN or IRS Form W-8BEN-E, as applicable, establishing an exemption
from, or reduction of, U.S. federal withholding tax pursuant to the “interest” article of such tax treaty and (y) with respect to any other applicable payments
under any Loan Document, IRS Form W-8BEN establishing an exemption from, or reduction of, U.S. federal withholding tax pursuant to the “business profits”
or “other income” article of such tax treaty;
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2.         executed originals of IRS Form W-8ECI;
 

3.         in the case of a Foreign Lender claiming the benefits of the exemption for portfolio interest under Section 881(c) of the Code, (x) a
certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit K-1 to the effect that such Foreign Lender is not a “bank” within the meaning of Section 881(c)(3)(A) of the
Code, a “10 percent shareholder” of Borrower within the meaning of Section 881(c)(3)(B) of the Code, or a “controlled foreign corporation” described in
Section 881(c)(3)(C) of the Code (a “U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate”) and (y) executed originals of IRS Form W-8BEN or IRS Form W-8BEN-E, as
applicable; or
 

4.         to the extent a Foreign Lender is not the beneficial owner, executed originals of IRS Form W-8IMY, accompanied by IRS Form W-
8ECI, IRS Form W-8BEN, IRS Form W-8BEN-E a U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit K-2 or Exhibit K-3, IRS Form W-9,
and/or other certification documents from each beneficial owner, as applicable; provided that if the Foreign Lender is a partnership and one or more direct or
indirect partners of such Foreign Lender are claiming the portfolio interest exemption, such Foreign Lender may provide a U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate
substantially in the form of Exhibit K‑4 on behalf of each such direct and indirect partner;
 

(iii)    any Foreign Lender shall, to the extent it is legally entitled to do so, deliver to the applicable Withholding Agent (in such number of copies
as shall be requested by the Lender) on or prior to the date on which such Foreign Lender becomes a Lender under this Agreement (and from time to time
thereafter upon the reasonable request of a Withholding Agent), executed originals of any other form prescribed by Applicable Law as a basis for claiming
exemption from or a reduction in U.S. federal withholding Applicable Tax, duly completed, together with such supplementary documentation as may be
prescribed by Applicable Law to permit the applicable Withholding Agent to determine the withholding or deduction required to be made; and

 
(iv)    For the avoidance of doubt, neither the Calculation Agent nor the Paying Agent shall have any obligation under this Agreement to

determine any withholding amount required pursuant to FATCA or otherwise.
 
(v)    Each Lender agrees that if any form or certification it previously delivered expires or becomes obsolete or inaccurate in any respect, it shall

update such form or certification or promptly notify the applicable Withholding Agent in writing of its legal inability to do so.
 

64



 
 

(vi)    If any party determines, in its sole discretion exercised in good faith, that it has received a refund of any Applicable Taxes as to which it has
been indemnified pursuant to this Section 2.12 (including by the payment of additional amounts pursuant to this Section 2.12), it shall pay to the indemnifying
party an amount equal to such refund (but only to the extent of indemnity payments made under this Section 2.12 with respect to the Applicable Taxes giving
rise to such refund), net of all out-of-pocket expenses (including Applicable Taxes) of such indemnified party and without interest (other than any interest paid
by the relevant Governmental Authority with respect to such refund). Such indemnifying party, upon the request of such indemnified party, shall repay to such
indemnified party the amount paid over pursuant to this paragraph (f) (plus any penalties, interest or other charges imposed by the relevant Governmental
Authority) in the event that such indemnified party is required to repay such refund to such Governmental Authority. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
in this paragraph (f), in no event will the indemnified party be required to pay any amount to an indemnifying party pursuant to this paragraph (f) the payment
of which would place the indemnified party in a less favorable net after-tax position than the indemnified party would have been in if the Applicable Tax
subject to indemnification and giving rise to such refund had not been deducted, withheld or otherwise imposed and the indemnification payments or additional
amounts with respect to such Applicable Tax had never been paid. This paragraph (vi) shall not be construed to require any indemnified party to make available
its tax returns (or any other information relating to its Applicable Taxes that it deems confidential) to the indemnifying party or any other Person.
 
Each party’s obligations under this Section 2.12 shall survive the resignation or replacement of Agent or any assignment of rights by a Lender and the
repayment, satisfaction or discharge of all obligations under any Loan Document.
 

Section 2.13    Remedies Upon Breach of Representation As To Eligible Property. If at any time any Financed Property no longer qualifies as an
Eligible Property or at any time any Borrower, the Borrower Representative, the Property Manager, the Back-Up Manager, the Agent, the Diligence Agent or
any Lender determines that any Financed Property that has been represented to be an Eligible Property is not an Eligible Property (in any such case, a
“Non‑Eligible Property”), the party making such discovery shall promptly notify the other parties of such Non-Eligible Property and the reasons it fails to
qualify as an Eligible Property. On or before the last day of the applicable Cure Period, the Borrowers shall either (i) cure the failure of such Non-Eligible
Property to constitute an Eligible Property or (ii) repay Advances Outstanding, and/or qualify and deliver additional Eligible Properties as Financed Properties
pursuant to Section 2.2, to the extent necessary to cure any Borrowing Base Shortfall, an LTV Ratio in excess of 70% or a Trigger Event resulting from such
Non-Eligible Property (together with any other Non-Eligible Properties) failing to constitute an Eligible Property, and in either case provide notice to the
Calculation Agent of the Borrowers’ election to proceed under the foregoing (i) or (ii). For the purpose of clause (ii) of the immediately preceding sentence, (i)
such Non-Eligible Property shall be deemed to have an Advance Rate, Market Value, Property Value and Asset Purchase Price of zero and (ii) the Debt Service
Coverage Ratio, the Debt Yield Ratio and the Portfolio Delinquency Amount shall be recalculated as of the most recently ended Measurement Quarter with the
Annualized Net Cash Flow related to such Non-Eligible Property excluded from the applicable calculation. Unless the failure of such Non-Eligible Property to
constitute an Eligible Property is cured on or before the last day of the applicable Cure Period, such Non-Eligible Property shall no longer constitute a Financed
Property unless and until it subsequently qualifies as an Eligible Property and is re-delivered and qualified pursuant to Section 2.2.
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Section 2.14    The Paying Agent.
 

(a)    The Lenders hereby appoint JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association as the initial Paying Agent and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National
Association hereby accepts such appointment.

 
(b)    The Paying Agent hereby agrees that subject to the provisions of this Section 2.14, it shall:

 
(i)    establish and maintain, until the Revolving Period Termination Date, the Loan Account as a separate account for the benefit of the

Lenders;
 
(ii)    hold any sums held by it for the payment of amounts due with respect to the Obligations in trust for the benefit of the Persons entitled

thereto until such sums shall be paid to such Persons or otherwise disposed of as herein provided and pay such sums to such Persons as herein provided;
 
(iii)    give the Agent notice of any default by any Borrower of which a CA/PA Responsible Officer has actual knowledge in the making of

any payment required to be made with respect to the Obligations; and
 
(iv)    at any time during the continuance of any such default, upon the written instruction of the Agent (a copy of which shall be provided by

the Agent to the Borrower Representative), forthwith pay at the direction of the Agent any sums so held in trust by the Paying Agent.
 
(c)    Any successor paying agent shall be appointed by the Agent, subject to notice thereof being provided to the Lenders by the Agent, and to consent

by the Required Lenders; provided that any successor Paying Agent shall be, at the time of such appointment, a Qualified Institution. The Agent shall have the
right to approve the fees (including any adjustments or modifications thereto) required to engage the services of any successor paying agent, such approved fee
shall constitute the Paying Agent Fee.

 
(d)    The Paying Agent shall be entitled to indemnification, pursuant to Section 2.8(b)(iii), from and against any and all liabilities, obligations, losses,

damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements of any kind whatsoever (including litigation costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees
and expenses) which may at any time (including at any time following the payment of the obligations under this Agreement, including the Advances
Outstanding) be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against the Paying Agent in any way relating to or arising out of this Agreement, or any documents
contemplated by or referred to herein or the transactions contemplated hereby or any action taken or omitted by the Paying Agent under or in connection with
any of the foregoing; provided, that the Paying Agent shall not be entitled to the payment of any such liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions,
judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements of the Agent resulting from its own gross negligence, or willful misconduct, or fraud. The provisions of this
Section shall survive the payment of the Obligations, the termination of this Agreement, and any resignation or removal of the Paying Agent.
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(e)    The Paying Agent shall be liable in accordance herewith only to the extent of the obligations specifically undertaken by the Paying Agent in such
capacity herein. No implied covenants or obligations shall be read into this Agreement against the Paying Agent and, in the absence of gross negligence, willful
misconduct or fraud on the part of the Paying Agent, the Paying Agent may conclusively rely on the truth of any statements and written direction or instruction
and the correctness of the opinions expressed in any certificates or opinions furnished to the Paying Agent pursuant to and conforming to the requirements of
this Agreement.

 
(f)    The Paying Agent shall not be liable for (i) an error of judgment made in good faith by one of its officers; or (ii) any action taken, suffered or

omitted to be taken in good faith in accordance with or believed by it to be authorized by this Agreement or at the direction of a Secured Party relating to the
exercise of any power conferred upon the Paying Agent under this Agreement, in each case, unless it shall be proved that the Paying Agent shall have been
grossly negligent or acted in fraud or with willful misconduct in ascertaining the pertinent facts.

 
(g)    The Paying Agent shall not be charged with knowledge of any Early Amortization Event, Default or Event of Default unless a CA/PA

Responsible Officer obtains actual knowledge of such event or the Paying Agent receives written notice of such event from the Borrowers, the Borrower
Representative, any Secured Party or the Agent, as the case may be.

 
(h)    Without limiting the generality of this Section 2.14, the Paying Agent shall have no duty (i) to record, file or deposit this Agreement or any

agreement referred to herein or any financing statement or continuation statement evidencing a security interest in the Collateral, or maintain any such
recording, filing or depositing or to subsequently record, refile or redeposit any of the same, (ii) to pay or discharge any Taxes, real property taxes or
assessment or other governmental charge or any Lien or encumbrance of any kind owing with respect to, assessed or levied against, any part of the Collateral,
(iii) to confirm or verify the contents of any reports or certificates of the Agent or the Calculation Agent delivered to the Paying Agent pursuant to this
Agreement believed by the Paying Agent to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties or (iv) to ascertain or inquire as to
the performance or observance of any of the Borrowers’ representations, warranties or covenants under this Agreement or any other Loan Document.

 
(i)    The Paying Agent shall not be required to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur financial liability in the performance of any of its duties

hereunder, or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers, if there shall be reasonable grounds for believing that the repayment of such funds or adequate
indemnity against such risk or liability shall not be reasonably assured to it, and none of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall in any event require
the Paying Agent to perform, or be responsible for the manner of performance of, any of the obligations of the Borrowers under this Agreement.

 
(j)    The Paying Agent may rely and shall be protected in acting or refraining from acting upon any resolution, certificate of a Responsible Officer,

any Monthly Report, certificate of auditors or any other certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report, notice, request, consent, order, appraisal, bond or
other paper or document reasonably believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties.

 
(k)    The Paying Agent may consult with counsel of its choice with regard to legal questions arising out of or in connection with this Agreement and

the advice or opinion of such counsel shall be full and complete authorization and protection in respect of any action taken, omitted or suffered by the Paying
Agent in good faith and in accordance therewith.
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(l)    Any Person into which the Paying Agent may be merged or converted or with which it may be consolidated, or any Person resulting from any
merger, conversion or consolidation to which the Paying Agent shall be a party, or any Person succeeding to the business of the Paying Agent, shall be the
successor of the Paying Agent under this Agreement, without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the part of any of the parties hereto,
anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding.

 
(m)    The Paying Agent may: (i) terminate its obligations as Paying Agent under this Agreement (subject to the terms set forth herein) upon at least

thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the Borrowers, the Lenders and the Agent; provided, however, that, without the consent of the Agent and the Required
Lenders and, so long as no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Borrower, such resignation shall not be effective until a successor Paying Agent
acceptable to the Agent, and to whose appointment the Required Lenders do not object within five (5) Business Days after the Lenders are notified thereof (or
such shorter period in which the Required Lenders consent thereto), shall have accepted appointment as Paying Agent, pursuant hereto and shall have agreed to
be bound by the terms of this Agreement; or (ii) be removed at any time by written demand of the Agent, upon sixty (60) days’ notice delivered to the Paying
Agent, the Lenders and the Borrower Representative; provided, however, that, such removal shall not be effective until the appointment of a successor Paying
Agent acceptable to the Agent, and to whose appointment the Required Lenders do not object within five (5) Business Days after the Lenders are notified
thereof (or such shorter period in which the Required Lenders consent thereto). In the event of such termination or removal, the Agent shall make reasonable
efforts to appoint a successor Paying Agent. If, however, a successor Paying Agent is not appointed by the Agent within sixty (60) days after the giving of a
notice of resignation, the Agent may petition a court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Paying Agent.

 
(n)    Any successor Paying Agent appointed pursuant hereto shall (i) execute, acknowledge, and deliver to the Agent and to the predecessor Paying

Agent an instrument accepting such appointment under this Agreement. Thereupon, the resignation or removal of the predecessor Paying Agent shall become
effective and such successor Paying Agent, without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become fully vested with all the rights, powers, duties, and
obligations of its predecessor as Paying Agent under this Agreement, with like effect as if originally named as Paying Agent. The predecessor Paying Agent
shall upon payment of its fees and expenses deliver to the successor Paying Agent all documents and statements and monies held by it under this Agreement;
and the Agent and the predecessor Paying Agent shall execute and deliver such instruments and do such other things as may reasonably be required for fully
and certainly vesting and confirming in the successor Paying Agent all such rights, powers, duties, and obligations.

 
(o)    In the event the Paying Agent’s appointment hereunder is terminated without cause, the Borrowers shall reimburse the Paying Agent for the

reasonable out of pocket expenses of the Paying Agent incurred in transferring any funds in its possession to the successor Paying Agent.
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(p)    The Paying Agent shall not be bound to make any investigation into the facts of matters stated in any resolution, certificate, statement,
instrument, opinion, report, notice, request, consent, order, approval, bond or other paper or document, unless requested in writing so to do by a Lender or the
Agent; provided, that if the payment within a reasonable time to the Paying Agent of the costs, expenses or liabilities likely to be incurred by it in the making of
such investigation shall be, in the opinion of the Paying Agent, not reasonably assured by the Borrowers, the Paying Agent may require reasonable indemnity
from the Lenders against such cost, expense or liability as a condition to so proceeding. The reasonable expense of every such investigation shall be paid by the
Borrowers.

 
(q)    The Paying Agent hereby agrees that subject to the provisions of this Section 2.14, it shall establish and maintain, until the Commitment

Termination Date, the Collection Account, the Insurance Proceeds Account, the Security Deposit Account and each Reserve Account as separate non-interest
bearing trust accounts on behalf of the Agent in the name of the Borrower Representative;

 
(r)    The Paying Agent hereby agrees that: (i) the Collection Account, the Insurance Proceeds Account, the Security Deposit Account and each

Reserve Account is each, a Securities Account in respect of which the Paying Agent is a “securities intermediary” (within the meaning of Section 8-102(a)(14)
of the UCC), (ii) each item of property (whether cash, a security, an instrument or any other property) credited to the Collection Account, the Insurance
Proceeds Account, the Security Deposit Account and each Reserve Account shall be treated as a “financial asset” (within the meaning of Section 8-102(a)(9) of
the UCC) and (iii) each of the Collection Account, the Insurance Proceeds Account, the Security Deposit Account and each Reserve Account and any rights or
proceeds derived therefrom are subject to a security interest in favor of the Agent arising under this Agreement. The Borrower Representative and Agent hereby
direct the Paying Agent, subject to the terms of this Agreement, to identify the Agent on its books and records as the “entitlement holder” (as defined in Section
8-102(a)(7) of the UCC) with respect to each of the Collection Account, the Insurance Proceeds Account, the Security Deposit Account and each Reserve
Account and the property held therein and the Paying Agent agrees to do the same. In furtherance of the foregoing, the Paying Agent shall comply with
“entitlement orders” within the meaning of Section 8-102(a)(8) of the UCC originated by the Agent with respect to each of the Collection Account, the
Insurance Proceeds Account, the Security Deposit Account and each Reserve Account, without further consent by the Borrower Representative. For purposes
of the UCC, its “securities intermediary’s jurisdiction” (within the meaning of Section 8-110(e) of the UCC) shall be the State of New York.

 
(s)    The Paying Agent shall, by book-entry notation, promptly credit to the Collection Account, the Insurance Proceeds Account, the Security Deposit

Account and each Reserve Account, whichever applicable, all property to be credited thereto pursuant to this Agreement and the wire instructions set forth on
Annex B hereto.

Section 2.15    The Calculation Agent.
 

(a)    The Lenders hereby appoint JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association as Calculation Agent, and authorize the Calculation Agent to take such
actions and to exercise such powers and perform such duties as are expressly delegated to the Calculation Agent by the terms hereof, together with such other
powers as are reasonably incidental thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association hereby accepts such appointment.
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(i)    The duties of the Calculation Agent hereunder shall be limited to those duties expressly set forth in this Agreement.
 
(ii)    In the event of a discrepancy between the calculations received by the Calculation Agent from the Borrowers or the Borrower

Representative and the results of the reviews thereof conducted by the Calculation Agent as reflected in any reports provided by the Calculation Agent, the
Calculation Agent shall work with such parties to resolve such discrepancy.

 
(iii)    Each of the Borrowers, the Borrower Representative, the Lenders and the Agent agree that so long as the Calculation Agent complies

with the terms of clause (ii) above, the Calculation Agent shall have no liability with respect to any calculations that are verified by the Calculation Agent
(including pursuant to consultations described in clause (ii) above) that are subsequently determined to be incorrect. For avoidance of doubt, such exculpation
from liability shall include, without limitation, any loss, liability or expense of Lenders incurred as a result of lending to Borrowers based on any such
erroneous calculations.

 
(b)    Any successor Calculation Agent shall be appointed by the Agent subject to providing notice thereof to the Lenders and the absence of objection

thereto by the Required Lenders within five (5) Business Days after being notified thereof (or such shorter period in which the Required Lenders consent
thereto). The Required Lenders shall have the right to approve in their respective sole discretion the fees (including any adjustments or modifications thereto)
required to engage the services of any such successor Calculation Agent and such approved fee shall constitute the Calculation Agent Fee.

 
(c)    The Calculation Agent shall be entitled to indemnification, pursuant to Section 2.8(b)(iii), from and against any and all liabilities, obligations,

losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements of any kind whatsoever (including litigation costs and reasonable
attorneys’ fees and expenses) which may at any time (including at any time following the payment of the obligations under this Agreement, including the
Advances Outstanding) be imposed on, incurred by or asserted against the Calculation Agent in any way relating to or arising out of this Agreement, or any
documents contemplated by or referred to herein or the transactions contemplated hereby or any action taken or omitted by the Calculation Agent under or in
connection with any of the foregoing; provided, that the Calculation Agent shall not be entitled to the payment of any such liabilities, obligations, losses,
damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements of the Agent resulting from its own gross negligence, willful misconduct or
fraud. The provisions of this Section shall survive the payment of the Obligations, the termination of this Agreement, and any resignation or removal of the
Calculation Agent.

 
(d)    The Calculation Agent shall be liable in accordance herewith only to the extent of the obligations specifically undertaken by the Calculation

Agent in such capacity herein. No implied covenants or obligations shall be read into this Agreement against the Calculation Agent and, in the absence of gross
negligence, willful misconduct or fraud on the part of the Calculation Agent, the Calculation Agent may conclusively rely on the truth of the statements and the
correctness of the opinions expressed in any certificates or opinions furnished to the Calculation Agent pursuant to and conforming to the requirements of this
Agreement. The Calculation Agent shall not be responsible for verifying any calculations pursuant to this Agreement to the extent information necessary to
make such verifications is not provided to it by the Agent, the Borrower Representative or the Borrowers.
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(e)    The Calculation Agent shall not be liable for (i) an error of judgment made in good faith by one of its officers; or (ii) any action taken, suffered or
omitted to be taken in good faith in accordance with or believed by it to be authorized or within the discretion or rights or powers conferred by this Agreement
or at the direction of a Secured Party relating to the exercise of any power conferred upon the Calculation Agent under this Agreement, in each case, unless it
shall be proved that the Calculation Agent shall have been grossly negligent or acted in fraud or with willful misconduct in ascertaining the pertinent facts.

 
(f)    The Calculation Agent shall not be charged with knowledge of any Early Amortization Event, Default or Event of Default unless a Responsible

Officer of the Calculation Agent obtains actual knowledge of such event or the Calculation Agent receives written notice of such event from the Borrowers, any
Secured Party or the Agent, as the case may be.

 
(g)    Without limiting the generality of this Section 2.15, the Calculation Agent shall have no duty (i) to record, file or deposit this Agreement or any

agreement referred to herein or any financing statement or continuation statement evidencing a security interest in the Collateral, or maintain any such
recording, filing or depositing or to subsequently record, refile or redeposit any of the same, (ii) to pay or discharge any Taxes, real property taxes or
assessments or other governmental charge or any Lien or encumbrance of any kind owing with respect to, assessed or levied against, any part of the Collateral,
(iii) to confirm or verify the contents of any reports or certificates of the Borrowers or the Agent delivered to the Calculation Agent pursuant to this Agreement
believed by the Calculation Agent to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties or (iv) to ascertain or inquire as to the
performance or observance of any of the Borrowers’ representations, warranties or covenants under this Agreement or any other Loan Document.

 
(h)    The Calculation Agent shall not be required to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur financial liability in the performance of any of its

duties hereunder, or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers, if there shall be reasonable grounds for believing that the repayment of such funds or
adequate indemnity against such risk or liability shall not be reasonably assured to it, and none of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall in any event
require the Calculation Agent to perform, or be responsible for the manner of performance of, any of the obligations of the Borrowers under this Agreement.

 
(i)    The Calculation Agent may rely and shall be protected in acting or refraining from acting upon any resolution, certificate of a Responsible

Officer, any report, certificate of auditors or any other certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report, notice, request, consent, order, appraisal, bond or other
paper or document reasonably believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties.
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(j)    The Calculation Agent may consult with counsel of its choice with regard to legal questions arising out of or in connection with this Agreement
and the advice or opinion of such counsel shall be full and complete authorization and protection in respect of any action taken, omitted or suffered by the
Calculation Agent in good faith and in accordance therewith.

 
(k)    The Calculation Agent shall be under no obligation to exercise any of the rights, powers or remedies vested in it by this Agreement (except to

comply with its obligations under this Agreement and any other Loan Document to which it is a party) or to institute, conduct or defend any litigation under
this Agreement or in relation to this Agreement, at the request, order or direction of the Agent or any Lender pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement,
unless the Agent, on behalf of the Secured Parties, or such Lender shall have offered to the Calculation Agent reasonable security or indemnity against the
costs, expenses and liabilities that may be incurred therein or thereby.

 
(l)    The Calculation Agent shall not be bound to make any investigation into the facts of matters stated in any resolution, certificate, statement,

instrument, opinion, report, notice, request, consent, order, approval, bond or other paper or document, unless requested in writing so to do by the Agent;
provided, that if the payment within a reasonable time to the Calculation Agent of the costs, expenses or liabilities likely to be incurred by it in the making of
such investigation shall be, in the opinion of the Calculation Agent, not reasonably assured by the Borrowers, the Calculation Agent may require reasonable
indemnity against such cost, expense or liability as a condition to so proceeding. The reasonable expense of every such investigation shall be paid by the
Borrowers.

 
(m)    The Calculation Agent shall not be responsible for the acts or omissions of the Agent, the Borrowers, the Borrower Representative, the Property

Manager, the Back-Up Manager, any Lender or any other Person.
 
(n)    Any Person into which the Calculation Agent may be merged or converted or with which it may be consolidated, or any Person resulting from

any merger, conversion or consolidation to which the Calculation Agent shall be a party, or any Person succeeding to the business of the Calculation Agent,
shall be the successor of the Calculation Agent under this Agreement, without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the part of any of the
parties hereto, anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding.

 
(o)    The Calculation Agent does not assume and shall have no responsibility for, and makes no representation as to, monitoring the value of the

Properties or the Collateral.
 
(p)    If the Calculation Agent shall at any time receive conflicting instructions from the Agent and the Borrowers or any other party to this Agreement

and the conflict between such instructions cannot be resolved by reference to the terms of this Agreement, the Calculation Agent shall be entitled to rely on the
instructions of the Agent. In the absence of fraud, gross negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the Calculation Agent, the Calculation Agent may rely
and shall be protected in acting or refraining from acting upon any resolution, officer’s certificate, any monthly Payment Report, certificate of auditors, or any
other certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report, notice request, consent, order, appraisal, bond or other paper or document believed by it to be genuine
and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties. The Calculation Agent may rely upon the validity of documents delivered to it, without
investigation as to their authenticity or legal effectiveness, and the parties to this Agreement will hold the Calculation Agent harmless from any claims that may
arise or be asserted against the Calculation Agent because of the invalidity of any such documents or their failure to fulfill their intended purpose.
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(q)    The Calculation Agent is authorized, in its sole discretion, to disregard any and all notices or instructions given by any other party hereto or by
any other person, firm or corporation, except only such notices or instructions as are herein provided for and orders or process of any court entered or issued
with or without jurisdiction. If any property subject hereto is at any time attached, garnished or levied upon under any court order or in case the payment,
assignment, transfer, conveyance or delivery of any such property shall be stayed or enjoined by any court order, or in case any order, judgment or decree shall
be made or entered by any court affecting such property or any part hereof, then and in any of such events the Calculation Agent is authorized, in its sole
discretion, to rely upon and comply with any such order, writ, judgment or decree with which it is advised by legal counsel of its own choosing is binding upon
it, and if it complies with any such order, writ, judgment or decree it shall not be liable to any other party hereto or to any other person, firm or corporation by
reason of such compliance even though such order, writ, judgment or decree maybe subsequently reversed, modified, annulled, set aside or vacated.

 
(r)    The Calculation Agent may: (i) terminate its obligations as Calculation Agent under this Agreement (subject to the terms set forth herein) upon at

least thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the Borrowers, the Lenders and the Agent; provided, however, that, without the consent of the Agent and the
Required Lenders, such resignation shall not be effective until a successor Calculation Agent acceptable to the Required Lenders shall have accepted
appointment as Calculation Agent, pursuant hereto and shall have agreed to be bound by the terms of this Agreement; or (ii) be removed at any time by written
demand of the Agent upon sixty (60) days’ notice, delivered to the Calculation Agent, the Lenders and the Borrower Representative; provided, however, that,
such removal shall not be effective until the appointment of a successor Calculation Agent acceptable to the Required Lenders. In the event of such termination
or removal, the Agent shall make reasonable efforts to appoint a successor calculation agent. If, however, a successor calculation agent is not appointed by the
Agent within sixty (60) days after the giving of a notice of resignation, the Agent may petition a court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a
successor calculation agent.

 
(s)    Any successor Calculation Agent appointed pursuant hereto shall (i) execute, acknowledge, and deliver to the Agent and to the predecessor

Calculation Agent an instrument accepting such appointment under this Agreement. Thereupon, the resignation or removal of the predecessor Calculation
Agent shall become effective and such successor Calculation Agent, without any further act, deed or conveyance, shall become fully vested with all the rights,
powers, duties, and obligations of its predecessor as Calculation Agent under this Agreement, with like effect as if originally named as Calculation Agent. The
predecessor Calculation Agent shall upon payment of its fees and expenses deliver to the successor Calculation Agent all documents and statements and monies
held by it under this Agreement; and the Agent and the predecessor Calculation Agent shall execute and deliver such instruments and do such other things as
may reasonably be required for fully and certainly vesting and confirming in the successor Calculation Agent all such rights, powers, duties, and obligations.
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(t)    In the event the Calculation Agent’s appointment hereunder is terminated without cause, the Borrowers shall (i) reimburse the Calculation Agent
for the reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of the Calculation Agent incurred in connection with such termination and the related succession by the successor
Calculation Agent.

 
(u)    The Loan Parties hereby agree, in connection with an appointment of a successor Calculation Agent, to negotiate in good faith any modifications

to this Agreement reasonably requested by such successor Calculation Agent.
 

ARTICLE 3
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

 
Section 3.1    Conditions to Closing. On or prior to the Effective Date, each of the conditions precedent set forth below shall have been satisfied, as

determined by the Agent and the Lenders:
 

(a)    Loan Documents. Each of the Borrowers shall have duly executed and delivered, or caused to be duly executed and delivered, (i) to the Agent
and the Lenders: (A) this Agreement, (B) the Security Agreement and (C) the Fee Letter and (ii) to each Lender that has requested a Note, a Note in the amount
of such Lender’s Commitment, dated as of the Effective Date, executed by each of the Borrowers and payable to the order of such Lender (each, a “Note”) in
substantially the form of Exhibit B attached hereto. In no event shall either the Paying Agent or the Calculation Agent have any obligation to maintain a register
of holders of any such Notes, or to register or otherwise monitor transfers thereof.

 
(b)    Limited Guaranty. The Sponsor shall have duly executed and delivered, or caused to be duly executed and delivered, the Limited Guaranty.
 
(c)    Guaranty Agreements. The Guarantors shall have duly executed and delivered, or caused to be duly executed and delivered, the Guaranty

Agreement.
 
(d)    Security Agreement. The Borrowers and the Guarantors shall each have duly executed and delivered, or caused to be duly executed and

delivered, the Security Agreement.
 
(e)    Property Management Agreement. The Property Manager, the Back-Up Manager and the Borrowers shall have duly executed and delivered, or

caused to be duly executed and delivered, the Property Management Agreement and Assignment of Management Agreement.
 
(f)    Assignment of Management Agreement. The Agent shall have received copies of each Assignment of Management Agreement duly executed by

each Borrower and each applicable Property Manager.
 
(g)    Environmental Indemnity. Borrowers, Guarantors and Sponsor shall have duly executed and delivered, or caused to be duly executed and

delivered, the Environmental Indemnity.
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(h)    Control Agreements. The Agent and each Lender shall have received copies of the Deposit Account Control Agreements required by the Cash
Management Requirements, in each case duly executed by each Borrower, the bank maintaining the related Deposit Account and the Agent.

 
(i)    Collection Account, Reserve Accounts, Insurance Proceeds Account and Account Control Agreement. The Borrower Representative shall have

established the Collection Account, the Insurance Proceeds Account, the Security Deposit Account and each Reserve Account as a Securities Account with the
Paying Agent. The Borrower Representative, the Borrowers and the Paying Agent shall have duly executed and delivered, or caused to be duly executed and
delivered, the Account Control Agreements.

 
(j)    Security Interest. The Agent, pursuant to the Security Agreement, shall have (i) received the certificates representing each of the Pledged

Securities and the certificates representing each such Pledged Security shall have been (x) registered in the name of Equity Owner with respect to the Pledged
Security relating to the Parent Holdco and such registration shall have been confirmed by the related certificate registrar, (y) registered in the name of Parent
Holdco with respect to each Pledged Security relating to the Holdco Guarantors and such registration shall have been confirmed by the related certificate
registrar and (z) registered in the name of the Holdco Guarantors with respect to each Pledged Security related to the Borrowers, and, in each case, have a
Stock Power (as such term is defined in the Security Agreement) duly executed and delivered in favor of the Agent or in blank and (ii) received evidence in
form and substance satisfactory to the Agent that it has a first priority perfected security interest in each of the Pledged Securities, subject to no other Liens.
Any documents (including, without limitation, financing statements) required to be filed, registered or recorded in order to create, in favor of the Agent, a
perfected, first-priority security interest in the Collateral, subject to no Liens other than those created hereunder, shall have been properly prepared and
executed for filing (including the applicable county(ies) if the Agent determines such filings are necessary in its sole discretion), registration or recording in
each office in each jurisdiction in which such filings, registrations and recordations are required to perfect such first-priority security interest.

 
(k)    Financing Statements. Acknowledgment copies or other evidence of filing acceptable to the Agent of the Financing Statements filed on or before

the Effective Date or other similar instruments or documents as may be necessary or in the reasonable opinion of the Agent desirable under the UCC of all
appropriate jurisdictions or any comparable law to perfect the Agent’s security interest in the Collateral (other than the Properties).

 
(l)    Representations and Warranties. Each representation or warranty by each of the Borrowers, each of the Guarantors and Sponsor, the Property

Manager, the Back-Up Manager and their respective Affiliates contained herein or in any other Loan Document shall be true and correct in all material respects
(without duplication of any materiality qualifier contained herein or therein).

 
(m)    No Default. No Early Amortization Event, Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing or result from or exist upon the

effectiveness of this Agreement.
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(n)    No Guarantor Default. No Guarantor Default shall have occurred and be continuing or result from or exist upon the effectiveness of this
Agreement.

 
(o)    Consents; Authorizations. All consents, authorizations, permits and approvals of any Governmental Authority or other Person required in

connection with the execution and delivery of the Loan Documents and the transactions contemplated thereby shall have been obtained and be in full force and
effect.

 
(p)    Completion of Proceedings. All limited liability company and other proceedings taken or to be taken in connection with the transactions

contemplated hereby and all documents incidental thereto not previously found acceptable by the Agent and its counsel shall be satisfactory in form and
substance to the Agent and such counsel, and the Agent and such counsel shall have received all such counterpart originals or certified copies of such
documents as the Agent may reasonably request.

 
(q)    Opinions of Counsel to the Borrowers, the Property Manager each Guarantor and the Sponsor. The Agent and each of the Lenders and their

respective counsel shall have received originally executed copies of the favorable written opinions of Wick Phillips, LLP, counsel for the Borrowers, the
Guarantors, the Property Manager and Sponsor as to such matters as the Agent or any of the Lenders may reasonably request, dated as of the Effective Date and
otherwise in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent and each of the Lenders (and each of the Borrowers hereby instructs such counsel to
deliver such opinions to the Agent and each of the Lenders).

 
(r)    Governing Documents. Each Borrower and each Guarantor shall have provided to the Agent and each of the Lenders the executed and delivered

Governing Documents of such Borrower and Guarantor, in form and substance satisfactory to the Agent and each of the Lenders, which provide that each such
Borrower and Guarantor is subject to the SPE Requirements. Sponsor shall have provided to the Agent and each of the Lenders copies of its executed and
delivered Governing Documents.

 
(s)    Secretary’s Certificates. The Agent shall have received a certificate of the secretary or assistant secretary of (1) each of the Borrowers certifying

as to the incumbency and genuineness of the signature of each officer of such Borrower executing this Agreement and certifying that attached thereto is a true,
correct and complete copy of (i) the certificate of formation or comparable Governing Documents, if any, of such Borrower and all amendments thereto,
certified as of a recent date by the appropriate Governmental Authority in such Borrower’s jurisdiction of organization, (ii) the Governing Documents of such
Borrower as in effect on the date of such certifications, (iii) resolutions duly adopted by the board of directors or comparable governing body of such Borrower
authorizing, as applicable, the transactions contemplated hereunder and the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and (iv) certificates as of a
recent date of the good standing or active status, as applicable, of such Borrower under the laws of its jurisdiction of organization and under the laws of each
jurisdiction where such Borrower owns any Properties and (2) each of the Guarantors and Sponsor certifying as to the incumbency and genuineness of the
signature of each officer of such Guarantor and Sponsor, as applicable, executing this Agreement and certifying that attached thereto is a true, correct and
complete copy of (i) the certificate of formation or comparable Governing Documents, if any, of such Guarantor or Sponsor and all amendments thereto,
certified as of a recent date by the appropriate Governmental Authority in such Guarantor’s or Sponsor’s jurisdiction of organization, (ii) the Governing
Documents of such Guarantor or Sponsor as in effect on the date of such certifications, (iii) resolutions duly adopted by the board of directors or comparable
governing body of such Guarantor or Sponsor authorizing, as applicable, the transactions contemplated hereunder and the execution, delivery and performance
of this Agreement and (iv) certificates as of a recent date of the good standing or active status, as applicable, of such Guarantor or Sponsor under the laws of its
jurisdiction of organization and short-form certificates as of a recent date of the good standing of such Guarantor or Sponsor under the laws of each other
jurisdiction where such Guarantor or Sponsor is qualified to do business and where a failure to be so qualified could have a reasonable likelihood of causing a
Material Adverse Effect.
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(t)    Fees and Expenses. The Paying Agent and Calculation Agent shall have received all fees and expenses required to be paid to or on behalf of the
Paying Agent and Calculation Agent and each Lender on the Effective Date, including all fees and expenses required hereunder and under the Fee Letter.

 
(u)    No Adverse Effect. The Agent and each Lender shall not have determined that a Material Adverse Effect exists and, in the Agent’s or any

Lender’s determination, (i) no event, circumstance or information or matter shall exist that is inconsistent in a material adverse manner with any event,
circumstance or information or matter disclosed to the Agent or any Lender by any of the Borrowers, the Guarantors, the Sponsor, the Back-Up Manager or the
Property Manager, or (ii) any change whatsoever has occurred that, in the opinion of the Agent or any Lender, could reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect.

 
(v)    No Market Disruption Event. There shall not, in the opinion of the Agent, or any Lender, have occurred (i) a material adverse change in any of

the financial, banking or capital markets including but not limited to lending or repurchase markets, an outbreak or escalation of hostilities or a material adverse
change in national or international political, financial or economic conditions, (ii) a general suspension of trading on major national or international stock
exchanges, or (iii) a disruption in or moratorium on commercial banking activities or securities settlement services.

 
(w)    Insurance Policies. The Borrowers shall have delivered to the Agent copies of all insurance certificates evidencing satisfaction of the Insurance

Requirements.
 
(x)    Power of Attorney. The Borrowers, the Holdco Guarantors and Parent Holdco shall have delivered to the Agent an executed Power of Attorney in

the form of Exhibit I hereto.
 
(y)    Certification Regarding Recycled SPEs. The Sponsor shall have duly executed and delivered, or caused to be duly executed and delivered, the

Certification Regarding Recycled SPEs.
 
(z)    “Eagle 9” UCC Policy. An “Eagle 9” UCC Policy, or other comparable UCC insurance policy, with respect to the Pledged Security in form

acceptable to Lender.
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(aa)    Other Documents and Information. The Borrowers shall have delivered to the Agent such other documents, certificates, resolutions, instruments
and agreements reasonably requested by the Agent.

 
Section 3.2    Conditions to Adding Financed Properties and Each Advance. The addition of any Property as a Financed Property and each Advance to

be made under this Agreement shall be subject to the prior or concurrent satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth below, in each case to the reasonable
satisfaction of the Agent:
 

(a)    Property Addition Notice and Borrowing Notice. The Borrower Representative shall have delivered a completed Property Addition Notice and
Borrowing Notice pursuant to Section 2.2, together with the Document Packages for each Property to which the requested Advance relates.

 
(b)    Joinder. If submitted for addition as a Borrower in connection with such requested Advance, each such new Borrower with respect to which such

Advance relates is an Eligible Property Owner and has executed and delivered a Joinder, an amendment to the Account Control Agreement, to become a party
thereto, and each other Loan Document required to be executed and delivered by it under this Agreement, including, but not limited to, a Power of Attorney, a
Security Agreement Supplement, Deposit Account Control Agreements, an “Eagle 9” UCC Policy, or other comparable UCC insurance policy, with respect to
the Pledged Security in form acceptable to Lender, and any other Loan Document and all conditions to the effectiveness of such Joinder have, in the opinion of
the Agent and each Lender, been satisfied.

 
(c)    Revolving Period Termination Date. The Revolving Period Termination Date has not occurred.
 
(d)    Representations and Warranties. Each representation or warranty by the Borrowers, the Guarantors, the Sponsor, the Back-Up Manager and the

Property Manager contained herein or in any other Loan Document shall be true and correct on such date, except to the extent that such representation or
warranty expressly relates to an earlier date.

 
(e)    No Default. No Early Amortization Event, Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing or could reasonably be expected or

anticipated to result from such addition or Advance.
 
(f)    No Guarantor Default. No Guarantor Default shall have occurred and be continuing.
 
(g)    Calculation Agent and Diligence Agent Confirmations. The Calculation Agent shall have delivered to the Agent its reports according to the

results of its calculations described in Section 2.2(b)(i) and Section 2.2(d), as applicable, and the Diligence Agent shall have delivered to the Agent its
certification described in Section 2.2(b)(ii), with respect to all Properties to which such Advance relates.

 
(h)    No Adverse Effect. No Material Adverse Effect has occurred as determined by the Agent.
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(i)    Property Inspection. Completion of a Property inspection of any proposed Financed Property reasonably satisfactory to the Agent, if required by
the Agent.

 
(j)    Mortgage Licensing Compliance. If the Borrowers elect to place Mortgages on the Financed Properties pursuant to Section 4.11(a), no Advance

or additional Advance may be made with respect to any Financed Property or proposed Financed Property with a Mortgage thereon that is located in a state in
which a Lender has notified the Borrower Representative and the Agent that such Lender is required to obtain one or more license(s), or otherwise take action,
to comply with Applicable Law prior to making an Advance or additional Advance on a mortgaged property in such state, until such license(s) have been
obtained or such action has been taken; provided, however, each such Lender shall make commercially reasonable efforts to obtain such license(s) or take such
action. Accordingly, for purposes of any requested Advance to which this Section 3.2(j) applies, the Property Borrowing Base of any such Financed Property or
proposed Financed Property will be excluded from the Borrowing Base for purposes of Section 3.2(k)(ii).

 
(k)    Facility Parameters. The following parameters are satisfied, determined after giving effect to the requested addition or Advance:

 
(i)    the Advances Outstanding will not exceed the Facility Amount;

 
(ii)    the Advances Outstanding will not exceed the Borrowing Base;

 
(iii)    any Lender’s Pro Rata Share of the Advances Outstanding will not exceed such Lender’s Commitment;

 
(iv)    each Reserve Account Deposit Amount will be fully funded and credited to the applicable Reserve Account;

 
(v)    no Trigger Event exists on such date;
 
(vi)    such Advance will not result in more than one (1) Advance being funded on any Business Day or more than one (1) Advance be funded

during any calendar week;
 

(vii)    the requirements of Section 2.13 are satisfied with respect to any Non-Eligible Property existing on such date (without regard to any
Cure Period) after giving effect to such addition or Advance. For the avoidance of doubt, the requirements of Section 2.13 shall be deemed to be satisfied if the
requirements of this Section 3.2 are met assuming any Non-Eligible Property within its applicable Cure Period is treated as if such Cure Period has expired
without cure;

 
(viii)    in connection with any Advance, the Loan to Aggregate Market Value Ratio prior to and after giving pro forma effect to such Advance

shall not exceed 70%;
 

(ix)    the Agent shall have received an Appraisal or Evaluation with respect to the Properties to be financed on the related Borrowing Date
unless the Agent has determined that an Appraisal or Evaluation is not required; provided, however, that if there is a change in Applicable Law or Agent’s
interpretation thereof, then such Appraisals or Evaluations will become mandatory in Agent’s sole discretion; and
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(x)    the Portfolio Delinquency Amount is less than 10% for the ninety (90) day period prior to such requested Advance.
 
(l)    MSA. With respect to any Advance except for the initial Advance, no Property shall be from any MSA that has experienced a five percent (5%)

decline in housing prices, measured at any time prior to the Commitment Termination Date, over either the previous calendar quarter or the previous calendar
year according to quarterly MSA monitoring performed by S&P CoreLogic Case-Shiller Homethe Freddie Mac House Price indicesIndex.
 

ARTICLE 4
PROPERTY MANAGEMENT, VALUATIONS AND RESERVES

 
Section 4.1    Property Management and Cash Management.

 

 

(a) Property Management Agreement. On or prior to the Effective Date, the Borrower Representative shall have caused each Property owned by the
Borrowers to be managed by the Property Manager pursuant to the Property Management Agreement. The applicable Borrower shall cause any
Property acquired by any Borrower following the Effective Date to be managed by the Property Manager pursuant to the Property Management
Agreement as of the date acquired by such Borrower. Upon the termination of the Property Manager, the applicable Borrower shall cause the
related Properties to be managed by a successor Property Manager pursuant to the Property Management Agreement.

 

 (b) Assignment of Management Agreement. On or prior to the Effective Date, the Property Manager shall have executed and delivered the
Assignment of Management Agreement.

 

 (c) Blocked Accounts. With respect to all security deposits, the applicable Borrower shall use commercially reasonable efforts to deliver to the Agent
and the Paying Agent a monthly report detailing the activity in such accounts for the prior calendar month.

 
(d)    Cash Management Requirements. Each Loan Party shall (collectively, the “Cash Management Requirements”):

 
(i)    establish and maintain the following Deposit Accounts with PNC Bank, National Association for each Borrower: (A) a Borrower Expense

Account and (B) Borrower Funding Account (collectively, the “Borrower Deposit Accounts”).
 

(ii)    cause all Borrower Deposit Accounts to be at all times subject to a Deposit Account Control Agreement;
 

(iii)    cause the Collection Account, the Insurance Proceeds Account, each Reserve Account and the Security Deposit Account to be at all times
subject to an Account Control Agreement;
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(iv)    by its own action, or by instructing and causing the Property Manager for each Property to take such action, (A) direct all Tenants to mail
rent checks to the Vinebrook Physical Address for deposit into the Borrower Rent Account using the Yardi property management software program (or other
substantially similar software program), (B) cause all rents received in the form of electronic or online payments to be deposited (and each electronic or online
service provider shall be instructed to deposit) directly into the applicable Borrower Rent Account and (C) deposit all other Collections received by the
Property Manager with respect to all Properties managed by the Property Manager directly to the applicable Borrower Rent Account;

 
(v)    cooperate with the Agent in causing all amounts deposited in a Borrower Rent Account to be swept to the Collection Account within two

(2) Business Days of receipt in the Borrower Rent Account;
 
(vi)    instruct and cause the Property Manager for each Financed Property of each Borrower to deposit security deposits with respect to all

Financed Properties directly to the Security Deposit Account, which holds no amounts other than security deposits for Tenants of the related Borrower;
 
(vii)    deposit or cause any escrow agent for the Conveyance of any Financed Property to deposit all Conveyance Proceeds directly to the

Collection Account;
 
(viii)    deposit or cause to be deposited all other Collections and amounts required to be included in Available Funds to the Collection Account;

and
 
(ix)    cause all amounts received for Operating Expenses pursuant to Section 2.8(b)(i) or Section 2.8(b)(xi) to be deposited in the applicable

Borrower Expense Account maintained by each Borrower for payment of such Operating Expenses from such account.
 
(e)    Operating Expense Budget. If an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing (or will occur upon application of the Available Funds pursuant

to Section 2.8(b)), (i) Borrower Representative shall submit to the Agent and the Lenders a proposed quarterly budget of Operating Expenses, with a proposed
monthly expense allocation, for Operating Expenses for all Properties and shall by the second month of each calendar quarter submit a quarterly budget for
Operating Expenses for the following calendar quarter and (ii) the Agent shall have the right to approve each such proposed quarterly budget of Operating
Expenses, proposed monthly expense allocation and each item contained therein in their respective sole and absolute discretion, and upon such approvals such
quarterly budget of Operating Expenses shall constitute the “Approved Quarterly Operating Expense Budget” for such calendar quarter.

 
Section 4.2    Property Valuations.

 
(a)    Quarterly Valuations. On the fifteenth (15th) day (or if such day is not a Business Day, the immediately preceding Business Day) of the month

following each Fiscal Quarter, the Agent shall have the option, at the sole cost and expense of the Borrowers, to order a sample of updated BPOs and AVMs up
to ten percent (10%), by Allocated Loan Amount, of the Financed Properties consisting of (i) updated BPOs from the Diligence Agent with respect to five
percent (5%), by Allocated Loan Amount, of the Financed Properties and (ii) AVMs from an Approved AVM Supplier with respect to five percent (5%), by
Allocated Loan Amount, of the Financed Properties (each, a “Quarterly Sample”). Each Quarterly Sample shall be randomly selected by the Agent with a
statistically meaningful sample from the portfolio of Financed Properties which were not included in any of the eight immediately preceding Quarterly Samples
and with BPOs or AVMs obtained more than thirty (30) days prior to the date of such selection, including each geographic area in which such Financed
Properties are located.
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If the Loan To Value Ratio for Financed Properties (calculated with respect to Properties for which BPOs or AVMs were obtained in a Quarterly
Sample) is greater than 70% (any such condition, a “Sample Decline”), then the Agent shall have the option in its sole discretion, at the sole cost and expense
of the Borrowers and within five (5) Business Days of any such Sample Decline, to order updated BPOs or AVMs from the Diligence Agent or Approved AVM
Supplier with respect to an additional 10.0%, by Allocated Loan Amount, of the Financed Properties (each, an “Additional Sample”). Each Additional Sample
shall be randomly selected by the Agent with a statistically meaningful sample from the portfolio of Financed Properties, which were not included in any of the
four immediately preceding Quarterly Samples and with BPOs or AVMs obtained more than 30 days prior to the date of such selection, including each
geographic area in which such Financed Properties are located.
 

If the Loan To Value Ratio for Financed Properties (calculated with respect to Financed Properties for which BPOs or AVMs were obtained in a
Quarterly Sample and a related Additional Sample) is greater than 70%, then the Agent may, in its sole discretion, within five (5) Business Days of such
findings, at the sole cost and expense of the Borrowers, obtain updated BPOs or AVMs from the Diligence Agent with respect to all of the Financed Properties.
 

(b)    The Diligence Agent and Approved AVM Supplier shall be required to deliver any such updated BPOs or AVMs required pursuant to Section
4.2(a) above to the Borrower Representative and the Agent not later than thirty (30) days after they are ordered by the Agent. Within five (5) Business Days
after receipt of such updated BPOs or AVMs, the Borrower Representative shall deliver to the Agent and the Calculation Agent a BPO and AVM Report
showing the calculation of the Loan to Value Ratio taking into account such updated BPOs and AVMs. The Loan To Value Ratio for all Financed Properties and
for all purposes under this Agreement will be recalculated based on the updated BPOs and AVMs obtained in connection with any Quarterly Valuation. All
updated BPOs and AVMs prepared pursuant to Section 4.2(a) above shall be posted to the Data Site upon completion of such BPOs and AVMs.

 
(c)    In addition to BPOs or AVMs obtained in connection with any Quarterly Valuation, if any Borrower, the Property Manager or the Back-Up

Manager obtains any BPO, AVM or any external valuation of any or all Properties, it shall promptly upon receipt thereof provide the Agent and the Diligence
Agent with copies of each such BPO, AVM or valuation. Any such additional BPOs or AVMs prepared pursuant to Section 4.2(c) shall be posted to the Data
Site upon completion of such BPOs and AVMs.
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Section 4.3    Audit and Information Rights.
 

(a)    Each Borrower shall deliver to the Agent and the Lenders information at any time or from time to time reasonably requested by the Agent or any
Lender regarding the Advances, the Properties, the Property Manager, the Back-Up Manager, the Guarantors, the Sponsor and the Borrowers. Any reasonable
out-of-pocket costs and expenses in connection with any such request shall be paid by the Borrowers. The Agent shall have the right from time to time at all
times during normal business hours upon reasonable notice (and, in any event, not more than twice in any calendar year (unless an Event of Default shall have
occurred and be continuing, in which case no such restriction shall apply)) to examine such books, records, accounts, agreements, leases, instruments and other
documents and the collection systems of the Borrower-Related Parties at the offices of the Borrower-Related Parties or any other Person maintaining such
books, records and accounts and to make such copies or extracts thereof as the Agent shall desire. After the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Loan Parties
shall pay any reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the Agent and the Lenders to examine the Borrower-Related Parties’ records, as the Agent or any
Lender shall determine to be necessary or appropriate in the protection of the Lenders’ interest.

 
(b)    Each Borrower shall grant or cause to be granted to the Diligence Agent at reasonable times, subject to reasonable advance notice, and subject to

the rights of tenants, access to any of the Financed Properties (or pending Financed Properties) to enable the Diligence Agent to inspect such the Properties.
 
(c)    Each Borrower shall (and shall cause the Property Manager to) cooperate with the Diligence Agent to enable the Diligence Agent to perform

various oversight functions with respect to the Properties, including periodic verification that all property taxes have been paid in full.
 
(d)    The Agent (or its third-party auditors, accountants, consultants or appraisers) shall have the right to conduct an annual structured finance audit,

including agreed upon procedures, at the cost and expense of the Borrowers.
 
Section 4.4    [Reserved].
 
Section 4.5    Interest Reserve Account. On the date of each Advance hereunder, the Borrowers shall deposit (or cause to be deposited from such

Advance) in the Interest Reserve Account the Interest Reserve Account Deposit Amount for each Financed Property (to the extent not previously funded) and
any Interest Reserve Account Shortfall Amount existing on such date. On each Payment Date, as applicable, (i) in accordance with Section 2.8(b), the
Borrowers shall deposit any Interest Reserve Account Shortfall Amount for the Financed Properties existing on such date and (ii) the Paying Agent shall
withdraw any Interest Reserve Account Excess Amount identified in the Monthly Report from the Interest Reserve Account and deposit such amount in the
Collection Account as Available Funds for such Payment Date. During the continuance of an Event of Default, the Agent may direct the Paying Agent in
writing to withdraw all or any portion of the amounts on deposit in the Interest Reserve Account and apply such funds to pay (i) unpaid Interest Payment
Amounts, or (ii) the Advances Outstanding, pro rata to each Lender, in such proportion as between items (i) and (ii) above as the Agent may determine in its
sole discretion. The right to direct the Paying Agent in writing to withdraw and apply amounts on deposit in the Interest Reserve Account in accordance with
the foregoing shall be in addition to all other rights and remedies provided to the Agent or any Lenders under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents.
Except as expressly set forth in this Section 4.5, the amounts on deposit in the Interest Reserve Account shall not be released to the Borrowers or otherwise
available to pay any Obligations.
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Section 4.6    Insurance Premiums and Real Property Taxes; Insurance Reserve Account and Tax Reserve Account.
 

(a)    The Borrowers shall pay (or shall cause to be paid) all insurance premiums related to all Properties necessary in order to maintain compliance
with the Insurance Requirements for such Properties and all real estate taxes and other governmental assessments for all Financed Properties. For the avoidance
of doubt, the Borrower Representative may not use amounts on deposit in the Insurance Reserve Account for the payment of taxes or other governmental
assessments relating to any Non-Financed Property.

 
(b)    The Borrower Representative shall, not later than the Reporting Date for each Collection Period, deliver to the Agent, the Diligence Agent and

the Calculation Agent a report certifying (i) the amounts paid during the related Collection Period in respect of insurance premiums related to Properties
necessary in order to maintain compliance with the Insurance Requirements for such Properties and real estate taxes and other governmental assessments for
Financed Properties, (ii) the aggregate insurance premiums related to all Properties paid during the related Collection Period and necessary in order to maintain
compliance with the Insurance Requirements for such Properties, (iii) the insurance premiums related to each Property paid during the related Collection Period
and necessary in order to maintain compliance with the Insurance Requirements for such Property, (iv) the aggregate real estate taxes or other governmental
assessments paid for all Financed Properties during the related Collection Period and (v) the real estate taxes or other governmental assessments paid for each
Financed Property during the related Collection Period.

 
(c)    Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Agent may instruct the Paying Agent in writing to remit all or any portion of the amount on

deposit in the Insurance Reserve Account and/or the Tax Reserve Account and apply such funds to (i) the costs of maintaining insurance on the Properties in
compliance with the provisions of Section 6.2 and/or to the payment of real estate taxes or other governmental assessments with respect to any Properties, or
(ii) the Advances Outstanding, pro rata to each Lender, in such proportion as between items (i) and (ii) above as the Agent may determine in its sole discretion.
The right to instruct the Paying Agent to remit and apply such amounts in accordance with the foregoing shall be in addition to all other rights and remedies
provided to the Agent or any Lender under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents. Provided no Event of Default shall exist and remain uncured, the
Paying Agent shall disburse the amounts on deposit in the Insurance Reserve Account and the Tax Reserve Account with respect to a Property to the Collection
Account as Available Funds for the next Payment Date upon the Conveyance of such Property and the payment in full of the applicable Property Release
Amount with respect to such Property. Except as expressly set forth in this Section 4.6, the amounts on deposit in the Insurance Reserve Account and the Tax
Reserve Account shall not be released to the Borrowers or otherwise available to pay any Obligations.

 
Section 4.7    Insurance Proceeds Account.

 
(a)    All repairs to any Property with respect to which any Insurance Proceeds or Condemnation Proceeds have been deposited to the Insurance

Proceeds Account shall be deemed to be renovations and all of the provisions of Section 4.8(a), including the requirements for inspections by the Diligence
Agent, shall apply to such Properties.
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(b)    Upon (i) completion of all repairs to any Property in respect of which Insurance Proceeds or Condemnation Proceeds are held in the Insurance
Proceeds Account, (ii) receipt by the Agent and the Diligence Agent of a Repair Completion Certificate of a Responsible Officer of the Borrower
Representative and (iii) confirmation by the Diligence Agent to the Agent that such repairs have been completed in compliance with the Renovation Standards,
the Agent shall direct Paying Agent to withdraw from the Insurance Proceeds Account the related Insurance Proceeds or Condemnation Proceeds on the next
Payment Date and deposit such amount in the Collection Account as Available Funds for such Payment Date.

 
(c)    Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Agent may instruct the Paying Agent in writing to remit all or any portion of the amount on

deposit in the Insurance Proceeds Account and apply such funds to (i) the costs of completion of the repairs to any Property in respect of which Insurance
Proceeds are held in the Insurance Proceeds Account, or (ii) the Advances Outstanding, pro rata to each Lender, in such proportion as between items (i) and (ii)
above as the Agent may determine in its sole discretion. The right to instruct the Paying Agent to remit and apply such amounts in accordance with the
foregoing shall be in addition to all other rights and remedies provided to the Agent or any Lender under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents. Except
as expressly set forth in this Section 4.7, the amounts on deposit in the Insurance Proceeds Account shall not be released to the Borrowers or otherwise
available to pay any Obligations.

 
Section 4.8    Renovations and Renovation Cost Reserve Account.

 
(a)    The Borrower Representative shall provide to the Agent, the Lenders and the Diligence Agent a budget and schedule (the “Proposed Scheduled

Renovation Work”) describing, if applicable, the Renovation Costs for each Non-Leased Property and the renovation work necessary in the Borrowers’ good
faith determination to cause such Non-Leased Properties to be renovated, improved, repaired and completed so as to satisfy the Renovation Standards. The
Agent shall cause the Diligence Agent to review the Proposed Scheduled Renovation Work in accordance with the Diligence Agent Agreement. After the
Diligence Agent completes its evaluation, the Agent may propose modifications to the Proposed Scheduled Renovation Work for such Non-Leased Properties
and upon revision of the Proposed Scheduled Renovation Work in a manner agreed to by the Borrower Representative and the Agent, such revised schedule
shall constitute the “Scheduled Renovation Work” for such Non-Leased Property. The Borrowers shall promptly perform all of the Scheduled Renovation Work
(i) in compliance with all Applicable Laws and (ii) in a Lien-free, good and workmanlike manner, and shall promptly deliver to the Agent, the Lenders and the
Diligence Agent a Certificate of Completion when the Scheduled Renovation Work on a Property has been completed. The Agent shall cause the Diligence
Agent to inspect each month at least 10% of all Non-Leased Properties for which the Scheduled Renovation Work has been completed in the prior month for
purposes of verifying compliance with the Renovation Standards, such sample to be selected by the Diligence Agent. If the Diligence Agent is not able to
access any such Property selected for inspection, the Diligence Agent shall select other Properties to be inspected, such that at least 10% of the Non-Leased
Properties for which the Scheduled Renovation Work has been completed in the prior month are so inspected. The Borrowers will cooperate reasonably to
enable the Diligence Agent to inspect such Properties before they become occupied. If any such sample shows that more than 5% of such sampled Properties
are not then in compliance with the Renovation Standards, the Agent or the Lenders may cause the Diligence Agent to subsequently inspect all or a larger
sample of the Non-Leased Properties for which the Scheduled Renovation Work has been completed in the prior month to confirm compliance for such
Properties with the Renovation Standards.
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(b)    The Borrowers shall be required to deposit to the Renovation Cost Reserve Account on the date of the initial Advance, the addition of a Property
as a Financed Property hereunder, the date of each subsequent Advance and on each Payment Date, an amount such that the amount on deposit in the
Renovation Cost Reserve Account equals an amount (the “Renovation Cost Reserve Account Required Amount”) equal to the aggregate Renovation Costs
related to all Non-Leased Properties that on such date of determination are subject to any Scheduled Renovation Work or if Scheduled Renovation Work has
not been agreed to, the Proposed Scheduled Renovation Work. Upon completion of the Scheduled Renovation Work, delivery of the related Certificate of
Completion and verification by the Diligence Agent in accordance with Section 4.8(a) with respect to a Property, provided no Event of Default has occurred
and is continuing, the Paying Agent (at the written direction of the Agent) shall release the related Renovation Cost Reserve Account Required Amount to the
Collection Account as Available Funds for the next Payment Date. If the applicable Property ceases to be a Financed Property pursuant to Section 2.7(a) or
Section 2.13, then the Paying Agent shall withdraw any amount on deposit in the Renovation Cost Reserve Account for such Property from the Renovation
Cost Reserve Account and deposit such amount in the Collection Account as Available Funds for such Payment Date.

 
(c)    Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Agent may instruct the Paying Agent in writing to remit all or any portion of the amount on

deposit in the Renovation Cost Reserve Account and apply such funds to (i) the costs of completion of the Scheduled Renovation Work of any Non-Leased
Properties or (ii) the Advances Outstanding, pro rata to each Lender, in such proportion as between items (i) and (ii) above as the Agent may determine in its
sole discretion. The right to instruct the Paying Agent to remit and apply such amounts in accordance with the foregoing shall be in addition to all other rights
and remedies provided to the Agent or any Lender under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents. Except as expressly set forth in this Section 4.8, the
amounts on deposit in the Renovation Cost Reserve Account shall not be released to the Borrowers or otherwise available to pay any Obligations.

 
Section 4.9    Ratio Trigger Reserve Account.

 
(a)    If, on any Payment Date, no Trigger Event has occurred and is continuing (and none will result from application of the Available Funds pursuant

to Section 2.8(b) on such Payment Date), then Agent shall direct Paying Agent to withdraw from the Ratio Trigger Reserve Account any amounts then on
deposit in such account and deposit such amounts in the Collection Account as Available Funds for such Payment Date.

 
(b)    Otherwise, amounts deposited in the Ratio Trigger Reserve Account shall be applied as provided in Section 2.8(b)(x).
 
Section 4.10    Reserve Accounts Generally.

 
(a)    Each Reserve Account shall be established and maintained by the Paying Agent as a Securities Account in the name of the Borrower

Representative in trust for the benefit of Agent as agent for the Secured Parties. Each Reserve Account shall, pursuant to the Account Control Agreement, be
under the sole dominion and control of the Agent. The Paying Agent on behalf of the Agent shall have the sole right to issue entitlement orders with respect to
each Reserve Account. The taxpayer identification number associated with the Reserve Accounts shall be that of the Borrower Representative and the Borrower
Representative (and other applicable Borrowers) will report for federal, state and local income taxes, the income, if any, represented by the Reserve Accounts.
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(b)    Any costs of any Reserve Account shall be deducted from any income or earnings, if any, on amounts on deposit in such Reserve Account and to
the extent such income or earnings is not sufficient to pay such costs, such costs shall be deducted from amounts on deposit in such Reserve Account.

 
(c)    All interest or other earnings on Reserve Accounts shall be added to and become a part of the related Reserve Account and shall be disbursed in

the same manner as other monies deposited in the applicable Reserve Account. So long as no Early Amortization Event, Default or Event of Default shall have
occurred and be continuing, the Borrower Representative shall have the right to direct the investment of sums on deposit in the Reserve Accounts in Permitted
Investments if (i) such investments are permitted by Applicable Laws and (ii) the maturity date of the Permitted Investment is not later than the date on which
funds in the related Reserve Account are required for payment of an obligation for which the applicable Reserve Account was created. Absent the written
instruction of the Borrower Representative, the funds on deposit in the Reserve Accounts shall remain uninvested; provided that, if an Event of Default has
occurred and is continuing, the Agent in its sole discretion, shall have the right (but not the obligation) to direct the investment of sums on deposit in the
Reserve Accounts in Permitted Investments. The Borrowers shall be responsible for payment of any federal, state or local income or other Applicable Taxes
applicable to the interest and other amounts earned on the Reserve Accounts, regardless of to whom any amount in any such Reserve Account is credited or
paid. No other investments of the sums on deposit in the Reserve Accounts shall be permitted except as set forth in this Section 4.8(c).

 
(d)    Neither the Agent nor the Paying Agent shall be liable for any loss sustained on the investment of any funds maintained in any of the Reserve

Accounts. The Borrowers shall indemnify the Agent and the Paying Agent and hold the Agent and the Paying Agent harmless from and against any and all
actions, suits, claims, demands, liabilities, losses, damages, obligations and costs and expenses (including litigation costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees and
expenses) arising from or in any way connected with the Reserve Accounts or the performance of the obligations for which the Reserve Accounts were
established. The Borrowers shall collaterally assign to the Agent, as security for the Obligations, all rights and claims the Borrowers may have against all
persons or entities supplying labor, materials or other services which are to be paid from or secured by the Reserve Accounts.

 
Section 4.11    Prohibited Conveyance.

 
(a)    If the Borrowers fail to obtain the Agent’s prior written consent to any Conveyance or refinancing of any Property(ies) with an aggregate market

value (measured with respect to any such Property as of the date of its conveyance or refinancing) of more than $1,000,000, to the extent not permitted under
the Loan Documents, upon the written request of the Agent, the Borrowers shall obtain, grant to Agent (for the benefit of the Secured Parties) and record in the
applicable recording offices first priority mortgage liens on all of the Borrowers’ Financed Properties (in each case, pursuant to mortgages, deeds of trust of
other forms of security instruments as are required in the subject jurisdiction, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Agent (collectively,
“Mortgages”), and insured by a nationally recognized title insurance company pursuant to a lender’s policy of title insurance in an amount not less than the
Allocated Loan Amount of the applicable Financed Property, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Agent) within sixty (60) days of such request.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the Borrowers may elect, at any time and in their sole discretion, to obtain and grant to Agent (for
the benefit of the Secured Parties) Mortgages on the Financed Properties. If Mortgages are granted in jurisdictions that require a cap on the amount secured,
such amount shall be no less than 125% of the Allocated Loan Amount, provided that if such excess would result in material additional taxes or fees payable by
the Borrowers, then the Agent may in its discretion accept such other cap or alternative arrangement as the Agent may deem appropriate in light of the risk to
the Lenders resulting from such cap and such cost to the Borrowers.
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(b)    In connection with any Mortgages obtained pursuant to Section 4.11(a) above, the Borrowers will pay all costs associated with providing such
Mortgages, including all recordation taxes with respect to such Mortgages, any costs and/or expenses related to the preparation and assembly of such
Mortgages and the delivery thereof to the proper Governmental Authority for recordation, any reasonable out-of-pocket fees for attorneys and other
professionals incurred in connection with the preparation, review on behalf of the Agent and recordation of such Mortgages, and the cost of such lender’s title
insurance policies (collectively, the “Mortgage Recording Expenses”).
 

ARTICLE 5
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

 
Section 5.1    Representations and Warranties. To induce each Lender, the Paying Agent and the Calculation Agent to enter into this Agreement and the

other Loan Documents and to make Advances, each Loan Party hereby represents and warrants to the Agent and each Lender, on the Effective Date and, except
to the extent such representation and warranty specifically relates to an earlier date, on each Borrowing Date and each date that any Property is added as a
Financed Property that the following statements, and each of the representations and warranties set forth on Schedule 2 hereto are true and correct:
 

(a)    Existence. It is duly formed, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of organization, and has all requisite power
and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and assets and to carry on its business as presently conducted. It is qualified to do business in every
jurisdiction where such qualification is required or where the failure to do so could be reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

 
(b)    Power and Authority; Enforceability. It has all necessary corporate, limited liability company or organizational power to enter into, and has taken

all necessary corporate, limited liability company or organizational action to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of, this Agreement and the
other Loan Documents to which it is a party, and all of the transactions contemplated herein and therein. This Agreement and the other Loan Documents have
been duly executed and delivered by it constitutes, and any Loan Documents executed and delivered by it after the Effective Date will constitute, its legal, valid
and binding obligations, enforceable against it in accordance with their respective terms, subject to applicable Insolvency Laws and general principles of
equity, regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law. Each Loan Document to which it is a party is in full force and effect.

 
88



 
 

(c)    No Violation. Neither the execution and delivery by it of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, as applicable, nor the performance by it
of its duties and obligations hereunder or thereunder, (i) require any consent or approval of its directors, shareholders, trustees, members or managers, other
than any consents or approvals previously obtained, (ii) results or will result in a breach of, or constitutes or will constitute a violation or default under (1) any
term or provision of its Governing Documents, (2) any law, rule, regulation, order, judgment, writ, injunction, or decree of any court or Governmental
Authority having jurisdiction over its or its property or assets, the violation of which could be reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect or (3) any
loan agreement, mortgage, deed of trust, security agreement or lease, or any other contract or instrument binding on or affecting it or its property or assets, the
violation of which could be reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, (iii) requires any approval of stockholders, members or partners or any
approval or consent of any Person under any of its Contractual Obligations, except for such approvals or consents which will be obtained on or before the
Effective Date and disclosed in writing to the Agent or (iv) results or will result in the creation or imposition of any Lien of any nature upon or with respect to
any of its properties or assets, whether now owned or hereafter acquired (except the Liens created by the Loan Documents).

 
(d)    Consents; Authorizations. No authorization, consent, approval, license, exemption of, or filing or registration with, or any other action in respect

of any other Governmental Authority is or will be necessary for the valid execution, delivery or performance by it of this Agreement and the other Loan
Documents to which it is a party except (i) those with have been made or obtained and are in full force and effect and (ii) those filings or recordings
contemplated in connection with this Agreement or the other Loan Documents.

 
(e)    Title to Assets. It has good and marketable title to all of the Financed Properties (or, with respect to the Non-Financed Properties and all other

assets owned by it, good and marketable title except where a failure to have such title counsel not be reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect), in
each case, free and clear of all Liens other than Permitted Liens.

 
(f)    Collateral. It has rights in and the power to transfer each item of Collateral upon which it purports to grant a Lien under this Agreement, the

Security Agreement or the other Loan Documents free and clear of any and all Liens other than Permitted Liens. No effective security agreement, financing
statement, equivalent security or Lien instrument or continuation statement covering all or any part of the Collateral is on file or of record in any public office,
except such as may have been filed in connection with this Agreement or the other Loan Documents. With respect to the security interest granted by it in the
Security Agreement, such security interest is a valid first priority security interest in the Collateral, subject only to Permitted Liens, which security interest will,
upon the filing of the Financing Statements as provided for in the Security Agreement, be perfected to the extent such security interest can be perfected by
possession, filing or control. The execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Security Agreement and the Grant of the Lien under the Security Agreement
create a valid, enforceable Lien on the Collateral and the Proceeds thereof. The Filing Offices are the only offices where Financing Statements are required to
be filed under the UCC in order to perfect such Lien in all Filing Collateral. Following the filing of the Financing Statements in the Filing Offices, the Lien
granted hereunder in all Filing Collateral will be a first priority perfected Lien.
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(g)    Litigation. There is no litigation pending or threatened, to which it is a party that (i) purports to affect the legality, validity or enforceability of
this Agreement or any other Loan Document or the transactions contemplated hereunder or thereunder or (ii) if adversely determined, individually or in the
aggregate, could be reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

 
(h)    Compliance with Laws. It is in compliance with all Applicable Laws including without limitation those with respect to owning, leasing and

maintaining the Properties.
 
(i)    Disclosure. No representation or warranty made by it and contained in any Loan Document or in any other documents, certificates or written

statements furnished to the Agent, the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agent, the Diligence Agent and any Lender by or on behalf of any of the Borrowers for
use in connection with any Advance or the transactions contemplated hereby contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact
necessary in order to make the statements contained herein or therein not misleading in light of the circumstances in which the same were made. Any
projections and pro forma financial information contained in such materials are based upon good faith estimates and assumptions believed by it to be
reasonable at the time made, and are not to be viewed as facts and the actual results during the period or periods covered by any such projections may differ
from the projected results. There are no material facts known (or which should upon the reasonable exercise of diligence be known) to any Borrower-Related
Party (other than matters of a general economic nature) that, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse
Effect and that have not been disclosed herein or in such other documents, certificates and statements furnished to any Lender or the Agent for use in
connection with the transactions contemplated hereby.

 
(j)    Environmental Matters. (i) There is no past or present non-compliance with Environmental Laws, or with permits issued pursuant thereto, in

connection with any Property which has not been fully addressed and/or remediated in accordance with Environmental Law or in accordance with any
requirements imposed by any Governmental Authority, except for those that could not, either individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect and (ii) except as otherwise disclosed to Agent, it does not have any knowledge of, nor has it received, any written notice from any
inspector, contractor, property manager, agent of any property manager or Governmental Authority relating to Hazardous Materials or Remediation (as defined
in the Environmental Indemnity) in connection with any Property, of liability of any Person pursuant to any Environmental Law or any actual administrative or
judicial proceedings in connection with any of the foregoing, except for those that could not, either individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to
have a Material Adverse Effect.

 
(k)    Solvency. It is and, upon each Borrowing Date, both before and after giving effect to the making of the Advance requested hereunder, the Grant

by it hereunder and the consummation of the other transactions contemplated hereunder, will be, Solvent, and intends to remain Solvent. No Insolvency Event
has occurred with respect to it and it has not taken any Insolvency Action or action in contemplation or furtherance thereof.
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(l)    Organization Documents. Since the Effective Date, it has not amended, supplemented, restated or other modified its Governing Document or any
other of its organizational or governing documents.

 
(m)    Taxes. It has filed (or obtained effective extensions for filing) all required income tax returns and all other tax returns, domestic and foreign,

required to be filed by it and has paid all taxes (including mortgage recording taxes), assessments, fees, and other governmental charges payable by it, or with
respect to any of its properties or assets, which have become due, and income or franchise taxes have been paid except that individually or in the aggregate
could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect unless, in each case, the same are not delinquent and are being contested in accordance with
the provisions of Section 6.1(u). It has paid, or has provided adequate reserves for the payment of, all such taxes for all prior fiscal years and for the current
fiscal year to date. There is no action, suit, proceeding, investigation, audit or claim relating to any such taxes now pending or threatened by any Governmental
Authority against any it, which is not being contested in good faith as provided above if adversely determined could reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect. No tax liens that have not been discharged have been filed against it or any of its assets (except with respect to any Property, Liens in respect of
taxes not yet due and payable).

 
(n)    Anti-Money Laundering Laws. It has complied with all applicable anti-money laundering laws and regulations, including without limitation the

USA Patriot Act of 2001 (collectively, the “Anti-Money Laundering Laws”); it has established an anti-money laundering compliance program as required by
the Anti-Money Laundering Laws, has conducted and will conduct the requisite due diligence in connection with the Leases and Tenants for purposes of the
Anti-Money Laundering laws, including with respect to the legitimacy of the applicable Tenant and the origin of the assets used by the said Tenant to lease the
property in question and maintains and will maintain, sufficient information to identify the applicable Tenant for purposes of the Anti-Money Laundering Laws.

 
(o)    OFAC. Neither any Borrower nor any entity owned directly or indirectly by the Sponsor, nor any such Borrower’s or entity’s officers, directors,

partners or members or, any Tenant of any Borrower is an entity or person (or owned or controlled by an entity or person): (i) that is listed in the Annex to, or is
otherwise subject to the provisions of the Executive Order 13224 issued on September 24, 2001 (“EO13224”); (ii) whose name appears on OFAC’s most
current list of “Specifically Designated National and Blocked Persons” (as such list is published from time to time on the OFAC website,
http:www.treas.gof/ofac/t11sdn.pdf, or any replacement thereof promulgated by OFAC, the “OFAC List”); or (iii) who commits or threatens to commit
“terrorism”, as that term is defined in EO13224. The Borrowers shall cause the Property Manager, prior to entering into any Lease with a Tenant, to screen each
Tenant’s provided name against the OFAC List to confirm such Tenant’s name does not appear on the OFAC List. If a Responsible Officer of any Loan Party
obtains knowledge that any Tenant’s name appears on the OFAC List, such Loan Party shall give prompt notice to the Agent and shall take all legally required
action with respect to any such Tenant as a result thereof.
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(p)    ERISA Compliance. Each Plan is in compliance with the applicable provisions of ERISA, the Code and other Applicable Law. Each Plan that is
intended to qualify under Section 401(a) of the Code has received a favorable determination letter from the IRS and nothing has occurred which would prevent,
or cause the loss of, such qualification. To the extent applicable, such Borrower and each ERISA Affiliate have made all required contributions to each Plan
subject to Section 412 of the Code, and no application for a funding waiver or an extension of any amortization period pursuant to Section 412 of the Code has
been made with respect to any Plan. There are no pending or threatened claims, actions or lawsuits, or action by any Governmental Authority, with respect to
any Plan, except for those that could not, either individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. There has been no
non-exempt prohibited transaction or violation of the fiduciary responsibility rules with respect to any Plan, except for those that could not, either individually
or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. (i) No ERISA Event has occurred or is reasonably expected to occur; (ii) no
Pension Plan has any Unfunded Pension Liability; (iii) neither such Borrower nor any ERISA Affiliate has incurred, or reasonably expects to incur, any liability
under Title IV of ERISA with respect to any Pension Plan (other than premiums due and not delinquent under Section 4007 of ERISA); (iv) neither such
Borrower nor any ERISA Affiliate has incurred, or reasonably expects to incur, any liability (and no event has occurred which, with the giving of notice under
Section 4219 of ERISA, would result in such liability) under Sections 4201 or 4243 of ERISA with respect to a Multiemployer Plan; and (v) neither such
Borrower nor any ERISA Affiliate has engaged in a transaction that could be subject to Sections 4069 or 4212(c) of ERISA, in each case that either
individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

 
(q)    Equity Interests and Ownership. (i) the Holdco Guarantors own all of the outstanding and issued Equity Interests in each Borrower, (ii) Parent

Holdco owns all of the outstanding and issued Equity Interests in the Holdco Guarantors, (iii) Equity Owner owns all of the outstanding and issued Equity
Interests in the Parent Holdco, (iv) Sponsor directly or indirectly owns all of the outstanding and issued Equity Interests in Equity Owner and (v) no Change of
Control has occurred. Such Equity Interests and all Equity Interests of the Sponsor have been duly authorized and validly issued and are fully paid and non-
assessable. There is no existing option, warrant, call, right, commitment or other agreement to which it is a party requiring, and none of its Equity Interests
outstanding, which upon conversion or exchange, would require the issuance by it of its Equity Interests or other Securities convertible into, exchangeable for
or evidencing the right to subscribe for or purchase, its Equity Interests. The Equity Interest of each Borrower, each Holdco Guarantor and Parent Holdco have
been pledged to the Agent for the benefit of the Lenders pursuant to the terms of the Security Agreement.

 
(r)    Governmental Regulation. It is not subject to regulation under the Investment Company Act of 1940 or under any other federal or state statute or

regulation which may limit its ability to incur Obligations or which may otherwise render all or any portion of its Obligations unenforceable. It is not a
“registered investment company” or a company “controlled” by a “registered investment company” or a “principal underwriter” of a “registered investment
company” as such terms are defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940.

 
(s)    Margin Stock. None of the transactions contemplated by any of the Loan Documents will violate or result in a violation of Section 7 of the

Exchange Act, or any regulations issued pursuant thereto, including Regulations T, U and X of the Federal Reserve Board, 12 C.F.R., Chapter II. It does not
own or intend to carry or purchase, and no proceeds of any Advance or from the pledge of the Collateral will be used to carry or purchase, any “Margin Stock”
within the meaning of Regulation U or to extend “Purchase Credit” within the meaning of Regulation U.
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(t)    Insurance. The Borrowers have obtained and delivered to the Agent certificates evidencing the insurance policies that satisfy the Insurance
Requirements. All such policies are in full force and effect. No claims have been made that are currently pending, outstanding or otherwise remain unsatisfied
under any such insurance policies that could, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. With respect to any
insurance policy, there has been no act or omission would impair the coverage of such policy, the benefits of the endorsement or the validity and binding effect
of either such policy or the endorsement in any material respect.

 
(u)    Eligibility. Such Borrower is an Eligible Property Owner. Each Financed Property is an Eligible Property.
 
(v)    Investment Company Act. Such Borrower is not an “investment company” registered or required to be registered under the Investment Company

Act.
 
(w)    Fiscal Year and Fiscal Quarters. Such Borrower’s fiscal year ends on December 31 of each calendar year and its fiscal quarters end on March 31,

June 30, September 30 and December 31 (each, a “Fiscal Quarter”) of each calendar year.
 

ARTICLE 6
AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS

 
Section 6.1    Affirmative Covenants of the Loan Parties. Each of the Loan Parties covenants with each Lender, the Paying Agent, the Calculation

Agent and the Agent that until all Obligations have been repaid in full and this Agreement is terminated:
 

(a)    Compliance With Laws. It shall comply with all Environmental Laws as required by the Environmental Indemnity. It shall comply with all other
Applicable Laws.

 
(b)    Maintenance of Existence. It shall maintain its existence and the right to carry on its business and duly procure all necessary renewals and

extensions thereof and maintain, preserve and renew all rights, powers, privileges and franchises and conduct its business in the usual and ordinary course;
provided, that it shall not be required to maintain, preserve or renew any such rights, powers, privileges or franchises unless the failure to maintain, preserve or
renew the same could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. It shall maintain and preserve all property material to the conduct of its
business and keep such property in good repair, working order and condition (ordinary wear and tear and casualty excepted) and from time to time make, or
cause to be made, such repairs, renewals, additions, improvements and replacements thereto as are necessary in order that the business carried on in connection
therewith may be properly conducted at all times, except, in each case, where the failure to do so could not be reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse
Effect.
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(c)    Use of Proceeds. It shall use the proceeds of all Advances solely for the purposes described in Section 2.3.
 
(d)    Delivery of Information. It shall furnish, or cause to be furnished, to the Agent:

 
(i)    as soon as available and in any event within sixty (60) days after the end of each fiscal year of Sponsor, the audited consolidated balance

sheet of Sponsor and its consolidated subsidiaries (which shall include the Borrowers and the Guarantors) as at the end of such fiscal year and the related
consolidated statements of income and cash flows of Sponsor and its consolidated subsidiaries (which shall include the Borrowers and the Guarantors) for such
fiscal year, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, all reported on in conformity with GAAP, with the opinion
thereon of an independent public accountant reasonably acceptable to the Agent, together with such information as shall be reasonably required to permit the
reconciliation of the net worth, debt and liquidity of Sponsor as set forth in such financial statements to the Tangible Net Worth, Debt to Tangible Net Worth
ratio and Liquidity required to be maintained by Sponsor pursuant to the Sponsor Financial Covenants;

 
(ii)    as soon as available and in any event within thirty (30) days after the end of each fiscal quarter (other than the last fiscal quarter in such

fiscal year) of Sponsor and its consolidated subsidiaries (which shall include the Borrowers and the Guarantors), an unaudited consolidated balance sheet of
Sponsor and its consolidated subsidiaries (which shall include the Borrowers and the Guarantors) as at the end of each such fiscal quarter and the related
statements of income and cash flows of Sponsor and its consolidated subsidiaries (which shall include the Borrowers and the Guarantors) for such quarter and
for the period from the beginning of the then current fiscal year to the end of such fiscal quarter, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for
the corresponding quarter in the previous fiscal year, all certified as to fairness of presentation and conformity with GAAP (other than with respect to lack of
footnotes and being subject to normal year-end adjustments) by a Responsible Officer of Sponsor, together with such information as shall be reasonably
required to permit the reconciliation of the net worth, debt and liquidity of Sponsor as set forth in such financial statements to the Tangible Net Worth, Debt to
Tangible Net Worth ratio and Liquidity required to be maintained by Sponsor pursuant to the Sponsor Financial Covenants;

 
(iii)    a Monthly Report on each Reporting Date together with a certificate of a Responsible Officer of the Borrower Representative delivered to

Agent certifying (a) that the Borrowers, each of the Guarantors, the Sponsor and their respective Affiliates have each complied with all covenants and
agreements in the Loan Documents applicable to such Person and (b) that no Early Amortization Event, Default or Event of Default has occurred and is
continuing on the date of such certificate, and if any Default or Event of Default then exists, setting forth the details thereof and the action which the Borrowers
are taking or propose to take with respect thereto;

 
(iv)    promptly after any of its Responsible Officers becoming aware of the occurrence of any Early Amortization Event, Default or Event of

Default (but in any event within one (1) Business Day thereafter), a certificate of a Responsible Officer setting forth the details thereof and the action that it is
taking or proposes to take with respect thereto;
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(v)    promptly after any of its Responsible Officers becoming aware of any event or occurrence (including any litigation, whether pending or
threatened) that could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect (but in any event within one (1) Business Day thereafter), a certificate of a
Responsible Officer setting forth the details thereof and the action that it is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto;

 
(vi)    promptly after receipt of written notice of the matters described in Section 2(k) of the Environmental Indemnity;

 
(vii)    as soon as possible, notice of any material changes to its organization or structure or any material change or expansion of its operations

or programs;
 

(viii)    promptly upon request by the Agent from time to time, such additional information regarding its financial condition or business or assets
(including, without limitation, the Collateral), as the Agent may reasonably request from time to time;

 
(ix)    as soon as practicable but in no event later than five (5) Business Days prior to the acquisition of any such real property by a Borrower,

notice that such Borrower intends to acquire real property in a state other than the state or states that such Borrower owned Properties as of the Effective Date;
provided that, the Agent shall have the right to approve such acquisition in its sole discretion; and

 
(x)    all information furnished by or on behalf of any Borrower to the Agent or any Lender in connection with the Loan Documents will be true,

correct and complete, or in the case of projections will be based on reasonable estimates prepared and presented in good faith, on the date as of which such
information is stated or certified.

 
(e)    Books and Records. It shall keep proper books of record and account in which full, true and correct entries shall be made of all dealings and

transactions in relation to its business and activities to the extent necessary to prepare its financial statements in conformity with GAAP.
 
(f)    Further Assurances. It shall at any time or from time to time upon the reasonable request of the Agent, at the Borrowers’ sole cost and expense, (i)

furnish to the Agent all instruments, documents, boundary surveys, footing or foundation surveys, certificates, plans and specifications, appraisals, title and
other insurance reports and agreements, and each and every other document, certificate, agreement and instrument required to be furnished by any Borrower
pursuant to the terms of the Loan Documents or reasonably requested by the Agent in connection therewith, in each case to the extent in the possession of the
Borrowers, the Borrower Representative or any of their agents; (ii) promptly execute any and all further documents, financing statements, agreements and
instruments, and take all such further actions (including the filing and recording of financing statements, continuation statements and fixture filings), which are
required under any Applicable Laws or may be reasonably requested by the Agent to effectuate the transactions contemplated by the Loan Documents or to
grant, preserve, protect or perfect the Liens created by the Loan Documents or the validity or priority of an such Lien; and (iii) cooperate with each Lender and
the Agent with respect to any proceedings before any court, board or other Governmental Authority which may in any way adversely affect the rights of any
Secured Party hereunder (other than any adverse proceeding between any Borrower-Related Parties, on the one hand and any Lender, Agent, Paying Agent,
Calculation Agent and/or Diligence Agent, on the other hand, relating to the transactions contemplated herein). During the existence and continuance of an
Event of Default, it shall provide to the Agent and the Lenders, from time to time upon request, evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Agent as to the
perfection and priority of the Liens created or intended to be created by the Loan Documents.
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(g)    SPE Requirements. Since its formation and at all times thereafter it has complied with the following provisions, and it shall:
 

(i)    own no material assets, and shall not engage in any business, other than the assets and transactions specifically contemplated by this
Agreement and any other Loan Document;

 
(ii)    not incur any Debt or other obligation, secured or unsecured, direct or indirect, absolute or contingent (including guaranteeing any

obligation), other than as permitted under Section 7.1(a) or as otherwise permitted under this Agreement;
 

(iii)    not make any loans or advances to any Affiliate or third party and shall not acquire obligations or securities of its Affiliates, in each case
other than in connection with the acquisition, conversion or maintenance of Properties in connection with the Loan Documents;

 
(iv)    pay its debts and liabilities (including, as applicable, shared personnel and overhead expenses) only from and to the extent of its own

assets; provided, however that the foregoing shall not require its member to make any additional capital contributions to it;
 

(v)    maintain a sufficient number of employees, if any, in light of its contemplated business operations;
 
(vi)    pay the salaries of its own employees, if any, only from and to the extent of its own funds;

 
(vii)    comply with the provisions of its Governing Documents;

 
(viii)    do all things necessary to observe organizational formalities and to preserve its existence, and shall not amend, modify, waive provisions

of or otherwise change its Governing Documents without the consent of the Agent;
 

(ix)    maintain all of its books, records, financial statements and bank accounts separate from those of its Affiliates and any other Person, and
has not and shall not list its assets as assets on the financial statements of any other Person (except that, to the extent required under GAAP or as a matter of
Applicable Law its assets may be included in a consolidated financial statement of its Affiliates; provided, that (a) appropriate notation shall be made on such
financial statements to indicate the separateness of such Person from such Affiliate and to indicate that such Person’s assets and credit are not available to
satisfy the debts and other obligations of such Affiliate or any other Person and (b) such assets shall also be listed on such Person’s own separate balance sheet)
and file its own tax returns separate from those of any other Person except to the extent such Person is treated as a “disregarded entity” for tax purposes and is
not required to file tax returns under Applicable Law;
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(x)    be, and at all times shall hold itself out to the public as, a legal entity separate and distinct from any other entity (including any Affiliate),
shall correct any known misunderstanding regarding its status as a separate entity, shall conduct business solely in its own name, and shall not identify itself or
any of its Affiliates as a division of the other;

 
(xi)    intend to maintain adequate capital for the normal obligations reasonably foreseeable in a business of its size and character and in light of

its contemplated business operations; provided, however that the foregoing shall not require its member to make any additional capital contributions to it;
 

(xii)    not engage in or suffer any Change of Control, dissolution, winding up, liquidation, consolidation or merger in whole or in part or
convey or transfer all or substantially all of its properties and assets to any Person (except as contemplated herein);

 
(xiii)    except with respect to other Borrowers to the extent permitted by the Cash Management Requirements, not commingle its funds or other

assets with those of any Person and shall maintain its properties and assets in such a manner that it would not be costly or difficult to identify, segregate or
ascertain its properties and assets from those of others;

 
(xiv)    hold all of its assets in its own name;

 
(xv)    maintain its properties, assets and accounts separate from those of any Affiliate or any other Person;

 
(xvi)    except with respect to other Borrowers and/or the Borrower Representative as provided for in the Loan Documents, not hold itself out to

be responsible for the debts or obligations of any other Person;
 

(xvii)    not, without the prior unanimous written consent of the holders of 100% of its Equity Interests, take any Insolvency Action;
 

(xviii)    not enter into any transaction with an Affiliate of any of the Borrowers except on terms and conditions that are intrinsically fair,
commercially reasonable and substantially similar to those available to unaffiliated parties in an arm’s length transaction;

 
(xix)    use separate stationary, invoices and checks bearing its own name;

 
(xx)    allocate fairly and reasonably any shared expenses with an affiliate (including, without limitation, shared office space);

 
(xxi)    except with respect to other Borrowers and/or the Borrower Representative as provided for in the Loan Documents, not pledge its assets

to secure the obligations of any other Person; and
 

(xxii)    not form, acquire or hold any subsidiary or own any equity interest in any other entity other than in the case of the Borrower
Representative, its equity interest in the Borrowers as expressly permitted under this Agreement or the other Loan Documents.
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(h)    Litigation. It shall give prompt written notice to the Agent and the Lenders of any litigation or governmental proceedings pending or threatened
against it.

 
(i)    Release Premium Report. In connection with a Property Release, it shall provide a report (the “Release Premium Report”) to the Agent and the

Calculation Agent detailing the Release Premium, the Release Premium Deduction, the Reduction Amount, the Property Value, the Property Borrowing Base
and the Borrowing Base, both before and after giving effect to such Property Release, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Agent.

 
(j)    Estoppel Statement. After request by the Agent, it shall within ten (10) Business Days furnish the Agent with a statement, duly acknowledged and

certified, setting forth (i) the Advances Outstanding as of such date, (ii) the Interest Rate, (iii) the date interest and/or principal were last paid, (iv) any offsets or
defenses to the payment of the Obligations evidence by this Agreement and (v) that the Note, this Agreement and the other Loan Documents are valid, legal
and binding obligations and have not been modified or if modified, giving particulars of such modification.

 
(k)    Performance and Compliance with Loan Documents. It will, at its expense, timely and fully perform and comply with all provisions, covenants

and other promises required to be observed by it under each Loan Document to which it is a party.
 
(l)    Inspection Rights. The Agent and the Lenders (and their respective agents or professional advisors) shall have the right, from time to time, at their

discretion and upon reasonable prior notice to the relevant party, to visit and inspect any of the offices of any Borrower, to discuss the affairs, finances and
condition of any Borrower with the officers thereof and independent accountants therefor and to examine, and audit, during business hours or at such other
times as might be reasonable under applicable circumstances, any and all of the books, records, financial statements, collection policies, legal and regulatory
compliance, operating and reporting procedures and information systems, their respective directors, officers and employees, or other information and
information systems (including without limitation customer service and/or whistleblower hotlines) of the Borrowers, or held by another for a Borrower or on its
behalf, concerning or otherwise affecting the Properties, the Loan Documents, the Borrower Representative, Sponsor, the Guarantors or any Borrower. Upon
reasonable notice and during regular business hours, each Borrower agrees to promptly provide the Agent and the Lenders (and their respective agents or
professional advisors) with access to, copies of and extracts from any and all documents, records, agreements, instruments or information (including, without
limitation, any of the foregoing in computer data banks and computer software systems) the Agent and the Lenders (and their respective agents or professional
advisors) may reasonably require in order to conduct periodic due diligence relating to the Borrowers in connection with the Properties and the Loan
Documents. Each Borrower will make available to the Agent and the Lenders (and their respective agents or professional advisors) knowledgeable financial,
accounting, legal and compliance officers for the purpose of answering questions with respect to such Borrower and the Properties and to assist in the Agent’s
and the Diligence Agent’s diligence. In addition, the Borrowers shall provide, or shall cause the Borrower Representative and the Property Manager to provide,
the Agent and the Diligence Agent (and their respective agents or professional advisors) from time to time, at their discretion and upon reasonable prior notice
to the relevant party, with access to such Person to visit and inspect the offices of such Person and to examine, and audit, during business hours or at such other
times as might be reasonable under applicable circumstances, any and all of the books, records, financial statements, collection policies, legal and regulatory
compliance, operating and reporting procedures and information systems, their respective directors, officers and employees, or other information and
information systems (including without limitation customer service and/or whistleblower hotlines) of such Persons, concerning or otherwise affecting the
Properties. All costs and expenses incurred by the Agent, the Lenders and the Diligence Agent (and their respective agents or professional advisors) in
connection with the due diligence and other matters outlined in this Section shall be paid pursuant to Section 2.8(b) in an aggregate amount not to exceed
$100,000 per year. Notwithstanding the foregoing, all inspections of Properties shall be subject to the rights of tenants pursuant to Leases entered into in
accordance with the terms hereof.
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(m)    HOA Dues. It will pay, or cause to be paid, in full when due all home owners’ association dues and fees for each Property owned by it.
 
(n)    Conversion to Leased Property. It will exercise commercially reasonable efforts to complete and pay for all repairs and make all capital

expenditures necessary to repair and renovate any Non-Leased Property owned in accordance with the budget and timeframe submitted to the Agent in
connection with the Advance made in respect of such Non-Leased Property and that is necessary to render such Property a Leased Properties.

 
(o)    Maintenance of Properties. The Loan Parties shall keep and maintain (i) the Financed Properties in a good, safe and habitable condition and

repair, and from time to time make, or cause to be made, all reasonably necessary repairs, renewals, replacements, betterments and improvements thereto and
(ii) all other Properties, except the extent that the failure to do so could not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse
Effect, in a good, safe and habitable condition and repair (ordinary wear and tear excepted), and from time to time make, or cause to be made, all reasonably
necessary repairs, renewals, replacements, betterments and improvements thereto.

 
(p)    Maintenance of Documents Relating to Properties. The Borrower shall deliver to the Data Site any new Lease entered into by a Borrower with

respect to a Financed Property. The Borrower Representative shall maintain at its offices the original (or, if originals are not available, true, complete and
correct copies of) Purchase Agreements, Title Insurance Policies, deeds and other documents that are part of each Document Package and shall provide access
to the Agent and the Lenders to review each such document in connection with any inspection performed in accordance with Section 6.1(l), above or as
otherwise reasonably requested by the Agent or Diligence Agent hereunder.

 
(q)    Defense of Title. The Borrower warrants and will defend the right, title and interest of Lender in and to all Collateral against all adverse claims

and demands of all Persons whomsoever.
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(r)    Operation of Financed Property. Each Loan Party shall cause the Financed Properties to be operated by the Property Manager, under the
supervision of the Property Manager, in accordance with the Property Management Agreement and the Property Management Agreement. In the event that the
Property Management Agreement expires or is terminated (without limiting any obligation of the Loan Parties to obtain the Agent’s consent to any termination
or modification of the Property Management Agreement in accordance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement), the Borrowers shall promptly enter
into a replacement Property Management Agreement with Property Manager or another qualified Property Manager (which qualified Property Manager shall
be reasonably acceptable to the Agent), as applicable and provide to the Agent an Assignment of Property Management Agreement with respect to such
replacement Property Management Agreement. Each Borrower shall: (i) promptly perform and/or observe all of the covenants and agreements required to be
performed and observed by it under the Property Management Agreement and do all things necessary to preserve and to keep unimpaired its material rights
thereunder; (ii) promptly notify the Agent of any default under the Property Management Agreement of which it is aware (and post a copy of such notice to a
Data Site); and (iii) enforce the performance and observance of all of the covenants and agreements required to be performed and/or observed by Property
Manager under the Property Management Agreement, in a commercially reasonable manner.

 
(s)    Property Managers. Each Loan Party shall use commercially reasonable efforts to replace any resigning Property Manager prior to the effective

date of such Property Manager’s resignation. In the event a replacement Property Manager is not appointed prior to such resignation, the Loan Parties shall take
reasonable steps to assume the obligations of such resigning Property Manager until a replacement Property Manager is appointed.

 
(t)    Taxes and Other Charges. It shall pay, or shall cause to be paid, all Taxes and Other Charges now or hereafter levied or assessed or imposed

against any Property or any part thereof as the same become due and payable. It shall maintain receipts, or other evidence for the payment of the Taxes and the
Other Charges prior to the date the same shall become delinquent and shall furnish, or cause to be furnished, copies thereof to the Agent promptly upon request.
It shall not suffer and shall promptly pay and discharge any Lien or charge whatsoever which may be or become a Lien or charge against any Collateral other
than Permitted Liens. After prior written notice to the Agent, it may, at its own expense, contest by appropriate legal proceeding, promptly initiated and
conducted in good faith and with due diligence, the amount or validity or application in whole or in part of any Taxes or Other Charges, provided that (i) no
Early Amortization Event, Default or Event of Default has occurred; (ii) such proceeding shall be permitted under and be conducted in accordance with the
provisions of any other instrument to which the Borrowers are subject and shall not constitute a default thereunder and such proceeding shall be conducted in
accordance with all Applicable Laws; (iii) neither the Collateral nor any Property nor any part thereof or interest therein will be in danger of being sold,
forfeited, terminated, cancelled or lost; (iv) it shall promptly upon final determination thereof pay the amount of any such Taxes or Other Charges, together
with all costs, interest and penalties which may be payable in connection therewith; (v) such proceeding shall suspend the collection of such contested Taxes or
Other Charges, from the released Property; (vi) appropriate reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP and (vii) it shall furnish such security as
may be required in the proceeding, or as may be requested by the Agent, to insure the payment of any such Taxes or Other Charges, together with all interest
and penalties thereon. The Agent may apply such security or part thereof held by it at any time when, in its judgment, the validity or applicability of such Taxes
or Other Charges are established or the Property or any other of its asset (or part thereof or interest therein) shall be in danger of being sold, forfeited,
terminated, cancelled or lost or there shall be any danger of the Lien granted hereunder being primed by any related Lien.
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(u)    Anti-Money Laundering Laws. It will comply with all applicable Anti-Money Laundering Laws and shall provide notice to the Agent and the
Lenders, within one (1) Business Day after it obtains knowledge of any Anti-Money Laundering Law regulatory notice or action involving it.

 
(v)    OFAC. It will, prior to entering into a Lease with a Tenant, confirm that such Tenant is not a Person that is the subject of any sanctions

administered by OFAC, including any person or entity listed on the OFAC List and not enter into a Lease with a Tenant that is listed on either of such lists.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Responsible Officer of any Loan Party determines or obtains knowledge that a Tenant’s name appears on the OFAC List,
such Loan Party shall give notice of such determination to the Agent within one (1) Business Day and shall take all legally required action with respect to any
such Tenant.

 
Section 6.2    Insurance.

 
(a)    It shall obtain and maintain, or cause to be maintained, insurance for itself and each Property (and its related improvements and personal

property) providing at least the following coverages:
 

(i)    comprehensive “all risk” or special causes of loss form insurance, as is available in the insurance market as of the Effective Date,
including, but not limited to, loss caused by any type of windstorm (including hail) on the Properties (A) in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of
the “full replacement cost”, which for purposes of this Agreement shall mean actual replacement value of the Properties, subject to a loss limit equal to
$25,000,000 per occurrence; (B) containing an agreed amount endorsement with respect to the improvements and personal property at any Property waiving all
co-insurance provisions or to be written on a no co-insurance form and (C) providing for no deductible in excess of $25,000 (it being understood that, so long
as no Early Amortization Event, Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, (1) Borrowers may utilize a $3,000,000 aggregate deductible stop
loss subject to a $25,000 per occurrence deductible and a $25,000 maintenance deductible following the exhaustion of the aggregate, (2) the aggregate stop loss
does not apply to any losses arising from named windstorm, earthquake or flood, (3) the perils of named windstorm or flood shall be permitted to have a
deductible of five percent (5%) of the total insurable value of the Properties (with a minimum deductible of $250,000 per occurrence for any and all locations),
(4) the peril of earth movement including but not limited to earthquake shall be permitted to have a deductible of ten percent (10%) of the total insurable value
of the Properties (with a minimum deductible of $250,000 per occurrence for any and all locations) and (5) the peril of “other wind and hail” shall be permitted
to have a deductible of three percent (3%) of the total insurable value of the Properties (with a minimum deductible of $250,000 per occurrence for any and all
locations)). In addition, it shall obtain (x) if any portion of a Property is currently or at any time in the future located in a federally designated “special flood
hazard area”, or other area identified by Agent as having a high or moderate risk of flooding, flood hazard insurance in an amount equal to the maximum
amount of coverage available for the applicable Property under the Flood Laws, plus excess amounts as Agent shall require in its sole discretion with
deductibles acceptable to Agent, (y) named windstorm insurance in an amount equal to the Probable Maximum Loss (PML) or Scenario Expected Limit (SEL)
based upon a storm risk analysis for a 475 year event (such analysis to be secured by the applicable Borrower utilizing a third-party firm qualified to perform
such storm risk analysis using the most current RMS software, or its equivalent, to include consideration of storm surge, if applicable, and loss amplification, at
the expense of the applicable Borrower at least one time per year or more frequently as may reasonably be requested by Agent and shared with Agent,
presented by the Properties located in areas prone to named storm activity); and (z) earthquake insurance in an amount equal to the Probable Maximum Loss
(PML) or Scenario Expected Limit (SEL) based upon a seismic risk analysis for a 475 year event (such analysis to be secured by the applicable Borrower
utilizing a third-party firm qualified to perform such seismic risk analysis using the most current RMS software, or its equivalent, to include consideration of
loss amplification, at the expense of the applicable Borrower at least one time per year or more frequently as may reasonably be requested by Agent and shared
with Agent, presented by the Properties located in areas prone to seismic activity); provided, that the insurance pursuant to subclauses (x), (y) and (z) hereof
shall be on terms consistent with the comprehensive all risk insurance policy required under this Section 6.2(a)(i);
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(ii)    business income or rental loss insurance, written on an “Actual Loss Sustained Basis” (A) with loss payable to the Agent for the benefit of
the Secured Parties; (B) covering all risks required to be covered by the insurance provided for in Section 6.2(a)(i); (C) in an amount equal to one hundred
percent (100%) of the aggregate projected net income plus continuing expenses from the operation of a Property for a period of at least twelve (12) months
after the date a Property is damaged or destroyed, in whole or in part, by fire or other casualty (a “Casualty”); and (D) containing an extended period of
indemnity endorsement which provides that after the physical loss to the improvements and personal property at a Property has been repaired, the continued
loss of income will be insured until such income either returns to the same level it was at prior to the loss, or the expiration of thirty (30) days from the date that
the applicable Property is repaired or replaced and operations are resumed, whichever first occurs, and notwithstanding that the policy may expire prior to the
end of such period. The amount of such business income or rental loss insurance shall be determined prior to the Effective Date and at least once each year
thereafter based on Borrowers’ reasonable estimate of the net income from each Property for the succeeding twelve (12) month period. All proceeds payable to
the Agent pursuant to this subsection shall be held by the Agent and shall be applied in Agent’s sole discretion to (x) the Obligations or (y) Operating Expenses
approved by Agent in its sole discretion; provided, however, that nothing herein contained shall be deemed to relieve Borrowers of their obligation to pay the
Obligations on the respective dates of payment provided for in this Agreement and the other Loan Documents except to the extent such amounts are actually
paid out of the proceeds of such business income insurance;

 
(iii)    at all times during which structural construction, repairs or renovations are being made with respect to any Property, and only if each of

the property coverage form and the liability insurance coverage form does not otherwise apply, (A) owner’s contingent or protective liability insurance,
otherwise known as Owner Contractor’s Protective Liability (or its equivalent), covering claims not covered by or under the terms or provisions of the above
mentioned commercial general liability insurance policy and (B) the insurance provided for in Section 6.2(a)(i), written in a so-called builder’s risk completed
value form including coverage for all insurable hard and soft costs of construction (x) on a non-reporting basis, (y) against all risks insured against pursuant to
Section 6.2(a)(i), (z) including permission to occupy such Property and (C) with an agreed amount endorsement waiving co-insurance provisions;
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(iv)    commercial general liability insurance against claims for personal injury, bodily injury, death or property damage occurring upon, in or
about any Property, such insurance (A) to be on the so-called “occurrence” form with a combined limit of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence; $2,000,000
in the aggregate “per location” and overall $20,000,000 in the aggregate; (B) to continue at not less than the aforesaid limit until required to be changed by the
Agent in writing by reason of changed economic conditions making such protection inadequate and (C) to be at least as broad as Insurance Services Offices
(ISO) policy form CG 00 01;

 
(v)    if applicable, automobile liability coverage for all owned and non-owned vehicles, including rented and leased vehicles, containing

minimum limits per occurrence of $1,000,000;
 

(vi)    if applicable, worker’s compensation subject to the worker’s compensation laws of the applicable state, and employer’s liability in
amounts reasonably acceptable to the Agent;

 
(vii)    umbrella and excess liability insurance in an amount not less than $50,000,000 per occurrence and in the aggregate on terms consistent

with the commercial general liability insurance policy required under Section 6.2(a)(iv), and including employer liability and automobile liability, if applicable;
and

 
(viii)    upon sixty (60) days’ written notice, such other reasonable insurance, and in such reasonable amounts as the Agent from time to time

may reasonably request against such other insurable hazards which at the time are commonly insured against for properties similar to the Properties located in
or around the region in which Properties are located.

 
(b)    All Policies required pursuant to this Section 6.2 shall: (i) be obtained under valid and enforceable policies (collectively, the “Policies” or in the

singular, the “Policy”), and shall be subject to the approval of Agent as to insurance companies, amounts, deductibles, loss payees and insureds and (ii) be
issued by financially sound and responsible insurance companies authorized to do business in the states where the applicable Properties are located and having
a rating of “A-:IX” or better with an outlook of “Positive” or “Stable” in the current Best’s Insurance Reports or a claims paying ability rating of “A-” or better
by S&P or another rating agency selected by Agent, provided, however, that if Borrowers elect to have their insurance coverage provided by a syndicate of
insurers, then, if such syndicate consists of five (5) or more members, (A) at least sixty percent (60%) of the insurance coverage (or seventy-five percent (75%)
if such syndicate consists of four (4) or fewer members) and one hundred percent (100%) of the first layer of such insurance coverage shall be provided by
insurance companies having a claims paying ability rating of “A-” or better by S&P and (B) the remaining forty percent (40%) of the insurance coverage (or
the remaining twenty-five percent (25%) if such syndicate consists of four (4) or fewer members) shall be provided by insurance companies having a claims
paying ability rating of “BBB” or better by S&P;

 
(c)    All Policies of insurance provided for in Section 6.2(a), except for the Policies referenced in Section 6.2(a)(vi), shall contain clauses or

endorsements to the effect that:
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(i)    no act or negligence of any Borrower, or anyone acting for any Borrower, or of any tenant or other occupant, or failure to comply with the
provisions of any Policy, which might otherwise result in a forfeiture of the insurance or any part thereof, shall in any way affect the validity or enforceability
of the insurance insofar as the Secured Parties are concerned;

 
(ii)    the Policy shall not be canceled without at least thirty (30) days’ written notice to the Agent and any other party named therein as an

additional insured (other than in the case of non-payment in which case only ten (10) days prior notice, or the shortest time allowed by Applicable Law
(whichever is longer), will be required) and shall not be changed (other than to increase the coverage provided thereby) without such a thirty (30) day notice;

 
(iii)    the Secured Parties shall not be liable for any Insurance Premiums thereon or subject to any assessments thereunder; and
 
(iv)    the issuers thereof shall give notice to the Agent if a Policy has not been renewed ten (10) days prior to its expiration.

 
(d)    Certificates of insurance evidencing the Policies shall be delivered to the Agent on the Effective Date with respect to the current Policies.

Further, not less than ten (10) days prior to the expiration dates of the Policies theretofore furnished to the Agent, Borrowers shall deliver to the Agent
certificates of insurance evidencing the Policies (and, upon the written request of the Agent, copies of such Policies) accompanied by evidence satisfactory to
the Agent of payment of the premiums due thereunder (the “Insurance Premiums”).

 
(e)    All Policies of insurance provided for or contemplated by Section 6.2(a), except for the Policy referenced in Section 6.2(a)(iv), shall name the

applicable Borrower as the insured and the Agent and its successors and/or assigns as mortgagee and loss payee, as its interests may appear, and in the case of
property damage, boiler and machinery, windstorm, flood and earthquake insurance, shall contain a so-called New York standard non-contributing mortgagee
clause in favor of the Agent providing that the loss thereunder shall be payable to the Agent unless below the Casualty Threshold Amount for a Borrower to
handle such claim without the Agent. Additionally, if a Borrower obtains property insurance coverage in addition to or in excess of that required by Section
6.2(a)(i), then such insurance policies shall also contain a so-called New York standard non-contributing mortgagee clause in favor of the Agent providing that
the loss thereunder shall be payable to the Agent.

 
(f)    If at any time the Agent is not in receipt of written evidence that all insurance required hereunder is in full force and effect, the Agent shall have

the right, without notice to Borrowers, to take such action as the Agent deems necessary to protect its interest in the Properties, including, without limitation,
the obtaining of such insurance coverage as the Agent in its sole discretion deems appropriate after three (3) Business Days’ notice to Borrowers if prior to the
date upon which any such coverage will lapse or at any time the Agent deems necessary (regardless of prior notice to Borrowers) to avoid the lapse of any such
coverage. All premiums incurred by the Agent in connection with such action or in obtaining such insurance and keeping it in effect shall be paid by Borrowers
to the Agent upon demand and, until paid, shall be secured by the Loan Documents and shall bear interest at the rate set forth in clause (ii) of the definition of
Applicable Margin.
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(g)    In the event of foreclosure of the pledge of the Equity Interest of Borrowers pursuant to the Security Agreement the Policies shall remain in full
force and effect.

 
(h)    For the avoidance of doubt, neither this Section 6.2 nor any of the terms defined therein shall be modified, amended or waived without the

express written consent of the Agent.
 
(i)    Any blanket insurance Policy shall otherwise provide the same protection as would a separate Policy insuring only the Properties in compliance

with the provisions of Section 6.2(a).
 
Section 6.3    Condemnation. If a Property is subject to Condemnation, the applicable Borrower shall, promptly after receipt of any Condemnation

Proceeds either (i) deposit all or a portion of such Condemnation Proceeds into the Insurance Proceeds Account and promptly commence and diligently pursue
the completion of the repair of any damage to such Property resulting from such Condemnation, if applicable and (ii) otherwise deposit all Condemnation
Proceeds into the Collection Account, which Condemnation Proceeds shall be applied in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.8(b).
 

ARTICLE 7
NEGATIVE COVENANTS

 
Section 7.1    Negative Covenants of the Loan Parties. Each Loan Party covenants with each Lender and the Agent that for so long as this Agreement

is outstanding:
 

(a)    Debt. It shall not create, incur, assume, guaranty, or suffer to exist any Debt other than: (i) Obligations owing pursuant to this Agreement and the
other Loan Documents; (ii) endorsements of instruments or other payment items for deposit in the ordinary course of business; (iii) overdue accounts payable
(A) in respect of Subordinate Property Manager Fees, (B) Operating Expenses which are not paid due to the exercise of the Agent’s budget approval rights
during an Event of Default, (C) due to contractors and/or suppliers of materials in amounts not exceeding $1,000,000 in aggregate outstanding at any time and
not overdue for more than ninety (90) days, or (D) due to trades accounts payable (without limitation of the immediately preceding Section 7.1(a)(iii)(C)) in
amounts not exceeding $1,000,000 in aggregate outstanding at any time and (iv) Capital Lease Obligations not exceeding $250,000 in aggregate outstanding at
any time.

 
(b)    Liens; Dispositions. It shall not create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any Lien on all or any part of its assets (including, without limitation, the

Collateral) other than Permitted Liens. It shall not sell, convey, transfer, assign or permit any sale, conveyance, transfer or assignment of its assets or any
interest therein by operation of law or otherwise, except to the extent contemplated by this Agreement. It shall not sell, assign, convey, encumber or otherwise
transfer any Property owned by it except (i) any Conveyance of Financed Properties as permitted pursuant to Section 2.7, and/or (ii) any Conveyance of Non-
Financed Properties provided that no Trigger Event, Default or Event of Default exists on the date of such Conveyance as otherwise permitted by this
Agreement.

 
(c)    Investments. It shall not directly or indirectly, lend money or extend credit (by way of guarantee, assumption of debt or otherwise) or make

advances to any Person, or purchase or acquire any stock, bonds, notes, debentures or other obligations or securities of, or any other interest in, or make any
capital contribution to, any other Person, or purchase or own a futures contract or otherwise become liable for the purchase or sale of currency or other
commodities at a future date in the nature of a futures contract, except to the extent contemplated by this Agreement, and except that any Holdco Guarantor
may acquire the Equity Interests of any Eligible Property Owner that becomes Borrower under this Agreement.
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(d)    Mergers; Consolidations; Sales of Assets; Etc. It shall not enter into any transaction of merger or consolidation or amalgamation, or liquidate,
wind up or dissolve itself (or suffer any liquidation or dissolution) or any sale, lease or transfer of all or any substantial part of its assets.

 
(e)    Line of Business. The Loan Parties shall not enter into any line of business other than the ownership and operation of the Properties (and any

ancillary business related to such operation), or make any material change in the scope or nature of its business objectives, purposes or operations, or undertake
or participate in activities other than the continuance of its present business.

 
(f)    Subsidiaries. It shall not organize, form or acquire any subsidiaries other than as explicitly provided in this Agreement (and other than the

formation by any Holdco Guarantor of any Eligible Property Owner that becomes a Borrower under this Agreement).
 
(g)    Intentionally Omitted.
 
(h)    Bad Acts. The Loan Parties will not permit any of the following:

 
(i)    fraud, malfeasance, gross negligence, willful misconduct, bad faith or intentional misrepresentation or the commission of any criminal act

by (i) any Loan Party, any Sponsor or any Affiliate of any Loan Party or any Sponsor in connection with the Facility, including any Advance or any Property or
(ii) Property Manager, sub-manager, operator or entity engaged by a Loan Party in connection with the rental, management or operation of any Property,
excepting criminal acts by Property Manager, a sub-manager, operator or entity that do not relate to this Facility, any Property or the ability of any such party to
perform its obligations under the Loan Documents or that are otherwise immaterial;

 
(ii)    any material physical waste of any Financed Property;

 
(iii)    the imposition of any consensual Lien or other encumbrance on any Property other than that which is expressly permitted under the terms

of this Agreement;
 

(iv)    to the extent of available cash flow from the Properties, failure to pay charges for labor or materials or other charges or judgments that
can create Liens or other encumbrance on any portion of any Property other than that which is expressly permitted under the terms of this Agreement;

 
(v)    to the extent of available cash flow from the Properties, failure by any Loan Party to pay Taxes (except those Taxes which are being

contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which adequate reserves are maintained in the Tax Reserve Account), the result of which creates a
Lien on any Property;

 
(vi)    to the extent of available cash flow from the Properties, failure to meet the Insurance Requirement with respect to any Loan Party or any

Property;
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(vii)    the theft, misappropriation or conversion or other failure to remit (to the extent required by the Loan Documents) by any Borrower-
Related Party of (A) any Insurance Proceeds paid by reason of any casualty or under any insurance policy, (B) any Condemnation Proceeds, (C) any
Conveyance Proceeds or refinancing proceeds to the Collection Account or (D) any other Available Funds or other amounts required to be deposited into any
Collection Account, Reserve Account, or any other account established and maintained pursuant to this Agreement;

 
(viii)    except as otherwise required by Applicable Law, the failure to deliver security deposits to the Security Deposit Account;

 
(ix)    a breach by any Loan Party of any “special purpose entity” or separateness obligation set forth in this Agreement or any other Loan

Document;
 

(x)    any amendment of any Governing Documents of any Loan Party other than as is expressly permitted under the terms of this Agreement;
or

 
(xi)    any Loan Party’s bad faith interference with the Lenders’ exercise of rights or remedies under any of the Loan Documents, at law or in

equity.
 
(i)    Restricted Payments. It shall not, directly or indirectly, declare, pay or make any Restricted Payment, or set aside or otherwise deposit or invest

any sums for such purpose, or agree to do any of the foregoing; provided, that any Borrower may declare, pay or make Permitted Distributions.
 
(j)    Accounts. It shall not establish, maintain or suffer to exist any Deposit Account or Securities Account by or on behalf of itself except as permitted

by this Agreement or another Loan Document.
 
(k)    Electronic Rent Payments. It shall not permit or direct any electronic rent payments to be transferred to or deposited in any account other that a

Deposit Account subject to the lien of the Security Agreement.
 
(l)    Equity Interests. It shall not issue or grant any right to any Person to receive, directly or indirectly, any Equity Interests.
 
(m)    No Other Accounts. It shall not, except to the extent expressly permitted by this Agreement, (i) open or permit to remain open any cash,

securities or other account with any bank, custodian or institution, (ii) open or permit to remain open any sub-account of any cash, securities or other account
with any bank, custodian or institution, (iii) permit any funds of Persons other than the Borrowers to be deposited or held in any of the Collection Account, the
Insurance Proceeds Account or the Reserve Accounts or (iv) permit any cash (including any Collections or other proceeds of any Properties) to be deposited or
held in any account other than cash and Permitted Investments that could be distributed as a Restricted Payments by a Borrower unless such account is subject
to an Account Control Agreement.

 
(n)    No Adverse Selection. It shall not intentionally use selection procedures that identify the Financed Properties, when taken as a whole, as being

less desirable or valuable than other comparable assets owned by such Borrower or any Affiliate of such Borrower.
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ARTICLE 8
DEFAULT

 
Section 8.1    Default. Each of the following shall constitute an “Event of Default” under this Agreement:

 
(a)    Failure to Pay. Any Borrower shall default in the payment of (i) the Advances Outstanding on the Scheduled Maturity Date or any Required

Principal Payments Amounts when due and payable pursuant to Section 2.7, (ii) any Interest Payment Amount or Unused Fee is not paid in full on any Payment
Date and such failure continues for one (1) Business Day, or (iii) any other amount (including other fees, expenses, indemnities or other obligations) payable to
the Agent or any other Secured Party hereunder or under any other Loan Document is not paid when due and such failure continues for five (5) Business Days.

 
(b)    Failure to Observe Covenants. (i) Any Borrower shall fail to perform or comply with any term or condition contained in Section 4.1(c), Section

4.1(d), Section 6.1(b), Section 6.1(c), Section 6.1(g), Section 6.1(h), Section 6.1(t), Section 6.1(u), Section 6.2 or Article 7 of this Agreement, (ii) any Borrower
shall fail to perform or comply with any other term or condition contained in this Agreement (other than Section 5.1(o) or Section 6.1(v)) or any other Loan
Document and such failure specified in this subclause (ii) shall continue for a period of thirty (30) days after the earlier to occur of (1) the date upon which a
Responsible Officer of any Borrower-Related Party has knowledge of such failure and (2) the date upon which written notice thereof is given to the Borrower
Representative by the Agent or any Lender.

 
(c)    Failure to Observe OFAC. Any failure on the part of any Borrower to duly observe or perform any of its covenants set forth in Section 6.1(v) or

the representation and warranty in Section 5.1(o) shall fail to be correct in respect of a Tenant of any Property and, in each case, the applicable Borrower fails
to notify OFAC within five (5) days or as otherwise required by Applicable Laws (and Agent and Lenders within one (1) Business Day) of a Responsible
Officer obtaining knowledge that such Tenant is on any of the lists described in those sections and promptly take such steps as may be required by OFAC with
respect to such Tenant.

 
(d)    Misrepresentation. Any representation or warranty contained in this Agreement (other than Section 5.1(o)) or any other Loan Document shall be

or shall have been or proves to be incorrect, false or misleading in any material respect (without duplication of any materiality qualifier contained herein or
therein) when made or deemed made, without regard to any knowledge or lack of knowledge thereof by the Agent or any Lender, and such failure continues
unremedied (in the Agent’s reasonable determination) for a period of thirty (30) days after the earlier to occur of (1) the date upon which a Responsible Officer
of any Borrower-Related Party has actual knowledge of such failure and (2) the date upon which written notice thereof is given to the Borrower Representative
by the Agent or any Lender; provided that it shall not be an Event of Default under this clause (d) in the event of a breach of a representation or warranty
contained on Schedule 2 hereto so long as the Borrowers comply with the requirements of Section 2.13 within the times required thereunder.

 
(e)    Judgments. Any judgment or order or series of judgments or orders for the payment of money is rendered against any Loan Party by a court of

competent jurisdiction, unless such judgment(s) or order(s) has, within thirty (30) days of the entry thereof, been vacated, satisfied, dismissed or bonded
pending appeal or, in the case of judgment(s) or order(s) in the aggregate not exceeding $1,000,000 in excess of the amount which is covered by insurance
(subject to applicable deductibles), the insurer in respect of which has accepted defense thereof subject only to customary reservations of rights.
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(f)    Voluntary Bankruptcy; Appointment of Receiver. Any Borrower, the Borrower Representative, any Guarantor or any Sponsor (i) becomes unable,
or fails, or admits in writing its inability, to generally pay its debts as such debts become due, (ii) makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, (iii) files a
petition in bankruptcy, (iv) petitions or applies to any tribunal for any receiver or any trustee of such Person or any substantial part of the property of such
Person, (v) commences any proceeding relating to such Person under any reorganization, arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation or dissolution
law or statute of any jurisdiction, whether in effect now or after this Agreement is executed or (vi) the board of directors (or similar governing body) of such
Person (or any committee thereof) shall adopt any resolution or otherwise authorize any action to approve any of the actions referred to in this Section 8.1(f).

 
(g)    Involuntary Bankruptcy. If, (i) within forty-five (45) days after the filing of a bankruptcy petition or the commencement of any proceeding

against any Borrower, the Borrower Representative, any Guarantor or any Sponsor seeking any reorganization, arrangement, composition, readjustment,
liquidation, dissolution or similar relief under any present or future statute, law or regulation, the proceeding shall not have been dismissed, (ii) within forty-
five (45) days after the appointment, without the consent or acquiescence of such Person, of any trustee, receiver or liquidator of such Person or all or any
substantial part of the properties of such Person, the appointment shall not have been vacated or (iii) any order for relief is granted in any bankruptcy
proceeding against such Person.

 
(h)    Dissolution. Any action is taken that is intended to result, or results, in the dissolution, liquidation or termination of the existence of any

Borrower.
 
(i)    Tax or ERISA Liens. The IRS shall file notice of a Lien pursuant to Section 6323 of the Code with regard to any assets of any Borrower or any

Guarantor and such lien shall not have been released within five (5) Business Days, or the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation shall file notice of a Lien
pursuant to Section 4068 of ERISA with regard to any of the assets of any Borrower or any Guarantor and such Lien shall not have been released within five
(5) Business Days.

 
(j)    Lien Not First Priority. The Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties shall fail for any reason to have a first priority perfected security interest

in all or any portion of the Pledged Securities or, other than Permitted Liens, any other Collateral; provided that no Event of Default shall arise hereunder if the
failure of the Secured Parties to have a first priority perfected security interests relates only to portions of the Collateral other than the Pledged Securities and/or
the pledged Deposit Accounts and Securities Accounts and the related Liens with priority, if any, are in an aggregate amount of $500,000 or less and such
failure is cured within fifteen (15) Business Days.
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(k)    Defaults Under Other Agreements. Any default by any Borrower under any agreement to which such Person is a party, which default is not cured
within any applicable cure period or waived and with respect to which the amount due and payable exceeds $1,000,000, singly or in the aggregate.

 
(l)    Property Manager Event of Default. Any Property Manager Event of Default occurs and the Property Manager is not replaced with a successor

Property Manager acceptable to the Agent within 30 days.
 
(m)    Termination of the Property Management Agreement, Assignment of Management Agreement or Deposit Account Control Agreement. The

Property Management Agreement shall terminate or the Property Manager shall be terminated or resign thereunder and such agreement or manager is not
replaced with the Property Management Agreement with the Property Manager (which may include the Property Manager) within thirty (30) days after the date
of such termination or resignation (provided that, if the Property Manager has not been replaced as of the date of such termination or resignation, the Property
Manager shall undertake the property management duties related to such Properties in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement) and the related
Property Management Agreement or any Deposit Account Control Agreement shall terminate or fails to be in place with respect to the Security Deposit
Account (within the timeframes required under this Agreement).

 
(n)    Change of Control. A Change of Control shall occur.
 
(o)    Loan Documents. At any time after the execution and delivery thereof, (i) this Agreement or any other Loan Document ceases to be in full force

and effect or shall be declared null and void, or the Agent shall not have or shall cease to have a valid and perfected Lien in any Collateral purported to be
covered by the Loan Documents with the priority required by the Loan Documents (other than by reason of any act or omission by the Agent or any Lender,
where the applicable Loan Parties take such actions as are required under 6.1(f) promptly after written request) or (ii) any Borrower, the Property Manager, any
Guarantor, any Sponsor or any of their respective Affiliates shall contest the validity or enforceability of any Loan Document in writing or deny in writing that
it has any further liability under any Loan Document to which it is a party.

 
(p)    Insolvency Opinions. Any of the assumptions contained in any non-consolidation opinion letter delivered by Wick Phillips, LLP on the Effective

Date or by any other firm in connection with any Joinder is, or shall become, untrue in any respect.
 
(q)    Guarantor Default. Any Guarantor Default shall occur.
 
(r)    Ratio Compliance. Any of clauses (i) or (ii) below shall exist as of a Reporting Date immediately following a Measurement Quarter, and, in any

such case, not be cured in accordance with the Ratio Cure Procedures:
 

(i)    the Debt Service Coverage Ratio is less than 1.25:1.00; or
 

(ii)    the Debt Yield Ratio is less than 7.00%.
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(s)    Sponsor Financial Covenants. The failure by Sponsor to be in compliance with any Sponsor Financial Covenant.
 
Section 8.2    Remedies Upon Default.

 
(a)    Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default, the obligation, if any, of each Lender to make Advances shall

automatically terminate (unless waived in writing by the Agent and each Lender) and the Agent may, and at the direction of the Required Lenders shall, by
notice to the Borrower Representative, declare the Termination Date and/or the Commitment Termination Date to have occurred (provided, that upon the
occurrence of any Event of Default described in Section 8.1(f), (g) or (h), no such declaration shall be necessary and the termination of Commitments and the
acceleration hereinafter described shall occur automatically), whereupon the Advances Outstanding shall be accelerated and the same, and all interest accrued
thereon and all other Obligations, shall forthwith become due and payable without presentment, demand, protest or notice of any kind, all of which are hereby
expressly waived, anything contained herein or in the other Loan Documents to the contrary notwithstanding, and the Agent, on behalf of the Lenders, shall
have any and all rights and remedies available to it under Applicable Law, this Agreement and the other Loan Documents or otherwise and shall, at the
direction of the Required Lenders and subject to compliance with the provisions of Article 9, take such actions and exercise such powers as so directed and to
enforce such rights and remedies under Applicable Law, this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, including with respect to the Collateral and in any
event, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the right to sell, assign or otherwise dispose of, or credit bid on behalf of the Lenders the
Collateral or any part thereof, at one or more public or private sales in accordance with Applicable Law upon such terms and conditions and at prices as it may
deem advisable, for cash or on credit or for future delivery without assumption of any credit risk. The Agent shall apply the net proceeds of any such collection,
recovery, receipt, appropriation, realization or sale, after deducting all reasonable costs and expenses of every kind incurred therein or incidental to the care,
maintenance or safekeeping of any of the Collateral or in any way relating to the Collateral, including the Properties, or the rights of the Agent or the Lenders
hereunder, including attorneys’ fees and disbursements, to the payment in whole or in part of the Obligations, in such order as the Agent may elect (or be
directed by the Required Lenders), and only after such application and after the payment by the Agent of any other amount required or permitted by any
provision of Applicable Law, including Section 9-504(1)(c) of the UCC, need the Agent account for the surplus, if any, to the Borrowers. To the greatest extent
permitted by Applicable Law, each Loan Party waives all claims, damages and demands it may acquire against the Agent or any Lender arising out of the
exercise by them of any rights hereunder. If any notice of a proposed sale or other disposition of Collateral shall be required by law, such notice shall be
deemed reasonable and proper if given at least 10 days before such sale or other disposition.

 
(b)    No right or remedy herein conferred upon the Agent is intended to be exclusive of any other right or remedy contained herein or in any

instrument or document delivered in connection with or pursuant to this Agreement, and every such right or remedy contained herein and therein or now or
hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute, or otherwise may be exercised separately or in any combination.
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(c)    No course of dealing between the Borrowers, on the one hand, and the Agent or any Secured Party, on the other hand, or any failure or delay on
any Secured Party or the Agent’s part in exercising any rights or remedies hereunder or under any Loan Document shall operate as a waiver of any rights or
remedies of the Agent or any Secured Party and no single or partial exercise of any rights or remedies hereunder or thereunder shall operate as a waiver or
preclude the exercise of any other rights or remedies hereunder or thereunder.

 
(d)    For the avoidance of doubt, any sales, use, excise, value-added, gross receipts (in the nature of a sales tax), services, consumption, and other

similar transaction-based taxes, however designated, that are properly levied by any Governmental Authority upon or in respect of the exercise of rights and
remedies by the Agent and the other Secured Parties under this Agreement shall be deemed to be, for all purposes, an Advance.

 
(e)    For the avoidance of doubt, the Agent may only use the Power of Attorney after the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of

Default in connection with the exercise of the remedies described in this Section 8.2.
 

ARTICLE 9
THE AGENT

Section 9.1    Authorization and Action.
 

(a)    Each Lender hereby designates and appoints JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association (and JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association
accepts such designation and appointment) as Agent hereunder, and authorizes the Agent to take such actions as agent on its behalf and to exercise such powers
as are delegated to the Agent by the terms of this Agreement together with such powers as are reasonably incidental thereto. In performing its functions and
duties hereunder, the Agent shall act solely as agent for the Lenders and do not assume nor shall be deemed to have assumed any obligation or relationship of
trust or agency with or for any other party hereto or any of their respective successors or assigns. The Agent shall not be required to take any action which
exposes it to personal liability or which is contrary to this Agreement or Applicable Law. The appointment and authority of the Agent hereunder shall terminate
at the indefeasible payment in full of the Obligations.

 
(b)    Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary elsewhere in this Agreement, the Agent shall not have any duties or responsibilities, except those

expressly set forth herein, or any fiduciary relationship with any Lender, and no implied covenants, functions, responsibilities, duties, obligations or liabilities
shall be read into this Agreement or otherwise exist against the Agent.

 
(c)    Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary elsewhere in this Agreement or any Loan Document, to the extent that any Loan Document

requires the Agent’s consent to amend, modify, supplement or restate any such Loan Document, the Borrower Representative shall obtain the Agent’s consent
prior to any such amendment, modification, supplement or restatement.

 
Section 9.2    Delegation of Duties. The Agent may execute any of its duties under any of the Loan Documents by or through agents or attorneys-in-

fact and shall be entitled to advice of counsel concerning all matters pertaining to such duties. The Agent shall not be responsible for the negligence or
misconduct of any agents or attorneys-in-fact selected by it with reasonable care.
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Section 9.3    Exculpatory Provisions. Neither the Agent nor any of its directors, officers, agents or employees shall be (i) liable for any action lawfully
taken or omitted to be taken by it or them under or in connection with this Agreement (except for its, their or such Person’s own gross negligence or willful
misconduct or, in the case of the Agent, the breach of its obligations expressly set forth in this Agreement) or (ii) responsible in any manner to any of the
Secured Parties for any recitals, statements, representations or warranties made by any Borrower, the Borrower Representative, the Property Manager, the
Back-Up Manager, the Sponsor or any other party in this Agreement or in any other Loan Document or any certificate, report, statement or other document
referred to or provided for in, or received under or in connection with, this Agreement or any other Loan Document to which it is a party for the value, validity,
effectiveness, genuineness, enforceability or sufficiency of this Agreement or any other document furnished in connection herewith, or for any failure of any
Borrower, the Borrower Representative, any Guarantor, the Property Manager, the Back-Up Manager or any Sponsor to perform any of their respective
obligations hereunder or any Loan Document, or for the satisfaction of any condition specified herein or therein. The Agent shall not be under any obligation to
any Secured Party to ascertain or to inquire as to the observance or performance of any of the agreements or covenants contained in, or conditions of, this
Agreement, or to inspect the properties, books or records of any Borrower, the Borrower Representative, any Guarantor, the Property Manager, the Back-Up
Manager or any Sponsor.
 

Section 9.4    Reliance.
 

(a)    The Agent shall be entitled to rely, and shall be fully protected in relying, upon any writing, resolution, notice, consent, certificate, affidavit,
letter, cablegram, telegram, telecopy, telex or teletype message, written statement, order or other document or conversation believed by it to be genuine and
correct and to have been signed, sent or made by the proper Person or Persons and upon advice and statements of legal counsel (including counsel to the
Agent), independent accountants and other experts selected by the Agent.

 
(b)    The Agent shall be fully justified in failing or refusing to take any action under any of the Loan Documents unless it shall first receive such

advice or concurrence of the Required Lenders as it deems appropriate or it shall first be indemnified to its satisfaction by the Lenders, on a several basis,
against any and all liability and expense which may be incurred by it by reason of taking or continuing to take any such action.

 
(c)    The Agent shall in all cases be fully protected in acting, or in refraining from acting, under any of the Loan Documents in accordance with a

request of the Required Lenders or any Lender, as applicable, with respect to matters over which Required Lenders are granted discretion under this Agreement
(or if any matter requires consent or direction of Required Lenders and such consent or direction is not provided), and such request and any action taken or
failure to act pursuant thereto shall be binding upon all present and future Lenders.

 
(d)    The Agent shall not be deemed to have knowledge of any Early Amortization Event, Default or Event of Default unless it has received written

notice thereof from a Borrower, the Borrower Representative, any Guarantor, the Property Manager, the Back-Up Manager, any Sponsor or a Secured Party. In
the event that the Agent receives such a notice, it shall promptly give notice thereof to each Lender. The Agent shall take such action with respect to such event
as shall be reasonably directed in writing by the Required Lenders.
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Section 9.5    Non-Reliance on Agent. Each Lender expressly acknowledges that neither the Agent nor any of its officers, directors, employees, agents,
attorneys-in-fact or Affiliates has made any representations or warranties to it and that no act by the Agent hereafter taken, including any review of the affairs
of any Borrower, the Borrower Representative, any Guarantor, the Property Manager, the Back-Up Manager or any Sponsor shall be deemed to constitute any
representation or warranty by the Agent to the Lenders. Each Lender represents to the Agent that it has, independently and without reliance upon the Agent, and
based on such documents and information as it has deemed appropriate, made its own appraisal of an investigation into the business, operations, property,
financial and other condition and creditworthiness of the Borrowers, the Borrower Representative, any Guarantor, the Property Manager, the Back-Up Manager
and any Sponsor and the Collateral and made its own decision to make its Commitment hereunder and enter into this Agreement. Each Lender also represents
that it will, independently and without reliance upon the Agent, and based on such documents and information as it shall deem appropriate at the time, continue
to make its own analysis, appraisals and decisions in taking or not taking action under any of the Loan Documents, and to make such investigation as it deems
necessary to inform itself as to the business, operations, property, financial and other condition and creditworthiness of the Borrowers, the Borrower
Representative, any Guarantor, the Property Manager, the Back-Up Manager and any Sponsor and the Collateral. Except for notices, reports and other
documents received by the Agent hereunder, the Agent shall have no duty or responsibility to provide any Lender with any credit or other information
concerning the business, operations, property, condition (financial or otherwise), prospects or creditworthiness of any Borrower, the Borrower Representative,
any Guarantor, the Property Manager, the Back-Up Manager, the Sponsor or the Collateral which may come into the possession of the Agent or any of its
officers, directors, employees, agents, attorneys-in-fact or affiliates.
 

Section 9.6    Indemnification. Each Lender agrees to indemnify, severally, in proportion to each such Lender’s then-applicable Pro Rata Share, the
Agent in its capacity as such (without limiting the obligation (if any) of the Borrowers to reimburse the Agent for any such amounts), from and against any and
all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements of any kind whatsoever which may at any time
(including at any time following the payment of the obligations under this Agreement, including the Advances Outstanding) be imposed on, incurred by or
asserted against the Agent in any way relating to or arising out of this Agreement, or any documents contemplated by or referred to herein or the transactions
contemplated hereby or any action taken or omitted by the Agent under or in connection with any of the foregoing; provided, that no Lender shall be liable for
the payment of any portion of such liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements of the Agent
resulting from its own gross negligence or willful misconduct. The provisions of this Section shall survive the payment of the Obligations, the termination of
this Agreement, and any resignation or removal of the Agent.
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Section 9.7    Agent in its Individual Capacity. The Agent and its Affiliates may make loans to, accept deposits from and generally engage in any kind
of business with any Borrower, the Borrower Representative, any Guarantor, the Property Manager, the Back-Up Manager, any Sponsor and any other party to
a Loan Document as though it were not the Agent hereunder. None of the provisions to this Agreement shall require the Agent to expend or risk its own funds
or otherwise to incur any liability, financial or otherwise, in the performance of any of its duties hereunder, or in the exercise of any of its rights or powers if it
shall have reasonable grounds for believing that repayment of such funds or indemnity satisfactory to it against such risk or liability is not assured to it.
 

Section 9.8    Successor Agent. The Agent may resign as Agent upon thirty (30) days’ notice to each Lender and the Borrower Representative with
such resignation becoming effective upon a successor agent succeeding to the rights, powers and duties of the Agent pursuant to this Section. In addition, the
Required Lenders may remove the Agent as Agent upon thirty (30) days’ notice to the Agent, each Lender and the Borrower Representative upon a finding
certified to by such Required Lenders that the Agent has materially breached its duties hereunder, which notice shall set forth with specificity the nature and
dates of any such material breaches. If the Agent shall resign or be removed as Agent under this Agreement, then the Required Lenders shall appoint a
successor Agent, which may be a Lender, and, if not a Lender, with the prior written consent of the Borrower (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or
delayed). Any successor Agent shall succeed to the rights, powers and duties of resigning Agent, and the term “Agent” shall mean such successor Agent
effective upon its appointment, and the former Agent’s rights, powers and duties as Agent shall be terminated, without any other or further act or deed on the
part of the former Agent or any of the parties to this Agreement. After the retiring Agent’s resignation as Agent or the removal of the Agent as Agent, the
provisions of this Article shall inure to its benefit as to any actions taken or omitted to be taken by it while it was Agent under this Agreement.
 

ARTICLE 10
ASSIGNMENTS AND PARTICIPATIONS

 
Section 10.1    Assignments and Participations.

 
(a)    Any Lender may, with the prior written consent of the Borrower Representative unless an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, which

consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, sell with novation all or any part of its right, title and interest in, and to, and under the
Commitment, the Advances Outstanding and this Agreement, on either a pro rata or senior/subordinate basis or otherwise, in the sole discretion of such Lender
(an “Assignment”), to one or more additional Persons, provided that (i) the prior consent of the Borrower Representative will not be required for any
Assignment to another Lender, or any Affiliate of any Lender and (ii) other than an assignment of all Commitments and Advances Outstanding of the assigning
Lender, then Commitments and Advances Outstanding may not be assigned in amounts less than $5,000,000 and $1,000,000 increments over such amount.
Each new Lender shall enter into an assignment and assumption agreement (the “Assignment and Assumption”) assigning the assigning Lender’s (the
“Assigning Lender”) rights and obligations, and pursuant to which the Lender accepts such assignment and assumes the assigned obligations. From and after
the effective date specified in the Assignment and Assumption (i) the new Lender shall be a party hereto and to each Loan Document to the extent of the
applicable percentage or percentages set forth in the Assignment and Assumption and, except as specified otherwise herein, shall succeed to the rights and
obligations (in whole or in part) of the Assigning Lender hereunder and (ii) the Assigning Lender shall, to the extent such rights and obligations have been
assigned by it pursuant to such Assignment and Assumption, relinquish its rights and be released from its obligations hereunder and under the Loan
Documents. In no event shall any of the following competitors of the Sponsor be assigned or participate in, any portion of the Facility, unless an Event of
Default has occurred and is continuing in respect of a failure of any Borrower to pay principal or interest due under the facility which has continued for thirty
(30) days: (1) UBS, (2) Apollo (or Athene), (3) Credit Suisse, (4) Amherst, (5) Pretium or (6) Ares.
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(b)    Intentionally Omitted.
 
(c)    Each of the Borrowers shall execute supplemental notes in the principal amount of each new Lender’s Pro Rata Share of the Advances

substantially in the form of the Note, and such supplemental note shall (i) be payable to order of such new Lender, (ii) be dated as of the Effective Date and (iii)
mature on the Scheduled Maturity Date. Each such supplemental note shall provide that it evidences a portion of the existing Obligations hereunder and under
the Note and not any new or additional indebtedness of the Borrowers. The term “Note” as used in this Agreement and in all the other Loan Documents shall
include all such supplemental notes.

 
(d)    The Agent shall maintain at its domestic lending office, or at such other location as the Agent, shall designate in writing to each Lender and the

Borrower Representative, a copy of each Assignment and Assumption delivered to and accepted by it and a register for the recordation of the names and
addresses of each Lender, the amount of each Lender’s Pro Rata Share of the Advances and the name and address of each Lender’s agent for service of process
(the “Register”) and shall provide the Calculation Agent and the Paying Agent with notice of the names and addresses of each Lender and the amount of each
Lender’s Pro Rata Share of the Advances after giving effect to such Assignment and Assumption. The entries in the Register shall be conclusive and binding for
all purposes, absent manifest error, and the Borrowers, the Agent and each Lender, and each party hereto may treat each person or entity whose name is
recorded in the Register as a Lender hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement. The Register shall be available for inspection and copying by the Borrowers,
the Paying Agent, the Calculation Agent and each Lender during normal business hours upon reasonable prior notice to the Agent. Any Lender may change its
address and its agent for service of process upon written notice to the Agent, which notice shall only be effective upon actual receipt by the Agent, which
receipt will be acknowledged by the Agent upon request.

 
(e)    Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, any Lender may sell to any financial institution or other entity (such financial institution or

entity, a “Participant”) a participation interest in the portion of the Advances made by such Lender (a “Participation”). Except as set forth in Section 10.1(a)
regarding competitors of the Sponsor, the prior consent of the Borrower Representative will not be required for any Participation. No Participant shall be
considered a Lender hereunder or under the Note or the Loan Documents. No Participant shall have any direct rights under this Agreement, the Note or any of
the Loan Documents and a Participant’s rights in respect of such participation shall be solely through the related Lender as set forth in the participation
agreement executed by and between the related Lender and such Participant. No participation shall relieve the related Lender from its obligations hereunder or
under the Note or the Loan Documents and such Lender shall remain solely responsible for the performance of its obligations hereunder.
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(f)    Notwithstanding any other provision set forth in this Agreement, any Lender may at any time create a security interest in all or any portion of its
rights under this Agreement (including, without limitation, amounts owing to it in favor of any Federal Reserve Bank in accordance with Regulation A of the
Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System), provided that no such security interest or the exercise by the secured party of any of its rights thereunder
shall release such Lender from its Commitment hereunder. Each Lender that sells a participation shall, acting solely for this purpose as a nonfiduciary agent of
Borrower, maintain a register on which it enters the name and address of each participant and the principal amounts (and stated interest) of each Participant’s
interest in the Advance or other obligations under the Loan Documents (the “Participant Register”); provided that no Lender shall have any obligation to
disclose all or any portion of the Participant Register (including the identity of any participant or any information relating to a participant’s interest in any
commitments, loans, or its other obligations under any Loan Document) to any Person except to the extent that such disclosure is necessary to establish that
such commitment, loan, or other obligation is in registered form under Section 5f.103-1(c) of the United States Treasury Regulations. The entries in the
Participant Register shall be conclusive absent manifest error, and such Lender shall treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Participant Register as the
owner of such participation for all purposes of this Agreement notwithstanding any notice to the contrary. For the avoidance of doubt, Agent (in its capacity as
Agent) shall have no responsibility for maintaining a Participant Register.
 

ARTICLE 11
INTENTIONALLY OMITTED

 
ARTICLE 12

CROSS-GUARANTY
 
Section 12.1    Cross-Guaranty. Each Borrower hereby agrees that such Borrower is jointly and severally liable for, and hereby absolutely and

unconditionally guarantees to the Secured Parties and their respective successors and assigns, the full and prompt payment (whether at stated maturity, by
acceleration or otherwise) and performance of, all Obligations and other obligations owed or hereafter owing to any Secured Party by each other Borrower.
Each Borrower agrees that its guaranty obligation hereunder is a continuing guaranty of payment and performance and not of collection, that its obligations
under this Article 12 shall not be discharged until payment and performance, in full, of the Obligations has occurred, and that its obligations under this Article
12 shall be absolute and unconditional, irrespective of, and unaffected by:
 

 (a) the genuineness, validity, regularity, enforceability or any future amendment of, or change in, this Agreement, any other Loan Document or any
other agreement, document or instrument to which any Borrower is or may become a party;

 

 (b) the absence of any action to enforce this Agreement (including this Article 12) or any other Loan Document or the waiver or consent by the Agent
or any Lender with respect to any of the provisions thereof;

 

 (c) the existence, value or condition of, or failure to perfect its Lien against, any security for the Obligations or any action, or the absence of any
action, by the Agent or any Lender in respect thereof (including the release of any such security);
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 (d) the insolvency of any Borrower or any of their respective Affiliates; or
 
 (e) any other action or circumstances that might otherwise constitute a legal or equitable discharge or defense of a surety or guarantor.

 
Each Borrower shall be regarded, and shall be in the same position, as principal debtor with respect to the Obligations guaranteed hereunder.

 
Section 12.2    Waivers by Borrowers. Each Borrower expressly waives all rights it may have now or in the future under any statute, or at common

law, or at law or in equity, or otherwise, to compel any Secured Party to marshal assets or to proceed in respect of the Obligations guaranteed hereunder against
any other party or against any security for the payment and performance of the Obligations before proceeding against, or as a condition to proceeding against,
such Borrower. It is agreed among each Borrower and the Secured Parties that the foregoing waivers are of the essence of the transaction contemplated by this
Agreement and the other Loan Documents and that, but for the provisions of this Article 12 and such waivers, each Lender would decline to enter into this
Agreement and to make any Advance requested hereunder.
 

Section 12.3    Benefit of Guaranty. Each Borrower agrees that the provisions of this Article 12 are for the benefit of the Secured Parties and their
respective successors, transferees, endorsees and assigns, and nothing herein contained shall impair, as between any other Borrower and the Secured Parties,
the obligations of such other Borrower under the Loan Documents.
 

Section 12.4    Waiver of Subrogation, Etc.. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or in any other Loan Document, each
Borrower hereby expressly and irrevocably waives any and all rights at law or in equity to subrogation, reimbursement, exoneration, contribution,
indemnification or set off and any and all defenses available to a surety, guarantor or accommodation co-obligor. Each Borrower acknowledges and agrees that
this waiver is intended to benefit the Secured Parties and shall not limit or otherwise affect such Borrower’s liability hereunder or the enforceability of this
Article 12, and that each Secured Party and their respective successors and assigns are intended third party beneficiaries of the waivers and agreements set forth
in this Section 12.4.
 

Section 12.5    Liability Cumulative. The liability of Borrowers under this Article 12 is in addition to and shall be cumulative with all liabilities of each
Borrower to the Secured Parties under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents to which such Borrower is a party or in respect of any Obligations or
obligation of the other Borrower, without any limitation as to amount, unless the instrument or agreement evidencing or creating such other liability
specifically provides to the contrary.
 

ARTICLE 13
MISCELLANEOUS

 
Section 13.1    Amendments and Waivers.
 
Except as provided in this Section, no amendment, waiver, or other modification of any provision of this Agreement or any schedule or exhibit hereto

shall be effective without the written agreement of the Borrowers, the Agent and the Required Lenders; provided that:
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 (a) no such amendment, waiver or other modification shall, without the written consent of each Lender adversely affected thereby;

 
(i)    alter or change the Commitment of any Lender;
 
(ii)    extend the Scheduled Maturity Date;
 
(iii)    postpone any date scheduled for, or reduce the amount of, any payment of principal or interest owing under or change the order of the

application of Available Funds specified herein;
 
(iv)    reduce (absent payment thereof) the amount of Advances Outstanding, the rate of interest thereon, any fee payable to any Lender or the

currency applied to amounts due and payable in respect of the Advances Outstanding;
 
(v)    change any provision of this Section 13.1, the definitions of “Pro Rata Share” or “Required Lenders” or any other provision specifying

the number of Lenders or portion of the Advances Outstanding to take action under the Loan Documents;
 
(vi)    release any claims accruing to the Lenders as secured parties hereunder or under Applicable Laws, without the written consent of each

Lender;
 
(vii)    accept any additional property as Collateral on any basis other than for the pro rata benefit of the Secured Parties;
 
(viii)    approve any Lien on any Collateral senior to the interest of the Secured Parties’ interest;
 
(ix)    release any Borrower, any Guarantor, any Sponsor, the Property Manager, the Back-Up Manager or any Collateral from the provisions

of any Loan Document (except as provided in Section 13.19); and
 

 (b) no such amendment, waiver or other modification shall:
 
(i)    amend, waive or modify any provision of this Agreement applicable to the Paying Agent without the written consent of the Paying

Agent;
 
(ii)    amend, waive or modify any provision of this Agreement applicable to the Calculation Agent without the written consent of the

Calculation Agent;
 
(iii)    amend, waive or modify any provision of this Agreement applicable to the Property Manager without the written consent of the

Property Manager;
 
(iv)    amend, waive or modify any provision of this Agreement applicable to the Back-Up Manager without the written consent of the Back-

Up Manager;
 
(v)    amend, waive or modify any provision of this Agreement applicable to the Diligence Agent without the written consent of the Diligence

Agent;
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(vi)    amend, waive or modify any provision of this Agreement applicable to the Borrower Representative without the written consent of the
Borrower Representative;

 
(vii)    adversely affect in any material respect the interests of any account bank without the written consent of such account bank; or
 
(viii)    postpone any payment or deposit of Collections without the written consent of the Agent.
 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, any amendment, waiver or other modification of any provision directly affecting any payment Obligation to any Lender shall
require the written consent of such Lender.
 

Section 13.2    Governing Law; Consent to Jurisdiction.
 

THIS AGREEMENT AND ANY CLAIM WITH RESPECT HERETO SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK (WITHOUT REFERENCE TO ITS CONFLICT OF LAWS PROVISIONS (OTHER THAN §§5-1401
AND 5-1402 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW)).
 

EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY AGREES TO THE JURISDICTION OF THE COURTS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK,
LOCATED IN THE BOROUGH OF MANHATTAN AND THE FEDERAL COURTS LOCATED WITHIN THE STATE OF NEW YORK IN THE
BOROUGH OF MANHATTAN.
 

EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY WAIVES ANY OBJECTION BASED ON FORUM NON CONVENIENS, AND ANY OBJECTION
TO VENUE OF ANY ACTION INSTITUTED HEREUNDER IN ANY OF THE AFOREMENTIONED COURTS AND CONSENTS TO THE GRANTING
OF SUCH LEGAL OR EQUITABLE RELIEF AS IS DEEMED APPROPRIATE BY SUCH COURT.
 

Section 13.3    Waiver of Jury Trial. Each party hereto hereby expressly waives, to the fullest extent it may effectively do so under Applicable Law,
any right to a trial by jury in any action or proceeding to enforce or defend any rights or remedies under or pursuant to this Agreement or under any other Loan
Document, and agrees, to the fullest extent it may effectively do so under Applicable Law, that any such action or proceeding shall be tried before a court and
not before a jury.
 

Section 13.4    Assignment. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations hereunder shall be assigned by any Loan Party,
whether by operation of law or otherwise, without the prior written consents of the Agent and the Lenders. Each Lender may assign their rights, interests or
obligations under this Agreement as provided in Article 10 hereof. This Agreement and all of the provisions hereof shall be binding upon and inure to the
benefit of the parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns (including by operation of law).
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Section 13.5    Notices. All notices and other communications given or made pursuant hereto shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly
given and received (a) when sent by telecopy, upon receipt of an electronically generated confirmation of receipt by the addressee, or delivered personally or
(b) upon receipt of email confirmation of receipt by addressee after being sent by email (subject to the last sentence of this Section 13.5) or (c) on the first (1st)
Business Day after being sent by nationally recognized overnight delivery service or (d) on the third (3rd) Business Day after being sent by registered or
certified U.S. mail (postage prepaid, return receipt requested) to the parties at the telecopy number, email address or street address set forth below or in a
counterpart agreement:
 

Any Borrower:
 

c/o Nexpoint Real Estate Advisors
2515 McKinney Ave, Suite 1100
Dallas, Texas 75201
Attn: Brian Mitts
Email: bmitts@nexpoint.com

 
with a copy to:
c/o Nexpoint Real Estate Advisors
2515 McKinney Ave, Suite 1100
Dallas, Texas 75201
Attn: D.C. Sauter
Email: dsauter@nextpoin.com

 
with a copy to:
c/o Vinebrook Homes Trust, Inc.
3500 Park Center Drive, Suite 100
Dayton, Ohio 45414
Attn: Dana Sprong
Email: dana.sprong@vinebrookhomes.com

 
and with a copy to:
Wick Phillips Gould & Martin LLP
3131 McKinney Avenue, Suite 100
Dallas, Texas 75204
Attn: Chris Fuller and Rachel Sam
Emails: chris.fuller@wickphillips.com and
rachel.sam@wickphillips.com

 
 

Agent, Calculation Agent or Paying Agent:
 

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
Attention: ABS Principal Finance, Joseph CelesteMackenzie Smith
383 Madison Avenue, Floor 08
New York, New York 10179
Telephone Number: (212) 834-5709834-6577
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and
 

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
Attention: Sophia Redzaj
500 Stanton Christiana Road, Floor 01
Newark, Delaware 19713
Telephone Number: (302) 634-1381
Facsimile Number: (302) 504-8969
E-mail: spg_mf_team@jpmorgan.com

 
 

Each Lender:
 

At its address next to its signature on the signature pages to this Agreement or as set forth in the related Assignment and Assumption.
 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing, notice by email shall not constitute notice under this Agreement if given (a) pursuant to Section
4.11, Article 8 or the definitions of the terms “Cure Period” or “Property Manager Event of Default” or (b) to demand payment, indemnification or
reimbursement.
 

Section 13.6    Data Site; Access to Information.
 

(a)    Data Site. The Borrowers shall have established, for the purpose of posting the Document Packages relating to Advances and the notices, reports,
valuations, inspections, Borrowing Notices, certifications, documents and other deliverables under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents as
contemplated by Section 13.6(b), an on-line data website which provides prompt email notification to the Agent, the Lenders, the Calculation Agent, the Paying
Agent, the Diligence Agent, the Borrowers, the Back-Up Manager and the Property Manager of any item posted thereto and which shall be owned by and under
the sole control of the Agent (the “Data Site”). The Agent, each Lender, the Borrowers, the Property Manager, the Back-Up Manager, the Guarantors, the
Sponsor, the Diligence Agent, the Paying Agent and the Calculation Agent shall each be granted access to the Data Site, in each case subject to agreement by
each of such Persons to confidentiality and use restrictions from time to time prescribed by the Agent. The Agent shall have no liability for any use made of the
Data Site or for any inability of any of Lender, the Borrowers, the Back-Up Manager, the Property Manager, the Guarantors, the Sponsor, the Diligence Agent
and the Calculation Agent to access the Data Site at any time or from time to time. The cost of establishing and maintaining the Data Site has and shall be paid
by the Borrowers. Each Borrower and the Borrower Representative will and will cause their respective representatives to comply with all procedures
established by the Agent from time to time for the delivery, maintenance and use of documents to Data Site. Without limitation of the foregoing, no Party shall
modify, alter or remove any document or information previously delivered to the Data Site except to the extent necessary to correct any error or omission, or to
remove any confidential information erroneously delivered to the Data Site, in each case with the consent of the Agent and the Borrower Representative.
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(b)    Access to Information. Concurrently with the delivery of any notice, report, valuation, inspection, Document Package, Borrowing Notice,
certification, document or other deliverable under this Agreement or any other Loan Document, the party required to provide such notice or deliver such
deliverable, including, without limitation, the Borrowers, the Borrower Representative, the Property Manager, the Back-Up Manager, the Agent, the Lenders,
the Calculation Agent and the Diligence Agent, shall post the same to the Data Site. Any notice or deliverable required to be delivered under the Agreement or
any other Loan Document shall be deemed to be delivered on the date such notice or deliverable is posted to the Data Site if posted prior to 4:00 p.m. New
York time on such date.

 
(c)    Data Site Unavailability. If the Data Site is not available or not functioning for any reason, the parties hereto agree that, until the Data Site is

available, if such party is the party required to provide any notice, report, valuation, inspection, Document Package, Borrowing Notice, certification, document
or other deliverable under this Agreement or any other Loan Document, such party shall deliver such notice or deliverable to each party to which the same is
required to be delivered pursuant to the terms of this Agreement by electronic mail and each such notice or deliverable shall be deemed posted to the Data Site
upon receipt of email confirmation of receipt by addressee of such electronic mail and, promptly after the Data Site becomes available for use, post each such
notice or deliverable that such party has delivered by electronic mail to the Data Site.

 
Section 13.7    Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is deemed to be invalid or unenforceable or is prohibited by the laws of the state or

jurisdiction where it is to be performed, this Agreement shall be considered divisible as to such provision and such provision shall be inoperative in such state
or jurisdiction. The remaining provisions of this Agreement shall be valid and binding and shall remain in full force and effect as though such provision was not
included.
 

Section 13.8    Entire Agreement; Amendments; No Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement and the other Loan Documents represent the entire
agreement between the parties hereto with regard to the matters addressed herein and therein and all prior agreements are superseded hereby. This Agreement
may be amended only by a written instrument executed and delivered in accordance with the provisions of Section 13.1. Except as otherwise expressly
provided herein, the parties hereby agree that no Person other than the parties hereto shall have any rights, remedies, or benefits under any provision of this
Agreement.
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Section 13.9    Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, including facsimile counterparts, each of which shall be
deemed an original instrument, but all of which together shall constitute but one and the same instrument. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature
page of (x) this Agreement, (y) any other Loan Document and/or (z) any document, amendment, approval, consent, information, notice (including, for the
avoidance of doubt, any notice delivered pursuant to Section 13.5), certificate, request, statement, disclosure or authorization related to this Agreement, any
other Loan Document and/or the transactions contemplated hereby and/or thereby (each an “Ancillary Document”) that is an Electronic Signature transmitted
by telecopy, emailed pdf. or any other electronic means that reproduces an image of an actual executed signature page shall be effective as delivery of a
manually executed counterpart of this Agreement, such other Loan Document or such Ancillary Document, as applicable. The words “execution,” “signed,”
“signature,” “delivery,” and words of like import in or relating to this Agreement, any other Loan Document and/or any Ancillary Document shall be deemed to
include Electronic Signatures, deliveries or the keeping of records in any electronic form (including deliveries by telecopy, emailed pdf. or any other electronic
means that reproduces an image of an actual executed signature page), each of which shall be of the same legal effect, validity or enforceability as a manually
executed signature, physical delivery thereof or the use of a paper-based recordkeeping system, as the case may be; provided that nothing herein shall require
the Agent to accept Electronic Signatures in any form or format without its prior written consent and pursuant to procedures approved by it; provided, further,
without limiting the foregoing, (i) to the extent the Agent has agreed to accept any Electronic Signature, the Agent and each of the Lenders shall be entitled to
rely on such Electronic Signature purportedly given by or on behalf of any Loan Party without further verification thereof and without any obligation to review
the appearance or form of any such Electronic signature and (ii) upon the request of the Agent or any Lender, any Electronic Signature shall be promptly
followed by a manually executed counterpart. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, each Loan Party hereby (i) agrees that, for all purposes,
including without limitation, in connection with any workout, restructuring, enforcement of remedies, bankruptcy proceedings or litigation among the Agent,
the Lenders and the Loan Parties, Electronic Signatures transmitted by telecopy, emailed pdf. or any other electronic means that reproduces an image of an
actual executed signature page and/or any electronic images of this Agreement, any other Loan Document and/or any Ancillary Document shall have the same
legal effect, validity and enforceability as any paper original, (ii) the Agent and each of the Lenders may, at its option, create one or more copies of this
Agreement, any other Loan Document and/or any Ancillary Document in the form of an imaged electronic record in any format, which shall be deemed created
in the ordinary course of such Person’s business, and destroy the original paper document (and all such electronic records shall be considered an original for all
purposes and shall have the same legal effect, validity and enforceability as a paper record), (iii) waives any argument, defense or right to contest the legal
effect, validity or enforceability of this Agreement, any other Loan Document and/or any Ancillary Document based solely on the lack of paper original copies
of this Agreement, such other Loan Document and/or such Ancillary Document, respectively, including with respect to any signature pages thereto and (iv)
waives any claim against any Lender for any Liabilities arising solely from the Agent’s and/or any Lender’s reliance on or use of Electronic Signatures and/or
transmissions by telecopy, emailed pdf. or any other electronic means that reproduces an image of an actual executed signature page, including any Liabilities
arising as a result of the failure of any Loan Party to use any available security measures in connection with the execution, delivery or transmission of any
Electronic Signature.
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Section 13.10    Expenses. Each of the Borrowers agrees to pay (a) all the Agent’s out-of-pocket and reasonable invoiced costs and expenses of
negotiation, preparation and execution of the Loan Documents and any consents, amendments, waivers or other modifications thereto and the transactions
contemplated thereby, (b) all the reasonable invoiced fees, expenses and disbursements of external counsel to the Agent, Calculation Agent and Paying Agent in
connection with the negotiation, preparation, execution and administration of the Loan Documents and any consents, amendments, waivers or other
modifications thereto and any other documents or matters requested by the Borrowers, any Guarantor or any Sponsor, (c) all the out-of-pocket and reasonable
invoiced costs and expenses of creating and perfecting Liens in favor of the Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties, including filing and recording fees,
expenses and taxes, stamp or documentary taxes, search fees, title insurance premiums and reasonable, invoiced fees, expenses and disbursements of external
counsel to the Agent and of external counsel providing any opinions that the Agent may request in respect of the Collateral or the Liens created pursuant to the
Loan Documents, (d) all the out-of-pocket and reasonable invoiced costs and expenses (including the reasonable invoiced fees, expenses and disbursements of
any appraisers, consultants, advisors and agents employed or retained by the Paying Agent, the Calculation Agent, the Diligence Agent and the Agent and their
respective external counsel) in connection with the custody or preservation of any of the collateral under the Security Agreement, (e) after the occurrence of a
Default or an Event of Default, all out-of-pocket and reasonable invoiced costs and expenses, including external attorneys’ fees and costs of settlement,
incurred by each Lender and the Agent in enforcing any Obligations or in collecting any payments due from the Borrowers hereunder or under the other Loan
Documents by reason of such Default or Event of Default (including in connection with the sale of, proceeds from, or other realization upon any of the
collateral) or in connection with any refinancing or restructuring of the credit arrangements provided hereunder in the nature of a “work out” or pursuant to any
insolvency or bankruptcy cases or proceedings and (f) the Agent’s out‑of‑pocket and reasonable invoiced costs and expenses for, and reasonable invoiced
disbursements of the Agent’s auditors, accountants, consultants or appraisers incurred by the Agent in connection with any of the foregoing. The Borrower
Representative, on behalf of the Borrowers, shall pay on demand any and all stamp, sales, excise and other, similar taxes and fees payable or determined to be
payable in connection with the execution, delivery, filing and recording of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents. Amounts payable under this
paragraph will be payable promptly on the Effective Date (or the effective date of the applicable amendment, waiver or modification) in the case of clauses (a)
and (b), upon receipt of invoice in the case of clause (e) above, and otherwise on the first Payment Date after such amounts have been invoiced and verified by
the Borrower Representative to meet the requirements set forth herein (provided that Borrower may not unreasonably withhold or delay such verification, and
such verification shall be deemed made if the Borrower has not objected in writing within ten (10) Business Days after receipt of such invoices).
 

Section 13.11    Indemnity.
 

Without limiting any other rights which any Secured Party may have hereunder or under Applicable Law (including the right to recover damages for
breach of contract and the rights pursuant to Sections 13.10), each Loan Party hereby agrees to indemnify, on a joint and several basis, each of the Secured
Parties and their respective directors, officers, employees, affiliates, agents, advisors, sub-agents and the parent company or holding company that controls such
Person (each, an “Indemnified Party”), from and against any and all damages, losses, claims, liabilities and related costs and expenses, including reasonable
external attorneys’ fees and disbursements and Applicable Taxes awarded against or incurred by such Indemnified Party to the extent relating to or arising from
or as a result of this Agreement or the funding or maintenance of Advances made by a Lender hereunder; provided, however, that the Loan Parties shall not be
required to indemnify any Indemnified Party to the extent of any amounts resulting from the gross negligence, fraud or willful misconduct of such Indemnified
Party, or such Indemnified Party’s breach of its obligations under the Loan Documents. Any amounts subject to the indemnification provisions of this Section
13.11 shall be paid by the Loan Parties to the related Indemnified Party within ten (10) Business Days following written demand therefor. The provisions set
forth in this Section 13.11 shall survive the termination of this Agreement.
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Section 13.12    Usury Savings Clause. Notwithstanding any other provision herein, the aggregate interest rate charged or agreed to be paid with
respect to any of the Obligations, including all charges or fees in connection therewith deemed in the nature of interest under Applicable Laws shall not exceed
the Highest Lawful Rate. If the rate of interest (determined without regard to the preceding sentence) under this Agreement at any time exceeds the Highest
Lawful Rate, the Advances Outstanding shall bear interest at the Highest Lawful Rate until the total amount of interest due hereunder equals the amount of
interest which would have been due hereunder if the stated rates of interest set forth in this Agreement had at all times been in effect. In addition, if when the
Advances made hereunder are repaid in full the total interest due hereunder (taking into account the increase provided for above) is less than the total amount
of interest which would have been due hereunder if the stated rates of interest set forth in this Agreement had at all times been in effect, then to the extent
permitted by law, the Borrower shall pay to each Lender an amount equal to the difference between the amount of interest paid and the amount of interest
which would have been paid if the Highest Lawful Rate had at all times been in effect. Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is the intention of each Lender and the
Borrowers to conform strictly to any applicable usury laws. Accordingly, if any Lender contracts for, charges, or receives any consideration which constitutes
interest in excess of the Highest Lawful Rate, then any such excess shall be cancelled automatically and, if previously paid, shall, at each Lender’s option, be
applied to the Advances Outstanding or be refunded to the Borrowers. In determining whether the interest contracted for, charged, or received by each Lender
exceeds the Highest Lawful Rate, a Lender may, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law, (a) characterize any payment that is not principal as an expense,
fee, or premium rather than interest, (b) exclude voluntary prepayments and the effects thereof and (c) amortize, prorate, allocate, and spread in equal or
unequal parts the total amount of interest, throughout the contemplated term of the Obligations hereunder.
 

Section 13.13    Set-off. In addition to any rights and remedies of any Secured Party hereunder and by law, the Agent and each Lender shall have the
right, without prior notice to the Borrowers, any such notice being expressly waived by the Borrowers to the extent permitted by Applicable Law, to set-off and
appropriate and apply against any Debt of any of the Borrowers or any of their respective subsidiaries to the Agent, any such Lender or any of their respective
Affiliates any and all deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional or final), in any currency, and any other obligation (including to return excess
margin), credits, indebtedness or claims, in any currency, in each case whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, matured or unmatured, at any time held
or owing by or due from the Agent, any Lender or any of their respective Affiliates thereof to or for the credit or the account of any Borrower or any of their
respective subsidiaries. The Agent and each Lender agrees promptly to notify the Borrowers after any such set off and application made by such Person;
provided that the failure to give such notice shall not affect the validity of such set off and application. The Agent and each Lender shall at any time have the
right, in each case until such time as it determines otherwise, to retain, to suspend payment or performance of, or to decline to remit, any amount or property
that it would otherwise be obligated to pay, remit or deliver to any Borrower hereunder if an Event of Default or Default has occurred.
 

If any Lender, whether by set-off or otherwise, has payment made to it with respect to any Obligations in a greater proportion than that received by
any other Lender entitled to receive a ratable share of such payment, such Lender agrees, promptly upon demand, to purchase for cash without recourse or
warranty a portion of such Obligations so that after such purchase each Lender will hold its ratable proportion of such Obligations; provided that if all or any
portion of such excess amount is thereafter recovered from such Lender, such purchase shall be rescinded and the purchase price restored to the extent of such
recovery, but without interest. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, any Lender’s exercise of set-off rights shall not change or reduce the
obligations of the Loan Parties to any other Lender under the Loan Documents.
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Section 13.14    Confidentiality.
 

(a)    Each of the parties hereto hereby acknowledges and agrees that the Loan Documents and all written or computer-readable information received
by such party from any other party regarding the terms set forth in any of the Loan Documents or the transactions contemplated thereby, and any information
obtained through the exercise of inspection rights under Section 6.1(l) (the “Confidential Information”) shall be kept confidential and shall not be divulged to
any party without the prior written consent of any Borrower-Related Party, on the one hand, or Agent and/or Lender, on the other hand, as parties to the Loan
Documents or the party providing such Confidential Information, as applicable, except (i) to its affiliates, controlling persons, controlling persons of any
affiliates, officers, directors, employees, investors, potential investors, sources of financing (in the case of participations, subject to Section 10.1), hedging
counterparties, any prospective hedging counterparties, any prospective source of financing or their respective Affiliates, nationally recognized statistical rating
organizations, agents, counsel, accountants, subservicers, auditors, advisors or representatives (such Persons, “Excepted Persons”); provided, that each
Excepted Person shall, as a condition to any such disclosure, agree for the benefit of other parties hereto that such information shall be used solely in
connection with such Excepted Person’s evaluation of, or relationship with, such party hereto and its Affiliates, and shall not be further disclosed by such
Excepted Person, (ii) to the extent it is (a) required by Applicable Law (including filing a copy of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents (other than the
Fee Letter)) as exhibits to filings required to be made with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or in connection with any legal or regulatory proceeding
or (b) requested by any Governmental Authority to disclose such information, (iii) to the extent that (a) it is necessary to do so in working with legal counsel,
auditors, taxing authorities or other governmental agencies or regulatory bodies or in order to comply with any applicable federal or state laws, (b) any of the
Confidential Information are in the public domain (including a filing of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents (other than the Fee Letter) with the
Securities and Exchange Commission as described above) other than due to a breach of this covenant, (c) in connection with any assignment or Participation or
proposed assignment or Participation in compliance with Article 10, or (d) in the event of an Event of Default any Lender or the Agent determines such
information to be necessary or desirable to disclose in connection with the marketing and sales of the Collateral or otherwise to enforce or exercise their rights
hereunder or (iv) by a Borrower-Related Party to its investors in accordance with Applicable Law. Notwithstanding the limitations (and without limiting the
exclusions) listed above or anything to the contrary contained herein or in any other Loan Document, the parties hereto may disclose to any and all Persons,
without limitation of any kind, the federal, state and local tax treatment of the Advances, any fact relevant to understanding the federal, state and local tax
treatment of the Advances, and all materials of any kind (including opinions or other tax analyses) relating to such federal, state and local tax treatment and that
may be relevant to understanding such tax treatment; provided that, except as permitted otherwise in this Section 13.14, the Borrower may not disclose any
pricing terms (including, without limitation, the Applicable Margin, Interest Rate and Facility Fee) or other nonpublic business or financial information
(including any sublimits and financial covenants) that is unrelated to the federal, state and local tax treatment of the Advances and is not relevant to
understanding the federal, state and local tax treatment of the Advances, without the prior written consent of each Lender or Agent. The provisions set forth in
this Section 13.14 shall survive the termination of this Agreement.
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(b)    Each of the parties hereto further acknowledges and agrees that that it is aware that the securities laws of the United States (as well as stock
exchange regulations) prohibit any person who has material, non-public information concerning a party from purchasing or selling that party’s securities when
in possession of such information and from communicating such information to any other person or entity under circumstances in which it is reasonably
foreseeable that such person or entity is likely to purchase or sell such securities in reliance upon such information.

 
Section 13.15    Limitation of Liability.

 
(a)    No claim may be made by any party hereto against any other party hereto or their respective Affiliates, directors, officers, employees, attorneys

or agents for any special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages in respect of any claim for breach of contract or any other theory of liability arising out of
or related to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any other Loan Document, or any act, omission or event occurring in connection herewith or
therewith, except to the extent such damages are recovered by third parties in connection with claims made by third parties that are indemnified under this
Agreement; and each party hereto hereby waives, releases, and agrees not to sue upon any claim for any such damages, whether or not accrued and whether or
not known or suspected to exist in its favor; provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, the foregoing limitations shall not be applicable to principal, interest,
fees and other amounts that are due and payable under the Loan Documents.

 
(b)    No recourse under any obligation, covenant or agreement of any Secured Party contained in this Agreement shall be had against any

incorporator, stockholder, officer, director, member, manager, employee or agent of such Secured Party or any of its Affiliates (solely by virtue of such
capacity) by the enforcement of any assessment or by any legal or equitable proceeding, by virtue of any statute or otherwise; it being expressly agreed and
understood that this Agreement is solely a corporate obligation of such Secured Party, and that no personal liability whatever shall attach to or be incurred by
any incorporator, stockholder, officer, director, member, manager, employee or agent of any Secured Party or any of its Affiliates (solely by virtue of such
capacity) or any of them under or by reason of any of the obligations, covenants or agreements of such Secured Party contained in this Agreement, or implied
therefrom, and that any and all personal liability for breaches by any Secured Party of any of such obligations, covenants or agreements, either at common law
or at equity, or by statute, rule or regulation, of every such incorporator, stockholder, officer, director, member, manager, employee or agent is hereby expressly
waived as a condition of and in consideration for the execution of this Agreement; provided that the foregoing shall not relieve any such Person from any
liability it might otherwise have as a result of fraudulent actions taken or fraudulent omissions made by them.

 
Section 13.16    No Joint Venture. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein contained, neither the Agent nor any Lender by entering into this

Agreement or by taking any action pursuant hereto, will be deemed a partner or joint venturer with the Borrowers. The Calculation Agent and the Paying Agent
are not Lenders, and are performing only ministerial and administrative duties as specified in this Agreement.
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Section 13.17    No Insolvency Proceeding. Notwithstanding any prior termination of this Agreement, (a) neither the Property Manager nor the
Borrower Representative, each in its capacity as a creditor of a Borrower, shall, prior to the date which is one year and one day after the final payment of the
Obligations of the Borrowers, petition or otherwise invoke the process of any Governmental Authority for the purpose of commencing or sustaining an
insolvency proceeding against any Borrower under any Insolvency Laws or appointing a receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, custodian, sequestrator or other
similar official of any Borrower or any substantial part of its property or ordering the winding up or liquidation of the affairs of any Borrower, (b) no Borrower,
in its capacity as a creditor of the Borrower Representative, shall, prior to the date which is one year and one day after the final payment of the Obligations of
the Borrowers, petition or otherwise invoke the process of any Governmental Authority for the purpose of commencing or sustaining an insolvency proceeding
against the Borrower Representative under any Insolvency Laws or appointing a receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, custodian, sequestrator or other similar
official of the Borrower Representative or any substantial part of its property or ordering the winding up or liquidation of the affairs of the Borrower
Representative and (c) no Borrower, each in its capacity as a creditor of another Borrower shall, prior to the date which is one year and one day after the final
payment of the Obligations of the Borrowers, petition or otherwise invoke the process of any Governmental Authority for the purpose of commencing or
sustaining an insolvency proceeding against any other Borrower under any Insolvency Laws or appointing a receiver, liquidator, assignee, trustee, custodian,
sequestrator or other similar official of any other Borrower or any substantial part of its property or ordering the winding up or liquidation of the affairs of any
other Borrower.
 

Section 13.18    Lender Communications. The Parties hereto acknowledge and agree that the Lenders may communicate with each other concerning
any matters relating to this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, whether for the purpose of approving or objecting to matters under the Loan Documents,
protecting their rights and interests, enforcing remedies or otherwise.
 

Section 13.19    Cross-Default; Cross-Collateralization.
 
(a)    Each Borrower hereby acknowledges that Lenders have made the Advances to such Borrower upon, among other things, the security of its

collective interest in the Collateral and in reliance upon the aggregate of the Collateral taken together being of greater value as collateral security than the sum
of any individual item of Collateral taken separately.

 
(b)    Each Borrower agrees that the Mortgages, if any, are and will be cross-collateralized and cross-defaulted with each other so that (i) an Event of

Default under any of the Mortgages, if any, shall constitute an Event of Default under each of the other Mortgages, if any; (ii) an Event of Default under this
Agreement shall constitute an Event of Default under each Mortgage, if any; (iii) each Mortgage, if any, shall constitute security as if a single blanket lien were
placed on all of the Financed Properties as security; and (iv) such cross-collateralization shall in no event be deemed to constitute a fraudulent conveyance.

 
(c)    Each Borrower agrees that the Obligations hereunder are and will be cross-defaulted with the Sponsor’s and its Affiliates’ financial obligations

under any other permitted loan arrangement or debt financing so that an event of default such other permitted loan arrangement or debt financing shall
constitute an Event of Default hereunder.

 
[remainder of page intentionally blank]

 
129



 
 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized officers as of the day and year first above
written.
 
 VB THREE, LLC,

as Parent Holdco, Borrower Representative and a Guarantor
 

    
    
 By:   
 Name: Dana Sprong  
 Title: Authorized Signatory  
 

 
[Signatures continue]
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CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-1, LLC,
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-2 OPERATING
COMPANY, LLC
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-3 OPERATING
COMPANY, LLC
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-4 OPERATING
COMPANY, LLC
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-5 OPERATING
COMPANY, LLC
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-6 OPERATING
COMPANY, LLC
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-7 OPERATING
COMPANY, LLC
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-8 OPERATING
COMPANY, LLC
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-9 OPERATING
COMPANY, LLC
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-10 OPERATING
COMPANY, LLC
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-11 OPERATING
COMPANY, LLC
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-12 OPERATING
COMPANY, LLC
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-13 OPERATING
COMPANY, LLC
REX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY OWNER, LLC
REX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY OWNER A, LLC
REX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY OWNER II, LLC
REX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY OWNER III, LLC
REX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY OWNER IV, LLC
REX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY OWNER V, LLC
REX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY OWNER VI, LLC
each as a Borrower

    
    
 By:   
 Name: Dana Sprong  
 Title: Authorized Signatory  
 
 

[Signatures continue]
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CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-1 HOLDING
COMPANY, LLC,
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-2 HOLDING
COMPANY, LLC,
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-3 HOLDING
COMPANY, LLC,
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-4 HOLDING
COMPANY, LLC,
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-5 HOLDING
COMPANY, LLC,
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-6 HOLDING
COMPANY, LLC,
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-7 HOLDING
COMPANY, LLC,
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-8 HOLDING
COMPANY, LLC,
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-9 HOLDING
COMPANY, LLC,
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-10 HOLDING
COMPANY, LLC,
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-11 HOLDING
COMPANY, LLC,
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-12 HOLDING
COMPANY, LLC,
CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-13 HOLDING
COMPANY, LLC,
VB HOLDING COMPANY I, LLC,
VB HOLDING COMPANY II, LLC,
VB HOLDING COMPANY III, LLC,
VB HOLDING COMPANY IV, LLC,
VB HOLDING COMPANY V, LLC,
VB HOLDING COMPANY VI, LLC,
VB HOLDING COMPANY VII, LLC
each as a Holdco Guarantor

    
    
 By:   
 Name: Dana Sprong  
 Title: Authorized Signatory  
 
 

[Signatures continue]
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 VB THREE EQUITY, LLC,
as Equity Owner and a Guarantor

    
    
 By:   
 Name: Dana Sprong  
 Title: Authorized Signatory  
  
 

[Signatures continue]
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 VINEBROOK HOMES TRUST, INC.,
as Sponsor

    
    
 By:   
 Name: Dana Sprong  
 Title: Authorized Signatory  
 
 

[Signatures continue]
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JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Agent, Lender, Calculation
Agent, Paying Agent and Securities Intermediary

    
    
 By:   
 Name: Joseph CelesteMackenzie Smith  
 Title: Vice President  
    
    
 Commitment: $500,000,000  
    
    
 Notice Address:  
    

 

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
Attention: ABS Principal Finance, Joseph CelesteMackenzie
Smith
383 Madison Avenue, Floor 08
New York, New York 10179
Telephone Number: (212) 834-5709834-6577

 

    
    
 and  
    

 

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
Attention: Sophia Redzaj
500 Stanton Christiana Road, Floor 01
Newark, Delaware 19713
Telephone Number: (302) 634-1381
Facsimile Number: (302) 504-8969
E-mail: spg_mf_team@jpmorgan.com

 

 
 

[End of signatures]
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SCHEDULE 1
 

BORROWERS AND HOLDCO GUARANTORS
 
BORROWERS:
 
 1. CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-1, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 2. CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-2 OPERATING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 3. CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-3 OPERATING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
 
 4. CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-4 OPERATING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 5. CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-5 OPERATING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 6. CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-6 OPERATING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 7. CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-7 OPERATING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 8. CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-8 OPERATING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
 
 9. CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-9 OPERATING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 10. CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-10 OPERATING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 11. CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-11 OPERATING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
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 12. CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-12 OPERATING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 13. CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-13 OPERATING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 14. REX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY OWNER, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 15. REX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY OWNER A, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 16. REX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY OWNER II, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 17. REX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY OWNER III, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 18. REX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY OWNER IV, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 19. REX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY OWNER V, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company; and
 
 20. REX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY OWNER VI, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
 
HOLDCO GUARANTORS:
 
 1. CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-1 HOLDING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
 
 2. CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-2 HOLDING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 3. CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-3 HOLDING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
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 4. CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-4 HOLDING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 5. CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-5 HOLDING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 6. CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-6 HOLDING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
 
 7. CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-7 HOLDING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 8. CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-8 HOLDING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 9. CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-9 HOLDING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 10. CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-10 HOLDING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 11. CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-11 HOLDING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 12. CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-12 HOLDING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 13. CONREX RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY GROUP 2013-13 HOLDING COMPANY, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 14. VB HOLDING COMPANY I, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 15. VB HOLDING COMPANY II, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 16. VB HOLDING COMPANY III, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 17. VB HOLDING COMPANY IV, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
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 18. VB HOLDING COMPANY V, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 19. VB HOLDING COMPANY VI, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company;
 
 20. VB HOLDING COMPANY VII, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
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SCHEDULE 2
 

ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS
 

(a)    Property As Described. All information furnished to the Agent, the Lenders and the Diligence Agent with respect to such Property, including
without limitation, all information set forth in the Borrowing Notice and the Document Package with respect to such Property, was complete, true and correct
as of the date such information was furnished to the Agent, the Lenders or the Diligence Agent, as applicable. There is no fact known to any Borrower or the
Borrower Representative which has not been disclosed to the Agent and the Lenders with respect to such Property or the local housing market containing such
Property that could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the value of such Property or the interest of the Lenders in such Property.

 
(b)    Title. The related Borrower has good and marketable fee simple title to the Property with full right to transfer and sell the Property, free and clear

of all Liens other than Permitted Liens.
 
(c)    Deed. A copy of the recorded deed conveying the Property to the applicable Borrower with recording information on it; or if unavailable, either,

(x) in the case of a Bid Receipt Property, a Bid Receipt, or (y) otherwise, evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Diligence Agent that the deed has been
submitted for recording, provided, in each case, that a copy of the recorded deed shall be delivered to the Diligence Agent as promptly as practicable and in no
event more than sixty (60) days after the Property first becomes a Financed Property.

 
(d)    Taxes and Other Charges. All real property taxes related to such Property, including supplemental or other taxes, if any, governmental

assessments, water, sewer and municipal charges, home owners association dues, fees and penalties, condominium charges and assessments, leasehold
payments or ground rents (“Real Property Taxes and Charges”) which previously became due and owing have been paid, as of the date such Property is
proposed to become a Financed Property, and thereafter Real Property Taxes and Charges have been paid as required by the Credit Agreement.

 
(e)    No Violation of Law. There has been no violation of any law or regulation or breach of any contractual obligation by the Borrowers, the Property

Manager or the Back-Up Manager in connection with the management of the Property in each case which is material and adverse to any Secured Party.
 
(f)    Environmental Laws. The Property is in compliance with all Environmental Laws. No Borrower-Related Party has caused, or has knowledge of,

any Release on to the Property or any adjoining property and no tenant of such Property is involved in any activity that would reasonably be expected to give
rise to any environmental liability for any Borrower-Related Party. There is no condition existing and no event has occurred or failed to occur concerning the
Property relating to any Hazardous Material that could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on such Property or its value.
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(g)    Compliance. The Property (including the leasing and intended use thereof) complies with all Applicable Laws, including without limitation all
ordinances applicable to residential real property and improvements thereon and all applicable zoning ordinances of the jurisdiction in which such Property is
located, except to the extent any failure to comply could not be reasonably expected to have a material adverse effect on such Property or its value. There is no
consent, approval, order or authorization of, and no filing with or notice to, any Governmental Authority related to the use, operation or leasing of the Property
which has not been obtained or made other than construction permits relating to the renovation of such Property, and except as to which the failure to obtain
could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on such Property or its value. There has not been committed by any Borrower or by any other
Person in occupancy of or involved with the operation, use or leasing of the Property any act or omission affording any Governmental Authority the right of
forfeiture of the Property or any material part thereof.

 
(h)    Document Package. The Document Package and any other documents required to be delivered by the Borrowers with respect to such Property

under this Agreement have been posted to the Data Site.
 
(i)    No Condemnation; No Damage. Such Property has not been condemned in whole or in part. No proceeding is pending or threatened for the

Condemnation of the Property. Such Property has not been damaged by waste, fire, earthquake or earth movement, windstorm, flood, tornado, vandalism,
natural disaster or other casualty except for any such damage that has not been repaired or which has not had a material adverse effect on the value of such
Property.

 
(j)    Property Management. The Property has been and is currently being managed and maintained by the Property Manager pursuant to the Property

Management Agreement.
 
(k)    Management and Other Contracts. There are no management, service, supply, security, maintenance or other similar contracts or agreements

entered into by any Borrower‑Related Party with respect to such Property, other than the Property Management Agreement, which are not terminable upon
thirty (30) days’ notice. No Borrower has a financial obligation under any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, loan agreement or other similar agreement or
instrument by which such Property is bound, other than obligations under the Loan Documents.

 
(l)    Residential Property. The Property is a one-to-four family residential home, an individual condominium unit in a low-rise or high-rise

condominium project, an individual townhome or an individual unit in a planned unit development.
 
(m)    Condominiums. If such Property is a condominium unit, none of the Borrowers are “sponsors” or nominees of a “sponsor” under any plan of

condominium organization affecting the unit, the ownership and sale of any such condominium unit will not violate any federal, state or local law or regulation
regarding condominiums or require registration, qualification or similar action under such law or regulation and such condominium unit is in conformity with
all requirement of the Federal National Mortgage Association relating to condominium units.

 
(n)    No Manufactured Housing; No Mobile Home; No Cooperatives; No Commercial; No More Than Four Families. Such Property is not

manufactured housing nor a mobile home nor a cooperative nor a commercial property nor a residential home with more than four families.
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(o)    No Occupants. Other than pursuant to an Eligible Lease, no Person has any right to occupy or is currently occupying such Property.
 
(p)    Location in United States. Such Property is located in the District of Columbia or in a state of the United States of America, other than Alaska or

Hawaii.
 
(q)    Owner’s Title Insurance Policy. Except in the case of a Bid Receipt Property, such Property is covered by an American Land Title Association (or

other form approved for use in the jurisdiction in which such Property is located) owner’s title insurance policy, insuring the related Borrower as fee owner or,
if unavailable, a marked or initialed irrevocable binding commitment that is effective as a Title Insurance Policy (a “Title Insurance Policy”) issued by a title
insurer generally acceptable to prudent institutional purchasers of residential real property (a “Qualified Title Insurance Company”), ensuring that the related
Borrower is the holder of good and marketable, fee simple title to such Property, subject only to Permitted Liens. Such Title Insurance Policy is in an amount at
least equal to the original purchase price for such Property. The related Borrower is the sole insured under such owner’s title insurance policy and such owner’s
title insurance policy is in full force and effect. No claims have been made under such owner’s title insurance policy that have not been disclosed in writing to
the Agent and the Diligence Agent, and no current or prior owner of such Property, including the related Borrower, has done, by act or omission, anything
which would impair the coverage of such Title Insurance Policy. In the case of a Bid Receipt Property, or if a Title Insurance Policy provided in the Document
Package with respect to a Financed Property initially consists of a marked or initialed binding commitment, then the related Borrower shall have delivered to
the Document Package an Eligible Title Insurance Policy for such Financed Property within ninety (90) days following the date the Property first becomes a
Financed Property.

 
(r)    Litigation. There is no action, suit or proceeding, in law or in equity or other litigation pending or threatened, relating to such Property and none

of the Borrowers has received notice from any Person (including without limitation any Governmental Authority) that such Property is subject to any consumer
litigation.

 
(s)    Bid Receipt Properties. Bid Receipt Properties may not comprise more than 10% of the Borrowing Base at any time.
 
(t)    Lease. If such Property is a Leased Property, the related lease is an Eligible Lease with an Eligible Tenant (at the time of signing) or a Carry-Over

Lease, in each case, such Lease is in compliance with Applicable Laws.
 
(u)    Non-Leased Properties. If such Property is a Non-Leased Property, such Property shall become a Leased Property subject to an Eligible Lease

with an Eligible Tenant within three hundred sixty (360) days of becoming a Financed Property.
 
(v)    Asset Purchase Price. The Asset Purchase Price of such Property is greater than or equal to $50,000, but does not exceed $400,000.
 
(w)    Brokers. There is no commission or other compensation payable to any broker or finder in connection with the purchase of the Property by the

applicable Borrower which has not been paid.
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(x)    Orders, Injunctions, Etc. There are no orders, injunctions, decrees or judgments outstanding with respect to the Property that have not been paid
in full.

 
(y)    Insurance Coverage. Such Property is covered by one or more insurance policies that satisfy the requirements of Section 6.2 of the Credit

Agreement, which insurance policies are each in full force and effect.
 
(z)    Compliance with Renovation Standards. If the Property is a Leased Property (other than a Carry-Over Property) at the time of the related

Borrowing Notice or if the Property is a Non-Leased Property that becomes a Leased Property, the Property satisfies the Renovation Standards.
 
(aa)    Concentration Limits. No more than:

 
(i)         thirty percent (30%) of all Properties that are Financed Properties shall be located in the Top MSA (by Allocated Loan Amount);

 
(ii)         seventy percent (70%) of all Properties that are Financed Properties shall be located in the Top Three MSAs (by Allocated Loan

Amount);
 

(iii)         twenty-five percent (25%) of all Properties that are Financed Properties shall be Non-Cashflowing Properties (by Allocated Loan
Amount);
 

(iv)         five percent (5%) of all Properties that are Financed Properties shall be condominium units or townhouses (by Allocated Loan
Amount);
 

(v)         five percent (5%) of all Properties that are Financed Properties shall be 2-4 family residential homes (by Allocated Loan Amount); and
 

(vi)         fifteen percent (15%) of all Properties that are Financed Properties shall have an Asset Purchase Price greater than or equal to
$200,000 and less than or equal to $400,000 (by Allocated Loan Amount).
 

(bb)    Previously Financed Properties. The Property shall not have been (i) a Financed Property which has previously been released as a Financed
Property under Section 2.7(a) of the Credit Agreement or (ii) previously financed by any credit facilities (other than the Credit Agreement) by a subsidiary of a
Borrower-Related Party other than a Borrower.

 
(cc)    Such Property is not located in an area identified by the Federal Emergency Management Agency as a special flood hazard area or other area

identified by Agent as having a high or moderate risk of flooding, or, if so located the flood insurance required pursuant to Section 6.2 is in full force and effect
with respect to such Property.
 
For the avoidance of doubt, the Borrowers may elect to exclude Properties from Eligible Properties in order to comply with the limitations under paragraph (s),
(v) or (aa) of this Schedule, and may subsequently elect to include such Properties when such inclusion would not cause such limits to be exceeded.
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SCHEDULE 3
 

FILING OFFICES
 

Delaware
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SCHEDULE 4
 

SCHEDULE OF PROPERTIES
 
 

[see attached]
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SCHEDULE 5
 

LEASING STANDARDS
 
1. The Property Manager is not authorized to enter into a lease with a prospective tenant who does not meet the following requirements without prior

approval of the Property Manager:
 

 
● The Property Manager will verify at least one (1) year of rental history whenever possible for each prospective tenant. Late payments or negative

references should result in a prospective tenant being denied or additional conditions being imposed. Recent prior evictions will cause an application
to be denied.

 

 ● Prospective tenants must have income or assets to support the monthly rental rate, as evidenced by a recent paystub, bank statement, letter from a
supervisor on employer letterhead, or similar source of verification.

 

 ● Background checks should not contain felonies or any other charges or convictions of a type that should cause denial in property
managers’ commercially reasonable judgment.

 
 ● Prospective tenants must not be on the OFAC List.
 
2. The Property Manager will obtain a security deposit from each tenant.
 
3. The monthly rental amounts shall be approved in advance.
 
4. Except as otherwise required by Applicable Law, at least 75% of all initial leases shall have a term of not be less than one (1) year or greater than two

(2) years unless otherwise approved by the Property Manager.
 
5. The Property Manager will use commercially reasonable judgment in determining whether to allow a tenant to terminate its lease early and what, if

any, conditions to impose.
 
6. No tenant will be granted occupancy without the Property Manager’s prior approval unless the Property Manager has a fully signed lease and all

prepaid rent and deposits have been received.
 
7. Leasing concessions may be granted on a case-by-case basis after approval by the Property Manager.
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SCHEDULE 6
 

SPONSOR FINANCIAL COVENANTS
 
The Sponsor shall collectively (measured on a consolidated basis together with Sponsor’s subsidiaries) have:
 
(i) a Tangible Net Worth equal to no less than the sum of (a) $150,000,000 and (b) fifty percent (50%) of net proceeds from any issuances and sales of stock
occurring after the Effective Date;
 
(ii) Liquidity equal to no less than the greater of (a) $7,500,000 and (b) the sum of (1) the product of (A) the lesser of (x) the amount of assets of the Sponsor
and (y) $250,000,000 and (B) 1.25%, (2) the product of (A) the lesser of (x) the amount of assets of the Sponsor in excess of $250,000,000 and (y)
$250,000,000 and (B) 1.00%, (3) the product of (A) the lesser of (x) the amount of assets of the Sponsor in excess of $500,000,000 and (y) $250,000,000 and
(B) 0.75%, (4) the product of (A) the lesser of (x) the amount of assets of the Sponsor in excess of $750,000,000 and (y) $250,000,000 and (B) 0.50%, (5) the
product of (A) the lesser of (x) the amount of assets of the Sponsor in excess of $1,000,000,000 and (y) $250,000,000 and (B) 0.40% and (6) the product of (A)
the amount of assets of the Sponsor in excess of $1,250,000,000 and (B) 0.25%; and
 
(iii) a ratio of Debt to Tangible Net Worth no greater than 3.00:1.00.
 
As used in this Schedule 6, the following terms shall have the following meanings:
 
Cash Equivalents: Any (a) securities with maturities of ninety (90) days or less from the date of acquisition issued or fully guaranteed or insured by the United
States Government or any agency thereof, (b) certificates of deposit and Eurodollar time deposits with maturities of ninety (90) days or less from the date of
acquisition and overnight bank deposits of any commercial bank having capital and surplus in excess of $500,000,000, (c) repurchase obligations of the Agent
or of any commercial bank satisfying the requirements of clause (b) of this definition, having a term of not more than seven (7) days with respect to securities
issued or fully guaranteed or insured by the United States Government, (d) commercial paper of a domestic issuer rated at least A-1 or the equivalent thereof by
S&P or P-1 or the equivalent thereof by Moody’s and in either case maturing within ninety (90) days after the day of acquisition, (e) securities with maturities
of ninety (90) days or less from the date of acquisition issued or fully guaranteed by any state, commonwealth or territory of the United States, by any political
subdivision or taxing authority of any such state, commonwealth or territory or by any foreign government, the securities of which state, commonwealth,
territory, political subdivision, taxing authority or foreign government (as the case may be) are rated at least A by S&P or A by Moody’s, (f) securities with
maturities of ninety (90) days or less from the date of acquisition backed by standby letters of credit issued by any Lender or any commercial bank satisfying
the requirements of clause (b) of this definition and (g) shares of money market mutual or similar funds which invest exclusively in assets satisfying the
requirements of clauses (a) through (f) of this definition.
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Debt: With respect to any Person, without duplication, (a) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money, (b) all obligations of such Person evidenced by
bonds, debentures, notes or other similar instruments representing extensions of credit whether or not representing obligations for borrowed money, (c) all
obligations of such Person to pay the deferred purchase price of property or services (other than trade accounts payable arising in the ordinary course of
business not overdue for more than sixty (60) days), (d) all Capital Lease Obligations of such Person, (e) all obligations of such Person to reimburse any Person
with respect to amounts paid under a letter of credit or similar instrument, (f) all obligations of such Person under hedge agreements, (g) all indebtedness of
other Persons secured by a Lien on any property of such Person, whether or not such indebtedness is assumed by such Person (other than Permitted Liens) and
(h) all indebtedness of other Persons guaranteed by such Person. For purposes of this definition, the amount of the obligations of such Person with respect to
any hedge agreement at any time shall be the maximum aggregate amount (giving effect to any netting agreements) that such Person would be required to pay
if such hedge agreement were terminated at such time. Solely for purposes of Schedule 6, “Debt” shall not include the Obligations.
 
Liquidity: With respect to Sponsor, collectively, and any date of determination, all Unrestricted Cash of Sponsor.
 
“Net Worth” means, with respect to any Person, the excess of total assets of such Person, over total liabilities of such Person, determined in accordance with
GAAP.
 
“Tangible Net Worth” means: with respect to any Person as of any date of determination, an amount equal to (i) the consolidated Net Worth of such Person and
its subsidiaries, minus (ii) the consolidated net book value of all assets of such Person and its subsidiaries (to the extent reflected as an asset in the balance
sheet of such Person or any subsidiary at such date) which will be treated as intangibles under GAAP, including, without limitation, such items as deferred
financing expenses, deferred taxes, net leasehold improvements, goodwill, trademarks, trade names, service marks, copyrights, patents, licenses and
unamortized debt discount and expense.
 
Unrestricted Cash: With respect to a specified Person, all unpledged and unencumbered cash and Cash Equivalents (excluding all such amounts or items held in
any reserve account, collection account, disbursement account, rent receipts account, tenant deposit account or similar account) of such Person.
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SCHEDULE 7
 

DATA TAPE FIELDS
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SCHEDULE 8
 

SALESFORCE FINANCED PROPERTIES
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Lender Accounts
 
 

Annex A - 1



 
 

ANNEX B
 
 

Exhibit A - 1



 
 

Exhibit A         Form of Borrowing Notice
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Exhibit A-1         Form of Borrowing Notice Confirmation
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Exhibit A-2         Form of Property Addition Notice
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Exhibit A-2A         Form of Property Addition Confirmation (Calculation Agent)
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Exhibit A-2B         Form of Property Addition Confirmation (Diligence Agent)
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Exhibit A-3         Form of Borrower Representative Certification
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Exhibit B         Form of Note
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Exhibit C         Form of Eligible Lease
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Exhibit D         Form of Monthly Report
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Exhibit E         Form of Joinder Agreement
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Exhibit F         Form of Calculation Schedule
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Exhibit G         Form of Certificate of Completion
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Exhibit H         Form of Monthly Report Confirmation
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Exhibit I         Form of Power of Attorney
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Exhibit J         Title Review
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Exhibit K-1         Form of Tax Compliance Certificate
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Exhibit K-2         Form of Tax Compliance Certificate
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Exhibit K-3         Form of Tax Compliance Certificate
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Exhibit K-4         Form of Tax Compliance Certificate
 
 

Exhibit K-4 - 1



 
Exhibit 31.1

 
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND

PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, Brian Mitts, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of VineBrook Homes Trust, Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make

the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects

the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
 
 a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
 b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

 
 c) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to

the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
 a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which

are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

 
 b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s

internal control over financial reporting.
 
Date: May 16, 2022
 
  /s/ Brian Mitts
  Brian Mitts
  Interim President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer)
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CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of VineBrook Homes Trust, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ending March 31, 2022, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, Brian Mitts, Interim President and Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that:
 
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and  
 
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the

Company.  
 
Dated: May 16, 2022  /s/ Brian Mitts
  Brian Mitts
  Interim President and Chief Financial Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer)
 
 


